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INTRODUCTION
Overview of Corporate Structure

On March 26, 2019 (the “Closing Date”), Bioblast Pharma Ltd., a company organized under the laws of the State of Israel (“Bioblast™), and Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd., a
company organized under the laws of the State of Israel (n/k/a Enlivex Therapeutics R&D Ltd., “Enlivex R&D”), consummated a merger transaction whereby Enlivex R&D
merged with a merger subsidiary of Bioblast, with Enlivex R&D as the surviving entity in the merger (the “Merger”). As a result of the Merger, Enlivex R&D became a wholly
owned subsidiary of Bioblast. Concurrently with the Merger, Bioblast changed its name to Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. In this Annual Report on Form 20-F, when we refer to the
registrant as a combination of Bioblast and Enlivex R&D after giving effect to the Merger, we use the terms “Enlivex” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “ours”. When we refer
to the historic business, operations and corporate status of the parent in the Merger we use the term “Bioblast” and when we refer to the historic business, operations and

corporate status of the subsidiary in the Merger, we use the term “Enlivex R&D.

Overview of the Merger Transaction
The Merger

On the Closing Date, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of November 19, 2018 among Bioblast, Enlivex R&D and a merger subsidiary of Bioblast
(the “Merger Agreement”), the Merger was consummated and Enlivex R&D became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bioblast. The Merger was structured as a statutory merger
pursuant to Sections 314-327 of the Companies Law, 5759-1999 of the State of Israel. On the Closing Date, the Company was admitted for continued listing on the Nasdaq
Capital Market under the new symbol “ENLV”.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, upon consummation of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each outstanding ordinary share of Enlivex R&D was converted into
approximately 0.04841 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Exchange Ratio™).

In addition, all outstanding Enlivex R&D options that were unexercised immediately prior to the Effective Time, whether or not vested, were assumed by the Company,
and contain the same terms, conditions, vesting and other provisions, except that each such option is now exercisable for such number of ordinary shares of the Company, as
adjusted in accordance with the Exchange Ratio and otherwise in accordance with the Merger Agreement.

Following the Merger and after giving effect to a private placement consummated in connection with the Merger, the former equity holders of Enlivex R&D owned
approximately 89.1% of'the Company’s issued and outstanding equity, Bioblast shareholders immediately prior to the Merger owned approximately 4.016% of the Company’s
issued and outstanding equity, and the Investors (as defined below) owned approximately 6.74% of the Company’s issued and outstanding equity.

Pursuant to a Contingent Value Rights Agreement (the “CVR Agreement”), Bioblast shareholders received one contingent value right (“CVR”) for each ordinary share
of Bioblast held as of the record date, March 25, 2019, which CVRs entitle the holders to potential payments that the Company receives in connection with a Trehalose
transaction.

The foregoing descriptions of the Merger Agreement and CVR Agreement are only summaries, do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by
reference to the full text of the Merger Agreement and the CVR Agreement, copies of which are filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 20-F and are incorporated by

reference herein.

Allreferences to share amounts in this Annual Report on Form 20-F have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of the Exchange Ratio.




Accounting Treatment

The Merger has been treated as a reverse recapitalization of Bioblast for financial accounting and reporting purposes. As such, Enlivex R&D is treated as the acquirer
for accounting and financial reporting purposes while Bioblast is treated as the acquired entity for accounting and financial reporting purposes. Further, as a result, the assets
and liabilities and the historical operations that will be reflected in the Company’s future financial statements filed with the SEC will be those of Enlivex R&D, and the
Company’s assets, liabilities and results of operations will be consolidated with the assets, liabilities and results of operations of Enlivex R&D.

Amendment of Articles of Association

In connection with the consummation of the Merger, on the Closing Date, the Company amended its Articles of Association (the “Amended and Restated Articles of
Association”), in order to change its name from “Bioblast Pharma Ltd.” to “Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.” and to change the registered capital of the Company to NIS 18,000,000
divided into 45,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of NIS 0.40 each.

Business Description of Enlivex

The Company is a clinical stage immunotherapy company, developing an allogeneic drug pipeline for immune systemrebalancing. Immune systemrebalancing is
critical for the treatment of life-threatening immune and inflammatory conditions, which involve the hyper-expression of cytokines (“Cytokine Release Syndrome”) and for
which there are no U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“EDA”)-approved treatments, as well as treating solid tumors by modulating such tumors’ microenvironment.

The Company’s primary innovative immunotherapy candidates are novel candidates based on the same unique mechanismof action, which induces the immune
systemto rebalance itself to normal levels of operation. These candidates target clinical indications that are defined as “unmet medical needs,” such as acute organ failure
associated with sepsis, and preventing or treating complications associated with bone marrow transplants (“BMT”) and/or hematopoietic stemcell transplants (“HSCT”). The
Company developed a product candidate from matched-donor cells, which has historically been referred to simply as Allocetra™. This product candidate has been the subject
of clinical trials for preventing or treating complications associated with bone marrow transplants (“BMT”) and/or hematopoietic stem cell transplants (“HSCT”). We now refer
to this product candidate as “Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells.” The Company developed a related product candidate, which has historically been referred to as off-the-
shelf Allocetra™ or “Allocetra-OTS”, which has a substantially identical mechanismof action to Allocetra™ frommatched-donor cells, but it does not require matched-donor
cells as the source of therapeutic cells. The Company’s timeline for the continued development of Allocetra™ from matched donor cells for the prevention of GVHD in
allogeneic HSCT patients has been modified to reflect the Company’s re-prioritization of product development in light of the encouraging results of the Phase Ib of Allocetra-
OTS in patients with severe sepsis. The Board decided to prioritize the Company’s cash reserves and resources on Allocetra-OTS in order to generate additional clinical data,
first and foremost, in a randomized, controlled sepsis clinical trial, and to consider the initiation of smaller clinical trials in high-value indications with an assumed
pathophysiology markedly similar to that of sepsis. Because the product candidate historically referred as Allocetra-OTS is substantially identical to the product candidate
formerly referred to as Allocetra™ (now “Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells), the Company now refers to Allocetra-OTS as “Allocetra™”. As a result of the Company’s
decision, the planned continuation of additional clinical trials of Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells for the prevention GvHD in allogeneic HSCT patients have currently
been rescheduled to 2022, pending the expected results of clinical trials in sepsis and potentially other related indications during 2020-2022.

For more information on each of Allocetra™ and Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells and a description of the respective clinical trials of Allocetra™ and Allocetra™
frommatched-donor cells, see “Information on the Company — Business overview.”

Because Allocetra™ and Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells are based on the same unique mechanismof action and are otherwise substantially identical, , the term
Allocetra™ as used in this Annual Report on Form 20-F refers to both Allocetra™ and Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells unless otherwise indicated.




SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 20-F contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other U.S.
Federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:

e ourexpectations regarding the timing of clinical trials with respect to Allocetra™ and Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells;
e the continued listing of our ordinary shares on Nasdagq;
e our expectations regarding the progress of our clinical trials, including the duration, cost and whether such trials will be conducted at all;

e ourintention to successfully complete clinical trials in order to be in a position to submit applications for accelerated regulatory paths in the EU and the United
States;

e the possibility that we will apply in the future for regulatory approval for our current and any future product candidates we may develop, and the costs and timing
of such regulatory approvals;

o the likelihood of regulatory approvals for any product candidate we may develop;

e the timing, cost or other aspects of the commercial launch of any product candidate we may develop, including the possibility that we will build a commercial
infrastructure to support commercialization of our current and any future product candidates we may develop;

e future sales of our product candidates or any other future products or product candidates;

e  our ability to achieve favorable pricing for our product candidates;

e the potential for our product candidates to receive orphan drug designations;

e that any product candidate we develop potentially offers effective solutions for various diseases;
o whether we will develop any future product candidates internally or through strategic partnerships;

e our expectations regarding the manufacturing and supply of any product candidate for use in our clinical trials, and the commercial supply of those product
candidates;

e third-party payer reimbursement for our current or any future product candidates;

e ourestimates regarding anticipated expenses, capital requirements and our needs for substantial additional financing;
e patient market sizes and market adoption of our current or any future product candidates by physicians and patients;
e completion and receiving favorable results of clinical trials for our product candidates;

e protection of our intellectual property, including issuance of patents to us by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (the “USPTQ”), and other
governmental patent agencies;

e ourintention to pursue marketing and orphan drug exclusivity periods that are available to us under regulatory provisions in certain countries;




e the development and approval of the use of our current or any future product candidates for indications in addition to preventing cytokine stormassociated
organ failure in sepsis patients and complications associated with bone marrow transplants, acute graft versus host disease (“GvHD”);

e our expectations regarding commercial and pre-commercial activities;
e our expectations regarding licensing, acquisitions, and strategic operations; and

e  our liquidity.

” ”

In some cases, forward-looking statements are identified by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “‘believes,”
“intends,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “hope,” “targets,” “potential,” “goal” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Such forward-looking
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or performance to differ materially fromthose suggested in such
forward-looking statements. These statements are current only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 20-F and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties,
and other factors that may cause our or our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different fromthose suggested in the forward-looking
statements. In addition, historic results of scientific research and clinical and preclinical trials do not guarantee that the conclusions of future research or trials would not
suggest different conclusions or that historic results referred to in this Annual Report on Form 20-F would not be interpreted differently in light of additional research, clinical
and preclinical trials results. The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 20-F are subject to risks and uncertainties, including those discussed
under Item 3.D. - “Risk Factors” and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 20-F. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking
statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. Except as required by law, we do not intend to (and expressly
disclaimany such obligation to) update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, after the date of
this Annual Report on Form20-F.

2 2 2 ”




PART ONE

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

Not applicable.
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

3.A. Selected financial data

Our historical financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and are presented in U.S. dollars. The
following summary financial data for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and as of December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are derived from, and should be
read in conjunction with, the audited financial statements, and notes thereto, appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form20-F. Selected financial data for the year

ended December 31, 2015 is unaudited, and the Company could not provide audited data for such years without unreasonable effort or expense.

The information presented below is qualified by the more detailed historical financial statements set forth in this Annual Report on Form 20-F, and should be read in
conjunction with those financial statements, the notes thereto and the discussion under Item 5 - “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.”

Merger

For a description of the Merger, please see the “Introduction” appearing before Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 20-F. The Merger was accounted for as an
issuance of shares by the Company for the net assets of Bioblast Pharma Ltd., accompanied by a recapitalization. Accordingly, EnlivexR&D is reflected as the predecessor and
acquirer and therefore the accompanying financial statements reflect the historical financial statements of Enlivex R&D for all periods presented and do not include the
historical financial statements of pre-merger Bioblast. All historical information presented herein has been retroactively restated to reflect the effect of the merger shares
exchange ratio, reverse stock split and change to the authorized number of ordinary shares in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 260, “Earnings Per
Share”.

Statement of Operations Data - Year Ended December 31,

US. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(unaudited)

Revenues $ $ $ $ $
Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses 5,724 4,255 1,691 2,029 1,625
General and administrative expenses 2,895 1,044 480 793 710
Operating (loss) (8,619) (5,299) 2,171) (2,822) (2,335)
Financial income 238 1,060 37 30 20
Financial expenses 1,003 3 370 86 120
Net Income (loss) 9.384) $ 4242) $ (2,504) $ 2.878) $ (2,435)
Other comprehensive gain (loss)
Interest on convertible notes - 67) 617)
Exchange differences arising from translating financial statements

from functional to presentations currency (951) (748) 336 93 15
Total other comprehensive gain (loss) (951) (748) 336 26 (602)
Total comprehensive (loss) (8,433) (4,990) (2,168) (2,852) (3,037)
Basic (loss) earnings per share (1.12) $ (1.4 0.94) (1.03) (0.99)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 8,649,486 3,509,346 3,425,925 3,357,647 3,059,508
Diluted (loss) per share (1) 8 (1.4) 0.94) (1.03) (0.99)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 8,649,486 3,509,346 3,425,925 3,357,647 3,059,508




Balance Sheet Data - December 31,

US. dollars in thousands

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Short Term Deposits

Prepaid expenses

Other receivables

Cash held for CVR holders
Receivables for the sale of Trehalose
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash

Long-term prepaid expenses
Property and equipment, net
Other assets

Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable trade
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Payables to related parties
CVR holders

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations
Other long-term Liabilities
Warrants

Total Non-Current Liabilities

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Total Liabilities
3.B. Capitalization and indebtedness

Not applicable.

3.C. Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds

Not applicable.

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
(unaudited)
3,948 9,736 9,005 3,020 262
8,060 40 - - 5,009
510 288 14 46 154
403 213 95 47 510
1,500 - - - -
2,000 - - - -
16,421 10,277 9,114 3,113 5,935
76 56 27 25 19
5 16 11 7 5
648 685 388 314 188
410
1,139 757 426 346 212
17,560 11,034 9,540 3,459 6,147
316 173 37 32 71
1,897 944 634 583 577
367 13 25 28 28
3,400
5,980 1,130 696 643 676
- 6 7 6 6
298
- 192 344 -
298 198 351 6 6
6,278 1,328 1,047 649 682




3.D. Risk factors
Investing in our ordinary shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below before investing in our ordinary shares.

There are a number of risks and uncertainties that could affect our business and cause our actual results to differ frompast performance or expected results. We
consider the following risks and uncertainties to be those material to our business. If any of these risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could suffer, and the trading price of our ordinary shares could decline. We urge investors to consider carefully the risk factors described below in evaluating any
investment in our ordinary shares and the information contained in this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Capital Requirements

We are a clinical-stage cell immunotherapy company with a history of operating losses. We expect to incur additional losses in the future and may never be
profitable.

We are a clinical-stage cell immunotherapy company with a limited operating history and no currently approved products. To date, we have focused almost
exclusively on developing our related product candidates, Allocetra™ and Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells. We have funded our operations to date primarily through
proceeds from private placements of ordinary shares and convertible debt. We have no saleable products and have not generated any revenue fromproduct sales. We have
incurred losses in each year since our inception in 2005. Our loss attributable to holders of our ordinary shares for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was
approximately $9.3 million and $4.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $25.6 million. Substantially all of our
operating losses resulted fromcosts incurred in connection with our development programand from general and administrative costs.

We expect our research and development expenses to increase in connection with our planned pre-clinical studies and clinical trials. We may also incur expenses in
connection with third-party studies and trials involving our product candidates or other intellectual property. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our
product candidates, we will likely initially incur significant outsourced sales, marketing and manufacturing expenses, as well as continued research and development expenses.
As aresult, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated
with developing cell immunotherapy products, we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all.

We have not generated any revenue fiom Allocetra™ or any other product candidate, and we may never be profitable.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon our ability to generate revenue in excess of our expenses. We have not generated any revenue fromour development
of Allocetra™, or any other product candidate. We do not know when, or if, we will generate any revenue. We do not expect to generate revenue unless and until we obtain
regulatory and marketing approval of, and commercialize, Allocetra™ or Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells or any other product candidate. We will continue to incur
research and development and general and administrative expenses related to our operations. We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future, and such losses
will likely increase as we:

e initiate and manage preclinical development and clinical trials for our current and any new product candidates;

e seekregulatory approvals for our product candidates, or future product candidates, if any;

e implement internal systems and infrastructure, including, without limitation, hiring of additional personnel as needed and to develop sales and marketing
functions if and when our product candidate receives applicable regulatory approval;




e seekto in-license additional technologies for development, such as cell delivery, processing and testing technologies;

e hire additional management and other personnel; and

e move towards commercialization of our product candidates and future product candidates, if any.

We may out-license our ability to generate revenue from our product candidates, depending on a number of factors, including our ability to:
e obtain favorable results fromand progress the clinical development of our product candidates, particularly Allocetra™;

e develop and obtain regulatory approvals in various countries and for the uses we intend to pursue for our product candidates;

e subject to successful completion of registration, clinical trials and perhaps additional clinical trials of any product candidate, apply for and obtain marketing
approval in the countries we intend to pursue for such product candidate;

e contract for the manufacture of commercial quantities of our product candidates at acceptable cost levels, subject to the receipt of marketing approval; and

establish external, and potentially, internal, sales and marketing capabilities to effectively market and sell our product candidates in the United States and other
countries.

Even if either Allocetra™, our leading product candidate, which has been developed for treating organ dysfunction and failure in sepsis patients, or Allocetra™ from
matched-donor cells, which has been developed for prevention of GvHD in allogeneic HSCT patients, is approved for commercial sale for any indication, either product
candidate may not gain market acceptance or achieve commercial success. In addition, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with commercialization. We may not
achieve profitability soon after generating product revenue, if ever. If we are unable to generate product revenue, we will not become profitable and would be unable to
continue operations without additional funding.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our business and prospects.

Although we have been in existence since 2005, we have a limited operating history, and our operations to date have been limited primarily to research and
development, raising capital and recruiting scientific and management personnel. Therefore, it is difficult to evaluate our business and prospects. We have not yet
demonstrated an ability to commercialize or obtain regulatory approval for any product candidate. Consequently, any predictions about our future performance may not be
accurate, and you may not be able to fully assess our ability to complete development or commercialize our product candidates, or any future product candidates, obtain
regulatory approvals or achieve market acceptance or favorable pricing for our product candidates or any future product candidates.

We have not yet commercialized any products and we may never become profitable.

We have not yet commercialized any products, and we may never do so. We do not know when or if we will complete any of our product development efforts, obtain
regulatory approval for any product candidates or successfully commercialize any approved products. Even if we are successful in developing products that are approved for
marketing, we will not be successful unless these products gain market acceptance for appropriate indications. The degree of market acceptance of any of our planned future

products will depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited to:

e the timing of regulatory approvals in the countries, and for the uses, we intend to pursue with respect to the commercialization of our product candidates;




the competitive environment;
the acceptance by the medical community of the safety and clinical efficacy of our products and their potential advantages over other therapeutic products;

the adequacy and success of distribution, sales and marketing efforts, including through strategic agreements with pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies; and

the pricing and reimbursement policies of government and third-party payors, such as insurance companies, health maintenance organizations and other plan
administrators.

Physicians, patients, third-party payors or the medical community in general may be unwilling to accept, utilize or recommend coverage of, and in the case of third-
party payors, cover any of our planned future products. As a result, we are unable to predict the extent of future losses or the time required to achieve profitability, if at all.
Even if we successfully develop one or more products, we may not become profitable.

We will need substantial additional capital in the future. If additional capital is not available, we will have to delay, reduce or cease operations.

We will need to raise substantial additional capital to fund our operations and to develop and commercialize our product candidates, particularly Allocetra™. OQur
future capital requirements may be substantial and will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

our clinical trial results;

the cost, timing and outcomes of seeking marketing approval of our product candidates;

the cost of filing and prosecuting patent applications and the cost of defending our patents;

the cost of prosecuting infringement actions against third parties;

exploration and possible label expansion of our product candidates for the treatment of other conditions or indications;

the costs associated with commercializing our product candidates if we receive marketing approval, including the cost and timing of establishing external, and
potentially in the future, internal, sales and marketing capabilities to market and sell such product candidates;

subject to receipt of marketing approval, revenue received fromsales of approved products, if any, in the future;
any product liability or other lawsuits related to our future product candidates or products, if any;

the demand for our products, ifany;

the expenses needed to attract and retain skilled personnel; and

the costs associated with being a public company.




Based on our current operating plan, we anticipate our existing resources will be sufficient to enable us to maintain our currently planned operations, including our
continued product development, through the fourth quarter of 2022. We will require significant additional funds to initiate and complete the FDA and the European Medicines
Agency (“EMA”) approval process. However, changing circumstances may cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate, including, without
limitation, regulatory requests by the FDA or EMA, changes in our development strategy, delays in or an inability to execute our development plans, unsuccessful preclinical
or clinical studies and losing our “Small and Medium Enterprise” status at the EMA, which entitles us to significant fee reductions. Because of the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with the development and commercialization of our product candidates, we are unable to estimate the amount of increased capital and operating
expenditures associated with our anticipated clinical trials and general operations. We have no committed external sources of funds. Additional financing may not be available
when we need it or on terms that are favorable to us. If adequate funds are not available to us on a timely basis, or at all, we may be required to terminate or delay planned
clinical trials or other development activities for our product candidates, which would materially and adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations.

Raising additional financing may be costly or difficult to obtain, may dilute current shareholders’ ownership interests and may require that we relinquish our
rights to certain of our technologies, products or marketing territories.

Any debt or equity financing that we may need may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we obtain funding through a strategic collaboration or
licensing arrangement, we may be required to relinquish our rights to certain of our technologies, products or marketing territories. If we are unable to obtain required additional
capital, we may have to curtail our growth plans or cut back on existing business, and we may not be able to continue operating.

We may incur substantial costs in pursuing future financing, including investment banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, securities law compliance fees, printing
and distribution expenses and other costs. We may also be required to recognize non-cash expenses in connection with certain securities we issue, such as convertible notes
and warrants, which may adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations.

Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity or equity-linked securities may dilute our current shareholders’ ownership in us and could also result in a
decrease in the market price of our ordinary shares. The terms of the securities issued by us in future capital transactions may be more favorable to new investors and may

include the issuance of warrants or other derivative securities, which may have a further dilutive effect.

We are unable to estimate our long-term capital requirements due to uncertainties associated with the development and commercialization of our product
candidates. If we fail to obtain necessary funds for our operations, we will be unable to develop and commercialize any of our product candidates.

We expect our long-term capital requirements to depend on many potential factors, including, among others:
e the number of product candidates in development;
e the duration and cost of discovery and preclinical development;

e the regulatory path of product candidates, including our lead product candidate, Allocetra™, which has been developed for treating organ dysfunction and
failure in sepsis patients;

e the results of preclinical and clinical testing, which can be unpredictable in product candidate development;

e our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates, including securing commercialization and out-licensing agreements with third parties and
favorable pricing and market share;




e the progress, success and costs of our clinical trials and research and development programs, including those associated with milestones and royalties;

e the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review and obtaining regulatory approval of our lead product candidate and addressing regulatory and other issues
that may arise post-approval;

e the breadth of the labeling, assuming that any of our product candidates are approved for commercialization by the relevant regulatory authority;

e ourneed, or decision, to acquire or in-license complementary technologies or new platformtechnologies or product candidate targets;

e the costs of enforcing our issued patents and defending intellectual property-related claims;

e the costs of investigating patents that might block us from developing potential product candidates;

e the costs of recruiting and retaining qualified personnel;

e ourrevenue, ifany; and

e our consumption of available resources more rapidly than currently anticipated, resulting in the need for additional funding sooner than anticipated.

If we are unable to obtain the funds necessary for our operations, we will be unable to develop and commercialize any of our product candidates, or any future
product candidates, which would materially and adversely affect our business, liquidity and results of operations.

Due to our recurring operating losses, our ability to continue to operate as a going concern is dependent on additional financial support.

We devote substantially all of our efforts toward research and development activities. In the course of such activities, we have sustained operating losses and expect
such losses to continue for the foreseeable future. We have no current source of revenue to sustain our present activities, and we do not expect to generate revenue until, and
unless, the FDA or other regulatory authorities approve one of our product candidates and we successfully commercialize (including out-licensing) such product candidate.
Accordingly, our ability to continue operating will require us to obtain additional financing to fund our operations. According to our estimates, if we are not successful in
obtaining additional capital resources, there is a substantial doubt that we will be able to continue our activities beyond the fourth quarter of 2022. The perception of our
inability to continue as a going concern may make it more difficult for us to obtain financing for the continuation of our operations and could result in the loss of confidence by
investors, suppliers and employees.

Risks Related to Our Business, Industry and Regulatory Requirements
We have focused substantially all of our efforts and resources on Allocetra™, and we may not obtain regulatory approval of Allocetra™

We have invested almost all of our efforts and financial resources in the research and development of Allocetra™. As a result, our business is primarily dependent on
our ability to complete the development of, obtain regulatory approval for and successfully commercialize Allocetra™. The process to develop, obtain regulatory approval for
and commercialize Allocetra™ s long, complexand costly, and its outcome is uncertain.

The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, sale, marketing and distribution of drugs and pharmaceutical products, including biologics, are subject to
extensive regulation by the FDA, the EMA and regulatory agencies in other countries. These regulations differ fromjurisdiction to jurisdiction. We are not permitted to market
Allocetra™, or any other product candidate, in the United States until we receive approval of a biologics license application (“BLA”) fromthe FDA, or a marketing
authorization application (“MAA”) fromthe EMA, or in any foreign countries until we receive the requisite approval fromthe respective regulatory agencies in such countries.
We have not received regulatory clearance to conduct the clinical trials that are necessary to file a BLA with the FDA or comparable applications to other regulatory authorities
in other countries or received marketing approval for Allocetra™. The results of clinical trials may be unsatisfactory, even if we believe those clinical trials to be successful, the
FDA, or other regulatory authorities, may not approve our BLA should we be in a position to file one.




Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain
approval in other countries might differ fromthat required to obtain FDA approval. The marketing approval process in other countries may include all of the risks detailed
above regarding FDA approval in the United States as well as other risks. In particular, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that a product receives
pricing and reimbursement approval before it can be commercialized. This can result in substantial delays in such countries. In other countries, product approval depends on
showing superiority to an approved alternative therapy. This can result in significant expense for conducting complex clinical trials. If we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements in the United States or international markets or to obtain and maintain required approvals or if regulatory approvals in the United States or international markets
are delayed, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our products will be harmed.

Marketing approval in one jurisdiction does not ensure marketing approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining marketing approval in one jurisdiction may
have a negative effect on the regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain marketing approval in other countries or any delay or setback in obtaining such approval would
impair our ability to develop foreign markets for Allocetra™ or any other product candidate. This would reduce our target market and limit the full commercial potential of
Allocetra™ or any other product candidate.

None of our product candidates may achieve commercial success in a timely and cost-effective manner, or ever.

Even if regulatory authorities approve any of our product candidates, they may not be commercially successful. Our product candidates may not be commercially
successful because, among other things, government agencies or other third-party payors may not provide reimbursement for the costs of the product or the reimbursement
may be too low to be commercially successful. Also, physicians and others may not use or recommend our product candidates, even following regulatory approval. In addition,
a product approval, even if issued, may limit the uses for which such product may be distributed, which could adversely affect the commercial viability of the product.
Moreover, third parties may develop superior products or have proprietary rights that preclude us frommarketing our product. Physician and patient acceptance of, and
demand for, our products, if we obtain regulatory approval, will depend largely on many factors, including, but not limited to, the extent, if any, of reimbursement of costs by
government agencies and other third-party payors, pricing, the effectiveness of our marketing and distribution efforts, the safety and effectiveness of altemative products, and
the prevalence and severity of side effects associated with such products. If physicians, government agencies and other third-party payors do not accept the use or efficacy of
our products, we will not be able to generate significant revenue, if any.

Results from our clinical trials may be negative or may not replicate the results of our preclinical trials or earlier clinical trials, which could require that we
abandon development of Allocetra™, our other product candidates or any future product candidates, which will significantly impair our ability to generate revenues.

Upon the completion of any clinical trial, the results might not support the outcomes sought by us. Further, success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does
not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and the results of later clinical trials may not replicate the results of prior clinical trials and preclinical testing. A number of
companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials even after achieving promising results in early-
stage development. Accordingly, the results fromthe completed preclinical studies and clinical trials for Allocetra™ may not be predictive of the results we may obtain in later
stage trials of Allocetra™ or clinical trials of any of our other product candidates. Our clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or
regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials. Moreover, clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that
believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain FDA or EMA, or other regulatory agency,
approval for their products.




In addition, the clinical trial process may fail to demonstrate that Allocetra™ s safe and effective for its indicated uses. Any such failure may cause us to abandon
Allocetra™ and may delay development of other product candidates. Any delay in, or termination or suspension of, our clinical trials will delay the requisite filings with the
FDA or other regulatory agencies and, ultimately, our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenues. If the clinical trials do not support our product
claims, the completion of development of such product candidate may be significantly delayed or abandoned, which will significantly impair our ability to generate revenues
and will materially adversely affect our results of operations.

The clinical trial process is complex and expensive, and commencement and completion of clinical trials can be delayed or prevented for a number of reasons.

We may not be able to commence or complete the clinical trials required to support our submission of a BLA to the FDA or a MAA to the EMA or any similar
submission to regulatory authorities in other countries. Drug development is a long, expensive and uncertain process, and delay or failure can occur at any stage of any of our
clinical trials. The fact that the FDA, EMA or other regulatory authorities permit a company to conduct human clinical trials is no guarantee that the trial will be successful. To
the contrary, most product candidates that enter clinical trials do not prove to be successful and do not result in the filing of a BLA, MAA or similar filing. Drug candidates
that prove successful at one clinical trial phase may prove unsuccessful at a subsequent phase. Human clinical trials are very expensive and difficult to design and implement,
in part because they are subject to rigorous regulatory requirements and in part because the results of clinical trials are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Regulatory
authorities, such as the FDA, may preclude clinical trials from proceeding. Additionally, the clinical trial process is time-consuming, and failure can occur at any stage of the
trials. We may encounter problems that cause us to abandon or repeat clinical trials. The commencement and completion of clinical trials may be delayed by several factors,
including:

e difficulties obtaining regulatory clearance or approval to commence a clinical trial or complying with conditions imposed by a regulatory authority regarding the
scope or termof a clinical trial;

e delays in reaching or failing to reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations (“CROs”), contract manufacturing
organizations (“CMOs”), pharmaceutical shipping companies and trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly
among different CROs, CMOs, shipping companies and trial sites;

e insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of a product candidate or other materials necessary to conduct our clinical trials;
e difficulties in obtaining institutional review board (“IRB”) approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective site;

e delays resulting froma decision of the FDA not to review a BLA for Allocetra™, or any of our other product candidates, under the FDA’s Fast Track
Development Programor as a Breakthrough Therapy; and

e challenges in recruiting and enrolling patients or donors to participate in clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including size and nature of patient population,
proximity of patients to clinical sites, eligibility criteria for the trial, nature of trial protocol, the availability of approved effective treatments for the relevant disease
and competition fromother clinical trial programs for similar indications.




Clinical trials may also be delayed or terminated as a result of ambiguous or negative interimresults. In addition, a clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by us,
the FDA or other regulatory authorities, the IRBs at the sites where such boards are overseeing a trial, or a data safety monitoring board overseeing the clinical trial at issue or
other regulatory authorities due to a number of factors, including:

e failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols;

e inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities;

e unforeseen safety issues or lack of effectiveness; and

e lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trials.

In addition, we or regulatory authorities may suspend our clinical trials at any time if it appears that we are exposing participants to unacceptable health risks, or if
others report that similar products pose an unacceptable risk to patients, or if the regulatory authorities find deficiencies in our regulatory submissions or the conduct of such

trials. Any suspension of clinical trials will delay possible regulatory approval, if any, and adversely affect our ability to develop products and generate revenue.

We cannot be certain that the results of our potential Phase 111 clinical trials, even if all endpoints are met, will support regulatory approval of any of our
product candidates for any indication.

Currently, the FDA, EMA and other regulatory agencies do not have any clear guidance on which endpoints of a Phase III clinical trial would be sufficient for
approval of a drug for the treatment of any indication. Therefore, the development pathway for Allocetra™ and our other product candidates is not completely clear. For
example, even if the FDA approves a certain primary endpoint for a pivotal clinical trial, and the trial meets that primary endpoint, the FDA may still deny approval ofa BLA for
various reasons. It is possible that even if the results of a potential Phase III clinical trial meet the primary endpoints for a particular product candidate, the FDA may still
require longer-termstudies of that product candidate prior to granting marketing approval.

Obtaining approval of a BLA, MAA or other regulatory approval, even after clinical trials that are believed to be successfil is an uncertain process.

Even if we complete our planned clinical trials and believe the results to be successful, all of which are uncertain, obtaining approval of a BLA, or similar regulatory
application, is an extensive, lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, and the FDA and other regulatory agencies may delay, limit or deny approval of our product candidates
for many reasons, including:

e we may not be able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory agencies that our product candidates are safe and effective for any indication;

e the results of our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance or clinical significance required by the applicable regulatory agencies for approval;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may disagree with the number, design, size, conduct or implementation of our clinical trials;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may not find the data frompreclinical studies and clinical trials sufficient to demonstrate that our product candidates’ clinical
and other benefits outweigh their respective safety risks;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials;

10




e the applicable regulatory agencies may not accept data generated at our clinical trial sites;

e the data collected frompreclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of a BLA or similar
regulatory application;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may not schedule an advisory committee meeting in a timely manner or the advisory committee may recommend against
approval of our application or may recommend that the applicable regulatory agencies require, as a condition of approval, additional preclinical studies or clinical
trials, limitations on approved labeling or distribution and use restrictions;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may require development of a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy as a condition of approval;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may require simultaneous approval for both adults and children which would delay needed approvals, or we may have
successful clinical trial results for adults, but not children, or vice versa;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may change their approval policies or adopt new regulations that may impede consideration or approval of our BLA, or similar
regulatory application;

e the applicable regulatory agencies may identify deficiencies in the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers, or suppliers of blood and
cell samples or providers of cell collection, freezing and transportation services, with which we enter into agreements for clinical and commercial supplies; and

e the applicable regulatory agencies may demand post-marketing approval studies, such as Phase IV clinical trials, in connection with our product candidates.

With respect to Allocetra™ for the treatment of organ dysfunction and failure associated with sepsis, before we can submit a BLA, or similar regulatory application, to
the FDA, or other regulatory authorities, as applicable, we will first be required to conduct a Phase II clinical trial and then must conduct pivotal Phase III clinical trials. With
respect to Allocetra™ for the prevention of GVHD, before we can submit a BLA, or similar regulatory application, to the FDA, or other regulatory authorities, as applicable, we
may first be required to conduct additional Phase II clinical trials and then must conduct pivotal Phase III clinical trials that will be substantially broader than our previously
conducted Phase Ila trial. However, certain regulations in Europe may allow us to obtain conditional marketing authorization in Europe for some of our products for certain
indications that are classified as unmet medical need and fall under certain guidelines. We will also need to agree on a protocol with the FDA for the clinical trials before
commencing those trials in the United States. Phase III clinical trials frequently produce unsatisfactory results even though prior clinical trials were successful. Therefore, the
results of the additional trials that we conduct may or may not be successful. The applicable regulatory agencies may suspend all clinical trials or require that we conduct
additional clinical, nonclinical, manufacturing, validation or drug product quality studies and submit those data before considering or reconsidering the BLA, or similar
regulatory application. Depending on the extent of these, or any other studies, approval of any applications that we submit may be delayed by several years, or may require us
to expend more resources than we have available. It is also possible that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not be considered sufficient by the applicable
regulatory agencies to provide regulatory approval. If any of these outcomes occur, we likely would not receive approval for Allocetra™, or any of our other product
candidates, and may be forced to cease operations.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for Allocetra™, or any of our other product candidates, the approval might contain significant limitations related to the intended
uses for which the product is approved, including, without limitation, restrictions related to certain labeled populations, age groups, warnings, precautions or
contraindications, or an approval may be subject to significant post-marketing studies or risk mitigation requirements. If we are unable to successfully commercialize
Allocetra™, or any of our other product candidates, we may be forced to cease operations.
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Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance or unanticipated events during our clinical trials may occur, which may result in necessary changes to clinical
trial protocols, which could result in increased costs to us, delay our development timeline or reduce the likelihood of successfil completion of our clinical trials.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance or unanticipated events during our clinical trials may occur, and as a result, we may need to amend our clinical trial
protocols. Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinical trial protocols to IRBs for review and approval, which may adversely affect the cost, timing and successful
completion of a clinical trial. If we experience delays in the completion of, or if we terminate, any of our clinical trials, the commercial prospects for our affected product
candidates would be harmed and our ability to generate product revenue would be delayed, possibly materially.

Our manufacturing processes are complex, delicate and susceptible to contamination, and involve biological intermediates that are subject to stringent
regulations.

Blood is a raw material that is susceptible to damage and contamination and may contain human pathogens, any of which would render the blood unsuitable as raw
material for further manufacturing. For instance, improper storage of blood, by us or third-party suppliers, may require us to destroy some of our raw material. If unsuitable
blood is not identified and discarded prior to the release of the blood to the manufacturing process, it may be necessary to discard intermediate or finished product made from
that blood or to recall any finished product released to the market or individual patients, resulting in a charge to cost of goods sold.

The manufacture of Allocetra™ s a complexand delicate process of cell collection, separation, freezing, storing, incubation, harvesting, formulating and testing, each
under aseptic conditions. First, cells are collected by separation fromthe blood donations at collection centers and medical centers. The manufacture of Allocetra™ and

AllocetraT™ frommatched donor cells differ only in the source of the blood donations. Donations for Allocetra™ from matched donor cells come from the blood of either @ia
donor matched by his or her human leukocyte antigen (i.e., a protein found on white blood cells that is the standard genetic marker for the regulation of the immune systemand
is used to match donors and recipients in transplantations), (ii) the patient, or (iii) an allogeneic, unmatched donor that has undergone ex-vivo (i.e., prior to infusion)

manipulation to stabilize the “early apoptosis” status of the cells for a prolonged period of time. Donations for Allocetra™

™

are collected from healthy donors through

apheresis. The cells sourced for either Allocetra™ ™" or Allocetra™ from matched donor cells are then shipped to a manufacturing site for cryopreservation by trained
personnel pursuant to current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) requirements, FDA guidelines and our manufacturing protocol, as detailed in our Chemistry
Manufacturing and Controls (“CMC”) protocols. Second, the cells are thawed, processed, prepared in an intravenous bag and tested according to our quality assurance and
quality control assays and cGMP requirements. The final product is then shipped to the clinical site where it is injected into the patient within the predetermined expiration
period. All shipping and handling is pursuant to carefully controlled conditions, including controlled temperatures, as required by applicable regulations. The manufacturing
sites must be certified manufacturing facilities operating under cGMP requirements and all manufacturing activities, including cell collection, processing, testing, freezing,
shipping, final product preparations, packaging and labeling, must be conducted by properly and adequately trained personnel in accordance with detailed protocols, batch
records and our CMC and based on cGMP requirements and FDA, or other applicable regulatory, guidelines.

Allocetra™, and our other potential drug candidates, if any, may fail to meet our stringent specifications through a failure in one or more of these process steps. Such
failure would prohibit us fromreleasing the drug at issue for human use until the failure is properly and sufficiently corrected and resolved. We may detect instances in which
an unreleased product was produced, either internally (as is the case for small scale preclinical or early stage clinical production) or by a CMO (as would be the case for large
scale production for which we would provide appropriate technology training and require FDA approval), without adherence to our manufacturing procedures or blood used in
our production process was not collected, shipped, processed or stored in a compliant manner consistent with our current cGMP, or other regulations or regulatory requests,
including those by the FDA. Such an event of non-compliance would likely result in our determination that the implicated product candidates should not be released and
therefore should be destroyed. Even if handled properly, biologics may formor contain particulates or have other issues or problems after storage which may require
destruction or recalls. The impact of such non-compliance or issues or problems would be exacerbated if our manufacturing efforts are scaled to conduct a Phase II or Phase III
clinical trial in the United States or Europe, where there may be numerous collection sites and where shipments may be made to multiple locations with large numbers of
patients across a large geographical area. There can be no assurance that we can scale such a manufacturing process, including in the United States, in a cost-effective or
efficient manner, or in a manner that will meet all regulatory requirements, including FDA requirements, if at all.
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While we expect to write-off small amounts of work-in-progress in the ordinary course of business due to the complexnature of blood, our processes and our product
candidates, unanticipated events may lead to write-offs and other costs materially in excess of our expectations and the reserves we have established for these purposes. Such
write-offs and other costs could cause material fluctuations in our liquidity and results of operations. Furthermore, contamination of our product candidates could cause
consumers or other third parties with whom we conduct business to lose confidence in the reliability of our manufacturing procedures, which could adversely affect our
liquidity and results of operations. In addition, faulty or contaminated product candidates that are unknowingly distributed could result in patient harm, threaten the reputation
of our products and expose us to product liability damages and claims from companies for whomwe do contract manufacturing.

Ifwe or our CMO:s fail to comply with manufacturing regulations, our financial results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Before a BLA is approved, or before we begin the commercial manufacture of any of our products, CMOs and other outsourced manufacturing service providers we
may engage must obtain regulatory approval of their manufacturing facilities, processes and quality systems. In addition, pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities are
continuously subject to inspection by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities before and after product approval. Due to the complexity of the processes used to
manufacture pharmaceutical products and product candidates, any potential third-party manufacturer may be unable to continue to pass or initially pass federal, state or
international regulatory inspections in a cost-effective manner.

The FDA and foreign regulators require manufacturers to register manufacturing facilities. The FDA and foreign regulators also inspect these facilities to confirm
compliance with requirements that the FDA or foreign regulators establish. We, to the extent we may manufacture our products in the future, or our materials suppliers may
face manufacturing or quality control problems causing product production and shipment delays or a situation where we or the supplier may not be able to maintain compliance
with the FDA’s or foreign regulators’ requirements necessary to continue manufacturing our product candidate. Any failure to comply with FDA or foreign regulatory
requirements could adversely affect our clinical research activities and our ability to develop and market our product candidate and any future product candidates.

If a third-party manufacturer with whom we contract is unable to comply with manufacturing regulations, we may be subject to fines, unanticipated compliance
expenses, recall or seizure of our products, total or partial suspension of production and/or enforcement actions, including injunctions, and criminal or civil prosecution. These
possible sanctions would adversely affect our financial results and financial condition.

In January 2019 we completed the construction of a new facility in Israel to support the production of the Allocetra™ drug product for any clinical trial that will
be conducted in the EU or Israel. We do not have experience in manufacturing products on a commercial scale. If, due to our lack of manufacturing experience and
resources, we cannot manufacture our products on a commercial scale successfilly or manufacture sufficient product to meet our expected commercial requirements, our
business may be materially harmed.

In January 2019 we completed construction of a new facility in Israel for the manufacture of Allocetra™ for the planned clinical trials that will be conducted in the EU
or Israel. We do not have experience in manufacturing products on a commercial scale or using automated processes and we have limited personnel. In addition, because we
are not aware of any company that has manufactured Allocetra™ for clinical use, there are limited precedents fromwhich we can learn. If we do not receive regulatory approval
for Allocetra™, our costs for the construction and maintenance of the manufacturing facility may exceed revenue derived fromthe sale of products manufactured at such
facility. If we do not have sufficient revenues to cover the costs of the manufacturing facility, we may need to shut down the facility at a loss or borrow or raise funds to
maintain the facility until sufficient revenues can be generated. We may encounter difficulties in the manufacture of our products due to our limited manufacturing experience
and resources. These difficulties could delay the build-out and equipping of a commercial manufacturing facility and regulatory approval of the manufacture of our products,
increase our costs or cause production delays or result in us not manufacturing sufficient product to meet our expected commercial requirements, any of which could damage
our reputation and hurt our profitability. If we are unable to successfully increase our manufacturing capacity to commercial scale, our business may be materially adversely
affected.
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Our ability to produce safe and effective products depends on the safety of our blood supply against transmittable diseases.

Despite overlapping safeguards, including the screening of donors and GMP aseptic manufacturing under a quality controlled governing system, the risk of
transmissible disease through blood products cannot be entirely eliminated. For example, because blood-derived therapeutics involve the use and purification of human blood,
there has been concern raised about the risk of transmitting coronavirus (COVID-19), human immunodeficiency virus (“HIV”), West Nile virus, HIN1 virus or “swine flu” and
other blood-bome pathogens and infectious agents through blood-derived products. There are also concems about the future transmission of HSN1 virus, or “bird flu.” In the
1980s, thousands of hemophiliacs worldwide were infected with HIV through the use of contaminated Factor VIII.

New infectious diseases emerge in the human population fromtime to time. If a new infectious disease has a period during which time the causative agent is present in
the bloodstream but symptoms are not present, it is possible that blood donations could be contaminated by that infectious agent. Typically, early in an outbreak of a new
disease, tests for the causative agent do not exist. During this early phase, we must rely on screening of donors and patients (e.g., for behavioral risk factors or physical
symptoms) to reduce the risk of blood contamination. Screening methods are generally less sensitive and specific than a direct test as a means of identifying potentially
contaminated blood units.

During the early phase of an outbreak of a new infectious disease, our ability to manufacture safe products would depend on the manufacturing process’ capacity to
inactivate or remove the infectious agent. To the extent that a product’s manufacturing process is inadequate to inactivate or remove an infectious agent, our ability to
manufacture and distribute that product would be impaired.

If a new infectious disease were to emerge in the human population, the regulatory and public health authorities could impose precautions to limit the transmission of
the disease that would impair our ability to procure blood, manufacture our product candidates or both. Such precautionary measures could be taken before there is conclusive
medical or scientific evidence that a disease poses a risk for blood-derived products.

In recent years, new testing and viral inactivation methods have been developed that more effectively detect and inactivate infectious viruses in collected blood.
There can be no assurance, however, that such new testing and inactivation methods will adequately screen for, and inactivate, infectious agents in the blood used in the

production of our product candidates.

Our product candidates may produce undesirable side effects that we may not detect in our clinical trials, which could prevent us from achieving or maintaining
market acceptance of any such product candidate and could substantially increase commercialization costs or even force us to cease operations.

Even if Allocetra™, or any of our other product candidates, receives marketing approval, we or others may later identify undesirable side effects caused by the
product, and, in that event, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including, without limitation:

e regulatory authorities may suspend or withdraw their approval of the product;

e regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as warnings or contraindications or distribution and use restrictions, or they may
require that these statements be placed in a black boxon the product’s labeling;

e regulatory authorities may require us to issue specific communications to healthcare professionals, such as “Dear Doctor” letters;
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e regulatory authorities may issue negative publicity regarding the affected product, including safety communications;

e we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials or restrict or cease the distribution or
use of the product; and

e we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients, and in certain cases, certain relatives.

Any ofthese events could prevent us fromachieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidate and could substantially increase
commercialization costs or even force us to cease operations.

Even if Allocetra™ or any other product candidate that we are developing or may develop receives marketing approval, we will continue to face extensive
regulatory requirements, and any such product may still face future development and regulatory difficulties. In addition, we are subject to government regulations and we
may experience delays in obtaining required regulatory approvals to market our proposed product candidates.

Even if we receive regulatory approval to market a particular product candidate, any such product will remain subject to extensive regulatory requirements, including
requirements relating to manufacturing, labeling, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, distribution and recordkeeping. Even if regulatory
approval of a product is granted, the approval may be subject to limitations on the uses for which the product may be marketed or the conditions of approval, or may contain
requirements for costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product, which could adversely affect us by reducing revenues or
increasing expenses, and cause the approved product candidate not to be commercially viable. In addition, as clinical experience with a drug expands after approval, typically
because it is used by a greater number and more diverse group of patients after approval than during clinical trials, side effects and other problems may be observed over time
after approval that were not seen or anticipated during pre-approval clinical trials or other studies. Any adverse effects observed after the approval and marketing of a product
candidate could result in limitations on the use of or withdrawal of any approved products from the marketplace. Absence of long-termsafety data may also limit the approved
uses of our products, if any. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements of the FDA, and other applicable U.S. and foreign regulatory authorities, or previously
unknown problems with any approved commercial products, manufacturers or manufacturing processes are discovered, we could be subject to administrative or judicially
imposed sanctions or other setbacks, including, without limitation, the following:

e suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements;

e refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications;

e suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

e suspend or withdraw marketing approval;

e seekan injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;

® seize or detain products;

® ban orrestrict imports and exports;

e issue warning letters or untitled letters; or

e refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications.

In addition, various aspects of our operations are subject to federal, state or local laws, rules and regulations, any of which may change fromtime to time. Costs

arising out of any regulatory developments could be time-consuming and expensive and could divert management resources and attention and, consequently, could adversely
affect our business operations and financial performance.
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Delays in regulatory approval, limitations in regulatory approval and withdrawals of regulatory approval may have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Ifwe receive marketing approval for any of our product candidates, sales will be limited unless the product achieves broad market acceptance.

The commercial success of our product candidates and any future product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval fromthe FDA, or other regulatory
authorities, will depend on the breadth of'its approved labeling and upon the acceptance of the product by the medical community, including physicians, patients and third-
party payors. The degree of market acceptance of any approved product will depend on a number of factors, including, without limitation:

e demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy compared to other products;

e ability of physicians to accurately diagnose the targeted indications;

e the relative convenience and ease of administration;

e the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects;

e limitations or warnings contained in the product’s approved labeling;

e distribution and use restrictions imposed by the FDA, or other regulatory agencies, or agreed to by us as part of a mandatory or voluntary risk management plan;

e availability of alternative treatments, including a number of competitive products already approved or expected to be commercially launched in the near future;

e pricing and cost effectiveness;

e the effectiveness of our, or any future collaborators’, sales and marketing strategies;

e  our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement; and

e the willingness of patients to pay for drugs out of pocket in the absence of third-party coverage.

Ifany of our product candidates is approved, but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, third-party payors and patients, we may not
generate sufficient revenue fromthe product, and we may not become profitable. In addition, our efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the

benefits of the product may require significant resources and may never be successful.

Ifwe acquire or in-license additional technologies or product candidates, we may incur additional costs, have integration difficulties and experience other risks
that could harm our business and results of operations.

We may acquire and in-license additional product candidates and technologies. Any product candidate or technologies we in-license or acquire will likely require
additional development efforts prior to commercial sale, including extensive preclinical or clinical testing, or both, and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory
authorities, if any. All product candidates are prone to risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutical product development, including the possibility that the product candidate, or
products developed based on in-licensed technology, will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by regulatory authorities. In addition, we cannot
assure you that any product candidate that we develop based on acquired or in-licensed technology that is granted regulatory approval will be manufactured or produced
economically, successfully commercialized or widely accepted or competitive in the marketplace. Moreover, integrating any newly acquired or in-licensed product candidates
could be expensive and time-consuming. If we cannot effectively manage these aspects of our business strategy, our business may not succeed.
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The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses. If we are found to have improperly
promoted off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate promotional claims about prescription products. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses that
are not approved by the FDA or such other regulatory agencies as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. In particular, any labeling approved by such regulatory
agencies for our products, if any, may also include restrictions on use. Such regulatory agencies may impose further requirements or restrictions on the distribution or use of
our products as part of a mandatory plan, such as limiting prescribing to certain physicians or medical centers that have undergone specialized training, limiting treatment to
patients who meet certain safe-use criteria and requiring treated patients to enroll in a registry. If we receive marketing approval for our product candidates, physicians may
nevertheless prescribe our products to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label. If we are found to have promoted such “off-label” uses, we may
become subject to significant liability. In particular, the U.S. federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and
has enjoined several companies fromengaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees or permanent injunctions under
which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed.

We may be subject to extensive environmental, health and safety, and other laws and regulations in multiple jurisdictions.

Our business involves the controlled use, including through our service providers, of hazardous materials, various biological compounds and chemicals; therefore,
we, our agents and our service providers may be subject to various environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing air emissions, water and
wastewater discharges, the use, management and disposal of hazardous, radioactive and biological materials and wastes and the cleanup of contaminated sites. The risk of
accidental contamination or injury fromthese materials cannot be eliminated. If an accident, spill or release of any regulated chemicals or substances occurs, we could be held
liable for resulting damages, including for investigation, remediation and monitoring of the contamination, including natural resource damages, the costs of which could be
substantial. We may incur substantial capital costs and operating expenses and may be required to obtain consents to comply with any environmental and health laws or
regulations and the terms and conditions of any permits required pursuant to such laws and regulations, including costs incurred by us to install new or updated pollution
control equipment for our service providers, modify our operations or performother corrective actions at our facilities or the facilities of our service providers. In addition, fines
and penalties may be imposed on us, our agents and/or our service providers for non-compliance with environmental, health and safety and other laws and regulations or for
the failure to have, or comply with the terms and conditions of, required environmental or other permits or consents.

We expect the healthcare industry to face increased limitations on reimbursement, rebates and other payments as a result of healthcare reform, which could
adversely affect third-party coverage of our products and how much or under what circumstances healthcare providers will prescribe or administer our products.

In both the United States and other countries, sales of our products, if any, will depend in part upon the availability of reimbursement from third-party payors, which
include governmental authorities, managed care organizations and other private health insurers. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price and examining the
cost effectiveness of medical products and services.

Increasing expenditures for healthcare have been the subject of considerable public attention in the United States. Both private and government entities are seeking
ways to reduce or contain healthcare costs. Numerous proposals that would effect changes in the U.S. healthcare system have been introduced or proposed in Congress and
in some state legislatures, including reducing reimbursement for prescription products and reducing the levels at which consumers and healthcare providers are reimbursed for
purchases of pharmaceutical products.
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In the United States, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modermization Act of 2003, (the “Medicare Modermization Act”), changed the way Medicare
covers and pays for pharmaceutical products. The legislation expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly and introduced a new reimbursement
methodology based on average sales prices for physician-administered drugs under Medicare Part B. In recent years, Congress has considered further reductions in Medicare
reimbursement for drugs administered by physicians. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), has issued and will continue to issue regulations to implement
the new law which will affect Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payors. Medicare, which is the single largest third-party payment programand which is administered by
CMS, covers prescription drugs in one of two ways. Medicare Part B covers outpatient prescription drugs that are administered by physicians and Medicare Part D covers
other outpatient prescription drugs, but through private insurers. Medicare Part A covers hospitalizations and pays hospitals a fixed fee, subject to certain limited exceptions,
for treating a given ailment. Drug or biologics administered during a patient’s hospitalization are not separately reimbursed by CMS, but are paid by the hospital out of'its fixed
fee payment from CMS. Hospitals, therefore, may be reluctant to purchase new costly products unless those products can significantly reduce a patient’s length of stay.
Medicaid, a health insurance program for the poor, is funded jointly by CMS and the states, but is administered by the states; states are authorized to cover outpatient
prescription drugs, but that coverage is subject to caps and to substantial rebates. The CMS also has the authority to revise reimbursement rates and to implement coverage
restrictions for some drugs. Cost reduction initiatives and changes in coverage implemented through legislation or regulation could decrease utilization of and reimbursement
for any approved products, which in turn would affect the price we can receive for those products. While the Medicare Modemization Act and Medicare regulations apply
only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates.
Therefore, any reduction in reimbursement that results from federal legislation or regulation may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.

In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act of
2010 (the “Affordable Care Act”), a sweeping law intended to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies
against fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for healthcare and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on pharmaceutical and medical device
manufacturers and impose additional health policy reforms. The Affordable Care Act expanded manufacturers’ rebate liability to include covered drugs dispensed to
individuals who are enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations, increased the minimum rebate due for innovator drugs from 15.1% of average manufacturer price
(“AMP”), to 23.1% of AMP. The rebate on innovator drugs is the greater of 23.1 % of the AMP per unit or the difference between the AMP and the best price per unit and
adjusted by the Consumer Price Index-Urban (“CPI-U”) based on launch date and current quarter AMP. The total rebate amount for innovator drugs is capped at 100.0% of
AMP. The Affordable Care Act and subsequent legislation also narrowed the definition of AMP. Furthermore, the Affordable Care Act imposes a significant annual,
nondeductible fee on companies that manufacture or import certain branded prescription drug products. Substantial new provisions affecting compliance have also been
enacted, which may affect our business practices with healthcare practitioners, and a significant number of provisions are not yet, or have only recently become, effective.
Although it is too early to determine the effect of the Affordable Care Act, it appears likely to continue to put pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the
Medicare program, and may also increase our regulatory burdens and operating costs.

The Food and Drug Administration Reauthorization Act (FDARA) was signed into law on August 18, 2017. The law comprises the reauthorization of the Prescription
Drug User Fee Act (PDUFA), which is intended to give the FDA the resources to sustain a predictable and efficient review process for human drugs and biologics. The current
PDUFA (PDUFA VI), which includes the Fiscal Years 2018-2022, generates a new user fee program with some changes including removal of the prescription drug establishment
fees and added a human prescription drug program fee, Although the establishment fee has been eliminated, the previous establishment registration and drug listing
requirements are still in effect. PDUFA VI created a structure whereby human drug application fees will account for 20% and prescription drug program fees will account for
80% of the total revenue amount for that fiscal year. Previously, FDA collected human drug application and supplement fees, prescription drug establishment fees and
prescription drug product fees. PDUFA VI eliminates fees for supplements as well as for establishments, though applicants will be assessed annual prescription drug program
fees for prescription drug products, rather than the prescription drug product fee assessed under the previous iteration of PDUFA. In addition, PDUFA VI eliminates a
provision under which applicants could apply for a waiver or refund of user fees on the basis that the fees to be paid by such person will exceed the anticipated present and
future costs incurred by the Secretary in conducting the process for the review of human drug applications for such person, also known as the ‘the fees-exceed-costs waiver.
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A significant component of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) is the individual mandate that obligates individuals to purchase health insurance. The 2017 Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act eliminated the penalty for not doing so. A December 2018 Federal District Court in Texas has ruled that the mandate is now unconstitutional and since that provision
is not severable fromthe ACA, this unconstitutionality applies to the entire ACT. This decision is under appeal. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services issued a
statement indicating that the decision “is not an injunction that halts the enforcement of the law and not a final judgment. Therefore, HHS will continue administering and
enforcing all aspects of the ACA as it had before the court issued its decision.” The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) also indicated on its healthcare.gov
website that the decision does not impact enrollment or coverage on the health care exchanges for 2019. While it is business as usual for now, this decision may be far-reaching
and eventually could significantly impact employer health plans, individuals, health care providers, and federal- and state-administered health programs and their coverage of
and reimbursement for our product.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. In January 2013, President Obama signed into law the American
Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several categories of healthcare providers and increased the statute of limitations
period for the government to recover overpayments to providers fromthree to five years. If we ever obtain regulatory approval and commercialization of any of our product
candidates, these new laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, which could have a material adverse effect on our customers and
accordingly, our financial operations. Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities
for pharmaceutical products. We cannot be sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be
changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of our product candidates may be.

Although we cannot predict the full effect on our business of the implementation of existing legislation or the enactment of additional legislation pursuant to
healthcare and other legislative reform, we believe that legislation or regulations that would reduce reimbursement for, or restrict coverage of, our products could adversely
affect how much or under what circumstances healthcare providers will prescribe or administer our products. This could materially and adversely affect our business by
reducing our ability to generate revenue, raise capital, obtain additional collaborators and market our products. In addition, we believe the increasing emphasis on managed
care in the United States has and will continue to put pressure on the price and usage of pharmaceutical products, which may adversely impact product sales.

It will be difficult for us to profitably sell our future products, if any, if reimbursement for any such product is limited by government authorities and third-party
Ppayor policies.

In addition to any healthcare reform measures that may affect reimbursement, market acceptance and sales of our future products, if any, will depend on the
reimbursement policies of government authorities and third-party payors. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health
maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is
cost containment. Government authorities and these third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular
medications. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for our future products, if any, and, if reimbursement is available, the level of reimbursement.
Reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product for which we obtain marketing approval. In addition, third-party payors are likely to impose strict
requirements for reimbursement in order to limit off-label use of a higher priced drug or treatment. Reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors
including the third-party payor’s determination that use of a product is:

e acovered benefit under its health plan;

e safe, effective and medically necessary;
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e appropriate for the specific patient;
e cost-effective; and
e neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product froma government or other third-party payor is a time-consuming and costly process that could require
us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost effectiveness data for the use of our products to the payor. We may not be able to provide data sufficient to gain
acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement. We cannot be sure that coverage or adequate reimbursement will be available for our future products. Also, we
cannot be sure that reimbursement amounts will not reduce the demand for, or the price of, our future products. If reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited
levels, we may not be able to commercialize our product candidate, or any future product candidates, profitably, or at all, even if approved.

Governments outside the United States tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our future revenues, if any.

In some countries, particularly the countries comprising the EU, the pricing of pharmaceuticals and certain other therapeutics is subject to governmental control. In
these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement or
pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available therapies. If
reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed, possibly materially.

We are subject to anti-kickback laws and regulations. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could have adverse consequences to us.

There are extensive international and U.S. federal and state laws and regulations prohibiting fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry that can result in significant
criminal and civil penalties. Such U.S. federal laws include: the anti-kickback statute, which prohibits certain business practices and relationships, including the payment or
receipt of compensation for the referral of patients whose care will be paid by Medicare or other federal healthcare programs; the physician self-referral prohibition, commonly
referred to as the Stark Law; the anti-inducement law, which prohibits providers fromoffering anything to a Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary to induce that beneficiary to use
items or services covered by either program; the False Claims Act, which prohibits any person fromknowingly presenting or causing to be presented false or fraudulent claims
for payment by the federal government, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs; and the Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which authorizes the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services to impose civil penalties administratively for fraudulent or abusive acts. In addition, the Affordable Care Act requires drug manufacturers to report to the
government any payments to physicians for consulting services and the like. Many jurisdictions outside the United States have similar anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, and
healthcare laws and regulations, and we could be subject to these laws and regulations to the extent that we operate in such jurisdictions.

Sanctions for violating these federal laws include criminal and civil penalties that range from punitive sanctions, damage assessments, monetary penalties,
imprisonment, denial of Medicare and Medicaid payments or exclusion fromthe Medicare and Medicaid programs, or both, and debarment. As federal and state budget
pressures continue, federal and state administrative agencies may also continue to escalate investigation and enforcement efforts to reduce or eliminate waste and to control
fraud and abuse in governmental healthcare programs. Private enforcement of healthcare fraud has also increased, due in large part to amendments to the Civil False Claims Act
in 1986 that were designed to encourage private persons to sue on behalf of the government. Efforts to ensure compliance with any of these federal, state and other fraud and
abuse laws and regulations may involve substantial costs, and a violation of the same could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition. An
investigation into the use by physicians of any of our products, if ever commercialized, may dissuade physicians from either purchasing or using them, and could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to commercialize those products.
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Our market is subject to intense competition. If we are unable to compete effectively, Allocetra™ or any other product candidate that we are developing or may
develop may be rendered uncompetitive or obsolete.

There are a number of products in development for the treatment or prevention of sepsis, acute GvHD and the other autoimmune and inflammatory disorders that we
are targeting or intend to target in the future, most of which are being developed by companies that are far larger than us, with significantly greater resources and more
experience. Further, our industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. Our potential competitors include large, fully-integrated
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, specialty pharmaceutical and generic drug companies, academic institutions, government agencies and research institutions. All
ofthese competitors currently engage in, have engaged in or may engage in the future in the development, manufacturing, marketing and commercialization of new
pharmaceuticals, some of which may compete with our product candidates. Smaller or early stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through
collaborative arrangements with large, established companies. These companies may have products in development that are superior to Allocetra™ or any other product
candidate that we are developing or may develop. Key competitive factors affecting the commercial success of Allocetra™ and any other product candidates that we are
developing or may develop are likely to be efficacy, time of onset, safety and tolerability profile, reliability, convenience of dosing, price and reimbursement.

Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than we do and significantly greater experience in the
discovery and development of drug candidates, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products and the commercialization of those products. Accordingly, our
competitors may be more successful than us in obtaining FDA and other marketing approvals for drugs and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors’ drugs
may be more effective, or more effectively marketed and sold, than any drug we may commercialize, which may render Allocetra™ or any other product candidates that we are
developing or may develop obsolete or uncompetitive before we can recover the expenses of developing and commercializing the product. We anticipate that we will face
intense and increasing competition as new drugs enter the market and advanced technologies become available. Finally, the development of new treatment methods for the
diseases and disorders we are targeting could render Allocetra™ or any other product candidates that we are developing or may develop, uncompetitive or obsolete. If we
cannot successfully compete with new or existing products, our marketing and sales will suffer and we may never be profitable.

Our competitors currently include companies with marketed products and/or an advanced research and development pipeline. Moreover, several companies have
reported the commencement of research projects related to the treatment or prevention of GVHD and other autoimmune and inflammatory conditions, such as Crohn’s disease
and other inflammatory bowel disorders, RA, gout, MS and solid organ transplant rejection, as well as the treatment or prevention of sepsis.

We face potential product liability exposure, and, if claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability.

Our products and product candidates could cause adverse effects. These adverse effects may not be observed in clinical trials, but may nonetheless occur in the
future. If any of these adverse effects occur, they may render our product candidates ineffective or harmful in some patients, and our sales would suffer, materially adversely
affecting our business, financial conditions and results of operations.

In addition, potential adverse effects caused by our product candidates, or products, could lead to product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought
against us by consumers, healthcare providers or others coming into contact with our products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we

could incur substantial liabilities. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:

e decreased demand for our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval;
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e impairment of our business reputation and exposure to adverse publicity;

e increased warnings on product labels;

e  withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

e costs of related litigation;

e distraction of management’s attention fromour primary business;

e substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;

e loss of revenue; and

e the inability to successfully commercialize our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.
If product liability lawsuits are successfully brought against us, our insurance may be inadequate.

We have obtained liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials with limits that are customary for such trials. However, our insurance coverage may not be
sufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we may not be able
to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. If and when we obtain marketing approval for any of
our product candidates, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products; however, we may be unable to obtain this product liability
insurance on commercially reasonable terms. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated side effects. The
cost of any product liability litigation or other proceedings, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial. A successful product liability claim, or series of claims, brought
against us could cause our share price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely affect our business.

The product lability insurance we will need to obtain in connection with the commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when they receive regulatory approval,
may be unavailable in meaningful amounts or at a reasonable cost. If we are the subject of a successful product liability claimthat exceeds the limits of any insurance coverage
we obtain, we would incur substantial charges that would adversely affect our earnings and require the commitment of capital resources that might otherwise be available for
the development and commercial launch of our product programs.

Ifwe are unable to obtain adequate insurance to protect our business and property against damage, our financial condition could be adversely affected in the
event of uninsured or inadequately insured loss or damage. Our ability to effectively recruit and retain qualified officers and directors could also be adversely affected if
we experience difficulty in obtaining adequate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

We may not be able to obtain insurance policies on terms affordable to us that would adequately insure our business and property against damage, loss or claims by
third parties. To the extent our business or property suffers any damages, losses or claims by third parties, which are not covered, or adequately covered, by insurance, our
financial condition may be materially adversely affected. If we are unable to obtain appropriate insurance, medical centers may be unwilling or unable to enter into site
agreements to clinically test our candidate products.

We may be unable to maintain sufficient insurance as a public company to cover liability claims made against our officers and directors. If we are unable to adequately
insure our officers and directors, we may not be able to retain or recruit qualified officers and directors to manage the Company.
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We manage our business through a small number of senior executive officers. We depend on them even more than similarly-situated companies.

Our future growth and success depends on our ability to recruit, retain, manage and motivate our senior executive officers. The loss of the services of our
management personnel, including without limitation, our Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Oren Hershkovitz, or our founder and Chief Scientific Officer, Prof. Dror Mevorach, or the
inability to hire or retain experienced management personnel could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan and harm our operating results.

Because of'the specialized scientific nature of our business, we rely heavily on our ability to attract and retain qualified senior executive officers with scientific and
technical experience. In particular, the loss of one or more of our senior executive officers could be detrimental to us if we cannot recruit suitable replacements in a timely
manner. We do not currently carry “key person” insurance on the lives of members of senior management. The competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical field is
intense. Due to this intense competition, we may be unable to attract and retain qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business or to recruit suitable
replacement personnel.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management devotes substantial time to compliance initiatives. We may fail to
comply with the rules that apply to public companies, including Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which could result in sanctions or other penalties that
would harm our business.

We incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses as a public company, including costs relating to public company reporting obligations under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). and regulations regarding corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial
amount of time to ensure that we comply with all of these requirements. Moreover, the reporting requirements, rules and regulations result in considerable legal and financial
compliance costs. Any changes we make to comply with these obligations may not be sufficient to allow us to satisfy our obligations as a public company on a timely basis, or
at all. These reporting requirements, rules and regulations, coupled with the increase in potential litigation exposure associated with being a public company, could also make it
more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors (the “Board”, or the “Board of Directors”) or board committees or to serve as
executive officers, or to obtain certain types of insurance, including directors’ and officers’ insurance, on acceptable terms.

We are subject to Section 404 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, and the related rules of the SEC, which generally require our management and
independent registered public accounting firmto report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Section 404 requires an annual management
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Prior to December 31, 2019, we were an emerging growth company as defined in the Jumpstart
Our Business Startups Act 0f 2012, or JOBS Act, and we took advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that were applicable to public companies
that are emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404. We ceased to be an emerging growth company as of
December 31, 2019 and are required to include an opinion fromour independent registered public accounting firmon the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial
reporting as part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

During the course of our review and testing of our internal controls, we may identify deficiencies and be unable to remediate them before we must provide the required
reports. Furthermore, if we have a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements
may be materially misstated. We or our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control
over financial reporting, which could harm our operating results, cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and cause the trading price of our
shares to fall.
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We will need to significantly increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing growth.

We may require rapid and substantial growth in order to achieve our operating plans, which will place a strain on our human and capital resources. Successful
implementation of our business plan will require management of growth, which will increase management’s responsibilities. We currently have a limited number of employees,
and, in order to continue the development and the commercialization of product candidates and future products, if any, we will need to substantially increase our operations,
including expanding our employee base of managerial, operational and financial personnel. We currently intend to establish our manufacturing capabilities in the United States
through CMOs, as well as through clinical study management and monitoring service providers and CROs, which we may require additional funds. Any future growth will
impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain and integrate additional employees. To that end, we must
be able to:

e manage our clinical trials and the regulatory process effectively and efficiently;

e develop our administrative, accounting and management information systems and controls;

e hire and train additional qualified personnel; and

e integrate current and additional management, administrative, financial and sales and marketing personnel.

If we are unable to establish, scale-up and implement improvements to our control systems in an efficient or timely manner, or if we encounter deficiencies in existing
systems and controls, investors may choose not to invest in us, which could cause our share price to decline and negatively impact our ability to successfully commercialize
our product candidates and future product candidates.

Failure to attract and retain sufficient numbers of talented employees will further strain our human resources and could impede our growth or result in ineffective
growth. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, our losses could materially increase and it will have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

In January 2019 we completed the construction of a new facility in Israel to support the production of the Allocetra™ drug product for any clinical trial that will
be conducted in the EU or Israel and anticipate relying on third-party manufacturers and service providers to produce our products.

In January 2019 we completed the construction of a new facility in Israel to support the production of the Allocetra™ drug product for any clinical trial that will be
conducted in the EU or Israel. For the starting material production required for future clinical trials, we expect to rely on third-parties. We currently and in the future will rely
upon blood banks and collection service facilities for the collection of starting material for the production of Allocetra™. We plan to initially rely upon hospitals, other health
care providers, contract manufacturers and, potentially, collaboration partners, to manufacture commercial quantities of our product candidates, if and when approved for
marketing by the applicable regulatory authorities. Although we have not yet engaged any contract manufacturers or other service providers, if and when we do, our contract
manufacturers and service providers must complete technology transfer, process validation for the manufacturing process and demonstrate successful manufacturing of
comparable product. If our contract manufacturers and service providers, and their respective facilities, as applicable, are not approved by the FDA, or other applicable
regulatory authorities, our commercial supply of the product candidate will be significantly delayed and may result in significant additional costs. If we need to identify
additional finished product manufacturers, we would not be able to do so without significant delay and likely significant additional cost.
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Our and our contract manufacturers’ and other service providers’ failure to achieve and maintain high manufacturing standards, in accordance with applicable
regulatory requirements, or the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or death, product shortages, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in
product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other problems that could seriously harm our business. Contract manufacturers and service providers often encounter difficulties
involving production yields, quality control and quality assurance, as well as shortages of qualified personnel. Our future contract manufacturers and service providers may
not performas agreed or may not remain in the contract manufacturing business. In the event of a natural disaster, business failure, strike or other difficulty, we may be unable
to replace our manufacturing capacity or a third-party manufacturer or provider in a timely manner and the production of our product candidates would be interrupted, resulting
in delays and additional costs. See also “Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Business, Industry and Regulatory Requirements—Our manufacturing processes are complex,
delicate and susceptible to contamination, and involve biological intermediates that are subject to stringent regulations.”

We intend to rely primarily on third parties to market and sell Allocetra™ and any other product candidate.

We have no sales or distribution capabilities. To the extent we rely on third parties to commercialize our products, if marketing approval is obtained, we may receive
less revenue than if we commercialize such products ourselves. In addition, we would have less control over the sales efforts of any third parties involved in our
commercialization efforts. In the event we are unable to collaborate with a third-party marketing and sales organization to commercialize our products, particularly for broader
patient populations, our ability to generate revenue will be limited.

Although we may ultimately develop a marketing and sales force with technical expertise and supporting distribution capabilities in the longer term, we do not
currently intend to do so; therefore, we will be unable to directly market our products, if any, in the near future. To promote any of our potential products through third parties,
we will have to locate acceptable third parties for these functions and enter into agreements with themon acceptable terms, and we may not be able to do so. Any third-party
arrangements we are able to enter into may result in lower revenues than we could achieve by directly marketing and selling our potential products. In addition, to the extent
that we depend on third parties for marketing and distribution, any revenues we receive will depend upon the efforts of such third parties, as well as the terms of our
agreements with such third parties, which cannot be predicted in most cases at this time. As a result, we might not be able to market and sell our products in the United States
or overseas, which would have a material adverse effect on us.

Any collaboration arrangements that we may enter into in the fiture may not be successfil, which could adversely affect our ability to develop and
commercialize our current and any fiture product candidates.

We may determine to seek collaboration arrangements with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies for the development and commercialization of our current and
any future product candidates. We will face, to the extent that we decide to enter into collaboration agreements, significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators.
Moreover, collaboration arrangements are complexand time consuming to negotiate, document and implement. We may not be successful in our efforts to establish and
implement collaborations or other alternative arrangements. Additionally, the terms of any collaborations or other arrangements that we may establish may not be favorable to
us.

Any future collaborations that we enter into may not be successful. The success of our collaboration arrangements, if any, would depend heavily on the efforts and
activities of our collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations.

Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement regarding clinical development and commercialization matters can lead to delays in the development
process or commercializing the applicable product candidate and, in some cases, termination of the collaboration arrangement. These disagreements can be difficult to resolve.

25




Collaborations with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies and other third parties are often terminated or allowed to expire by the other party. Any such
termination or expiration could adversely affect us financially and could harm our business reputation.

We depend on third parties to conduct our clinical trials.

We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future, will continue to rely, on third parties, such as CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract
laboratories to oversee most of the operations of our clinical trials and to perform data collection and analysis. As a result, we may face additional delays outside of our control
if these parties do not performtheir obligations in a timely fashion or in accordance with regulatory requirements. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their
contractual duties or obligations and meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to
the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or for other reasons, our financial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates or any other potential product
candidates could be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to obtain regulatory approval and commence product sales could be delayed.

The recent coronavirus outbreak may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19 (“Coronavirus”) was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China, and has reached multiple other countries,
resulting in government-imposed quarantines, travel restrictions and other public health safety measures in China, the United States, Israel, Italy, Spain, Australia and other
affected countries. The various precautionary measures taken by many governmental authorities around the world in order to limit the spread of the Coronavirus, which has
had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on the global markets and economy, including on the availability and pricing of employees, resources, materials,
manufacturing and delivery efforts and other aspects ofthe global economy. Therefore, the Coronavirus could disrupt production and cause delays in the supply and delivery
of products used in our operations, may affect our operations, including the conduct of clinical studies, or the ability of regulatory bodies to grant approvals or supervise our
candidates and products, may further divert the attention and efforts of the medical community to coping with the Coronavirus and disrupt the marketplace in which we operate
and may have a material adverse effects on our operations. The extent to which the Coronavirus impacts our business and financial condition will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge conceming the severity of the Coronavirus and the actions to
contain the Coronavirus or treat its impact, among others. The development of the Coronavirus outbreak could materially disrupt our business and operations, slow down the
overall economy, interrupt our sources of supply and make it hard to adequately staff our operations, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Cyberattacks and other security breaches could compromise our proprietary and confidential information, which could harm our business and reputation.

In the ordinary course of our business, we generate, collect and store proprietary information, including clinical trial subject, intellectual property and business
information. The secure storage, maintenance, and transmission of and access to this information is important to our operations and reputation. Computer hackers may attempt
to penetrate our computer systems and, if successful, misappropriate our proprietary and confidential information including e-mails and other electronic communications. In
addition, an employee, contractor, or other third party with whom we do business may attempt to obtain such information, and may purposefully or inadvertently cause a
breach involving such information. While we have certain safeguards in place to reduce the risk of and detect cyberattacks, our information technology networks and
infrastructure may be vulnerable to unpermitted access by hackers or other breaches, or employee error or malfeasance. Any such compromise of our data security and access
to, or public disclosure or loss of, confidential business or proprietary information could disrupt our operations, damage our reputation, provide our competitors with valuable
information and subject us to additional costs, which could adversely affect our business.

26




Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
The failure to obtain or maintain patents, licensing agreements and other intellectual property could impact our ability to compete effectively.

To compete effectively, we need to develop and maintain a proprietary position with regard to our own technologies, intellectual property, licensing agreements,
product candidates and business. Legal standards relating to the validity and scope of claims in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical fields are still evolving. Therefore,
the degree of future protection for our proprietary rights in our core technologies and any product candidates or products that might be developed using these technologies is
also uncertain. The risks and uncertainties that we face with respect to our patents and other proprietary rights include the following:

e while the patents we own have been issued, pending patent applications we have filed may not result in issued patents or may take longer than we expect to
result in issued patents;

e we may be subject to interference or reexamination proceedings;

e we may be subject to opposition proceedings in foreign countries;

e any patents that are issued may not provide meaningful protection for any significant period of time, if at all;

e we may not be able to develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

e other companies may challenge and invalidate patents licensed or issued to us or our customers;

e other companies may independently develop similar or alternative technologies, or duplicate our technologies;

e other companies may design around technologies we have licensed or developed; and

e enforcement of patents is complex, uncertain and expensive, and our patents may be found invalid or enforceable.

We cannot be certain that patents will be issued as a result of any of our pending applications, and we cannot be certain that any of our issued patents, whether
issued pursuant to our pending applications or licensed fromthird parties, will give us adequate protection from competing products. For example, issued patents may be
circumvented or challenged, declared invalid or unenforceable, or narrowed in scope, and changes in the law may affect the utility of a pending patent application or issued
patent. In addition, because publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent literature often lags behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain that we were the first to
make our inventions or to file patent applications covering those inventions. If any of our composition of matter patents, or pending applications, was subject to a successful
challenge or failed to issue, our business and competitive advantage could be significantly affected. Our current patents will expire or they may otherwise cease to provide
meaningful competitive advantage, and we may be unable to adequately develop new technologies and obtain future patent protection to preserve our competitive advantage
oravoid adverse effects on our business.

Although we expect to do so, we may not be able to submit a BLA seeking approval of Allocetra™ prior to the applicable patents’ expiration date, assuming all
necessary patents are in fact issued. Moreover, we cannot be certain that we will be the first applicant to obtain an FDA approval for any indication of our product candidates
and we cannot be certain that we will be entitled to any other exclusivity with respect to the same. Such diminution of our proprietary position could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition.

Others may obtain issued patents that could prevent us from commercializing our product candidates or require us to obtain licenses requiring the payment of

significant fees or royalties in order to enable us to conduct our business. As to those patents that we have licensed, our rights depend on maintaining our obligations to the
licensor under the applicable license agreement, and we may be unable to do so.
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In addition to patents and patent applications, we depend upon trade secrets and proprietary know-how to protect our proprietary technology. We require our
employees, consultants, advisors and collaborators to enter into confidentiality agreements that prohibit the disclosure of confidential information to any other parties. We
also require our employees and consultants to disclose and assign to us their ideas, developments, discoveries and inventions. These agreements may not, however, provide
adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use or disclosure.

We cannot predict the scope and extent of patent protection for our product candidates because the patent positions of pharmaceutical products are complex
and uncertain.

Any patents issued to us will not ensure the protection of our intellectual property for a number of reasons, including, without limitation, the following:
e any issued patents may not be broad or strong enough to prevent competition fromother products including identical or similar products;

e if we are not awarded patents or if issued patents expire or are declared invalid or not infringed, there may be no protections against competitors attempting to
make “bio-similars”;

e there may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim;

e there may be other patents or pending patent applications existing in the patent landscape for our product candidates that will affect our freedomto operate;
e ifour patents are challenged, a court could determine that they are not valid or enforceable;

e acourt could determine that a competitor’s technology or product does not infringe our patents;

e our patents could irretrievably lapse due to failure to pay fees or otherwise comply with regulations, or could be subject to compulsory licensing; and

e if we encounter delays in our development or clinical trials, the period of time during which we could market our products under patent protection would be
reduced.

We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world. This risk is exacerbated because we expect that our product candidates will
be manufactured and used in a number of countries.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies have encountered
significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. This risk is exacerbated for us because we expect our product
candidates will be manufactured and used in a number of countries.

The legal systems of some countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, especially
those relating to life sciences. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our other intellectual property rights. For example, several foreign countries have
compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, some countries limit the enforceability of patents against third parties,
including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, patents may provide limited or no benefit.
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Although most jurisdictions in which we have applied for, intend to apply for, or have been issued patents have patent protection laws similar to those of the United
States, some of them do not. For example, in the future, we may consider doing business in South America, Eurasia, China and Indochina, and the countries in these regions
may not provide the same or similar protection as that provided in the United States. Additionally, due to uncertainty in patent protection law, we have not filed applications in
many countries where significant markets exist, including, without limitation, South American countries, Furasian countries, African countries and Taiwan.

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention fromother aspects of our
business. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts
in the United States and foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for our technology and the enforcement of intellectual property.

Changes in patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our products.

As is the case with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and
enforcing patents in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries involve both technological and legal complexity. Therefore, obtaining and enforcing related patents is
costly, time-consuming and inherently uncertain. In particular, the United States has recently enacted, and is currently implementing changes in the law, including wide-ranging
patent reform legislation. The U.S. Supreme Court and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit have ruled on several patent cases in recent years, and could do so
again in the future, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition,
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, has implemented patentability guidelines that may render the subject matter of a patent as non-patentable based on a lack
of utility. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the
value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions by applicable courts and legislatures in the countries in which we may pursue patent protection, including those of
the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents and the interpretations of such laws could change in unpredictable ways that
would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.

We may be unable to protect the intellectual property rights of the third parties from whom we license or may license certain of our intellectual property or with
whom we have entered into other strategic relationships, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Certain of our intellectual property rights are and may in the future continue to be licensed fromthird parties, including universities and/or strategic partners. Such
third parties may not protect the intellectual property rights that we license fromthemand we may be unable to defend such intellectual property rights on our own (even if we
contractually agree to manage, maintain and defend such rights) or we may have to undertake costly litigation to defend the intellectual property rights of such third parties.
There can be no assurances that we will continue to have proprietary rights to any of the intellectual property that we license fromsuch third parties or otherwise have the
right to use through similar strategic relationships. Any loss or limitations on use with respect to such intellectual property licensed fromthird parties or otherwise obtained
fromthird parties with whomwe have entered into strategic relationships could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may infiinge on the intellectual property rights of others, which may prevent or delay our product development efforts and stop us from commercializing, or
increase the costs of commercializing, our products.

Our commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. For
example, there could be issued patents of which we are not aware that our products infringe. There also could be patents that we believe we do not infringe, but that we may
ultimately be found to infringe. Moreover, patent applications are in some cases maintained in secrecy until patents are issued. The publication of discoveries in the scientific
or patent literature frequently occurs substantially later than the date on which the underlying discoveries were made and patent applications were filed. Because patents can
take many years to issue, there may be currently pending applications of which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that our products infringe. For example,
pending applications may exist that provide support or can be amended to provide support for a claimthat results in an issued patent that our product infringes.
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Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. If a court held that any third-party patents are valid, enforceable
and cover our products or their use, the holders of any of these patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize our product candidates or products unless we
obtained a license under the applicable patents, or until the patents expire. In addition to litigation proceedings which may be filed against us, we may not be able to enter into
licensing arrangements or make other arrangements at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms. Any inability to secure licenses or alternative technology could result in
delays in the introduction of our products or lead to prohibition of the manufacture or sale of products by us.

We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure and unauthorized use of trade secrets and other proprietary information by third parties.

Our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection and trade secret protection for our intellectual property and proprietary technologies, our products and their uses
is important to our commercial success. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements,
licenses, assignment of inventions agreements and other restrictions on disclosure and use to protect our intellectual property rights.

We also rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary know-how and technological advances, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or
obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators,
sponsored researchers and other advisors to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information. These agreements, to the extent they are in place and in effect, may
not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In
addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine
the scope of our proprietary rights. Failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could enable competitors to use our proprietary information to develop products that
compete with our product candidates or products or cause additional material adverse effects upon our competitive business position.

We cannot be certain that the steps that we have taken will prevent the misappropriation or other violation of our confidential information and other intellectual
property, particularly in foreign countries in which laws may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the United States and other developed economies. Moreover, if we
lose any key personnel, we may not be able to prevent these persons fromimpermissibly disclosing or using our technical knowledge or other trade secrets. If we are unable to
maintain the security of our proprietary technology, this could materially adversely affect our competitive advantage, business and results of operations.

Under applicable U.S. and Israeli law, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors from
benefiting firom the expertise of some of our former employees.

We generally enter into non-competition agreements with our employees and certain key consultants, or our employment and consulting agreements contain non-
competition provisions. These agreements, to the extent they are in place and in effect, prohibit our employees and certain key consultants, if they cease working for us, from
competing directly with us or working for our competitors or clients for a limited period of time. We may be unable to enforce these agreements under the laws of the
jurisdictions in which our employees work and it may be difficult for us to restrict our competitors frombenefitting fromthe expertise our former employees or consultants
developed while working for us. For example, Israeli courts have required employers seeking to enforce non-compete undertakings of a former employee to demonstrate that
the competitive activities of the former employee will harm one of a limited number of material interests of the employer which have been recognized by the courts, such as the
secrecy of a company’s confidential commercial information or the protection of its intellectual property. If we cannot demonstrate that such interests will be harmed, we may
be unable to prevent our competitors frombenefiting fromthe expertise of our former employees or consultants and our ability to remain competitive may be diminished.
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Our employment agreements include employees’ undertakings with respect to confidentiality and the assignment to us of intellectual property rights developed in the
course of employment, as well as a waiver of royalties related to intellectual property developed by the employee during his or her employment. However, in view of recent
Israeli case law, these waivers may be deemed insufficient, and our employees could be able to assert claims for compensation with respect to our future revenue. As a result,
we may receive less revenue from future products if such claims are successful, which in turn could impact our future profitability.

Any lawsuits relating to infringement of intellectual property rights necessary to defend ourselves or enforce our rights will be costly and time consuming.

We may be required to initiate litigation to enforce our rights or defend our activities in response to alleged infringement of a third-party. In addition, we may be sued
by others who hold intellectual property rights and who claimthat their rights are infringed by our product candidates or any of our future products or product candidates.
These lawsuits can be very time consuming and costly. There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology
and pharmaceutical industries generally.

A third-party may claimthat we are using inventions claimed by their patents and may go to court to stop us fromengaging in our normal operations and activities,
such as research, development and the sale of any future products. Such lawsuits are expensive and would consume time and other resources. There is a risk that such court
will decide that we are infringing the third-party’s patents and will order us to stop the activities claimed by the patents, redesign our products or processes to avoid
infringement or obtain licenses, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms. In addition, there is a risk that a court will order us to pay the other party
damages for infringement.

Moreover, there is no guarantee that any prevailing patent owner would offer us a license so that we could continue to engage in activities claimed by the patent, or
that such a license, if made available to us, could be acquired on commercially acceptable terms. In addition, third parties may, in the future, assert other intellectual property
infringement claims against us with respect to our product candidates, technologies or other matters.

In addition, our patents and patent applications could face other challenges, such as interference proceedings, opposition proceedings and re-examination
proceedings. Any of these challenges, if successful, could result in the invalidation of, or in a narrowing of the scope of, any of our patents and patent applications subject to

challenge. Any of these challenges, regardless of their success, would likely be time consuming and expensive to defend and resolve and would divert our management’s time
and attention.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, documentary, fee payment and other requirements imposed by
governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions
during the patent process. There are situations in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete
loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors might be able to enter the market earlier than would otherwise have been the case.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares

We do not know whether a market for our ordinary shares will be sustained or what the market price of our ordinary shares will be and as a result it may be
difficult for you to sell your shares.

The trading price of our ordinary shares is likely to be volatile. The following factors, some of which are beyond our control, in addition to other risk factors described
in this section, may have a significant impact on the market price of our ordinary shares:

e inability to obtain the approvals necessary to commence further clinical trials;
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e unsatisfactory results of clinical trials;

e announcements of regulatory approval or the failure to obtain it, or specific label indications or patient populations for its use, or changes or delays in the
regulatory review process;

e announcements of therapeutic innovations or new products by us or our competitors;

e adverse actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our clinical trials, manufacturing supply chain or sales and marketing activities;

e changes or developments in laws or regulations applicable to our product candidates;

e any adverse changes to our relationship with manufacturers or suppliers;

e any product liability actions or intellectual property infringement actions in which we may become involved;

e announcements concerning our competitors or the pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries in general,

e achievement of expected product sales and profitability or our failure to meet expectations;

e our commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;

e any major changes in our Board, management or other key personnel;

e legislation in the United States, Europe and other foreign countries relating to the sale or pricing of pharmaceuticals;

e announcements by us of significant strategic partnerships, out-licensing, in-licensing, joint ventures, acquisitions or capital commitments;

e expiration or terminations of licenses, research contracts or other collaboration agreements;

e public concem as to the safety of therapeutics we, our licensees or others develop;

e success of research and development projects;

e variations in our and our competitors’ results of operations;

e changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if our ordinary shares are covered by analysts;

o developments by our licensees, if any; and

e future issuances of ordinary shares or other securities.

These factors may materially and adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares, which could result in substantial losses by our investors.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the Nasdaq Capital Market and the market for biotechnology companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of companies like ours. Broad market and industry factors may negatively

affect the market price of our ordinary shares, regardless of our actual operating performance. Further, a systemic decline in the financial markets and related factors beyond our
control may cause our share price to decline rapidly and unexpectedly. Price volatility of our ordinary shares might be worse if the trading volume of our ordinary shares is low.
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Moreover, the liquidity of our ordinary shares is limited. Among other factors, the number of ordinary shares that can be bought and sold at a given price, potential
delays in the timing of executing transactions in our ordinary shares and a reduction in security analyst and media coverage of our company, if any, may result in lower prices
for our ordinary shares and a larger spread between the bid and ask prices therefor. In addition, without a large float, our ordinary shares are less liquid than the stock of
companies with broader public ownership and, as a result, the trading prices of our ordinary shares may be more volatile. In the absence of an active public trading market, an
investor may be unable to liquidate its investment in our ordinary shares. Trading of a relatively small volume of our ordinary shares may have a greater impact on the trading
price of our shares than would be the case if our public float were larger. We cannot predict the prices at which our ordinary shares will trade in the future.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which may be expensive and could divert management attention.

Companies that have experienced volatility and other negative fluctuations in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We
may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Litigation of this type could result in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention and resources fromour
business, which could materially harm our business, even if we were to successfully defend against such litigation. Any adverse determination in litigation could also subject
us to significant liabilities.

Our principal shareholders, directors and officers currently own approximately 46% of our outstanding ordinary shares. They will therefore be able to exert
significant control over matters submitted to our shareholders for approval.

Our principal shareholders, directors and officers beneficially own approximately 46% of our ordinary shares. As a result, these shareholders, if they acted together,
could significantly influence or even unilaterally approve matters requiring approval by our shareholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers or
other business combination transactions. The interests of these shareholders may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of other shareholders. This significant
concentration of share ownership may adversely affect the trading price for our ordinary shares because investors often perceive disadvantages in owning stock in companies
with controlling shareholders.

Raising additional capital would result in dilution to our existing shareholders and may restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights.

We may seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations and licensing arrangements. To the
extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, convertible debt or other equity-linked securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms of the
equity or equity-linked securities that we issue may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a shareholder. Debt financing, if available,
would result in increased payment obligations and may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring
additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through collaboration, strategic alliance and licensing arrangements with third
parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

Our U.S. shareholders may suffer adverse tax consequences if we were to be characterized as a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC.

Generally, if for any taxable year 75% or more of our gross income is passive income, or at least 50% of our assets are held for the production of, or produce, passive
income, we would be characterized as a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes. There can be no assurance that we will not be
classified as a PFIC in any year. If we were to be characterized as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes in any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder, as defined in
“Taxation — United States Federal Income Tax Consequences”, owns ordinary shares, such U.S. Holder could face adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences, including
having gains realized on the sale of our ordinary shares classified as ordinary income, rather than as capital gains, a loss of the preferential rate applicable to dividends received
on our ordinary shares by individuals who are U.S. Holders and having interest charges apply to distributions by us and the proceeds of share sales. Certain elections exist
that may alleviate some of the adverse consequences of PFIC status and would result in an alternative treatment (such as mark-to-market treatment) of our ordinary shares;
however, we do not intend to provide the information necessary for U.S. holders to make “qualified electing fund elections”, or QEF elections, if we are classified as a PFIC,
and, accordingly, such elections would not be available to U.S. Holders. See “Taxation — United States Federal Income Tax Consequences”.
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If our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective, the reliability of our financial statements may be questioned, and our share price may suffer.

We are subject to Section 404 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, and the related rules of the SEC, which generally require our management and
independent registered public accounting firmto report on the effectiveness of our interal control over financial reporting. Section 404 requires an annual management
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Prior to December 31, 2019, we were an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart
Our Business Startups Act 0f 2012, or JOBS Act, and we took advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that were applicable to public companies
that are emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404. We ceased to be an emerging growth company as of
December 31, 2019, and we are required to include an opinion from our independent registered public accounting firm on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial
reporting as part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

The continuous process of strengthening our interal controls and complying with Section 404 is complicated and time-consuming. As our business continues to
grow both domestically and internationally, our internal controls will become more complex and will require significantly more resources and attention to ensure our internal
controls remain effective overall. During the course of its testing, our management may identify material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. For example, as described in
Amendment No. 2 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2018, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at December 31, 2018 due to a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, resulting in the
filing of Enlivex R&D’s historical audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2018,
filed on April 30, 2019, rather than those of Bioblast. This material weakness has been fully remediated, but any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies identified by our
management in the future may not be remedied in a timely manner to meet the deadline imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If our management cannot favorably assess the
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, or our independent registered public accounting firmidentifies material weaknesses in our internal controls,
investor confidence in our financial results may weaken, and the market price of our ordinary shares may suffer.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they adversely change their
recommendations or publish negative reports regarding our business or our shares, our share price and trading volume could be negatively impacted.

The trading market for our ordinary shares may be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, our
market or our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts, and we cannot provide any assurance that analysts will cover us or, if they do, provide favorable
coverage. If any of the analysts who may cover us adversely change their recommendation regarding our shares, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about
our competitors, our share price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we
could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could negatively impact our share price or trading volume.
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Because we do not intend to declare cash dividends on our ordinary shares in the foreseeable fiture, shareholders must rely on appreciation of the value of our
ordinary shares for any return on their investment.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings, if any, for the development,
operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the Israeli Companies Law, 1999, as
amended (the “Companies Law”), imposes certain restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our ordinary shares will be
your sole source of gain for the foreseeable future. Consequently, in the foreseeable future, you will likely only experience a gain from your investment in our ordinary shares if
the price of our ordinary shares increases beyond the price in which you originally acquired the ordinary shares.

We are a “foreign private issuer” under the Exchange Act, and our disclosure and reporting requirements are different than those of a U.S. domestic reporting
company.

We are a “foreign private issuer” under the Exchange Act and the rules of the SEC promulgated thereunder. As a result, we are subject to the reporting requirements
under the Exchange Act applicable to foreign private issuers, meaning that, among other things, we are required to file our Annual Report on Form 20-F with the SEC within
four months of our fiscal year end. In addition, we are not subject to quarterly financial reporting, as would be the case for a U.S. domestic reporting company; therefore, we are
not required to file periodic reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as U.S. companies whose securities are registered under the Exchange
Act. We are additionally not required to comply with Regulation FD, which addresses certain restrictions on the selective disclosure of material non-public information. Also,
our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt fromthe reporting and “short-swing” profit recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules
under the Exchange Act with respect to their purchases and sales of our ordinary shares. If we lose our status as a foreign private issuer, we will no longer be exempt fromsuch
rules and, among other things, will be required to file periodic reports and financial statements as if it were a company incorporated in the United States.

As a “foreign private issuer”, we are permiitted to follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of otherwise applicable SEC and Nasdaq
Capital Market requirements, which may result in less protection than is accorded to investors under rules applicable to domestic U.S. issuers.

As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted to follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of those otherwise required under the listing rules
of'the Nasdaq Capital Market (the “Nasdaq Listing Rules™) for U.S. issuers. For instance, we follow home country practice in Israel with regard to, among other things, director
nomination procedures, quorumrequirements and approval of compensation of officers. In addition, we follow our home country law instead of the Nasdaq Listing Rules that
require that we obtain shareholder approval for certain dilutive events, such as the establishment or amendment of certain equity based compensation plans, an issuance that
will result in a change of control of the company, certain transactions other than a public offering involving issuances of a 20% or greater interest in the company, and certain
acquisitions of the stock or assets of another company. Following our home country governance practices as opposed to the requirements that would otherwise apply to a
U.S. company listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market may provide less protection to you than what is accorded to investors under the Nasdaq Listing Rules applicable to
domestic U.S. issuers.

35




Risks Related to Israeli Law and Our Operations in Israel

Our headquarters and other significant operations are located in Israel and, therefore, our results may be adversely affected by political, economic and military
instability in Israel.

Our executive offices are located in Nes Ziona, Israel. In addition, the majority of our officers and directors are residents of Israel. Accordingly, political, economic and
military conditions in Israel may directly affect our business. Since the establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have taken place between Israel
and its neighboring countries. Any hostilities involving Israel or the interruption or curtailment of trade between Israel and its trading partners could adversely affect our
operations and results of operations. Israel is currently engaged in an armed conflict with Hamas, a militia group and political party who controls the Gaza Strip, and during the
summer of 2006, Israel was engaged in an armed conflict with Hezbollah, a Lebanese Islamist Shiite militia group and political party. In July 2014, there was an escalation in
violence among Israel, Hamas, the Palestinian Authority and other groups, as well as extensive hostilities along Israel’s border with the Gaza Strip, which resulted in missiles
being fired fromthe Gaza Strip into Southem Israel, as well as areas more centrally located near Tel Aviv and areas surrounding Jerusalem. This conflict, as well as a previous
round of escalation which took place in November 2012, involved missile strikes against civilian targets in various parts of Israel, including areas in which our employees and
some of our consultants are located. The continuation of such strikes may negatively affect business conditions in Israel. Since February 2011, Egypt has experienced political
turbulence and an increase in terrorist activity in the Sinai Peninsula following the resignation of Hosni Mubarak as president. This included protests throughout Egypt, and
the appointment of a military regime in his stead, followed by the elections to parliament which brought groups affiliated with the Muslim Brotherhood (which had been
previously outlawed by Egypt), and the subsequent overthrow of this elected government by a military regime instead. Such political turbulence and violence may damage
peaceful and diplomatic relations between Israel and Egypt, and could affect the region as a whole. Similar civil unrest and political turbulence has occurred in other countries
in the region, including Syria which shares a common border with Israel, and is affecting the political stability of those countries. Since April 2011, internal conflict in Syria has
escalated, and evidence indicates that chemical weapons have been used in the region. Intervention may be contemplated by outside parties in order to prevent further
chemical weapon use. This instability and any intervention may lead to deterioration of the political and economic relationships that exist between the State of Israel and some
ofthese countries, and may have the potential for additional conflicts in the region. In addition, Iran has threatened to attack Israel and is widely believed to be developing
nuclear weapons. Iran is also believed to have a strong influence among extremist groups in the region, such as Hamas in Gaza, Hezbollah in Lebanon, and various rebel militia
groups in Syria. These situations may potentially escalate in the future to more violent events which may affect Israel and us. Any armed conflicts, terrorist activities or
political instability in the region could adversely affect business conditions and could harmour results of operations and could make it more difficult for us to raise capital.
Parties with whomwe do business have sometimes declined to travel to Israel during periods of heightened unrest or tension, and airline companies may cancel or delay
scheduled air travel to Israel, forcing us to make alternative arrangements when necessary in order to meet our business partners face to face. In addition, the political and
security situation in Israel may result in parties with whom we have agreements involving performance in Israel claiming that they are not obligated to performtheir
commitments under those agreements pursuant to force majeure provisions in such agreements.

Our commercial insurance does not cover losses that may occur as a result of an event associated with the security situation in the Middle East. Although the Israeli
government is currently committed to covering the reinstatement value of direct damages that are caused by terrorist attacks or acts of war, we cannot assure you that this
government coverage will be maintained, or if maintained, will be sufficient to compensate us fully for damages incurred. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Any armed conflicts or political instability in the region would likely negatively affect business conditions generally and could harm
our results of operations.

Further, in the past, the State of Israel and Israeli companies have been subjects of economic boycotts. Several countries still restrict business with the State of Israel
and with Israeli companies. These restrictive laws and policies may have an adverse impact on our operating results, financial condition or the expansion of our business.

For additional information on risks relating to restrictions in Israel in connection with Coronavirus, See — “The recent coronavirus outbreak may adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition”.

Our operations may be disrupted as a result of the obligation of Israeli citizens to perform military service.

Many Israeli citizens are obligated to performup to one month, and in some cases more, of annual military reserve duty until they reach the age of 40 (or older, for
reservists who are officers or who have certain occupations) and, in the event of a military conflict, may be called to active duty. In response to increases in terrorist activity,
there have been periods of significant call-ups of military reservists. It is possible that there will be military reserve duty call-ups in the future. Our operations could be
disrupted by such call-ups, which may include the call-up of our employees, including members of our senior management, or the employees or management of our Israeli
business partners. Such disruption could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar, Euro and the New Israeli Shekel currencies may negatively affect our earnings.

Our functional currency is the NIS. We incur expenses in U.S. dollars, Euros and NIS. As a result, we are exposed to the risks that the Furo and the U.S. dollar may
appreciate relative to the NIS, or, if either the Euro and the U.S. dollar devalue relative to the NIS, that the inflation rate in the EU and in the United States may exceed such rate
of devaluation of the Euro and the U.S. dollar, or that the timing of such devaluation may lag behind inflation in the EU and in the United States. In any such event, the NIS
cost of our operations in the EU and in the United States would increase and our NIS-denominated results of operations would be adversely affected. The average exchange
rate for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $1.00 = Euro 0.89 and $1.00 =NIS 3.456. We cannot predict any future trends in the rate of inflation in the EU and in the United
States or the rate of devaluation, if any, of either the Euro or the U.S. dollar against the NIS.

We received Israeli government grants for certain of our research and development activities. The terms of those grants may require us, in addition to payment of
royallties, to satisfy specified conditions in order to manufacture products and transfer technologies outside of Israel. We may be required to pay penalties in addition to
repayment of the grants.

Our research and development efforts, during the period between 2007 and 2016 were financed in part through royalty-bearing grants, in an amount of approximately
$3.2 million, fromthe Israel Innovation Authority (the “IIA”). During 2019 our research and development efforts were also financed in part through royalty-bearing grants, in an
amount of approximately $1.11 million. With respect to such grants, we are committed to pay royalties at a rate of 3% to 5% on our sales proceeds fromany product that is a
treatment, device or medical kit designed for therapeutic treatments using apoptotic cells up to the total amount of grants received plus interest equal to LIBOR as it would
apply to U.S. dollar deposits.

Regardless of any royalty payment, we are further required to comply with the requirements of the Israeli Encouragement of Research, Development and
Technological Innovation in the Industry Law, 1984 (formerly known as the Israeli Encouragement of Industrial Research and Development Law, 1984, and related regulations,
(the “Research Law”), with respect to those past grants. When a company develops know-how, technology or products using IIA grants, oris otherwise IIA-supported, the
terms of such grants and the Research Law restrict the transfer of such IIA-supported know-how and rights related thereto, technology and products to a third party or the
manufacturing or manufacturing rights of the same outside of Israel, without the prior IIA approval. Therefore, if deemed IIA-supported, the discretionary approval of an IIA
committee would be required for any transfer to third parties, which could, if we receive such approvals, result in the payment of increased royalties (both increased royalty
rates and increased royalties ceilings), in cases of transfer of manufacturing outside of Israel and/or payment of additional amounts to the IIA in cases of transfer of IIA-
supported know-how outside of Israel. Furthermore, the IIA may impose certain conditions on any arrangement under which we may transfer technology or development
outside of Israel (including for the purpose of manufacturing). Currently, under the Research Law, there is no mechanism for the approval of licensing transactions of IIA-
supported technologies to third parties outside of Israel, other than the Licensing Rules described below; however, licensing IIA-supported technologies may under certain
circumstances be considered a transfer of know-how and therefore require IIA approval, as described above. On May 7, 2017, the IIA published the Rules for Granting
Authorization for Use of Know-How Outside of Israel (the “Licensing Rules™). The Licensing Rules enable the approval of out-licensing arrangements and other arrangements
for granting of an authorization to an entity outside of Israel to use know-how developed under research and development programs funded by the IIA and any derivatives
thereof. Subject to payment of a “License Fee” to the IIA, at a rate that will be determined by the IIA in accordance with the Licensing Rules, the I[IA may now approve
arrangements for the license of know-how outside of Israel. This allows companies that have received IIA support to commercialize know-how in a manner which was not
previously available.

The transfer of IIA-supported know-how, technology or products outside of Israel may involve the payment of additional amounts depending upon the value of the
transferred know-how, technology or products, the amount of IIA support, the time of completion of the development of IIA-supported know-how, technology or products,
and other factors up to a maximumof sixtimes the amount of grants received plus LIBOR and minus any royalties paid. These restrictions and requirements for payment may
impair our ability to sell our technology assets outside of Israel or to outsource or transfer development or manufacturing activities with respect to any product or technology
outside of Israel. Furthermore, the consideration available to our shareholders in a transaction involving the transfer outside of Israel of [IA-supported know-how, technology
or products (such as a merger or similar transaction) may be reduced by any amounts that we may be required to pay to the IIA.
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Our obligations and limitations pursuant to the Research Law are not limited in time and may not be terminated by us at will and the obligations pursuant to the
Research Law remain in force even after we have paid all required royalties, which may require us to obtain IIA approval prior to consummating certain transactions, including
licensing IIA-supported know-how, technology and products outside of Israel. Although as of the date of this Annual Report on Form20-F we have not been required to pay
any royalties or additional payments with respect to any IIA grant, there can be no assurance that we will not be required to do so in the future. Such restrictions and payments
could materially restrict or limit our ability to transfer our IIA-supported know-how, technology or products, which could materially affect our business, results of operations
and financial position.

Provisions of Israeli law may delay, prevent or otherwise impede a merger with, or an acquisition of, our company, which could prevent a change of control, even
when the terms of such a transaction are favorable to us and our shareholders.

Israeli corporate law regulates mergers, requires tender offers for acquisitions of shares above specified thresholds, requires special approvals for transactions
involving directors, officers or significant shareholders and regulates other matters that may be relevant to such types of transactions. For example, a merger may not be
consummated unless at least 50 days have passed fromthe date on which a merger proposal is filed by each merging company with the Israel Registrar of Companies and at
least 30 days have passed fromthe date on which the shareholders of both merging companies have approved the merger. In addition, a majority of each class of securities of
the target company must approve a merger. Moreover, a tender offer for all of a company’s issued and outstanding shares can only be completed if the acquirer receives
positive responses fromthe holders of at least 95% of the issued share capital. Completion of the tender offer also requires approval of a majority of the offerees that do not
have a personal interest in the tender offer, unless, following consummation of the tender offer, the acquirer would hold at least 98% of the Company’s outstanding shares.
Furthermore, the shareholders, including those who indicated their acceptance of the tender offer, may, at any time within sixmonths following the completion of the tender
offer, petition an Israeli court to alter the consideration for the acquisition, unless the acquirer stipulated in its tender offer that a shareholder that accepts the offer may not
seek such appraisal rights.

Furthermore, under the Research Law, a recipient of IIA grants such as us must report to the IIA regarding any change of control or any change in the holding of'its
means of control of our Company which trans forms any non-Israeli citizen or resident into an “interested party”, as defined in the Israeli Securities Law, 1968, and in the latter

event, the non-Israeli citizen or resident shall execute an undertaking in favor of A, in a formprescribed by the TIA.

Furthermore, Israeli tax considerations may make potential transactions unappealing to us or to our shareholders whose country of residence does not have a tax
treaty with Israel exempting such shareholders fromIsraeli tax. See “Taxation — Israeli Taxation Considerations” for additional information.

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Association also contain provisions that could delay or prevent changes in control or changes in our management without the
consent of our Board. These provisions will include the following:

e no cunulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority shareholders to elect director candidates; and

o the exclusive right of our Board to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the Board or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which
prevents shareholders frombeing able to fill vacancies on our Board.
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1t may be difficult to enforce a judgment of a United States court against us, our officers, directors in Israel or the United States, to assert United States securities
laws claims in Israel or to serve process on our officers, directors and these experts.

We were and continue to be organized in Israel. Substantially all of our executive officers and directors reside outside of the United States, and all of our assets and
most of the assets of these persons are located outside of the United States. Therefore, a judgment obtained against us, or any of these persons, including a judgment based
on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws, may not be collectible in the United States and may not necessarily be enforced by an Israeli court. It also may
be difficult for you to effect service of process on these persons in the United States or to assert U.S. securities law claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Additionally, it
may be difficult for an investor, or any other person or entity, to initiate an action with respect to U.S securities laws in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claimbased on
an alleged violation of U.S securities laws reasoning that Israel is not the most appropriate forumin which to bring such a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to
hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not U.S law is applicable to the claim. If U.S. law is found to be applicable, the content of applicable U.S law must be proven as
a fact by expert witnesses, which can be a time consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law. There is little binding case law
in Israel that addresses the matters described above. As a result of the difficulty associated with enforcing a judgment against us in Israel, you may not be able to collect any
damages awarded by either a U.S. or foreign court.

Your rights, liabilities and responsibilities as a shareholder will be governed by Israeli law and will differ in some material respects from those under U.S. law.

Because we are an Israeli company, the rights and responsibilities of our shareholders are governed by our Amended and Restated Articles of Association and Israeli
law, including the Companies Law. These rights, liabilities and responsibilities differ in some material respects fromthe rights, liabilities and responsibilities of shareholders in a
U.S. corporation. In particular, a shareholder of an Israeli company has a duty to act in good faith towards the company and other shareholders and to refrain fromabusing his,
her or its power in the company, including, among other things, in voting at the general meeting of shareholders on certain matters. Israeli law provides that these duties are
applicable to shareholder votes on, among other things, amendments to a company’s articles of association, increases in a company’s authorized share capital, mergers and
interested party transactions requiring shareholder approval. In addition, a shareholder who knows that it possesses the power to determine the outcome of a shareholders’
vote or to appoint or prevent the appointment of a director or executive officer in the company has a duty of fairness towards the company. However, Israeli law does not
define the substance of this duty of faimess. There is limited case law available to assist us in understanding the implications of these provisions that govern shareholders’
actions. These provisions may be interpreted to impose additional obligations and liabilities on holders of our ordinary shares that are not typically imposed on shareholders of
U.S. corporations.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
4.A. History and development

We were originally incorporated on January 22, 2012 under the laws of the State of Israel as Bioblast Pharma Ltd. Upon consummation of the Merger, we changed our
name to Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. Our primary operating subsidiary, Enlivex Therapeutics R&D Ltd. was incorporated in September 2005 under the laws of the State of Israel as
an Israeli privately held company under the name Tolarex Ltd. In February 2010, Enlivex R&D changed its to Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd., and, upon consummation of the Merger,
to Enlivex Therapeutics R&D Ltd. Our principal executive offices are located at 14 Einstein Street, Nes Ziona, Israel 7403618 and our telephone number is: +972 26208072. Our
wholly owned U.S. subsidiary, Bio Blast Pharma, Inc., incorporated in Delaware, has been appointed our agent in the United States and its registered address is 1811 Silverside
Road, Wilmington, Delaware 19810. Bio Blast Pharma, Inc. existed as a subsidiary of Bioblast prior to the Merger. Our website address is https://www.enlivexconv. The
information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of this Annual Report. We have included our website address herein solely as an inactive
textual reference. The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding registrants that file electronically
with the SEC. The address of this website is http://www.sec.gov. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference facilities.
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On March 26, 2019, we consummated the Merger. See “Introduction”.
Prior to December 31, 2019, we were an “emerging growth company” for a period of five years following the completion of our initial public offering in 2014.

Our capital expenditures for the three years ended 2019, 2018 and 2017 were insignificant. See “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects -Liquidity and Capital
Resources”.

4.B. Business overview

The Company is a clinical stage immunotherapy company, developing an allogeneic drug pipeline for immune systemrebalancing. Immune systemrebalancing is
critical for the treatment of life-threatening immune and inflammatory conditions, which involve the hyper-expression of cytokines (“Cytokine Release Syndrome™) and for
which there are no U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)-approved treatments, as well as treating solid tumors by modulating such tumors’ microenvironment. The
Company’s innovative immunotherapy candidates, Allocetra™ and Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells, are novel immunotherapy candidates based on a unique mechanism
of action that targets clinical indications that are defined as “unmet medical needs.” Allocetra™ has been developed to treat acute organ failure associated with sepsis.
Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells has been developed to prevent or treat complications associated with bone marrow transplants (“BMT”) and/or hematopoietic stem cell
transplants (“HSCT”). Because the candidates are based on the same unique mechanismof action and are otherwise substantially identical, we refer to both as Allocetra™,
unless indicated otherwise.

Cytokines are a broad and loose category of small proteins (~5-20 kDa) produced by a broad range of cells, including immune cells, and are especially important in the
immune systemas they promote, modulate and balance immune responses. They are released by cells and affect the behavior of other cells, and include chemokines,
interferons, interleukins, lymphokines, tumor necrosis factors and others, but generally not hormones or growth factors. Cytokines are important in health and disease,
specifically in host responses to infection, immune responses, inflammation, trauma, sepsis, cancer and other conditions. Cytokine Release Syndrome is a systemic
inflammatory response in which cytokine release composition and amplitude spirals out of control. It is considered difficult to treat with traditional small molecules or biologics
because the condition involves dozens of cytokines that induce multiple biological paths of hyper immune activity. Such hyper immune activity may result in an attack of
immune killer cells (e.g., T-Cells, B-Cells and Natural Killer Cells) on healthy organs of the patient, including the heart, brain, lungs, liver, kidney and others, which may lead to
organ damage, multiple organ failure and mortality.

The Company believes that the only approach to handling such a multi-factorial complex life-threatening situation is via an integrated cell-based immunotherapy that
induces the immune systemto rebalance itself to normal levels of operation utilizing a mechanismof action used regularly by the immune systemand developed through
evolution. The Company’s unique therapeutic approach is based on inducing immunotolerance and the specific normal rebalancing of the immune systemby infusing early and
stable apoptotic cells (dying cells) into the patient. Once infused, such apoptotic cells interact with macrophages and dendritic cells via well-defined mechanisms causing
rebalancing of an over-agitated immune response. Using this inherent immune pathway, the Company believes that it can use Allocetra™ to shape a patient’s innate immune
response to a disease, leading to a decrease in unwanted immune response.

There are many clinical conditions in which a patient has the potential to develop Cytokine Release Syndrome. Those clinical conditions include complications
associated with sepsis, HSCT and several autoimmune and inflammatory conditions, such as Crohn’s disease, theumatoid arthritis, gout and multiple sclerosis.

Immune System Triggering and Relaxation

The immune system constantly handles multiple challenges of bacterial, viral, fungal and other infections via a sophisticated elevation of immune activity utilizing
enhanced cytokine releases from macrophages and dendritic cells, resulting in recruitment of antibodies and immune cells (e.g., T-Cells, B-Cells and Natural Killer Cells). Once
the threat has been eliminated, the immune systemrebalances itself into a normal state. Such rebalancing occurs naturally through antigen presenting cells, macrophages and
dendritic cells that engulfand clear infected cells that have been instigated into apoptosis and cells fromthe immune systemthat have gone through programmed cell death,
causing a decrease to normal levels of cytokines and immune activity.
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Apoptosis is a natural and critical process in tissue and organ maintenance that occurs when a cell is damaged beyond repair, infected with a virus or undergoing
other stressful conditions. Apoptosis involves a series of biochemical events leading to changes in cell morphology and, ultimately, cell death. Immediate removal of the dying
cellis performed by antigen presenting cells, macrophages and dendritic cells. The primary function of dendritic cells is phagocytosis, or the capturing and transportation of
antigens to draining lymphoid tissues. Immature dendritic cells are capable of large-scale phagocytosis of apoptotic cells.

As many as 3x108 cells undergo apoptosis every hour in the human body. One of the primary “eat me” signals expressed by apoptotic cells is phosphatidylserine
(PtdSer). Apoptotic cells themselves serve as major contributors to the “non-inflammatory” nature of the engulfiment process, some by secreting thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) or
adenosine monophosphate and possibly other immune modulating “calm-down” signals that interact with antigen presenting cells, macrophages and dendritic cells. Apoptotic
cells also produce “find me” and “tolerate me” signals to attract and immune-modulate antigen presenting cells, macrophages and dendritic cells that express specific receptors
for some ofthese signals (Trahtemberg and Mevorach; 2017).

Injection of a high volume of densely concentrated early apoptotic cells activates dendritic cells, causing them to migrate to the lymphoid tissues, such as the spleen,
where they interact with T-cells and B-cells, which are lymphocytes involved in the regulation of the immune system, remove the apoptotic cells and suppress inflammation.
The foregoing process induces immunotolerance, as opposed to general immunosuppression, which would otherwise make the patient more susceptible to infection and other
immunological challenges.

The Company’s unique therapeutic approach is based on inducing immunotolerance and the specific normal rebalancing of the immune systemby infusing early and
stable apoptotic cells (dying cells) into the patient. Once infused, such apoptotic cells interact with macrophages and dendritic cells via well-defined mechanisms causing
rebalancing of an over-agitated immune response.

Using this inherent immune pathway, the Company believes that it can use Allocetra™ to shape a patient’s innate immune response to a disease, leading to a
decrease in unwanted immune response. During the apoptotic cell removal process, several therapeutic responses are induced, such as inflammation suppression, modulation
of macrophage-directed deletion of invading pathogens and regulation of immune responses. These responses are the target of Allocetra™. The Company believes that
Allocetra™ can specifically target the immune response without simultaneously diminishing the general immune capabilities of the patient or compromising the patient’s ability
to respond to immunological challenges.

The Company’s current clinical development programs focus on preventing or treating complications associated with sepsis, HSCT and solid tumors. The Company’s
leading product candidate, Allocetra™, has been developed for treating organ dysfunction and failure in sepsis patients. and potentially for prevention of in allogeneic HSCT
patients. Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells has been developed to prevent or treat complications associated with BMT and/or HSCT. Additionally, the Company is
currently examining the potential for clinical studies to evaluate the efficacy of existing immunotherapy treatments in combination with Allocetra™ for treatment of solid
tumors.

Sepsis

The Company is developing Allocetra™ as an adjunctive immunomodulating cell therapy for avoiding organ failure caused by sepsis. The drug would be
administered intravenously to the patient following the diagnosis of sepsis in addition to standard of care treatment.

Sepsis is a highly heterogeneous syndrome that is caused by an unbalanced immune host response to an infection. Sepsis was not clinically defined until the early
1990s when a group of key opinion leaders released the first consensus definition of sepsis. Sepsis has been defined as a systemic inflammatory response syndrome (“SIRS”)
caused by an infection; and increasing severities have been designated as ’severe sepsis’ (referring to sepsis and organ dysfunction) and ’septic shock’ (referring to sepsis
and refractory hypotension). In the most recent *Sepsis-3’ consensus definition, sepsis is defined as a life-threatening organ dysfunction that is caused by a dysregulated host
response to infection, and the term “severe sepsis™ has been removed. Of note, although infection is the triggering event in this definition of sepsis, the aberrant immune
response often remains after successful treatment of the infection. Sepsis imposes a substantial global burden in terms of morbidity and mortality. Nearly all patients with
severe sepsis require treatment in an intensive care unit. Sepsis, which has been identified by the World Health Organization as a global health priority, has no proven
pharmacologic treatment other than appropriate antibiotic agents, fluids, and vasopressors. Sepsis affects approximately 1.7 million adults in the United States each year and
potentially contributes to more than 250,000 deaths. Various studies estimate that sepsis is present in 30% to 50% of hospitalizations that culminate in death (Rhee et al; 2019)
Previous attempts to find a therapy for sepsis failed partially due to the parallel and complex course of biological activities that occur within a sepsis patient. For many years, a
disproportionate inflammatory response to invasive infection was considered to be central to the pathogenesis of sepsis, but it is now clear that the host response is disturbed
in a much more complex way, involving both sustained excessive inflammation and immune suppression, and a failure to return to normal homeostasis.
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This outcome may lead to organ damage, multiple organ failure and mortality. If the immune system could be rebalanced, we believe that many of the outcomes,
specifically organ damage and failure, could be prevented and significantly increase a patient’s chance of survival with reduced morbidity.

Preclinical Data, Sepsis

In its preclinical study, the Company utilized a murine cecal ligation puncture (“CLP”) sepsis model. The CLP model has been proposed to more closely replicate the
nature and course of clinical sepsis, as compared to other models.

We evaluated the effect of Allocetra™ in mice, given 4 hours after the end of a CLP procedure, in combination with Ertapenem© a highly effective antibiotic
commonly used for the treatment of severe or high-risk bacterial infections. Mice were monitored for clinical signs and determination of the murine sepsis score. The endpoint
was defined as survival (either death or sacrifice when a total clinical score of 15 or maximum score in one of the categories was reached).

As shown in Figure 2A, antibiotic treatment showed a non-significant tendency to ameliorate mortality of the mice (Ertapenem+ vehicle, n=15) compared to the
control group (CLP only, n=16). Treating CLP mice with the combination of antibiotics and Allocetra™ significantly delayed and prevented mortality in 60% of the animals
(Ertapenem + Allocetra™, n=20, p<0.001). In comparison to the control group, the Company’s study reflected an approximately 10-fold improvement in the survival rate
(p<0.001 in a log-rank analysis). As shown in Figure 2B, Allocetra™ treated mice had significantly lower murine sepsis clinical scores indicating superior clinical condition.
Finally, the Company correlated the clinical score to serum cytokines/chemokines in vivo measurements and as shown in Figure 2C. Allocetra™ downregulated pro-
inflammatory cytokines/chemokines. In the preclinical study, Allocetra™ delayed and prevented mortality in animal models with sepsis by rebalancing the immune system.

Post induction survival, severe sepsis model (pre-clinical)

Figure 2A
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Figure 2C
Allocetra™ for the treatment of Organ Dysfunction and Failure Associated with Sepsis

In late 2019, the Company completed its Phase Ib clinical trial of Allocetra™ (historically referred to as Allocetra OTS) in patients with severe sepsis. The Company
has designed Allocetra™'to eliminate the need to find matched donors as the source of the therapeutic cells. Following regulatory approval, if obtained, Allocetra™ would
allow the Company to manufacture therapeutic product inventory that could be used for additional clinical indications that require swift infusion of the product to patients. The
first such indication Enlivexis targeting is prevention of cytokine storms and organ dysfunction associated with sepsis.

The aim of the Phase Ib clinical trial was to determine the safety and efficacy profile and tolerability of Allocetra™, in subjects admitted to the emergency room with

sepsis. Allocetra™ ( 140x100 cells/kg) was administered in either a single dose to 6 patients at day 1 or in two doses to 4 additional patients at days 1 and 3, to patients admitted
to the emergency roomwith sepsis. Patients were followed for 28 days. The study subjects were also compared to historical controls hospitalized in the ICU, matched by age,
gender, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, and infection source.

On March 18, 2020, the Company announced the final safety and efficacy data fromthe Company’s completed Phase Ib. The final analysis compared the clinical data
of 10 patients admitted to the intensive care unit with sepsis who were administered Allocetra™ upon their admission, with 37 patients who were matched controls (matched by
age, gender, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, and infection source) who received only the standard of care treatment at the same hospital during 2014-2019
but did not receive Allocetra™. The clinical trial was conducted at Hadassah Medical Center, which is one of the largest and most prestigious hospitals in Israel (“Haddasah”).
The Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHEII) score of the Allocetra™:-treated group was 12.3, and the corresponding probability of mortality of at least
one patient in that group was predicted at 85% based on the hospital’s ICU staff’s clinical assessment of each patient’s overall condition at admission. However, none (0%) of
the Allocetra™:-treated patients died during the 28-day study period, as compared to 27% 28-day mortality in the matched controls group. Each ofthe 10 Allocetra™-treated
patients had between 2 to 5 dysfunctional organ systems upon admission to the ICU. All (100%) of the Allocetra™:-treated patients had rapid and complete recovery fromtheir
septic conditions and of any organ dysfunction that was present upon admission to the ICU. Despite the similarity of organ-failure state (SOFA) at entry between the
Allocetra™treated patients and the matched controls group (average of 3.4 versus 3.47), not a single patient treated with Allocetra™ had any increase in organ-failure state
post administration of Allocetra™, while the majority of the patients in the matched controls group had an increase in organ-failure state. The average worsening in organ-
failure state of patients in the matched controls group was approximately 100% compared with their ICU hospitalization state vs zero (0%) percent worsening in organ-failure
state of Allocetra™-treated patients post administration of Allocetra™ (p<<0.0001). The ICU length-of-stay for all Allocetra™:-treated patients was significantly shorter than
those patients who received only the standard of care, with an average of 4 days compared to 11.11 in the matched controls group, a 64% reduction (p<0.0001). The slowest
ICU discharge of a patient treated with Allocetra™ was after 8 days, while approximately 50% of the matched controls group were still at the ICU after 28 days. Allocetra™ was
shown to be safe and tolerable, with no serious unexpected severe adverse reactions and no serious adverse events.

Summary of Planned Clinical Trials of Allocetra™ for the treatment of Organ Dysfunction and Failure Associated with Sepsis
In light of the encouraging results of the Phase Ib in patients with severe sepsis, the Company plans, subject to regulatory approvals, to initiate a Phase IIb or Phase

II/11I clinical trial with Allocetra™ for the treatment of organ dysfunction and failure associated with sepsis during 2020. The Company currently intends to enroll up to 100
patients in such a clinical trial. The Company intends, subject to the clinical trial results, to request a conditional marketing authorization fromthe EMA for this indication.
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Complications Associated with Bone Marrow Transplants

Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells for preventing or treating complications associated with HSCT is an immunomodulation cell-therapy drug in development that
involves injection of early-apoptotic cells that have been retrieved fromthe blood of either (i) a donor matched by his or her human leukocyte antigen (i.e., a protein found on
white blood cells that is the standard genetic marker for the regulation of the immune systemand is used to match donors and recipients in transplantations), (ii) the patient, or
(iii) an allogeneic, unmatched donor that has undergone ex-vivo (i.e., prior to infusion) manipulation to stabilize the “early apoptosis” status of the cells for a prolonged period
of time. Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells” specific clinical indications include (i) preventing complications associated with HSCT through an injection prior to and two
weeks following the bone marrow transplantation procedure, and (ii) treatment of steroid refractory patients upon occurrence of GvHD post HSC transplantation. Systemic
corticosteroids are the standard of care for the initial treatment of grade 2-4 GvHD. However, many patients with acute GvHD (“aGvHD”) do not experience sustained
responses to corticosteroids which may lead to multiple organ failure and potential death, and for which 6-month survival rates among steroid-refractory patients are
approximately 49% with long-termsurvival rates of only 5-30%.

Graft Versus Host Disease (GVHD)

Allogeneic HSCT has revolutionized the treatment of hematopoietic malignancies, inherited hematopoietic disorders, aplastic anemia, and other severe diseases
(Copelan 2006). The HSCT clinical benefit is in part a result of the graft-versus-leukemia (“GVL”) effect, in which a donor immune response is targeted against recipient
malignant cells. Although alloreactive donor T-cells play an important role in GVL by targeting tumor cells for elimination, the serious complication of GvHD develops when
alloreactive donor cells attack healthy host tissues. Despite promising advances in HSCT methodology, including prophylactic immunosuppressive therapies, approximately
50% of HSCT recipients develop GvHD. GvHD can present as an acute disease, aGvHD, or a chronic (“cGvHD”) disease. Both aGvHD and ¢GvHD are inflammatory disorders
initiated by the infiltration of alloreactive T cells into target organs, followed by activation of proinflammatory signaling cascades, tissue damage and organ failure. Previously,
the distinction between aGvHD and cGvHD was based solely on the time of onset (i.e., during or after 100 days post-transplant). However, important pathophysiological
distinctions have since been identified, requiring evaluation of clinical presentation to make an accurate disease diagnosis. The skin is the organ most typically affected at the
onset of aGvHD, followed by the gastrointestinal tract and liver. Several organ systems, including the skin and gastrointestinal tract, are also affected in cGvHD, but clinical
distinctions can be made to differentiate cGvHD fromaGvHD in these organ systems. Additional diagnostic symptoms of cGvHD manifest in the mouth, genitalia, lungs and
nmuscles. The target organ damage observed in aGvHD is primarily characterized by apoptosis, whereas cGvHD is associated with fibrosis and many autoimmune features,
indicative of an expanded role for macrophages and B cells compared with aGvHD (Jagasia et al; 2018). The Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells clinical development program
is aimed to prevent, and in some cases treat, post transplantation complications such as aGvHD.

The standard of care for treatment of complications associated with HSCT, including GvHD, often involves immune-suppressants, such as corticosteroids. Some
patients do not respond to corticosteroids, and lack of any other treatment alternative leave these patients with a bleak survival prognosis. The subset of patients who do
respond to corticosteroids faces the risk that the immune systemmay become so suppressed that the ability of the immune systemto fight pathogens severely deteriorates and
becomes unable to fight severe infections, which are abundant in a typical hospital setting.

The Company conducted a Phase Ila clinical study, which evaluated the safety, tolerability and preliminary efficacy profile of Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells for
the prevention of complications post-HSCT. The study demonstrated that Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells has the potential to induce immune-tolerance and immune
systemrebalancing to normal activity levels in a patient post-HSCT, thus preventing Cytokine Release Syndrome and complications associated with HSCT, without
undermining the ability of the transplanted bone marrow to attack the remainder of the cancer disease in the patient. Specifically, patients who received effective doses of
Allocetra™ frommatched-donor cells experienced no Cytokine Release Syndrome and no GvHD grade II-IV and were discharged fromthe hospital after an average duration of
21 days ofhospitalization compared to an historical data expected duration of 41-45 days. In trials to date, Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells has been well-tolerated, and
there has been no observable, significant adverse side effects.




Summary of Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells Clinical Trials
Phase lla Trial: Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells for the prevention of aGvHD

After completing all pre-clinical safety and efficacy testing in animals, the Company began a multi-center Phase Ila clinical trial of Allocetra™ from matched-donor
cells to evaluate the safety, tolerability and preliminary efficacy profile of the drug for the prevention of aGvHD in allogeneic HSCT patients at Hadassah Medical Center,
Rambamand Sheba Medical Centers in Israel. The study protocol included 13 patients who were intravenously infused with ranging doses of Allocetra™ from matched-donor
cells 24 hours prior to an allogeneic HSCT procedure and then monitored for 180 days following transplantation. The Company published a summary of the results fromsuch
trial in the peer-reviewed journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation, the Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation, titled “Single Infusion of
Donor Mononuclear Early Apoptotic Cells as Prophylaxis for Graft-versus-Host Disease in Myeloablative HLA-Match Allogeneic Bone Marrow Transplantation: A Phase I/Ila
Clinical Trial.”

The primary objective of the Phase Ila clinical trial in Israel was to determine the safety profile and tolerability, or dose limiting toxicity, of ascending doses of
Allocetra™ frommatched-donor cells within 180 days post-transplantation in subjects undergoing allogeneic HSCT from matched-related donors (i.e., donors’ whose tissues
were immunologically compatible with the recipient). The secondary objectives of the trial were to determine (i) the success rate of allogeneic HSCT and the time to successful
engraftment, (i) the rates and severity of aGvHD following Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells infusion and (iii) the immunological function of the patient following the
HSCT procedure and Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells infusion.

Phase 1la clinical data - prevention of complications
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The Company’s clinical data fromits Phase Ila trial indicate that Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells was well-tolerated at all doses administered for up to sixmonths
post-transplantation, which was the observed duration of the trial. The Company did not observe or receive reports of any definite or probable adverse effects related to
Allocetra™ frommatched-donor cells. Although historical data shows that approximately 50% of patients with aGvHD are expected to advance to the most severe grades of
GvHD (i.e., Grades II-IV), none of the six patients treated with the two highest doses of Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells (defined as the effective doses) in the study
advanced to such grades. In fact, the number of overall adverse effects decreased with Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells dose escalation, Grade I aGvHD was 50% in the
same cohorts, and mild chronic GvHD was present in a number of patients. This finding might suggest that Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells treatment, as a physiological
modality, reduces high grade GvHD rather than abolishing it, supporting a favorable GvL response. In this trial, Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells injections were not
associated with prolongation of time to engraftment, chimerismdelay (i.e., an increase in the time it takes for donor immune cells to become immunologically effective in the
patient’s body), increased mortality rate or serious infections when compared with similar patients described in scientific literature. Patients who received effective doses of
Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells experienced no Cytokine Release Syndrome symptoms and were discharged fromthe hospital after an average duration of 21 days of
hospitalization compared to an expected duration of 41 days as per historical controls, the charts above summarize certain of these findings.

The FDA granted the Company’s orphan drug designation request for the active moiety, or the part of the drug responsible for the physiological or pharmacological
action of the drug substance, for the prevention of aGvHD. Orphan designation qualifies the sponsor of the drug or biologic for various development incentives, including tax
credits for qualified clinical testing and 7-year marketing exclusivity post commercialization. In addition, Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells received fromthe European
Medicinal Authority (the “EMA”) an (i) Advanced Therapy Medicinal Product (“ATMP”) certification for the prevention of aGvHD, and (ii) Orphan medicinal product
designation for the indication: Prevention of GvHD. This designation may provide Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells with a 10-year market exclusivity incentive upon
commercialization.
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Clinical trials of Allocetra™ for the prevention of aGvHD in Allogeneic HSCT Patients

The Company’s timeline for the continued development of Allocetra™ for the prevention of GvHD in allogeneic HSCT patients has been modified to reflect the
Company’s re-prioritization of product development in light of the encouraging results of the Phase Ib of Allocetra™ in patients with severe sepsis. The Board decided to
utilize the Company’s cash reserves in order to generate additional clinical data, first and foremost, in a randomized, controlled sepsis clinical trial, and to consider the initiation
of smaller clinical trials in high-value indications with an assumed pathophysiology markedly similar to that of sepsis. As a result, clinical trials of Allocetra™ for the prevention
of GvHD in allogeneic HSCT patients have currently been rescheduled to 2022, pending the expected results of clinical trials in sepsis and potentially other related indications
during 2020-2022.

Solid Tumors, Macrophage Programming and Solid Cancer Treatments

The Company is also developing Allocetra™ as a next-generation solid cancer immunotherapy. While first-generation immuno-oncology therapies, such as
checkpoint inhibitors, are a significant therapeutic advancement, most patients do not achieve durable clinical benefit. Companies such as Novartis, Juno and Kite have made
significant advances in treatment of recurring blood cancers via Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell (“CAR-T”) therapies, immunological treatments that use the body’s own
immune systemto treat cancerous cells. CAR-T therapies have not proven highly successful against solid tumors. Other approved compounds for solid tumors such as anti-
programmed cell death protein 1 (“anti-PD1”’) treatments have demonstrated superior efficacy but only in a small subset of the patient population.

Solid tumors are harder to treat primarily due to the complex and interconnected tumor microenvironment. The Company believes that Allocetra™ presents a
significant opportunity to engage the body’s immune system, enabling anti-cancer therapies such as CAR-T, T-Cell Receptor Therapy, anti-PD1 and others to effectively treat
solid tumors thus improving cure rates for patients with a variety of solid cancers.

The data fromthe Company’s preclinical studies show that the Allocetra™ cells, which have demonstrated a strong safety profile in a previous clinical trial, have not
only caused a significant increase in duration of survival compared with stand-alone CAR-T treatment, but also have demonstrated an ability for complete remission for some
preclinical subjects.

In the Company’s preclinical study, SCID-Bg mice were injected intra-peritoneally with 2 consecutive doses of 0.25x1 0° human HeLa-CD19-luciferase cells (HeLa

cancer cells expressing CD19), on days 1 and 2 of the experiment. Mice also received 10x1 0 Allocetra™ or vehicle, on day 9; and 10xl1 00 CD19-CAR-T (third generation) cells
ormock T cells on day 10. Mice were weighed twice a week and monitored daily for clinical signs and peritoneal fluid accumulations. Pre-scheduled sacrifices were performed
to characterize the cell and macrophage sub-population profile. The rest of the mice were kept for survival analysis. The survival endpoint was defined by a score based on
severe peritoneal fluid accumulation manifested as an enlarged and tense abdomen, and reduced mobility or increased respiratory effort. These preclinical findings correlated to
large accumulation of HeLa cells in the peritoneum. Survival analysis was performed according to the Kaplan-Meier Log rank statistical test. The Company is currently
examining the potential for collaborating with companies developing leading potential immune therapies to evaluate the efficacy of immune therapy treatments in combination
with Allocetra™ for the treatment of solid tumors.
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Accelerated Regulatory Approval Processes for Life Saving Therapies

The Company anticipates that its therapeutic drugs and their respective indications could qualify under specific accelerated regulatory paths in both the EU and the
United States. Specifically for the EU, an accelerated path allowing conditional marketing approval is available for certain therapeutic drugs following a Phase II study. There is
no assurance that the Company will qualify for such accelerated regulatory paths.

If the Company’s products continue to indicate that they may increase long-term survival for patients in life-threatening indications, defined as “unmet medical
needs,” such as sepsis and complications following bone marrow transplantation, the Company could be eligible to initiate marketing of these drugs in the EU if it receives
conditional approval, following submission of a marketing application after completion of a Phase I study to the EMA.

In general, therapeutic products are eligible for conditional marketing approval if they meet at least one of the following categories:

a. Aimed at treating, preventing or diagnosing seriously debilitating or life-threatening diseases ;

b. Intended for use in emergency situations; or

c. Designated as orphan medicines.

For a product to be granted a conditional marketing authorization following submission of a marketing application, it must fulfil all the following criteria:

a. The risk—benefit balance of the medicinal product is positive;

b. It is likely that the applicant will be able to provide the comprehensive clinical data in future studies post initiation of commercialization;

c. Unmet medical needs will be fulfilled; and

d. The benefit to public health of the immediate availability on the market of the medicinal product concerned outweighs the risk inherent in the fact that additional
data are still required.

Clinical Trials and Commercial Manufacturing of Allocetra™

To prepare for the planned initiation of'its clinical trials, the Company has constructed a good manufacturing process (“GMP”’) manufacturing facility in Israel to
support the production of the Allocetra™ drug product for any clinical trial that will be conducted in the EU or Israel.
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Competition

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are characterized by rapidly evolving technology, intense competition and a highly uncertain, costly and lengthy
research and development process. Adequate protection of intellectual property, successful product development, adequate funding and retention of skilled, experienced and
professional personnel are among the many factors critical to success in these industries.

We believe that our product candidates offer key potential advantages over other drugs and therapies currently in use or in development that could enable our
product candidates, if approved for the intended indications, to capture meaningful market share. In particular, we believe that, based on our studies to date, Allocetra’s ™
ability to induce immunotolerance and reduce inflammation without observable, significant adverse side effects and without general immunosuppression make Allocetra™ a
potentially valuable therapy for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory disorders.

See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business, Industry and Regulatory Requirements — We might be unable to develop any of our product candidates to
achieve commercial success in a timely and cost-effective manner, or ever” and “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business, Industry and Regulatory Requirements — QOur
market is subject to intense competition. If we are unable to compete effectively, Allocetra™ or any other product candidate that we are developing or may develop may be
rendered uncompetitive or obsolete”.

License Agreements
Tolaren Ltd.

In April 2008, Tolaren Ltd., which we refer to as Tolaren, granted to us an exclusive, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty free and sublicensable license to research,
develop, commercialize, manufacture, market, sell, distribute and otherwise use and exploit a certain patent, patent rights and pending patent applications relating to the method
for using apoptotic cells as a treatment for various autoimmune and inflammatory disorders and the production processes with respect to the same. The license further
stipulates that all intellectual property rights, including, any inventions, developments, discoveries, results, products data, information and know-how developed by the
Company based on the licensed intellectual property rights, belong solely and exclusively to the Company and, to the extent such intellectual property rights are registrable,
they may be registered in the name of the Company. We have used and continue to use such licensed technology to develop and produce Allocetra™. Pursuant to the license,
we have agreed to manage, maintain and defend the licensed patents, including managing the registration of such patents in different countries. The license expires upon the
expiration of the licensed patent; however, upon such expiration, we will have a fully paid-up, nonexclusive, unlimited, worldwide, sublicensable license to the technology
developed on the basis of the patent and related patent rights and all inventions, know-how and other intellectual property owned or licensed by us and covered by the
agreement or related thereto. The license is terminable by the Company upon 30-days prior written notice or by Tolaren if the Company ceases operations for a period of more
than 360 days. Otherwise, the license for each of the patents endures until the expiration of such patent, and the license for any other licensed technology survives indefinitely.

Approximately 97% of the issued and outstanding share capital of Toleran is held by Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd., which currently holds approximately 10% of our
issued and outstanding share capital.

Hadasit Medical Research Services and Development Ltd. and Yissum Research and Development Company Ltd.

In March 2006, the institutes jointly granted us an exclusive, worldwide, royalty free and sublicensable license to research, develop, commercialize, manufacture,
market, sell, distribute and otherwise use and exploit a certain patent and patent rights relating to the therapeutic use of dead or dying cells, including apoptotic or necrotic
cells, as well as any associated materials, methods or technology, as well as a method of using the heparin-binding domain of TSP thrombospondin-1, or TSP-1, which we may
develop in the future as a molecular-based therapy for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. The license further stipulates that all intellectual property rights, including,
any inventions, developments, discoveries, results, products data, information and know-how developed by the Company based on the licensed intellectual rights, belong
solely and exclusively to the Company and, to the extent such intellectual property rights are registrable, they may be registered in the name of the Company. Pursuant to the
license, we agreed to manage, maintain and defend the licensed patents, including managing the registration of such patents in different countries. The license expires upon the
expiration of the licensed patent; however, upon such expiration, we will have a fully paid-up, nonexclusive, unlimited, worldwide, sublicensable license to the technology
developed on the basis of the patent and related patent rights and all inventions, know-how and other intellectual property owned or licensed by us and covered by the
agreement or related thereto. In addition to certain standard termination provisions relating to the financial condition of each party, we may terminate the license upon 30-days’
prior written notice, and the institutes may terminate the license if we cease our operations for more than 120 days or if the institutes determine, in their reasonable discretion,
that we have ceased making reasonable efforts to commercialize the licensed technology.
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Hadasit Medical Research Services and Development Ltd. is the technology transfer office of Hadassah Hospital in Jerusalem, where Prof. Dror Mevorach, one of our
directors, is currently the Director of the Rheumatology Research Centre.

Intellectual Property and Patents and Proprietary Rights

The proprietary nature of, and protection for, our product candidates and our discovery programs, processes and know-how are important to our business. We own
and in-license issued patents and pending patent applications in various jurisdictions worldwide, including three issued patents and several pending patent application in the
United States, one issued patent in Israel, two issued patents and several pending patent application in the EU and several interational patent application filed with the World
Intellectual Property Organization under the PCT. We have sought patent protection for certain methods of producing and using autologous and allogeneic Allocetra. We also
intend to seek patent protection for our discovery programs, and any other inventions to which we have rights, where available and when appropriate.

Our policy is to pursue, maintain and defend patent rights, whether developed internally or licensed fromthird parties, and to protect the technology, inventions and
improvements that are commercially important to the development of our business. We also rely on trade secrets that may be important to the development of our business.

Our commercial success will substantially depend on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and trade secret protection for our current and future product
candidates and the methods used to develop and manufacture them, as well as successfully defending these patents against third-party challenges. Our ability to stop third
parties frommaking, using, selling, offering to sell or importing our products depends on the extent to which we have rights under valid and enforceable patents or trade
secrets that cover these activities. We believe that our patents provide broad and comprehensive coverage for the use of Allocetra™ for the treatment of certain autoimmune
and inflammatory disorders. However, the patent positions of biotechnology companies, such as ourselves, are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual
questions. Our ability to maintain and solidify our proprietary position, if any, for the technology will depend on our success in obtaining effective claims and enforcing those
claims once granted.

There is no certainty that any of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of any patents. Our issued patents and those that may be issued in the
future, could be challenged, narrowed, circumvented or found to be invalid or unenforceable, which could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing related products
or the length of term of patent protection that we may have for our products. In addition, our competitors may independently develop similar technologies or duplicate any
technology developed by us, and the rights granted under any issued or future patents may not provide us with any meaningful competitive advantages against these
competitors. Furthermore, because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, before any of our product candidates
can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantage of such patent.

The Company has filed several patent applications covering products under development. The first patent, titled “Disease Therapy Using Dying Or Dead Cells” was
granted by the U.S. patent office (patent number 9,567,568), the EU (patent number 187, 9601), and Israel (patent number 187,122) with a term expiring in 2025-2026 in the United
States and Israel, EU (DE, FR, IE, GB), respectively. The second patent, titled “Therapeutic Apoptotic Cell Preparations, Method for Producing Same and Uses Thereof” was
granted by the U.S. patent office (patent number 10,077,426 B2) on September 18, 2018 with a term expiring in 2033 in the United States, Japan, Australia, Israel and Europe, and
is currently under prosecution in Canada, China, and South Korea. Various additional patent applications have been filed and are under prosecution.
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Trade Secrets

In addition to owned and licensed patents, we rely on trade secrets and know-how to develop and maintain our competitive position. Trade secrets and know-how can
be difficult to protect. We seek to protect our proprietary processes, in part, by confidentiality and intellectual property ownership and assignment agreements or provisions
with certain of our employees, consultants, scientific advisors, contractors and commercial partners involved in research and development activities or who may otherwise
have access to our confidential or proprietary information. These agreements are designed to protect our proprietary information. We also seek to preserve the integrity and
confidentiality of our data, trade secrets and know-how by maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our information technology
systems. While we have confidence in these individuals, organizations and systems, such agreements or security measures may be breached, and we may not have adequate
remedies for any such breach. In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors or others, which would significantly
affect our competitive advantage and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition. See also, “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our
Intellectual Property—Under applicable U.S. and Israeli law, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors
frombenefiting fromthe expertise of some of our former employees”.

Raw Materials, Suppliers and Manufacturing

In order to produce Allocetra™, blood donations are collected fromhealthy donors through apheresis and then shipped to a manufacturing site for cryopreservation

by trained personnel pursuant to cGMP requirements and otherwise in accordance with applicable FDA guidelines and our CMC protocols. The manufacture of Allocetra™

and Allocetra™ from matched donor cells differ only in the source of the blood donations. Donations for Allocetral ™ frommatched donor cells come from the blood of either
(i) a donor matched by his or her human leukocyte antigen (i.e., a protein found on white blood cells that is the standard genetic marker for the regulation of the immune system
and is used to match donors and recipients in transplantations), (ii) the patient, or (iii) an allogeneic, unmatched donor that has undergone ex-vivo (i.e., prior to infusion)

™

manipulation to stabilize the “early apoptosis” status of the cells for a prolonged period of time. Donations for Allocetra’ ™ are collected fromhealthy donors through

apheresis. The cells sourced for either Allocetra™ or AllocetraT ™ from matched donor cells then undergo quality control testing and are thawed and manipulated ex vivo by
inducing apoptosis to retrieve and harvest stable early apoptotic cells. The agents used in the ex vivo manipulation for Allocetra™ are then washed and removed before the
apoptotic cells are combined with a saline solution for delivery and injection in patients. We use standard collection equipment and procedures to collect blood for Allocetra™
production and anticipate entering into long-termagreements with various collection and medical centers to properly train their personnel pursuant to cGMP requirements,
FDA guidelines and our CMC protocols and thereafter collect blood at their facilities upon receipt of patient or donor consent. Other than the blood collections, we believe that
the raw materials required to manufacture our product candidates are readily available commodities commonly used in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries and are
generally widely available fromnumerous suppliers at market prices. However, biologically sourced raw materials are subject to unique contamination risks and their use may
be restricted in certain countries. See also “Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Business, Industry and Regulatory Requirements—Our manufacturing processes are complex,
delicate and susceptible to contamination, and involve biological intermediates that are subject to stringent regulations”, “Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Business,
Industry and Regulatory Requirements—Our ability to produce safe and effective products depends on the safety of our blood supply against transmittable diseases.”

In January 2019 we completed construction of a new facility in Israel for the manufacture of Allocetra™ for the planned clinical trials that will be conducted in the EU
or Israel. The new facility received QP declaration confirming compliance with EU GMP regulations. However, we do not have experience in manufacturing products on a
commercial scale or using automated processes and we have limited personnel. We do not have any current contractual relationships for the manufacture of commercial
supplies of Allocetra™ or any other product candidate. If any of our product candidates or future product candidates are approved by any regulatory authority, we intend to
enter into agreements with one or more third-party contract manufacturers for the commercial production of those products. Development and production of commercial
quantities of any products that we develop will need to be manufactured in facilities, and by processes, that comply with the requirements of the FDA and the regulatory
agencies of other jurisdictions in which we are seeking approval, as well as with our CMC. When selecting a CMO and other third-party service providers and suppliers to
produce Allocetra™, we and certain hired quality assurance consultants verify that such CMOs and third party service providers and suppliers are compliant with both cGMP
requirements.
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There can be no assurance that our product candidates, if approved, can be manufactured in sufficient commercial quantities, in compliance with regulatory
requirements and at an acceptable cost. We and our future contract manufacturers are, and will be, subject to extensive governmental regulation in connection with the
manufacture of any pharmaceutical products. We and our future contract manufacturers must ensure that all of the processes, methods and equipment are compliant with our
CMC and cGMP for drugs and biologics on an ongoing basis, as mandated by the FDA and other applicable regulatory authorities, and conduct extensive audits of vendors,
contract laboratories and suppliers.

Contract Research Organizations

We intend to outsource certain future clinical trial activities, including the administration of treatments, to CROs. Such clinical CROs must comply with guidelines from
the International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use, which attempt to harmonize the FDA and the
EMA regulations and guidelines. We intend to create and implement the development plans and manage the CROs according to the specific requirements of the product
candidate under development. To the extent clinical research is conducted by the CROs (or us in the future), compliance with certain federal regulations, including but not
limited to 21 C.F.R. parts 50, 54, 56, 58 and 312, which pertain to, among other things, informed consent, financial conflicts of interest by investigators, IRBs good laboratory
practices and submitting IND applications, may be required.

Marketing, Sales and Commercialization

Given our stage of development, we do not have any internal sales, marketing or distribution infrastructure or capabilities. If we receive regulatory approval for any of
our product candidates, we intend, as appropriate, to pursue commercialization relationships, including strategic alliances and licensing, with biotechnology companies and
other strategic partners, which are equipped to market and sell our products, if any, through their sales, marketing and distribution organizations. In addition, we may out-
license some or all of our worldwide patent rights to more than one party to achieve the fullest development, marketing and distribution of any products we develop. Over the
longer term, we may consider building an internal marketing, sales and commercial infrastructure.

Environmental Matters

We, our agents and our service providers, including our manufacturers, are subject to various environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those
governing air emissions, water and wastewater discharges, noise emissions, the use, management and disposal of hazardous and biological materials and wastes and the
cleanup of contaminated sites. We believe that our business, operations and facilities, including, to our knowledge, those of our agents and service providers, are currently
operated in compliance in all material respects with applicable environmental and health and safety laws and regulations. Based on information currently available to us, we do
not expect environmental costs and contingencies to have a material adverse effect on us. However, significant expenditures could be required in the future if we, our agents or
our service providers are required to comply with new or more stringent environmental or health and safety laws, regulations or requirements.
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Government Regulation

Clinical trials, the drug approval process and the marketing of drugs are intensively regulated in the United States and in all other major foreign countries.
Governmental authorities in the United States (including federal, state and local authorities) and in other countries, extensively regulate, among other things, the
manufacturing, research and clinical development, marketing, labeling and packaging, storage, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting, advertising and promotion,
pricing and export and import of pharmaceutical products, such as those we are developing. The process for obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance
with appropriate federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.

U.S. Government Regulation

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the “FDCA”), and related regulations, and the Public Health Service
Act (the “PHSA”) and its implementing regulations. In addition, drug innovation, prescribing and reimbursement are influenced by Titles XVIII and XIX of the Social Security
Act (commonly referred to as Medicare and Medicaid) and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. § 18001, as amended, and their implementing regulations.
FDA approval is required before any new drug candidate or dosage form, including a new use ofa previously approved drug, can be marketed in the United States. We intend
to submit an NDA in the United States. Failure to comply with the applicable United States regulatory requirements at any time during the product development process,
approval process or after approval may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the imposition by the FDA or an IRB ofa
clinical hold on trials, the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications or supplements, license suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an approval, warning letters, product
recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, other corrective action, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. Any agency
or judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us.

The FDA and foreign regulatory authorities impose substantial requirements upon the clinical development, manufacture and marketing of pharmaceutical products.
These agencies and other federal, state and local entities regulate research and development activities and the testing, manufacture, quality control, safety, effectiveness,
labeling, storage, distribution, record keeping, approval, advertising and promotion of our products.

The FDA'’s policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our platforms and
candidate products or any future product candidates or approval of new disease indications or label changes. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse
governmental regulation that might arise from future legislative or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad.

Marketing Approval

The process required by the FDA before a product candidate may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following:

e conpletion of extensive nonclinical laboratory tests and nonclinical animal studies, all performed in accordance with cGMP and current Good Laboratory
Practices, guidance and regulations;

e submission to the FDA of an investigational new drug (“IND”), application which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin and must be
updated annually;

e approval by an IRB or ethics committee representing each clinical site before each clinical trial may be initiated;
e performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product candidate for each proposed indication;

e preparation of and submission to the FDA an NDA after completion of all clinical trials;
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e potential review of the product application by an FDA Advisory Committee, where appropriate and if applicable;
e adetermination by the FDA within 60 days of'its receipt of an NDA to file the application for review;

e satisfactory completion of FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities where the proposed product is produced to assess compliance with
c¢GMP; and

e FDA review and approval of an NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the drug in the United States.

The testing and approval process requires substantial time and financial resources and we cannot be certain that any approvals for our candidate products will be
granted on a timely basis, if at all.

An IND is a request for authorization fromthe FDA to administer an investigational new drug product to humans. The central focus of an IND submission is on the
general investigational plan and the protocol(s) for human studies. The IND also includes results ofin vitro and in vivo studies and animal testing results assessing the
toxicology, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic characteristics of the product; chemistry, manufacturing and controls information; and any available human data or
literature to support the use of the investigational new drug. An IND must become effective before human clinical trials may begin. An IND will automatically become effective
30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises concems or questions related to the proposed clinical trials. In such a case, the IND may be placed on
clinical hold and the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before clinical trials can begin. Accordingly, submission of an IND may or
may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence.

We will need to successfully complete clinical trials in order to be in a position to submit an NDA to the FDA. Our planned future clinical trials for our candidate
products may not begin or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including:

e not obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial;

e not reaching agreement with third-party clinical trial sites and their subsequent performance in conducting accurate and reliable studies on a timely basis;

e not obtaining IRB approval to conduct a trial at a prospective site;

e recruiting an insufficient number of patients to participate in a trial;

e inadequate supply of the drug; and

e clinical adverse finding(s) during the trial itself.

We must reach an agreement with the FDA on the proposed protocols for our future clinical trials in the United States. A separate submission apart froman IND
application must be made for each clinical trial to be conducted during product development. Further, an independent IRB for each site proposed to conduct the clinical trial
must review and approve the plan for any clinical trial before it commences at that site. Informed consent must also be obtained from each trial subject. Regulatory authorities,
an IRB or the sponsor, may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the participants are being exposed to an unacceptable
health risk.

Clinical trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of the product candidate to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators in accordance with current good
clinical practices (“cGCP”), which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials are
conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the trial, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the efficacy criteria to be evaluated. A
protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Additionally, approval must also be obtained from

each clinical trial site’s IRB before the studies may be initiated and the IRB must monitor the trial until completed. There are also requirements governing the reporting of
ongoing clinical trials and clinical trial results to public registries.
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Our objective is to conduct clinical trials for our candidate products and, if those trials are successful, seek marketing approval fromthe FDA and other worldwide
regulatory bodies.

For purposes of NDA approval, human clinical trials are typically conducted in phases that may overlap.

®  Phase 1. The drug is initially introduced into healthy human subjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretion.
In the case of some products for severe or life-threatening diseases, especially when the product may be too inherently toxic to ethically administer to healthy
volunteers, the initial human testing is often conducted in patients;

®  Phase 2. This phase involves trials in a limited patient population to identify possible adverse effects and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the
product for specific targeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage;

®  Phase 3. This phase involves trials undertaken to further evaluate dosage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expanded patient population, often at geographically
dispersed clinical trial sites. These trials are intended to establish the overall benefit/risk profile of the product and provide an adequate basis for product
labeling; and

®  Phase 4.In sone cases, the FDA may condition approval of an NDA for a product candidate on the sponsor’s agreement to conduct additional clinical trials after
approval. In other cases, a sponsor may voluntarily conduct additional clinical trials after approval to gain more information about the drug. Such post-approval
studies are typically referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials.

A pivotal trial is a clinical trial that adequately meets regulatory agency requirements for the evaluation of a drug candidate’s efficacy and safety such that it can be
used to justify the approval of the product. Generally, pivotal trials are Phase 3 trials, but the FDA may accept results from Phase 2 trials if the trial design provides a well-
controlled and reliable assessment of clinical benefit, particularly in situations where there is an unmet medical need and the results are sufficiently robust.

The FDA, the IRB, or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects
are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a Data Safety Monitoring
Board or Committee. This group provides oversight and assessment of designated milestones based on access to certain data during the conduct of the trial. We may also
suspend or terminate a clinical trial based on evolving business objectives and/or competitive climate.

All of these trials must be conducted in accordance with GCP requirements in order for the data to be considered reliable for regulatory purposes.

The clinical trial process can take three to ten years or more to complete and there can be no assurance that the data collected will support FDA approval or licensure
ofthe product. Government regulation may delay or prevent marketing of a product candidate or new drugs for a considerable period of time and impose costly procedures
upon our activities. We cannot be certain that the FDA or any other regulatory agency will grant approvals for a product candidate on a timely basis, if at all. Success in early
stage clinical trials does not ensure success in later stage clinical trials. Data obtained from clinical activities is not always conclusive and may be susceptible to varying
interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.
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The NDA Approval Process

Assuming successful completion of all required testing in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements, detailed investigational new drug product
information is submitted to the FDA in the formof an NDA requesting approval to market the product for one or more indications. Under federal law, the submission of most
NDAs is subject to an application user fee. For the FDA’s fiscal year 2018, the application user fee with clinical data was $2,421,495 and for 2019 the fee is $2,588,478 and the
sponsor of an approved NDA is also subject to annual product and programuser fees. For the FDA’s fiscal year 2018, these program fees were set at $304,162 per product and
in 2019 they are $309,915 per product. These fees are typically increased annually. Applications for orphan drug products are exempted fromthe NDA user fees and may be
exempted fromproduct and establishment user fees, unless the application includes an indication for other than a rare disease or condition.

An NDA must include all relevant data available from pertinent nonclinical and clinical trials, regardless of the results or findings, together with detailed information
relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls and proposed labeling, among other things. Data is generated from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to
test the safety and effectiveness ofa use of a product, or in certain instances, fromother sources, including trials initiated by investigators. To support marketing approval, the
data submitted must be sufficient in quality and quantity to establish the safety and effectiveness of the investigational new drug product to the satisfaction of the FDA.

The FDA will initially review the NDA for completeness before it accepts it for filing. The FDA has 60 days fromreceipt of an NDA to determine whether the
application will be accepted for filing based on the agency’s threshold determination that the application is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. After the NDA
submission is accepted for filing, the FDA reviews the NDA to determine, among other things, whether the proposed product is safe and effective for its intended use, and
whether the product is being manufactured in accordance with cGMP to assure and preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality and purity. The FDA may refer
applications for novel drug products or drug products that present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an Advisory Committee, typically a panel that includes
independent clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and, if so, under what conditions. The
FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an Advisory Committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making decisions.

Upon the request of an applicant, the FDA may grant a Priority Review designation to a product, which sets the target date for FDA action on the application at six
months, rather than the standard ten months. Priority review is given where preliminary assessments indicates that a product, if approved, has the potential to provide a
significant improvement compared to marketed products or offers a therapy where no satisfactory alternative therapy exists. Priority Review designation does not alter the
scientific/medical standard for approval or the quality of evidence necessary to support approval.

The FDA is required to complete its review in a certain amount of time, for which the user fees are paid to help with the costs of the evaluation. However, FDA and the
sponsor can agree to extend this review time. After the FDA completes its review of an NDA, it will communicate to the sponsor that the drug will either be approved, or it will
issue a Complete Response Letter to communicate that the NDA will not be approved in its current formand informthe sponsor of changes that must be made or additional
clinical, nonclinical or manufacturing data that must be received before the application can be approved, with no implication regarding the ultimate approvability of the
application.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA will typically inspect the facilities at which the drug substance or drug product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve the

product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the
product within required specifications.

55




Additionally, before approving an NDA, the FDA may inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCPs. If the FDA determines the application,
manufacturing process or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, it typically will outline the deficiencies and often will request additional testing or information. This may
significantly delay further review of the application. If the FDA finds that a clinical site did not conduct the clinical trial in accordance with GCP, the FDA may determine the
data generated by the clinical site should be excluded fromthe primary efficacy analyses provided in the NDA. Additionally, notwithstanding the submission of any requested
additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.

The testing and approval process for a drug requires substantial time, effort and financial resources and this process may take several years to complete. Data
obtained from clinical activities are not always conclusive and may be susceptible to varying interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. The FDA
may not grant approval on a timely basis, or at all. We may encounter difficulties or unanticipated costs in our efforts to secure necessary governmental approvals, which
could delay or preclude us from marketing our products.

The FDA may require, or companies may pursue, additional clinical trials after a product is approved. These so-called Phase 4 trials may be made a condition to be
satisfied for continuing drug approval. The results of Phase 4 trials can confirmthe effectiveness ofa product candidate and can provide important safety information. In
addition, the FDA now has express statutory authority to require sponsors to conduct post-market trials to specifically address safety issues identified by the agency.

Any approvals that we may ultimately receive could be withdrawn if required post-marketing trials or analyses do not meet the FDA requirements, which could
materially harmthe commercial prospects for our candidate products.

The FDA also has authority to require a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”), fromsponsors to ensure that the benefits of a drug or biological product
outweigh its risks. A sponsor may also propose a REMS as part of the NDA submission. The need for a REMS is determined as part of the review of the NDA. Based on
statutory standards, elements of a REMS may include “Dear Doctor” letters, a Medication Guide, more elaborate targeted educational programs and in some cases restrictions
on distribution. These elements are negotiated as part of the NDA approval, and in some cases if consensus is not obtained until after the Prescription Drug User Fee Act
review cycle, the approval date may be delayed. Once adopted, REMS are subject to periodic assessment and modification.

Even if a product candidate receives regulatory approval, the approval may be limited to specific disease states, patient populations and dosages, or might contain
significant limitations on use in the form of warnings, precautions or contraindications, including Black Box Wamings, or in the form of risk management plans, restrictions on
distribution, or post-marketing trial requirements. Further, even after regulatory approval is obtained, later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may
result in restrictions on the product or complete withdrawal of the product fromthe market. Delay in obtaining, or failure to obtain, regulatory approval for our candidate
products, or obtaining approval but for significantly limited use, would harm our business. In addition, we cannot predict what adverse governmental regulations may arise
from future U.S. or foreign governmental action.

FDA Post-Approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among other things,
requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, advertising and promotion and reporting of adverse experiences with the
product. After approval, changes to the approved product or the addition of new indications or other labeling claims are subject to prior FDA review and approval. There also
are continuing, annual user fee requirements for any marketed products and the establishments at which such products are manufactured, as well as new application fees for
supplemental applications with clinical data.

Drug sponsors and their manufacturers are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and state agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements.
Changes to the manufacturing process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the significance of the change, may require prior FDA approval before being implemented.
FDA regulations also require investigation and correction of any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon us and any third-party
manufacturers that we may decide to use. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain
compliance with cGMP and other aspects of regulatory compliance.
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We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the production of clinical quantities of our current product candidate, and expect to rely in the future on
third parties for the production of commercial quantities. Future FDA and state inspections may identify compliance issues at our facilities or at the facilities of our contract
manufacturers that may disrupt production or distribution, or require substantial resources to correct. In addition, discovery of previously unknown problems with a product or
the failure to comply with applicable requirements may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer or holder of an approved NDA, including withdrawal or recall of the
product fromthe market or other voluntary, FDA-initiated or judicial action that could delay or prohibit further marketing. Also, new government requirements, including those
resulting fromnew legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our products under development.

The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the
market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or
failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of a requirement to conduct post-
market trials or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences
include, but not limited to the following:

e restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product fromthe market or product recalls;

e fines, warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

e refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs or supplements to approved NDAs, or suspension or revocation of product license approvals;

e injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties; or

e product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising, and promotion of products that are placed on the market. Drugs may be promoted only for the approved

indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of
off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant enforcement and product liability exposure.

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or if
it affects more than 200,000 individuals in the United States, there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making the drug for this type of disease or
condition will be recovered fromsales in the United States.

Orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, taxadvantages, and user-fee
waivers. In addition, if a product receives FDA approval for the indication for which it has orphan designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which means
the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same indication for a period of seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing
of clinical superiority over the product with orphan exclusivity. Orphan drug designation does not affect the regulatory review standards or shorten the review period.
Designation does not imply FDA approval, and it is possible a company may, in certain cases, lose designation before a product’s approval and, thus, may not obtain orphan
drug exclusivity.
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European Union/Rest of World Government Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions governing, among other things, clinical trials and any
commercial sales and distribution of our products.

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain the requisite approvals fromregulatory authorities in foreign countries prior to the
commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. Certain countries outside of the United States have a similar process that requires the
submission of a clinical trial application much like the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the European Union, for example, a clinical trial application
“CTA”), must be submitted for each clinical protocol to each country’s national health authority and an independent ethics committee, much like the FDA and IRB,
respectively. Once the CTA is accepted in accordance with a country’s requirements, the clinical trial may proceed.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials vary from country to country. In all cases, the clinical trials are conducted in accordance with
c¢GCP, the applicable regulatory requirements, and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

To obtain regulatory approval of an investigational medicinal product under European Union regulatory systems, we must submit a marketing authorization
application. The content of the NDA or BLA filed in the United States is similar to that required in the European Union, with the exception of, among other things, country and
EU-specific document requirements.

For other countries outside of the European Union, such as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin America or Asia, the requirements governing product licensing, pricing,
and reimbursement vary fromcountry to country.

Countries that are part of the European Union, as well as countries outside of the European Union, have their own governing bodies, requirements, and processes
with respect to the approval of pharmaceutical products. If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to, among other things, fines,

suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Authorization Procedures in the European Union

Medicines can be authorized in the European Union by using either the centralized authorization procedure or national authorization procedures.

e  Centralized procedure. The European Commission implemented the centralized procedure for the approval of human medicines to facilitate marketing
authorizations that are valid throughout the EEA which is comprised of the 28 member states of the European Union plus Norway, Iceland, and Lichtenstein. This
procedure results in a single marketing authorization issued by the European Commission that is valid across the EEA. The centralized procedure is compulsory
for human medicines that are: derived frombiotechnology processes, such as genetic engineering, contain a new active substance indicated for the treatment of
certain diseases, such as HIVAIDS, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders or autoimmune diseases and other immune dysfunctions, and officially
designated orphan medicines.

For medicines that do not fall within these categories, an applicant has the option of submitting an application for a centralized marketing authorization to the EMA

following a favorable eligibility request by the EMA, as long as the medicine concerned is a significant therapeutic, scientific or technical innovation, or if its authorization
would be in the interest of public health.
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National authorization procedures. There are also two other possible routes to authorize medicinal products in several European Union countries, which are available
for investigational medicinal products that fall outside the scope of the centralized procedure:

Decentralized procedure. Using the decentralized procedure, an applicant may apply for simultaneous authorization in more than one European Union country of
medicinal products that have not yet been authorized in any European Union country and that do not fall within the mandatory scope of the centralized procedure.

Mutual recognition procedure. In the mutual recognition procedure, a medicine is first authorized in one European Union Member State, in accordance with the
procedure laid down in the EU directive 2001/83 as amended and implemented into national legislation. Following this, further marketing authorizations can be sought from
other European Union countries in a procedure whereby the countries concerned agree to recognize the validity of the original, national marketing authorization.

In some cases, a Pediatric Investigation Plan, or PIP, and/or a request for waiver or deferral, is required for submission prior to submitting a marketing authorization
application. A PIP describes, among other things, proposed pediatric trials and their timing relative to clinical trials in adults.

New Chemical Entity Exclusivity

In the European Union, new chemical entities, sometimes referred to as new active substances or new molecular entities, as well as submissions following Article 8.3
of Directive 2001/83 as amended, qualify for eight years of data exclusivity upon marketing authorization and an additional two years of market exclusivity. This data
exclusivity, if granted, prevents regulatory authorities in the Furopean Union fromreferencing the innovator’s data to assess a generic (abbreviated) application for eight years,
after which generic marketing authorization can be submitted, and the innovator’s data may be referenced, the product may be approved but must not be launched prior to the
end of'the 10 years data exclusivity period. The overall ten-year period will be extended by one year if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing
authorization holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior to their authorization, is held to bring a
significant clinical benefit, in comparison with existing therapies, or by sixmonths if there is a pediatric development in accordance with a PIP has been performed.

Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

In the European Union, the EMA’s COMP grants orphan drug designation to promote the development of products that are intended for the diagnosis, prevention or
treatment of life-threatening or chronically debilitating conditions affecting not more than five in 10,000 persons in the European Union and for which no satisfactory method of
diagnosis, prevention, or treatment has been authorized (or the product would be a significant benefit to those affected, i.e. where a prior approval was granted). Additionally,
designation is granted for products intended for the diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition and when,
without incentives, it is unlikely that sales of the drug in the European Union would be sufficient to justify the necessary investment in developing the medicinal product.

In the European Union, orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as reduction of fees or fee waivers and 10 years of market exclusivity is
granted following medicinal product approval. This period may be reduced to sixyears if the orphan drug designation criteria are no longer met, including where it is shown
that the product is sufficiently profitable not to justify maintenance of market exclusivity. This period can be prolonged to 12 years in case a pediatric development has been
performed following an agreed PIP.

Orphan drug designation must be requested and granted before submitting an application for marketing approval. Orphan drug designation does not convey any
advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process.
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Exceptional Circumstances/Conditional Approval

Orphan drugs or drugs with unmet medical needs may be eligible for European Union approval under exceptional circumstances or with conditional approval.
Approval under exceptional circumstances is applicable to all applications including orphan products and is used when an applicant is unable to provide comprehensive data
on the efficacy and safety under normal conditions of use because the indication for which the product is intended is encountered so rarely that the applicant cannot
reasonably be expected to provide comprehensive evidence, when the present state of scientific knowledge does not allow comprehensive information to be provided, or when
it is medically unethical to collect such information. Conditional marketing authorization is applicable to orphan medicinal products, medicinal products for seriously
debilitating or life-threatening diseases, or medicinal products to be used in emergency situations in response to recognized public threats. Conditional marketing authorization
can be granted on the basis of less complete data than is normally required in order to meet unmet medical needs and in the interest of public health, provided the risk-benefit
balance is positive, it is likely that the applicant will be able to provide the comprehensive clinical data after approval, and unmet medical needs will be fulfilled. Conditional
marketing authorization is subject to certain specific obligations to be reviewed annually. The initial approval needs to be renewed annually. This renewal is controlled by the
CHMP and, if not granted, may lead to cessation of the marketing authorization at the end of'this particular year.

Accelerated Review

Under the Centralized Procedure in the European Union, the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of a marketing authorization application is 210 days (excluding clock
stops, when additional written or oral information is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions asked by the EMA’s Committee for Medicinal Products for
Human Use, or CHMP). Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is expected to be of a major public health
interest, particularly fromthe point of view of therapeutic innovation. In this circumstance, EMA ensures that the opinion of the CHMP is given within 150 days, excluding
clock stops.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any drug products for which we may obtain regulatory approval. In the United States
and markets in other countries, sales of any products for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale will depend in part on the availability of coverage and
reimbursement from third-party payers. Third-party payers include government authorities, managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations. If we
obtain regulatory approval for our products, third-party payers may not provide coverage for our products, or may limit coverage to specific drug products on an approved list,
or formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved drugs for a particular indication. Moreover, a payer’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not
imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. Adequate third-party reimbursement may not be available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize
an appropriate return on our investment in product development.

Third-party payers are increasingly challenging the price and examining the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of medical products and services, in addition to
their safety and efficacy. To obtain coverage and reimbursement for any product that receives regulatory approval for commercial sale, we may need to provide supporting
scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data, which may be difficult and costly to obtain. Our current or any future product candidates may not be considered medically
necessary or cost-effective. If third-party payers do not consider a product to be cost-effective compared to other available therapies, they may not cover the product after
approval as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our products at a profit.

The U.S. government, state legislatures and foreign governments have shown significant interest in implementing cost containment programs to limit the growth of
health care costs, including price controls, reporting requirements, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products for branded
prescription drugs. By way of example, the ACA contains provisions that may reduce the profitability of drug products, including, for example, increased rebates for drugs sold
to Medicaid programs, extension of Medicaid rebates to Medicaid managed care plans, mandatory discounts for certain Medicare Part D beneficiaries and annual fees based on
pharmaceutical companies’ share of sales to federal health care programs. Adoption of additional government controls and measures, and tightening of restrictive policies in
jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could limit payments for pharmaceuticals.
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In the U.S,, judicial challenges as well as legislative initiatives to modify, limit, or repeal the ACA have been initiated and continue, including a recent Executive Order
signed by the U.S. President directing executive departments and federal agencies to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of provisions ofthe ACA
that would impose a fiscal or regulatory burden on individuals and certain entities to the maximum extent permitted by law. The extent to which any repeal or replacement of
elements ofthe ACA, or other legislation, would affect our ability to obtain regulatory approval for the sale of Allocetra™, or the prices and net revenues fromits sale is
unknown at the time of'this filing and represent an additional uncertainty.

In the European Union, governments influence the price of pharmaceutical products through their pricing and reimbursement rules, legislation and control of national
health care systems that fund a large part of the cost of those products to consumers. Some jurisdictions operate positive and negative list systems under which products may
only be marketed once a reimbursement price has been agreed to by the government. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these countries may require the
completion of clinical trials that compare the cost-effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently available therapies. Other member states allow companies to fix
their own prices for medicines, but monitor and control company profits. The downward pressure on health care costs in general, particularly prescription drugs, has become
very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products. In addition, in some countries, cross-border imports from low-priced markets
exert a commercial pressure on pricing within a country.

In Canada, the federal government, provinces and territories provide coverage to about one third of residents through publicly financed programs. Both the federal
and provincial governments play a role in regulating drug prices and reimbursement. The prices of patented drugs are regulated at the federal level by the Patented Medicine
Prices Review Board, which ensures that prices are not excessive. Also, drugs must be approved at the provincial level in order to be covered under provincial health insurance
systems. Once Health Canada has approved a drug for use, the country’s public drug plans must decide if the drug will be eligible for public reimbursement. The Canadian
Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (“CADTH”), an independent non-profit agency has a mandate to provide advice and evidence-based information about the
effectiveness of drugs and other health technologies to Canadian health care decision makers. CADTH implements a Common Drug Review (“CDR”) process to provide
formulary recommendations for all provinces except Quebec. Through the CDR process, CADTH conducts evaluations of the clinical, economic, and patient evidence on
drugs, and uses this evaluation to provide reimbursement recommendations and advice to Canada’s federal, provincial, and territorial public drug plans, with the exception of
Quebec. About two-thirds of Canada’s residents are covered for prescription drugs by private insurance. Private plans establish their own lists of covered drugs.

The marketability of any products for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale may suffer if governmental and other third-party payers fail to provide
adequate coverage and reimbursement. In addition, there is an increasing emphasis on cost containment measures in the United States and other countries, which we expect
will continue to increase the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing. Coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may change at any time. Even if favorable coverage and
reimbursement status is attained for one or more products for which we receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be
implemented in the future.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

If we obtain regulatory approval for our current or any future product candidates, we may be subject to various federal and state laws targeting fraud and abuse in the
healthcare industry. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing and education programs. In addition, we may be subject to patient privacy
regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:

e the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying

remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce or reward, or in return for, the referral of an individual, or the purchase, order or recommendation of any good, item
or service reimbursable under a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare and Medicaid;
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e federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including the False Claims Act, which prohibit, among other things, individuals or
entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment fromthe federal government, including Medicare, Medicaid, or other third-
party payers, that are false or fraudulent;

e HIPAA, which imposes criminal and civil liability for knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit
programor obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or
control of, any healthcare benefit program, and for knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false
statements in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services;

e the federal transparency laws, including the physician sunshine provisions of the Affordable Care Act, that requires certain drug manufacturers to disclose
certain payments and other transfers of value provided to physicians and teaching hospitals, and ownership and investment interests held by physicians and
their family members;

e HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, and its implementing regulations, which imposes certain requirements relating to the privacy and security of individually
identifiable health information;

e state law equivalents of each ofthe above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws which may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-
party payer, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ
fromeach other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts; and

e the FCPA, which prohibits companies from making improper payments to foreign government officials and other persons for the purpose of obtaining or retaining
business.

The ACA broadened the reach of the fraud and abuse laws by, among other things, amending the intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the
applicable criminal healthcare fraud statutes contained within 42 U.S.C. §1320a-7b. Pursuant to the statutory amendment, a person or entity no longer needs to have actual
knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. In addition, the Affordable Care Act provides that the government may assert
that a claimincluding items or services resulting froma violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False
Claims Act (discussed below) or the civil monetary penalties statute. Many states have adopted laws similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the
referral of patients for healthcare items or services reimbursed by any source, not only federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

Safeguards we implement to prohibit improper payments or offers of payments by our employees, consultants, and others may be ineffective, and violations of the
fraud and abuse laws, the FCPA and similar laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions, or other liabilities or proceedings against us, any of which would likely harm
our reputation, business, financial condition and result of operations.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to
penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, imprisonment, damages,
fines, disgorgement, contractual remedies, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
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Labeling, Marketing and Promotion

The FDA closely regulates the labeling, marketing and promotion of drugs. While doctors are free to prescribe any drug approved by the FDA for any use, a company
can only make claims relating to safety and efficacy of a drug that are consistent with FDA approval, and the company is allowed to actively market a drug only for the
particular use and treatment approved by the FDA. In addition, any claims we make for our products in advertising or promotion must be appropriately balanced with important
safety information and otherwise be adequately substantiated. Failure to comply with these requirements can result in adverse publicity, enforcement letters, such as publicly-
posted waming letters, corrective advertising, injunctions and potential civil and criminal penalties. Government regulators recently have increased their scrutiny of the
promotion and marketing of drugs. These federal enforcement actions can also potentially lead to state actions and product liability claims, as well as competitor challenges of
deceptive advertising.

Anti-Kickback Statute, False Claims Act, and Other Laws

In the United States, the research, manufacturing, distribution, sale and promotion of drug products and medical devices are potentially subject to regulation by
various federal, state and local authorities in addition to the FDA, including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, other divisions of the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services (e.g., the Office of Inspector General), the U.S. Department of Justice, state Attorneys General, and other federal, state and local government agencies. For
example, sales, marketing and scientific/educational grant programs must comply with, among others, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False Claims Act, privacy
and security regulations promulgated under HIPAA, and similar state laws, as applicable. All of these activities are also potentially subject to federal and state consumer
protection and unfair competition laws.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute makes it illegal for any person, including a prescription drug manufacturer (or a party acting on its behalf) to knowingly and willfully
solicit, receive, offer, or pay any remuneration that is intended to induce or reward referrals, or the purchase, order, or prescription of a particular drug or other itemor service,
for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare or Medicaid.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits anyone fromknowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, for payment to the government, claims for items or services,
including drugs that are false or fraudulent, such as claims for items or services not provided as claimed, or claims for medically unnecessary items or services.

There are also an increasing number of state laws that require manufacturers to make reports to states on pricing and marketing information. Many of these laws
contain ambiguities as to what is required to comply with the laws. In addition, a similar federal requirement requires manufacturers to track and report to the federal
government certain payments made to physicians and certain teaching hospitals made in the previous calendar year. These laws may affect our sales, marketing, and other
promotional activities by imposing administrative and compliance burdens on us, and additional laws and regulations may be enacted in the future that expand our compliance
obligations even further. In addition, given the lack of clarity with respect to these laws and their implementation, our reporting actions could be subject to the penalty
provisions of the pertinent state, and federal authorities.

Other Regulations
We are also subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating to such matters as safe working conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection,

fire hazard control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. We may incur significant costs to comply with such laws and regulations now or in the
future.
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Israel
Clinical Testing in Israel

In order to conduct clinical testing on humans in the State of Israel, special authorization must first be obtained fromthe ethics committee and general manager of the
institution in which the clinical trials are scheduled to be conducted, as required under the Guidelines for Clinical Trials in Human Subjects implemented pursuant to the Israeli
Public Health Regulations (Clinical Trials in Human Subjects), as amended fromtime to time, and other applicable legislation. These regulations require authorization by the
institutional ethics committee and general manager as well as fromthe Israeli Ministry of Health, except in certain circumstances, and in the case of genetic trials, special fertility
trials and complex clinical trials, an additional authorization of the Ministry of Health’s overseeing ethics committee. The institutional ethics committee must, among other
things, evaluate the anticipated benefits that are likely to be derived fromthe project to determine if it justifies the risks and inconvenience to be inflicted on the human
subjects, and the committee must ensure that adequate protection exists for the rights and safety of the participants as well as the accuracy of the information gathered in the
course of the clinical testing. Since we performa portion of the clinical trials on certain of our therapeutic candidates in Israel, we are required to obtain authorization fromthe
ethics committee and general manager of each institution in which we intend to conduct our clinical trials, and in most cases, fromthe Israeli Ministry of Health.

4.C. Organizational structure

Our sole wholly-owned subsidiaries are Enlivex Therapeutics R&D Ltd., a company formed under the laws ofthe State of Israel, and Bio Blast Pharma, Inc., a Delaware
corporation.

4.D. Property, plants and equipment

The Company’s corporate headquarters are located at 14 Einstein Street, Nes Ziona, Israel 7403618, where it leases and occupies approximately 420 square meters of
space. The facility includes office space and current good manufacturing practice (“cGMP”) clean rooms, which are designed to enable the manufacturing of clinical batches to
support the planned clinical trials in Israel and EU and commercial products for these regions. The lease for this space expires on August 31, 2023 at which time the Company
may extend the lease for an additional 60 months’ period. In addition, the Company leases and occupies approximately 55 square meters of office and research labs space at the
BioPark Building, Hadassah Ein-Kerem Campus, Jerusalem, Israel. The lease for BioPark space expires on Sep 1, 2021 at which time the Company may extend the lease for an
additional 48 months. The Company also has access to and utilizes, on an as-needed basis, additional research and development facilities and services located at the Hadassah
Medical Center, including, without limitation, testing equipment, cell collection equipment and services and blood bank services. The Company believes that its facilities are
suitable and adequate for its current needs.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
ITEMS. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Overview

The Company is a clinical stage immunotherapy company, developing an allogeneic drug pipeline for immune systemrebalancing. Immune systemrebalancing is
critical for the treatment of life-threatening immune and inflammatory conditions, which involve the Cytokine Release Syndrome and for which there are no FDA-approved
treatments, as well as treating solid tumors by modulating such tumors’ microenvironment. The Company’s innovative immunotherapy candidates, Allocetra™ and Allocetra™
frommatched-donor cells, are novel immunotherapy candidates based on a unique mechanismof action that targets clinical indications that are defined as “unmet medical
needs.” Allocetra™ has been developed to treat acute organ failure associated with sepsis. Allocetra™ from matched-donor cells has been developed to prevent or treat
complications associated with BMT and/or HSCT.




The Merger

For a description of the Merger, please see the “Introduction” appearing before Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 20-F. The Merger was accounted for as an
issuance of shares by the Company for the net assets of Bioblast Pharma Ltd., accompanied by a recapitalization. Accordingly, Enlivex R&D is reflected as the predecessor and
acquirer and therefore the accompanying financial statements reflect the historical financial statements of Enlivex R&D for all periods presented and do not include the
historical financial statements of pre-merger Bioblast. All historical information presented herein has been retroactively restated to reflect the effect of the merger shares
exchange ratio, reverse stock split and change to the authorized number of ordinary shares in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 260, “Earnings Per
Share”.

Financing During First Quarter 2020

On February 26, 2020, we consummated a registered direct offering to certain institutional investors of 1,000,000 ordinary shares, at a purchase price of $8.00 per share,
for aggregate gross proceeds of $8.0 million (the “February 2020 offering”). Additionally, we issued to the placement agent in the February 2020 offering warrants to purchase
up to 70,000 ordinary shares pursuant, which are exercisable at a price of $10.00 per ordinary share at any time during a period of five years fromthe issuance date.

On March 1, 2020, we consummated a second registered direct offering to certain institutional investors of 2,093,750 ordinary shares, together with warrants to
purchase up to 2,093,750 of ordinary shares, at a combined purchase price of $8.00 per share and associated warrant to purchase one ordinary share, for aggregate gross
proceeds of $16.75 million (the “March 2020 offering”). The investor warrants are exercisable at a price of $9.00 per ordinary share at any time during a period of two years from
the issuance date. Additionally, we issued to the placement agent in the March 2020 offering warrants to purchase up to 146,563 ordinary shares, which are exercisable at a
price of $10.00 per ordinary share at any time during a period of two years fromthe issuance date.

Financial Overview

Since inception, we have incurred significant losses in connection with our research and development and have not generated any revenue. We have funded our
operations primarily through grants fromthe Israel Innovation Authority and the sale of equity and equity linked securities in public and private offerings. As of December 31,
2019, we had approximately $12 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits and had an accumulated deficit of approximately $26 million. As described
above, during February and March 2020 we consummated two registered-direct equity offerings for aggregate gross proceeds of $24.75 million.

Although we provide no assurance, we believe that such existing funds and the proceeds of our recently consummated registered direct offerings will be sufficient to
continue our business and operations as currently conducted through the fourth quarter of 2022. We expect that we will continue to incur operating losses, which may be
substantial over the next several years, and we may need to obtain additional funds to further develop our research and development programs.

Revenue

We have not generated any revenue since our inception. To date, we have funded our operations primarily through grants fromthe Israel Innovation Authority and

the sale of equity and equity linked securities in public and private offerings. Our ability to generate revenue and become profitable depends upon the clinical success of our
product candidates, regulatory approvals and our ability to successfully commercialize products.
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Costs and Operating Expenses
Our current costs and operating expenses consist of two components: (i) research and development expenses; and (ii) general and administrative expenses.
Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of research and development activities at our laboratory in Israel, including drug and laboratory supplies
and costs for facilities and equipment, outsourced development expenses, including the costs of regulatory consultants and certain other service providers, salaries and related
personnel expenses (including stock based compensation) and fees paid to external service providers, patent-related legal fees and the costs of preclinical studies and clinical
trials. We charge all research and development expenses to operations as they are incurred. We expect our research and development expenses to remain our primary expenses
in the near future as we continue to develop our product candidates. Increases or decreases in research and development expenditures are attributable to the number and
duration of our preclinical and clinical studies.

We expect that a large percentage of our research and development expenses in the future will be incurred in support of our current and future preclinical and clinical
development projects. Due to the inherently unpredictable nature of preclinical and clinical development processes, we are unable to estimate with any certainty the costs we
will incur in the continued development of our product candidates in our pipeline for potential commercialization. Furthermore, although we expect to obtain additional grants
fromthe Israel Innovation Authority, we cannot be certain that we will do so. Clinical development timelines, the probability of success and development costs can differ
materially fromexpectations. We expect to continue to test our product candidates in preclinical studies for toxicology, safety and efficacy and to conduct additional clinical
trials for our product candidates.

While we are currently focused on advancing our product development, our future research and development expenses will depend on the clinical success of our
product candidates, as well as ongoing assessments of each candidate’s commercial potential. As we obtain results from clinical trials, we may elect to discontinue or delay
clinical trials for our product candidates in certain indications in order to focus our resources on more promising indications for any such product candidate. Completion of
clinical trials may take several years or more, but the length of time generally varies according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use of a product candidate.

We expect our research and development expenses to increase in the future as we continue the advancement of our clinical product development for our current
indications and as we potentially pursue additional indications. The lengthy process of completing clinical trials and seeking regulatory approval for our product candidates
requires the expenditure of substantial resources. Any failure or delay in completing clinical trials, or in obtaining regulatory approvals, could cause a delay in generating
product revenue and cause our research and development expenses to increase and, in turn, have a material adverse effect on our operations.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation (including stock-based compensation) for employees in executive and operational roles,
including accounting, finance, investor relations, information technology and human resources. Our other significant general and administrative expenses include facilities
costs, professional fees for outside accounting and legal services, travel costs and insurance premiums.

We expect our general and administrative expenses, such as accounting and legal fees, to increase having completed the Merger, and we expect increases in the

number of our executive, accounting and administrative personnel due to our anticipated growth.
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Financial Expenses

Our financial expenses consist of bank fees, exchange rate differences and expenses associated with financial derivative Labilities.
Financial Income

Our financial income consists of interest income on deposits, exchange rate differences and income on changes in the fair value of financial derivative liabilities.
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Our functional currency is the NIS, while our presentation currency is the U.S. dollar. Gains or losses resulting fromthe translation from our functional currency to our
presentation currency are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimate

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements and accompanying notes. Management bases its estimates on historical experience, market and
other conditions, and various other assumptions it believes to be reasonable. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and
actions that may impact us in the future, the estimation process is, by its nature, uncertain given that estimates depend on events over which we may not have control. If
market and other conditions change fromthose that we anticipate, our financial statements may be materially affected. In addition, if our assumptions change, we may need to
revise our estimates, or take other corrective actions, either of which may also have a material effect in our financial statements. We review our estimates, judgments, and
assumptions used in our accounting practices periodically and reflect the effects of revisions in the period in which they are deemed to be necessary. We believe that these
estimates are reasonable; however, our actual results may differ fromthese estimates.

While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the notes to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 20-F,
we believe the following accounting policies to be the most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Share-Based Compensation and Fair Value of Ordinary Shares

ASC 718 - “Compensation-stock Compensation”- (“ASC 718”) requires companies to estimate the fair value of equity-based payment awards on the date of grant
using an option pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as an expense over the requisite service periods.

We estimate the fair value of our share-based awards to employees and non-employees using Black-Scholes, which requires the input of assumptions, some of which
are highly subjective, including:

e cxpected volatility of our ordinary shares;
e expected termof'the award;

e risk-free interest rate;

e expected dividends; and

e cstimated fair value of our ordinary shares on the measurement date.
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Until the closing of the Merger, there was no active external or internal market for our ordinary shares during the periods presented in our audited financial statements
contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form20-F. Thus, it was not possible to estimate the expected volatility of our share price in estimating fair value of options
granted. Accordingly, as a substitute for such volatility, we used the historical volatility of comparable companies in the industry. The expected term of options granted
represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding, we use management’s estimates for the expected term of options due to insufficient readily
available historical exercise data.

Compensation expense for options granted to non-employees is determined in accordance with the standard as the fair value of the consideration received or the fair
value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measured. Compensation expense for awards granted to non-employees is re-measured each period.
Determining the appropriate fair value of the stock-based compensation requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the stock-based payment,
stock price volatility and value of the shares upon measurement date.

Valuation of Warrant Liability

Our outstanding warrants issued in September and October 2017 are classified as derivative liabilities as it permits net settlement. The warrants are valued at each
financial reporting period using option pricing models which incorporate the Company’s stock price, volatility, U.S. risk-free rate, dividend rate, and estimated life, with changes
in fair value being recognized as profit of loss.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018

The table below provides our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Year Ended
December 31
2019 2018
(In thousands, except per share data)
Research and development expenses $ 5724 § 4,255
General and administrative expenses 2,895 1,044
Operating loss (8,619) (5,299)
Financial income (expenses), net (765) 1,057
Operating income (loss) post-finance expense & other income, net (9,384) (4,242)
Taxes on income - -
Net income (loss) (9,384) (4,242)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 951 (748)
Total comprehensive income (loss) g (8433) $ (4,990)
Basic income (loss) per share $ (L1 $ (1.4)
Diluted income (loss) per share $ (111 $ (1.4)

Research and Development Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we incurred research and development expenses in the aggregate of $5,724,000 and $4,255,000, respectively. The
increase of $1,469,000, or 34%, in research and development expenses for 2019 as compared to 2018 was primarily due to a $942,000 increase in R&D salaries and a $1,808,000
increase in preclinical and clinical studies and consumption of materials, offset by a $255,000 decrease in stock-based compensation to employees and to consultants, and a
$1,082,000 increase in Israel Innovation Authority grants relating to a 50% participation of an approved clinical development program of the Company for the prevention of
cytokine stormand organ dysfunction associated with sepsis.
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General and Administrative Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we incurred general and administrative expenses in the aggregate of $2,895,000 and $1,044,000, respectively. The
increase of $1,851,000, or 177%, in general and administrative expenses for 2019 as compared to 2018 was primarily due to a $382,000 increase in withholding tax provision on
preferred share dividends (all such preferred shares were converted to ordinary shares in connection with the Merger), a $226,000 increase in salaries, a $344,000 increase in
compensation to directors, a $517,000 increase in professional fees, a $232,000 increase in insurance expenses and a $56,000 increase in stock-based compensation to
employees and directors.

Operating Loss

As aresult of the foregoing research and development and general and administrative expenses, as well as our failure to have generated revenues since our inception,
for year ended December 31, 2019, our operating loss was $8,619,000, representing an increase of $3,320,000, or 63%, as compared to our operating loss for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

Financial (Expenses) Income, Net

Financial expenses, net and income, net consist of the following:

e interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents;

e net change in fair value of warrants; and

e expenses or income resulting from fluctuations of the New Israeli Shekel and Euro, in which a portion of our assets and liabilities are denominated, against the
United States Dollar.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we recorded net financial (expenses) income of $(765,000) and $1,057,000, respectively. The increase in financial
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 was primarily due to currency fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents and
deposits denominated in currencies other than the New Israeli Shekels, changes in the fair value of the warrants we granted to HBL (See Item 7.B. — “Related party
transactions” — “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” — “Agreement with HBL — Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd.”) and frominterest earned on our cash and cash
equivalents.

Net Loss

As aresult of the foregoing research and development and general and administrative expenses, as well as our failure to have generated revenues since our inception,
for the year ended December 31, 2019, our net loss was $9,384,000, representing an increase of $5,142,000 as compared to our net loss for the comparable prior year period.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
As aresult ofa decrease of 7.8% in the U.S. dollar against the NIS in twelve months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to an increase of 8.1% in the comparable

prior year period, we recorded income of $951,000 from exchange rate differences arising fromtranslating financial statements from functional to presentation currency, as
compared to losses of $748,000 for the comparable prior year period.
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Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2017

The table below provides our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2017.

Year ended
December 31,
2018 2017

(In thousands, except per share data)
Research and development expenses $ 4255 § 1,691
General and administrative expenses 1,044 480
Operating loss (5,299) 2,171)
Financial income (expenses), net 1,057 (333)
Operating income (loss) post-finance expense & other income, net (4,242) (2,504)
Taxes on income - -
Net income (loss) (4,242) (2,504)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (748) 336
Total comprehensive income (loss) g (4,990 $ (2,168)
Basic loss per share $ (14) $ (0.94)
Diluted loss per share $ a4 $ (0.94)

Research and Development Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we incurred research and development expenses in the aggregate of $4,255,000 and $1,691,000, respectively. The
increase of $2,564,000, or 152%, in research and development expenses for 2018 as compared to 2017 was primarily due to a $724,000 increase in R&D salaries, a $739,000
increase in stock-based compensation to employees and to consultants, and a $744,000 increase in preclinical studies and consumption of materials.

General and Administrative Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we incurred general and administrative expenses in the aggregate of $1,044,000 and $480,000, respectively. The
increase of $564,000, or 118%, in general and administrative expenses for 2018 as compared to 2017 was primarily due to a $160,000 increase in salaries, $138,000 increase in
professional fees and a $149,000 increase in stock-based compensation to employees and directors.

Operating Loss

As aresult of the foregoing research and development and general and administrative expenses as well as our failure to generate revenues since our inception, for
year ended December 31, 2018, our operating loss was $5,299,000, representing an increase of $3,128,000, or 144%, as compared to our operating loss for the year ended
December 31, 2017. This increase primarily resulted froman increase in research and development salaries and stock-based compensation, the costs of preclinical studies and
material consumption and an increase in accounting and legal expenses.

Financial Expenses, Net

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we recorded net financial (expenses) income of $1,057,000 and $(333,000), respectively. The increase in financial

income for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily due to currency fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents and
deposits denominated in currencies other than the New Israeli Shekels, changes in the fair value of our warrants and frominterest earned on our cash and cash equivalents.
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Net Income (Loss)

As aresult of the foregoing research and development and general and administrative expenses, as well as our failure to have generated revenues since our inception,
for the year ended December 31, 2018, our net loss was $4,242,000, representing an increase of $1,738,000 as compared to our net loss for the comparable prior year period. The
increase was primarily a result of increase in research and development activities.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

As aresult of an increase of 8% in the U.S. dollar against the NIS in twelve months ended December 31, 2018, as compared to a decrease of 10% in the comparable
prior year period, we recorded losses of $748,000 from exchange rate differences arising fromtranslating financial statements from functional to presentation currency, as
compared to income of $336,000 for the comparable prior year period.

Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, net cash used in operations was $7,041,000 and $3,161,000, respectively. The increase in net cash used in operations
for 2019, as compared to the comparable prior year period, was primarily due to an increase in research and development expenses as a result of increases in salaries, preclinical
study expenses, consultants’ fees, as well as the commencement of clinical trials in 2019.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, net cash used in investing activities was $6,359,000 and $501,000, respectively. The increase in net cash used in
investing activities for 2019 as compared to 2018 resulted primarily from our investment in short-term bank deposits and fromthe purchase of property and equipment for our
new GMP manufacturing facility in Israel offset by cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash received in the issuance of shares for the net assets of Bioblast Pharma Ltd..

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, net cash provided by financing activities was $8,306,000 and $5,194,000 respectively. This increase in cash provided
by financing activities for 2019 as compared to 2018 resulted primarily fromnet proceeds of $7,707,000 fromthe issuance of ordinary shares in the private placement that closed
concurrently with the closing of the Merger, as well as $599,000 of proceeds fromthe exercise of options.

Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2017

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 net cash used in operations was $3,161,000 and $2,304,000, respectively. The increase in net cash used in operations
for 2018 as compared to the comparable prior year period was primarily due to an increase in research and development expenses as a result of increases in salaries, preclinical
study expenses, consultants’ fees, as well as preparation for commencement of clinical trials in 2019.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, net cash used in investing activities was $501,000 and $130,000, respectively. The increase in net cash used in
investing activities for 2018 as compared to 2017 resulted primarily from purchase of property and equipment for the new GMP manufacturing facility.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, net cash provided by financing activities was $5,194,000 and $8,055,000 respectively. This decrease in cash provided
by financing activities for 2018 as compared to 2017 resulted primarily froma capital raising transaction of Series C Preferred Shares in the net amount of $5,194,000 in 2018 as
compared to a capital raising transaction of Series B Preferred Shares in the net amount of $8,055,000 in 2017. There are no preferred shares outstanding as of the date of this
Annual Report on Form 20-F.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred substantial losses since our inception. As of December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $25.6 million and working capital
(current assets less current liabilities ) of approximately $10.4 million. We expect to incur losses fromoperations for the foreseeable future, and we expect to incur increasing
research and development expenses, including expenses related to the hiring of personnel, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials and outsourcing of certain
development activities. We expect that general and administrative expenses will also increase as we expand our finance and administrative staff and add infrastructure.

Developing product candidates, conducting clinical trials and commercializing products are expensive, and we will need to raise substantial additional funds to
achieve our strategic objectives. We believe that our existing cash resources, due to the consummation of two registered direct equity offerings during the first quarter of 2020,
will be sufficient to fund our projected cash requirements approximately through the fourth quarter of 2022. Nevertheless, we will require significant additional financing in the
future to fund our operations, including if and when we progress into additional clinical trials, obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates and commercialize
the same. We believe that we will need to raise significant additional funds before we have any cash flow from operations, if at all. Our future capital requirements will depend
on many factors, including:

e the progress and costs of our preclinical studies, clinical trials and other research and development activities;

e the scope, prioritization and number of our clinical trials and other research and development programs;

e the amount of revenues and contributions we receive under future licensing, development and commercialization arrangements with respect to our product
candidates;

e the costs of the development and expansion of our operational infrastructure;

e the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory approval for our product candidates;

e the costs of filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

e the costs and timing of securing manufacturing arrangements for clinical or commercial production;

e the costs of contracting with third parties to provide sales and marketing capabilities for us;

e the costs of acquiring or undertaking development and commercialization efforts for any future products, product candidates or platforms;

e Receipt of additional government grants;

e the magnitude of our general and administrative expenses; and

e any cost that we may incur under future in- and out-licensing arrangements relating to our product candidates.

We currently do not have any commitments for future external funding. In the future, we will need to raise additional funds, and we may decide to raise additional
funds even before we need such funds ifthe conditions for raising capital are favorable. Until we can generate significant recurring revenues, we expect to satisfy our future
cash needs through debt or equity financings, credit facilities or by out-licensing applications of our product candidates. The sale of equity or convertible debt securities may
result in dilution to our existing shareholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations and could also subject us to covenants that restrict
our operations. We cannot be certain that additional funding, whether through grants fromthe Israel Innovation Authority, financings, credit facilities or out-licensing
arrangements, will be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. If sufficient funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate research or

development plans for, or commercialization efforts with respect to, one or more applications of our product candidates, or obtain funds through arrangements with
collaborators or others that may require us to relinquish rights to certain potential products that we might otherwise seek to develop or commercialize independently.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations at December 31, 2019.

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1 -3 years 3 -5 years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Operating Lease Obligations $ 525 172 353 - -
Purchase Obligations $ 575 575
Other Long-Term Contingent Liabilities 5,197 - - - 5,197
Total $ 6,297 747- 353- - 5,197-

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have had, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates, including interest rates and foreign exchange rates, of financial instruments. Our market
risk exposure is primarily a result of foreign currency exchange rates. As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, $12,131,896 and $9,374,000, respectively, of our net
assets (i.c., total assets net of total liabilities ) were denominated and presented in U.S. dollars while our functional currency is the NIS. Changes of 5% in the U.S. dollar against
the NIS exchange rate will increase/decrease our expenses by $606,595 and $469,000, respectively.

Interest Rate Risk

We are currently not exposed to significant interest rate risk. Our only interest-bearing financial assets are principally of cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash, which are invested in major banks in Israel. Given the short-termnature of these investments, we do not believe our sensitivity with respect to interest rate fluctuations is
significant. Therefore, the effect of an increase or decrease in interest rates would only have an immaterial effect on our financial results.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our foreign currency exposures give rise to market risk associated with exchange rate movements of the NIS mainly against the U.S. dollar, and vice versa, because
most of our expenses are denominated in NIS and the U.S. dollar. Our NIS and U.S. dollar expenses consist principally of payments made to employees, sub-contractors and
consultants for preclinical studies, clinical trials and other research and development activities. We anticipate that a sizable portion of our expenses will continue to be
denominated in the NIS and U.S. dollar. Our financial position, results of operations and cash flow are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates. Our results of operations and cash flow are, therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and may be adversely affected in the
future due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
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To date, we have not engaged in hedging our foreign currency exchange risk. In the future, we may enter into formal currency hedging transactions to decrease the
risk of financial exposure from fluctuations in the exchange rates of our principal operating currencies. These measures, however, may not adequately protect us fromthe
material adverse effects of such fluctuations.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

6.A. Directors and executive officers

The following table lists the names and positions of the current executive officers and directors of the Company. The business address for each of our directors,
senior management and executive officers is ¢/o Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd., 14 Einstein Street, Nes Ziona, Israel 7403618.

Name Age Position
Shai Novik, MBA 54 Chairman of the Board

Oren Hershkovits Ph.D 43 Chief Executive Officer

Prof. Dror Mevorach, M.D. 64 Chief Scientific & Medical Officer
Shachar Shlosberger, CPA 43 Chief Financial Officer

Abraham Havron, Ph.D. 72 Director

Gili Hart, Ph.D. 45 Director

Baruch Halpert 53 Director

Michel Habib 53 Director

Sangwoo Lee 48 Director

Hyun Gyu Lee, M.D, Ph.D 43 Director

Bemnhard Kirschbaum, Ph.D 61 Director

Backgrounds of Current Executive Officers and Directors

Shai Novik is the Company’s Executive Chairman of the Board and has been such since 2014. Mr. Novik founded PROLOR Biotech, Inc. in 2005, and served as its President
until 2014. PROLOR Biotech was listed on the NYSE MKT (N/K/A NYSE American) in 2010 and was sold in 2013, the second largest biotech exit ($560 million) in the history of
Israeli biotech. Mr. Novik has also served as the Chairman of Innovsion Labs Inc., a neuroscience technology company, since 2007. Mr. Novik previously served as Chief
Operating Officer and Head of Strategic Planning of THCG, Inc., a technology and life sciences investment company. THCGwas a portfolio company of Greenwich Street
Partners, one of the largest U.S. private equity funds. THCG'’s portfolio included several life sciences and medical devices companies. Mr. Novik received his M.B.A., with
distinction, from Comell University.

Oren Hershkovitz Ph.D, has been the Company’s Chief Executive Officer since November 2019. Prior to that, Dr. Hershkovitz served for nearly a decade in managerial and
executive roles at PROLOR Biotech, Inc. and OPKO Biologics, Ltd., acting as General Manager for more than 4.5 years. Dr. Hershkovitz successfully managed more than 70
employees and led manufacturing, non-clinical and clinical development for various Phase I, Il and III programs, including for obesity, hemophilia and growth hormone
deficiency. Dr. Hershkovitz eamned his Ph.D. in immunology fromthe BGU of the Negev with distinction.

Prof. Dror Mevorach, M.D., the Company’s founder, has been the Company’s Chief Scientific & Medical Officer since 2009. Prof. Mevorach is a leading scientist on the
removal of apoptotic cells and the Co-Chair of the 2015 Apoptotic Cell Recognition and Clearance Gordon Research Conference at the University of New England in Maine.
Prof. Mevorach is currently the Director of the Rheumatology Research Centre of Hadassah Hospital and a Senior Lecturer in Medicine at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem,
Hadassah School of Medicine. Since 2009, Prof. Mevorach has managed the internal medicine department at Hadassah Hospital in Jerusalem. Prof. Mevorach published more
than 112 scientific papers, and lectures frequently at international conferences. Prof. Mevorach earned his M.D. from The Technion — Israel Institute of Technology in Haifa,
Israel.
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Shachar Shlosberger, CPA., has served as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 2016, bringing with her more than 11 years of financial experience in the hi-tech and
biotechnology industries. Prior to her position at the Company, Mrs. Shlosberger worked for 4 years at PROLOR Biotech Ltd (NYSE-American: PBTH) as Finance Director
where she was responsible for the overall financial operations in Israel and the US. Mrs. Shlosberger is a Certified Public Accountant and holds a M.B.A. in Accounting and
Business Administration fromthe College of Management in Israel.

Bernhard Kirschbaum, Ph.D., has been a Director of the Company since 2018. Dr. Kirschbaumserved as Executive Vice President and a member of the board of directors at
Merck Serono, and Head of Global Research & Early Development reporting to the Chief Executive Officer of Merck Serono from2011 to 2013. He led a global team of more than
1,200 employees, with a 400 million Euro annual budget. Since then, he has served as a member of the board of directors of several biotechnology companies, including Redx
Pharma Plc, Protagen Diagnostics, Omeicos Therapeutics GmbH, BioMedx, KAHR Medical, Ltd. and FutuRx Dr. Kirschbaum has significant expertise in a broad range of
disease areas, including rheumatology/immunology, thrombosis, cardiometabolic diseases, oncology and neurology. He has successfully participated in the profiling of several
drugs in their course to the market or during market expansion, including Arava, Velcade, Lovenox, Erbituxand Avelumab. Dr. Kirschbaum led drug portfolio re-allocation with
focus on the therapeutic areas: oncology, neurodegenerative diseases (MS, Alzheimers, Parkinsons), autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Dr. Kirschbaumhas also been
involved in research activities with respect to fertility, mainly focusing on embryo technologies. He implemented the new Merck Serono research organization, including an
exploratory medicine department and all non-clinical development functions (toxicology, general & safety pharmacology, Chemistry, Manufacturing and Control (CMC)
development and Drug Metabolismand Pharmacokinetics (DMPK)). Previously, Dr. Kirschbaumwas Vice President Discovery Research, Global Head of Thrombosis and
Angiogenesis at Sanofi-Aventis; and Vice President, Drug Innovation and Approval at Sanofi-Aventis. Dr. Kirschbaum earned his Ph.D. in biochemistry, summa cum laude,
fromthe University of Konstanz, Germany, was a postdoctoral fellow with Dr. R.G. Roeder, at the Rockefeller University in New York, and a Research Associate with Dr. M.
Buckinghamat Institut Pasteur in Paris.

Abraham (Avri) Havron, Ph.D., has been a Director of the Company since 2014. Dr. Havron served as the Chief Executive Officer of PROLOR Biotech, Inc. from 2005 through
2013. Dr. Havron is a 35-year veteran of the biotechnology industry and was a member of the founding teamand Director of Research and Development of Interpharm
Laboratories (then, a subsidiary of Serono, later acquired by Merck) from 1980 to 1987, and headed the development of the multiple sclerosis drug REBIF, with current sales of
more than $1.5 billion annually. Dr. Havron served as Vice-President Manufacturing and Process-Development of BioTechnology General Ltd., from 1987 to 1999; and Vice
President and Chief Technology Officer of Clal Biotechnology Industries Ltd. from 1999 to 2003. Dr. Havron’s managerial responsibilities included the co-development of
several therapeutic proteins and other bio-pharmaceuticals currently in the market, including recombinant human growth hormone (BioTropin), recombinant Hepatitis B
Vaccine (Bio-Hep-B), recombinant Beta Interferon (REBIF), recombinant human insulin and hyaluronic acid for ophthalmic and orthopedic applications. Dr. Havron eamed his
Ph.D. in Bio-Organic Chemistry fromthe Weizmann Institute of Science, and served as a Research Fellow in the Harvard Medical School, Department of Radiology. Dr. Havron
served as a director of Kamada Ltd. (KMDA) from 2010 to 2018. Dr. Havron also currently serves on the board of directors of Collplant Holdings Ltd. (CLGN), which position
he has held since 2016, and PamBio, a private biotech company.

Gili Hart, Ph.D., has been a Director of the Company since 2014. Dr. Hart previously held various positions at OPKO Biologics (fk.a. PROLOR Biotech) and led the pre-clinical,
clinical and pharmacological activities there from 2008 until her move in 2018 to Mitoconix Bio Ltd., a biopharmaceutical company developing disease modifying therapies
addressing unmet medical needs by improving mitochondrial health, where she currently serves as Chief Executive Officer. Dr. Hart was a research fellow in the Immunology
Department of Yale University from 2005 to 2007 and a research fellow at the Immunology Department of the Weizmann Institute of Science in Israel. Dr. Hart currently serves
as a member of the board of directors of Collplant Holdings Ltd. (CLGN), which position she has held since 2017. Dr. Hart received her Ph.D. with distinction fromthe
Immunology Department of the Weizmann Institute of Science in Immunology, and a M.S. degree in Biotechnology Engineering, summa cum laude, fromthe Technion Institute
in Israel. Dr. Hart has published numerous papers and patents, in each case focusing on autoimmunity disease and immune systemactivation.
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Sangwoo Lee has been a Director of the Company since 2017. Mr. Lee has served as an Executive Director of the Investment Department at Korea Investment Partners Co. Ltd.,
the largest capital venture fund in Korea, since 2014 and head of'its U.S. branch since 2017. Korea Investment Partners Co. Ltd. is an affiliate of KIP Global Pharma Private
Equity Fund, one of the Company’s major shareholders. He is responsible for sourcing and evaluation of start-up companies, investment and participation in business
development and growth expansion of the fund’s investments in the United States and Europe. Previously, from 2013 to 2014, Mr. Lee was General Manager of the MSC
Department at Samsung Electronics, responsible for strategic and business planning; and from 2004 to 2013, Vice President, CTO & Foreign Marketing Group Leader at
Polidigm Co. Ltd. Mr. Lee received his B.Sc. and M.Sc. from Seoul National University, Department of Control and Instrumentation.

Hyun Gyu Lee M.D, Ph.D has been a Director of the Company since 2017. Mr. Lee has served as an Executive Director, Investment Division, of Korea Investment Partners Co.
Ltd., the largest venture capital fund in Korea, since 2016. Korea Investment Partners Co. Ltd. is an affiliate of KIP Global Pharma Private Equity Fund, one of the Company’s
major shareholders. He was from 2011 to 2016 Research Assistant Professor with the Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Institute for Immunology and
Immunological Diseases, Yonsei University, College of Medicine in Seoul, Korea. He received his Ph.D. in Immuno-Pathology fromthe Seoul National University, College of
Medicine in Seoul, Korea, and his M.D. from Seoul National University, College of Medicine in Seoul, Korea.

Baruch Halpert has been a Director of the Company since 2017. With more than 20 years of experience in venture capital and private equity as an entrepreneur, corporate
finance advisor, senior executive and an investor, Mr. Halpert has developed a large network of contacts across the globe. Since 2010, Mr. Halpert has been involved in turn-
arounds through active management of and private equity investments in high yield opportunities. In this capacity, Mr. Halpert is active in investing in companies with annual
revenues of at least $100 million in special situations and took part in the successful turnarounds of, among others, Hemaclear (www.hemaclear.com), Apnano
(www.nisusacorp.com) and HBL (www.hbl.co.il). Mr. Halpert currently serves as Executive Chairman of Terragenic International Limited, which position he has held since 2018.
Farly in his career, Mr. Halpert was active in oil and gas exploration in Israel. In that capacity he obtained, developed and sold the rights to an Israeli oil and gas exploration
license, the Megiddo Prospect, to Ultra Petroleum Corp. (Nasdaq: UPL). In 1997, Mr. Halpert founded E*TRADE Israel (www.etrade.com). A fter obtaining a license from
E*TRADE, Mr. Halpert put together a core management teamand headed several successful rounds of financing. Following E¥*TRADE, Mr. Halpert was Head of Corporate
Finance at Fantine Capital. Mr. Halpert holds an LLB Degree (Hons.) from Reading University, United Kingdom.

Michel Habib has been a Director of the Company since 2017. Mr. Habib is the Chief Executive Officer of Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd., which position he has held since 2018.
Hadasit Bio-Holdings currently beneficially owns 18.23% of the outstanding shares of the Company. Mr. Habib was the co-founder and managed Agate Medical Investments
and Agate MaC VC funds from 2007-2016 with over $100 million under management. His portfolio companies have attracted investments fromleading global and Chinese
companies, including Boston Scientific, Johnson & Johnson, Medtronic, Haisco, Longtech, and Xio. Currently, Mr. Habib serves on the board of several investment
companies and startups, including Xenia Ventures, Kahr Medical (Chairman), Cellcure, Bioprotect and Omim Medical. Prior to that he managed Matar Capital Advisors, a
venture boutique. Mr. Habib served for nearly four years as Business Development Director of Elron (TASE: ELRN), focusing on the medical devices sector. Prior to Elron, he
established and managed the investment banking activity of ING Barings in Israel. Formerly, he served as Vice President Investment Banking at Cukierman & Co. where he led
private placements and IPOs in Europe. During the 1990s, Mr. Habib served as a diplomat in Israel’s foreign service, where he served as Economic Consul in Boston, and earlier
as the first Commercial Attaché to Seoul, South Korea. As Navy Officer (Captain Res.) in the Israel Defense Forces, he was involved in the development of advanced Naval
warfare systems for the Navy’s elite unit. Mr. Habib holds an Aeronautical Engineering degree fromthe Technion-Israel Institute of Technology, and is a graduate from
Harvard Law School Executive Program On Negotiation. He is a graduate fromthe foreign service cadet school, and member of the Technion Alumni “100 Club.” Mr. Habib was
bom in Paris, France, and immigrated to Israel in 1973.
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There are no arrangements or understandings with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others pursuant to which any of our directors or members of senior

management were selected as such. In addition, there are no family relationships among our executive officers and directors.

6.B. Compensation

The table below reflects the compensation granted to our five most highly compensated directors and officers for the year ended December 31, 2019. All amounts
reported in the table reflect the cost to the Company, in U.S. Dollars, as recognized in our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. Amounts paid in NIS are
translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of NIS 3.5645 =U.S. $1.00, based on the average representative rate of exchange between the NIS and the U.S. dollar as reported by the

Bank of Israel for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Share-Based
Name and Position Salary/Fees @ Compensation @ Bonus/Severance Total
Shai Novik, Chairman $ 286,000 $ 8000 $ 242,000 $ 536,000
Shmulik Hess, Former CEO $ 307,000 $ 217,000 $ $ 524,000
Oren Hershkovits CEO $ 38,000 $ 22,000 $ $ 60,000
Prof. Dror Mevorach, CSO $ 180,000 $ 365,000 $ $ 545,000
Shlosberger Shachar, CFO $ 126,000 $ 6,000 $ $ 132,000

(1) Represents (i) salaries and employer’s costs and fees for executives and (i) compensation for Board service with respect to the Chairman.

(2) Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of option awards granted or modified during the year ended December 31, 2019, in accordance with ASC 718. Such grant date fair
value does not take into account any estimated forfeitures related to service-vesting conditions. These amounts do not correspond to the actual value that may be
recognized by the respective executive officers upon vesting of applicable awards.

The aggregate amount of compensation paid or accrued to all of our directors and executive officers as a group with respect to the year ended December 31, 2019 was
approximately $1,888,920. Such amount is inclusive of the grant date fair value of option awards granted or modified during the year ended December 31, 2019 in the amount of

$709,000. The amount does not include business travel, relocation, professional and business association due and expenses.

Employment Agreements with Executive Officers

We have entered into a written employment agreement with our Chief Executive Officer and a written consulting agreement with our Chief Scientific Officer. These
agreements, as well as other agreements with our other officers, employees and consultants, contain provisions standard for a company in our industry and customary for the
respective positions regarding non-competition, confidentiality of information and assignment of inventions. However, under current applicable employment laws, we may not
be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors frombenefiting fromthe expertise of some of our former employees.
Please see “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business, Industry and Regulatory Requirements” for a further description of the enforceability of non-competition clauses.

See “Related Party Transactions™ below for additional information.
Directors’ Service Contracts

We have executed a services agreement with our Chairman.
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6.C. Board practices
Board of Directors

According to the Companies Law, the management of our business is vested in our Board. Our Board may exercise all powers and may take all actions that are not
specifically granted to our shareholders. Our executive officers are responsible for our day-to-day management and have individual responsibilities established by our Board.
Executive officers are appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, our Board, subject to any applicable employment agreements we have entered into with the executive
officers.

Under our Amended and Restated Articles of Association, the Board must consist of at least five and not more than eleven directors. The Board of the Company is
currently composed of eight members, and includes Mr. Shai Novik, Dr. Bernhard Kirschbaum, Dr. Abraham (Avri) Havron, Dr. Gili Hart, Mr. Sangwoo Lee, Mr. Hyun Gyu Lee,
Mr. Baruch Halpert and Mr. Michel Habib. These directors were nominated immediately after the closing of the Merger and will serve until the next annual general meeting of
shareholders (a “General Meeting”) of the Company or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified. Each of our directors shall be elected at an Annual
Meeting and shall serve in their office until the next annual General Meeting, or until they cease to serve in their office in accordance with the provisions of our Amended and
Restated Articles of Association or any law, whichever is the earlier.

Under the Israeli Companies Law 5759-1999 (the “Companies Law”), the Board must determine the minimum number of directors who are required to have accounting
and financial expertise. Under applicable regulations, a director with accounting and financial expertise is a director who, by reason ofhis or her education, professional
experience and skill, has a high level of proficiency in and understanding of business accounting matters and financial statements, sufficient to be able to thoroughly
comprehend the financial statements of the company and initiate debate regarding the manner in which financial information is presented. In determining the number of
directors required to have such expertise, the Board must consider, among other things, the type and size of the company and the scope and complexity of'its operations. The
existing Board of the Company has determined that the Company requires one director with such expertise, and that Mr. Shai Novik has such accounting and financial
expertise.

External Directors

Under the Companies Law, except as provided below (“Exempted Companies”), companies incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel that are publicly traded,
including Israeli companies with shares listed on the Nasdaq such as the Company, are required to appoint at least two external directors, who meet the qualifications
requirements set forth in the Companies Law.

Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Regulations (Relief for Companies Whose Shares are Registered for Trading Outside of Israel), 2000 (the “Relief Regulations™), a
company will be an Exempted Company, if: (i) the company’s shares are listed on a foreign securities exchange which is referenced in Section 5A(c) of the Regulations, which
includes, among others, the NASDAQ Capital Market; (ii) the company does not have a controlling shareholder (as such termis defined in the Companies Law); (iii) a majority
of'the directors serving on the board of directors are “independent,” as defined under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5605(a)(2); and (iv) the company complies with the Nasdaq Listing
Rules as to the required composition of the audit and compensation committees of the Board (which require that such committees consist solely of independent directors (at
least three and two members, respectively)), as described under the Nasdaq Listing Rules. Under the Relief Regulations, the board of directors of a company, such as Enlivex, is
not required to have external directors, if it is an Exempted Company. An external director who was elected to serve as such prior to the date on which the company opted to
comply with the applicable foreign exchange rules governing the appointment of independent directors and the composition of the audit and compensation committees as set
forth above may continue to serve out his/her termas a non-external director on the company’s board of directors until the earlier of (i) the end of his/her three year term, or (ii)
the second annual General Meeting following the company’s decision to comply with the said applicable foreign exchange rules, without any further action on the part of the
Company or its shareholders. Such director may be elected to the board of directors by the Company’s shareholders, but he/she would now be elected as a regular director (not
an external director) and his/her election would be no different than the election of any other director. The Company meets all of these requirements and does not have external
directors following the board’s determination to follow the exemption provided under the Relief Regulations, such that following the board’s determination, the Company
would comply with the Nasdaq Listing Rules governing the appointment of independent directors and the composition of the audit committee and compensation committee
applicable to domestic U.S. issuers, provided that the Company continues to meet the requisite requirements for said relief and unless the Company’s board of directors
determines otherwise.
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Leadership Structure of the Board

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Amended and Restated Articles of Association, the Board is required to appoint one of its members to serve as
Chairman of the Board. The Board has appointed Mr. Shai Novik to serve as Chairman of the Board.

Role of Boardin Risk Oversight Process

Risk assessment and oversight are an integral part of our governance and management processes. Our Board of Directors encourages management to promote a
culture that incorporates risk management into our corporate strategy and day-to-day business operations. Management discusses strategic and operational risks at regular
management meetings, and conducts specific strategic planning and review sessions during the year that include a focused discussion and analysis of the risks facing us.
Throughout the year, senior management reviews these risks with the Board of Directors at regular board meetings, including a description of steps taken by management to
mitigate or eliminate such risks.

Board Committees
Audit Committee

Under the Nasdaq Listing Rules, the Company is required to maintain an audit committee consisting of at least three independent directors, all of whom are financially
literate and one of whomhas accounting or related financial management expertise.

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee™) consists of three members, all of whom are independent under the listing standards of the Nasdaq
Listing Rules. The members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Shai Novik, Dr. Avri Havron, and Dr. Gili Hart. The Board of the Company has determined that Mr. Novik is an audit
committee financial expert as defined by the SEC rules and has the requisite financial sophistication as defined by the Nasdaq Listing Rules. All of the members of the Audit
Committee meet the requirements for financial literacy under the applicable Nasdaq Listing Rules.

Each member of the Audit Committee is required to be “independent” as such termis defined in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.

In addition, the Companies Law requires public companies to appoint an audit committee. The responsibilities of the audit committee as set forth in the Companies
Law include identifying irregularities in the management of our business and approving related party transactions as required by law, classifying company transactions as
extraordinary transactions or non-extraordinary transactions and as material or non-material transactions in which an office holder has an interest (which will have the effect of
determining the kind of corporate approvals required for such transaction), assessing the proper function of the company’s internal audit regime and determining whether its
internal auditor has the requisite tools and resources required to performhis or her role and to regulate the company’s rules on employee complaints, reviewing the scope of
work of the company’s independent accountants and their fees, and implementing a whistleblower protection plan with respect to employee complaints of business
irregularities. In addition, the responsibilities of the audit committee under the Companies Law also include the following matters: (i) to establish procedures to be followed in
respect of related party transactions with a “controlling shareholder” (where such are not extraordinary transactions), which may include, where applicable, the establishment
of'a competitive process for such transaction, under the supervision of the audit committee, or individual, or other committee or body selected by the audit committee, in
accordance with criteria determined by the audit committee; and (ii) to determine procedures for approving certain related party transactions with a “controlling shareholder”,
which were determined by the audit committee not to be extraordinary transactions, but which were also determined by the audit committee not to be negligible transactions.
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Under the Companies Law, an audit committee must consist of at least three directors, including all the external directors of the company, and a majority of the
members of the audit committee must be independent or external directors. The Companies Law defines independent directors as either external directors or directors who: (1)
meet the requirements of an external director, other than the requirement to possess accounting and financial expertise or “professional qualifications”, with Audit Committee
confirmation of such; (2) have been directors in the company for an uninterrupted duration of less than 9 years (and any interim period during which such person was not a
director which is less than 2 years shall not be deemed to interrupt the duration); and, (3) were classified as such by the company.

The following persons may not be a member of the audit committee:
o The chairman of the board of directors;

e  Any director employed by or otherwise providing services to the company or to the “controlling shareholder” or entity under such controlling shareholder’s
control;

® Any director who derives his salary primarily froma controlling shareholder;
e A “controlling shareholder”; or
e Any relative of a “controlling shareholder”.

According to the Companies Law, (1) the chairman of the audit committee must be an external director (unless it is an Exempted Company), (2) the required quorum for
audit committee meetings and decisions is a majority of the committee members, of which the majority of members present must be independent directors, and (3) any person
who is not eligible to serve on the audit committee is further restricted from participating in its meetings and votes, unless the chairman of the audit committee determines that
such person’s presence is necessary in order to present a certain matter, provided however, that company employees who are not controlling shareholders or relatives of such
shareholders may be present in the meetings but not for the actual votes, and likewise, company counsel and company secretary who are not controlling shareholders or
relatives of such shareholders may be present in the meetings and for the decisions if such presence is requested by the audit committee.

As stated above, pursuant to an exemption available in the Relief Regulations which we follow, companies whose shares are listed for trading on specified exchanges
outside of Israel, including the NASDAQ Capital Market, and which satisfy the criteria detailed above, are exempt fromthe following rules regarding the composition of the
audit committee under the Companies Law: (i) the committee shall be comprised of at least 3 members, who shall include all of the external directors, and the majority of the
members shall be independent; (i) the audit committee may not include the chairman of the board, or any director employed by the Company, by a controlling shareholder or
by any entity controlled by a controlling shareholder, or any director providing services to us, to a controlling shareholder or to any entity controlled by a controlling
shareholder on a regular basis, or any director whose income is primarily dependent on a controlling shareholder, and may not include a controlling shareholder or any relatives
ofa controlling shareholder; (iii) the controlling shareholder or his relatives shall not be members of the audit committee; (iv) the chairman of the audit committee shall be an
external director; (v) a person who is prohibited frombeing a member of the audit committee shall not be present at the committee’s meetings; (vi) if the committee also serves
as a financials committee, the rules applicable to the financials committee shall apply; (vii) the legal quorumshall be the majority of the committee members, provided that the
majority of directors present are independent, at least one of whom s an external director.
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Compensation Committee

Under the Nasdaq Listing Rules, the Company is required to maintain a compensation committee consisting entirely of independent directors (or the determination of
such compensation solely by the independent members of the board of directors of the company).

Under the Companies Law, the board of directors of Israeli publicly traded companies are required to appoint a compensation committee comprised of at least three
members, including all external directors, who must also comprise a majority of the members of the compensation committee. In addition, the chairman of the compensation
committee must be an external director. Following the compensation committee’s recommendations, the board of directors is required to establish a compensation policy, which
includes a framework for establishing the terms of office and employment of the office holders and guidelines with respect to the structure of the variable pay of office holders.
Such guidelines are the basis for adequate balance between the components of compensation, which exists when a linkage is maintained between compensation and
performance and the creation of value for shareholders in the Company, while maintaining the Company’s ability to recruit and maintain talented officeholders and incentivizing
themto pursue the Company’s objectives. In particular, an appropriate balance between the fixed component (base salary and additional benefits) and the variable component
and capital compensation avoids placing an exaggerated emphasis on one component.

Any person who is not eligible to serve on the compensation committee is further restricted from participating in its meetings and votes, unless the chairman of the
compensation committee determines that such person’s presence is necessary in order to present a certain matter, provided however, that employees who are not controlling
shareholders, or relatives of such shareholders, may be present at such meetings, but not for the actual votes. Likewise, company counsel and the secretary if not controlling
shareholders, or relatives of such shareholders, may be present at the compensation committee meetings and for the decisions if such presence is requested by the
compensation committee.

Under the Companies Law company’s compensation policy shall be determined based on, and take into account, the following parameters:

a. Advancement of the goals of the company, its working plan and its long termpolicy;

b. The creation of proper incentives for the office holders while taking into consideration, inter alia, the company’s risk management policies;

c. The company’s size and nature of its operations;

d. The contributions of the relevant office holders in achieving the goals of the company and profit in the long termin light of their positions;

e. The education, skills, expertise and achievements of the relevant office holders;

f. The role of the office holders, areas of their responsibilities and previous agreements with them;

g. The correlation of the proposed compensation with the compensation of other employees of the company, and the effect of such differences in

compensation on the employment relations in the company; and
h. The long term performance of the office holder.

In addition, the compensation policy should take into account that in the event the compensation paid to office holders shall include variable components — it should
address the ability of the board of directors to reduce the value of the variable component fromtime to time or to set a cap on the exercise value of convertible securities
components that are not paid out in cash. Additionally, in the event that the terms of office and employment include grants or payments made upon termination — such grants
should take into consideration the length of the term of office or period of employment, the terms of employment of the office holder during such period, the company’s
success during said period and the office holder’s contribution to obtaining the company’s goals and maximizing its profits as well as the circumstances and context of the
termination.
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In addition, the compensation policy must set forth standards and rules on the following issues: (a) with respect to variable components of compensation - basing the
compensation on long term performance and measurable criteria (though a non-material portion of the variable components can be discretionary awards taking into account the
contribution of the office holder to the company. Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Law, variable components in the amount of up to a three month salary of the
relevant office holder, on an annual basis, shall be considered a non-material portion of the variable components); (b) establishing the appropriate ratio between variable
components and fixed components and placing a cap on such variable components (including a cap on the grant date value of convertible securities components that are not
paid out in cash); (c) setting forth a rule requiring an office holder to return amounts paid, in the event that it is later revealed that such amounts were paid on the basis of data
which prove to be erroneous and resulted in an amendment and restatement of the company’s financial statements; (d) determining minimum holding or vesting periods for
equity based variable components of compensation, while taking into consideration appropriate long termincentives; and (e) setting a cap on grants or benefits paid upon
termination.

The board of directors of a company is obligated to adopt a compensation policy after considering the recommendations of the compensation committee. The final
adoption of the compensation committee is subject to the approval of the shareholders of the company, which such approval is subject to certain special majority requirements,
as set forth in the Companies Law, pursuant to which one of the following must be met:

] the majority of the votes includes at least a majority of all the votes of shareholders who are not controlling shareholders of the company or who do not have

a personal interest in the compensation policy and participating in the vote; abstentions shall not be included in the total of the votes of the aforesaid
shareholders; or

(ii) the total of opposing votes fromamong the shareholders described in subsection (i) above does not exceed 2% of all the voting rights in the company.

For this purpose, under the Companies Law “personal interest” is defined as: (1) a shareholder’s personal interest in the approval of an act or a transaction of the
company, including (i) the personal interest of his or her relative (which includes for these purposes any members of his/her (or his/her spouse’s) immediate family); and (i) a
personal interest of a corporate body in which a shareholder or any of his/her aforementioned relatives serves as a director or the chief executive officer, owns at least 5% ofits
issued share capital or its voting rights or has the right to appoint a director or chief executive officer, but (2) excluding a personal interest arising solely fromthe fact of
holding shares in the company or in a corporate body.

Nonetheless, even if the shareholders of the company do not approve the compensation policy, the board of directors of a company may approve the compensation
policy, provided that the compensation committee and, thereafter, the board of directors determined, based on detailed, documented, reasons and after a second review of the
compensation policy, that the approval of the compensation policy is for the benefit of the company.

The following persons may not be a member of the compensation committee:

o The chairman of the board of directors;

e Any director employed by or otherwise providing services to the company or to the controlling shareholder or entity under such controlling shareholder’s
control;

e  Any director who derives his salary primarily froma “controlling shareholder”;

e A “controlling shareholder”; or
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o Any relative of a “controlling shareholder”.
The term “controlling shareholder” is defined in the Companies Law as a shareholder with the ability to direct the activities of a company, other than by virtue of being an
office holder. A shareholder is presumed to be a controlling sharcholder if the shareholder holds 50% or more of the voting rights in a company or has the right to appoint the
majority of the directors of such company or its general manager.

The responsibilities of the compensation committee as set forth in the Companies Law include the following:

1. To recommend to the Board of Directors as to a compensation policy for office holders of the company, as well as to recommend, once every three years to
extend the compensation policy subject to receipt of the required corporate approvals;

2. To recommend to the Board of Directors as to any updates to the compensation policy which may be required;
3. To review the implementation of the compensation policy by the company;
4. To approve transactions relating to terms of office and employment of certain company office holders, which require the approval of the compensation

committee pursuant to the Companies Law; and

S. To exempt, under certain circumstances, a transaction relating to terms of office and employment fromthe requirement of approval of the shareholders
meeting.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Law, the audit committee may serve as the company’s compensation committee, provided that it meets the composition
requirements of the compensation committee.

Pursuant to an exemption available in the Relief Regulations which we follow, companies whose shares are listed for trading on specified exchanges outside of Israel,
including the NASDAQ Capital Market, and satisfying the criteria detailed above, are exempt fromthe following rules regarding the composition of the compensation
committee under the Companies Law: (i) the board of a public company is required to appoint a compensation committee; (ii) the compensation committee shall be comprised of
at least 3 members, (iii) all of the external directors shall be members and shall constitute the majority of its members and (iv) the rest of the members shall be members whose
terms of service are as required under the Companies Law.

The compensation committee of the Company (the “Compensation Committee™) consists of three members, Mr. Shai Novik, Dr. Avri Havron, and Dr. Gili Hart, all of
whomare independent under the listing standards of the Nasdaq Listing Rules.

Nominating Committee
Our Board of Directors does not have an independent nominating committee. Board nominees are selected by a majority of the Board’s independent directors.
Internal auditor

Under the Companies Law, the Board of Directors of an Israeli public company must appoint an internal auditor recommended by the audit committee and nominated
by the Board of Directors. An internal auditor may not be:

e aperson (ora relative of a person) who holds more than 5% of the Company’s outstanding shares or voting rights;
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e aperson (orarelative of a person) who has the power to appoint a director or the general manager of the company;
e an office holder (including a director) of the company (or a relative thereof); or
e amember of the company’s independent accounting firm, or anyone on his or her behalf.

The role of the intemal auditor is to examine, among other things, our compliance with applicable law and orderly business procedures.

6.D. Employees

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 36 full time employees. The Company’s Chief Scientific & Medical Officer provides services on a part-time basis pursuant
to a consulting agreement. Thirty of the Company’s employees are currently involved in product development, and six provide general and administrative services. All of these
employees are located in Israel.

None of the Company’s employees are party to any collective bargaining agreements or represented by any labor unions. However, in Israel, the Company is subject
to certain Israeli labor laws, regulations, rulings of Israeli labor courts and certain provisions of collective bargaining agreements that apply to its employees by virtue of
extension orders issued by the Israel Ministry of Economy and which apply such agreement provisions to the Company’s employees even though they are not part of a union
that has signed a collective bargaining agreement. These labor laws and regulations primarily govern the length of the workday, minimum daily wages for professional workers,
pension fund benefits for all employees, insurance for work-related accidents, procedures for dismissing employees, determination of severance pay and other conditions of
employment. Israeli law generally requires severance pay, which may be funded by managers’ insurance and/or a pension fund described below, upon the retirement or death
of an employee or termination of employment without cause (as defined in the law). The payments to the managers’ insurance and/or pension fund in respect of severance pay
amount to approximately 8.33% of an employee’s wages, in the aggregate. Furthermore, Israeli employees and employers are required to pay predetermined sums to the
National Insurance Institute, which is similar to the United States Social Security Administration. Such amounts also include payments for national health insurance. The
payments to the National Insurance Institute (including payments for healthcare insurance) are paid on a differential basis, such that with respect to the part of the employee’s
wage which is equal to up to 60% of the average wage in Israel, the employer is required to pay an amount equal to 3.55% of such part of the employee’s wage and the
employee is required to pay an amount equal to 3.50% of such part of the employee’s wage, and for the remainder of the employee’s wage up to the maximum wage amount on
which payments to the National Insurance Institute are required to be paid, the employer is required to pay an amount equal to 7.60% of such part of the employee’s wage and
the employee is required to pay an amount equal to 12% of such part of the employee’s wage. Such practice are further reinforced pursuant to the provisions of Section 14 to
the Severance Pay Law, according to which the payment of monthly deposits by us into managers’ insurance and/or pension fund are in respect of severance obligation to
such employees. These funds provide a combination of savings plan, insurance and severance pay benefits to the employee, giving the employee a lump sum payment upon
retirement and securing the severance pay or part of it, if legally entitled, upon termination of employment. Each employee contributes an aggregate amount equal to 6% of his
or her base salary to such funds, and the Company contributes, in the aggregate, an additional 14.83% to 15.83% of the employee’s base salary, with such amount including
the 8.33% which is contributed as severance pay as noted above. The monthly contributions as mentioned above constitute the required payment for severance pay, and the
Company is not required to pay any additional sumupon termination of employment for the period during which Sections 14 applies. The Company generally provides its
employees with benefits and working conditions above the required minimums. The Company has never experienced any employment-related work stoppages and believes its
relationship with its employees is good.

All of the Company’s employment agreements include employees’ undertakings with respect to non-competition, confidentiality and the assignment to the Company
of intellectual property rights developed in the course of employment. However, under current applicable Israeli labor laws, the Company may not be able to enforce (either in
whole or in part) covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent its competitors frombenefiting fromthe expertise of some of the Company’s former
employees.
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6.E. Share ownership
Equity Incentive Plans

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, all outstanding Enlivex R&D options that were unexercised immediately prior to the Effective Time were assumed by the Company
in the Merger and are administered under the 2013 Incentive Option Plan described below.

2013 and 2014 Incentive Option Plans

We maintain the pre-merger Bioblast 2013 Incentive Option Plan (the “2013 Plan”). As of December 31, 2019, there were a total of 83,649 options to purchase ordinary
shares under our 2013 Plan, of which 15,500 options to purchase ordinary shares were issued and outstanding and 58,071 remained available for future issuance. A total of
15,500 options to purchase ordinary shares were vested as of that date, with a weighted average exercise price of $90.16 per share.

We also maintain our 2014 Global Share Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”). In June 2019, the Company adopted its Global Share Incentive Plan (2019) (the “2019 Plan”),
under which all ordinary shares that remained available for future grant under all existing plans were reserved for issuance with respect to awards that may be granted under the
2019 Plan. As of December 31, 2019, there were a total of 2,350,704 options to purchase ordinary shares under our 2019 Plan, of which 1,625,042 options to purchase ordinary
shares were issued and outstanding and 490,749 remained available for future issuance. A total of 1,098,691 options to purchase ordinary shares were vested as of that date,
with a weighted average exercise price of $3.88 per share.

Our 2013 Plan, which was adopted by the pre-merger Bioblast board of directors on November 13, 2013, and amended most recently on March 28, 2016, provides for
the grant of options to our and our affiliates’ respective directors, employees, office holders, service providers and consultants.

Our 2019 Plan, which was adopted by the Enlivex Board of Directors on June 3, 2019, was assumed by the Company pursuant to the Merger. A copy of the 2019 plan
is filed as Exhibit 4.2 to this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

The 2013 and 2019 Plans are administered by our Board of Directors, which shall determine, subject to Israeli law, the grantees of awards and various terms of the
grant. The 2013 and 2019 Plans provide for granting options in compliance with Section 102 of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance, 1961 (the “Ordinance”).

Options granted under the 2013 and 2019 Plans to Israeli employees have been granted under the capital gains track of Section 102 of the Ordinance. Section 102 of
the Ordinance allows employees, directors and officers, who are not controlling shareholders, to receive favorable tax treatment for compensation in the formof shares or
options. Our Israeli non-employee service providers and controlling shareholders may only be granted options under Section 3(i) of the Ordinance, which does not provide for
similar tax benefits. Section 102 of the Ordinance includes two alternatives for tax treatment involving the issuance of options or shares to a trustee for the benefit of the
grantees and also includes an additional altemative for the issuance of options or shares directly to the grantee (without a trustee). Section 102(b)(2) of the Ordinance, the most
favorable tax treatment for grantees, permits the issuance to a trustee under the “capital gains track.” However, under this track we are not allowed to deduct an expense with
respect to the issuance of the options or shares. In order to comply with the terms of the capital gains track, all options granted under the 2013 and 2019 Plans pursuant and
subject to the provisions of Section 102 of the Ordinance, as well as the ordinary shares issued upon exercise of these options and other shares received subsequently
following any realization of rights with respect to such options, such as share dividends and share splits, must be granted to a trustee for the benefit of the relevant employee,
director or officer and should be held by the trustee for at least two years after the date of the grant.
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Options granted under the 2013 and 2019 Plans will generally vest over four years commencing on the date of grant such that 25% vest after one year and an
additional 6.25% vest at the end of each subsequent three-month period thereafter for 36 months. Options that are not exercised within ten years fromthe grant date expire,
unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors or its designated committee, as applicable. In case of termination for reasons of disability or death, the grantee or his
legal successor may exercise options that have vested prior to termination within a period of sixto twelve months fromthe date of disability or death. If we terminate a
grantee’s employment or service for cause, all of the grantee’s vested and unvested options will expire on the date of termination. If a grantee’s employment or service is
terminated for any other reason, the grantee may exercise his or her vested options within 90 days of the date of termination. Any expired or unvested options return to the
pool for reissuance.

In the event of a merger or consolidation of our company subsequent to which we shall no longer exist as a legal entity, or a sale of all, or substantially all, of our
shares or assets or other transaction having a similar effect on us, then any outstanding option shall be assumed, or an equivalent option shall be substituted, by such
successor corporation or an affiliate thereof or, in case the successor corporation refuses to assume or substitute the option, our Board of Directors or its designated
committee may (a) provide the grantee with the opportunity to exercise the option as to all or part of the shares, vested or otherwise, and (b) specify a period of time, no less
than 7 days, following which all outstanding options shall terminate.

See also Item 7A below.

ITEM7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
7.A. Major shareholders

The following table and the related notes present information with respect the beneficial ownership of the Company’s ordinary shares as of March 30, 2020 by:

e cach shareholder known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of the Company’s outstanding ordinary shares immediately following the closing of the Merger
and Private Placement;

e each director of the Company;
e cach executive officer of the Company; and
e allofthe Company’s directors and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. The percentage of
ordinary shares beneficially owned is based on 13,427,876 ordinary shares issued and outstanding as of March 30, 2020.

Ordinary shares of the Company that may be acquired by an individual or group within 60 days of March 30, 2020, pursuant to the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding options or warrants, are deemed outstanding for the purposes of computing the percentage of ordinary shares beneficially owned by such individual or group, but
are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage of ordinary shares beneficially owned by any other individual or group shown in the table.

Number of Percentage of

Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares
Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned  Beneficially Owned
The Company’s 5% or Greater Shareholders (other than Directors and Executive Officers)
HBL-Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd 1,728,411 12.87%
Kretzmer and Associates PLLC 830,973 6.19%
KIP Global Pharma-Ecosystem Private Equity Fund 1,417,950 10.56%
Directors and Executive Officers
Shai Novik (1) 918,824 6.74%
Avri Havron (2) 488,356 3.62%
Dror Mevorach (3) 491,900 3.59%
Gili Hart, Director (4) 95,192 *
Sangwoo Lee (5) 26,596 J
Hyun-Gyu Lee (5) 26,596 *
Michel Habib (5) 26,596 ~
Baruch Halpert (6) 107,099 *
Bemhard Kirschbaum (7) 13,298 *)
Dr. Oren Hershkovitz 6,481
Shachar Shlosberger (8) 4,115 *
All directors and executive officers as a group 2,205,052 15.56%

*  Less than 1%.
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Includes 205,598 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 30, 2020, of which 132,979 options expire in January 2025 and have an exercise price of
USD 2.69, and 72,619 options expire in December 2027 and have an exercise price of USD 6.22.

Includes 53,192 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 30, 2020, which expire in January 2025 and have an exercise price of USD 2.69.

Includes 272,619 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 23, 2020, of which 200,000 options expire in January 2025 and have an exercise price of
USD 2.69, 60,516 options expire in December 2027 and have an exercise price of USD 6.22, and 12,103 of these options expire in January 2028 with an exercise price of USD
6.22.

Includes 66,490 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 30, 2020, which expire in January 2025 and have an exercise price of USD 2.69.

Includes 26,596 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 30, 2020, which expire in December 2027 and have an exercise price of USD 6.22.

Includes 48,824 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 30, 2020, of which 26,596 options expire in December 2027 and have an exercise price of
USD 6.22, and 22,228 options expire in January 2028 and have exercise price of USD 6.22.

Includes 13,298 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 30, 2020, which expire in July 2028 and have an exercise price of USD 6.22.

Includes 4,115 shares underlying options exercisable within 60 days from March 30, 2020, of which 1,937 options expire in April 2026 and have an exercise price of USD
2.69, 1,089 options expire in March 2027 and have an exercise price of USD 2.69, 726 options expire in December 2027 and have an exercise price of USD 6.22 and 363
options expire in December 2028 and have an exercise price of USD 10.12.

According to our transfer agent, as of March 30, 2020, there were 74 record holders of our ordinary shares, among whomare 5 U.S. holders (including Cede & Co., the

nominee of the Depositary Trust Company, holding 19.89 % of our ordinary shares). The number of record holders in the United States is not representative of the number of
beneficial holders nor is it representative of where such beneficial holders are resident since many of these ordinary shares are held by brokers or other nominees. None of our
shareholders has different voting rights fromother shareholders.

The Company is not directly or indirectly owned or controlled by another corporation, by any foreign government or by any natural or legal persons, severally or

jointly.
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7.B. Related party transactions
Approval of Related Party Transactions under Israeli Law

Fiduciary duties of office holders

The Companies Law imposes a duty of care and a duty of loyalty on all office holders of a company. The duty of care of an office holder is based on the duty of care
set forth in connection with the tort of negligence under the Israeli Torts Ordinance (New Version) 5728-1968. This duty of care requires an office holder to act with the degree
of proficiency with which a reasonable office holder in the same position would have acted under the same circumstances. The duty of care includes a duty to use reasonable
means, in light of the circumstances, to obtain:

e information on the advisability ofa given action brought for his or her approval or performed by virtue of his or her position; and

e all other important information pertaining to these actions.

The duty of loyalty requires an office holder to act in good faith and for the benefit of a company, and includes the duty to:

e refrain fromany act involving a conflict of interest between the performance of his or her duties in a company and his or her other duties or personal affairs;

o refrain fromany activity that is competitive with the business of a company;

o refrain fromexploiting any business opportunity of the company for the purpose of gaining a personal advantage for himself or herself or others; and

e disclose to the company any information or documents relating to a company’s affairs which the office holder received as a result of his or her position as an
office holder.

We may approve an act performed in breach of the duty of loyalty of an office holder provided that the office holder acted in good faith, the act or its approval does
not harmthe Company, and the office holder discloses his or her personal interest, as described below.

Disclosure of personal interests of an office holder and approval of acts and transactions

The Companies Law requires that an office holder promptly disclose to the Company any personal interest that he or she may have and all related material information
or documents relating to any existing or proposed transaction by the Company. An interested office holder’s disclosure must be made promptly and in any event no later than
the first meeting of the board of directors at which the transaction is considered. An office holder is not obliged to disclose such information if the personal interest of the
office holder derives solely fromthe personal interest of his or her relative in a transaction that is not considered as an extraordinary transaction.

The term “personal interest” is defined under the Companies Law to include the personal interest of a person in an action or in the business of a company, including
the personal interest of such person’s relative or the interest of any corporation in which the person is an interested party, but excluding a personal interest stemming solely
fromthe fact of holding shares in such company. A personal interest furthermore includes the personal interest of a person for whomthe office holder holds a voting proxy or
the interest of the office holder with respect to his or her vote on behalf of the shareholder for whomhe or she holds a proxy even if such shareholder itself has no personal
interest in the approval of the matter. An office holder is not, however, obliged to disclose a personal interest if it derives solely fromthe personal interest of his or her relative
in a transaction that is not considered an extraordinary transaction.

Under the Companies Law, an extraordinary transaction which requires approval is defined as any of the following:

e atransaction other than in the ordinary course of business;

e atransaction that is not on market terms; or

e atransaction that may have a material impact on the company’s profitability, assets or liabilities.

Under the Companies Law, once an office holder has complied with the disclosure requirement described above, a company may approve a transaction between the

company and the office holder or a third party in which the office holder has a personal interest, or approve an action by the office holder that would otherwise be deemed a

breach of duty of loyalty. However, a company may not approve a transaction or action that is adverse to the company’s interest or that is not performed by the office holder
in good faith.
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Under the Companies Law, unless the articles of association of a company provide otherwise, a transaction with an office holder, a transaction with a third party in
which the office holder has a personal interest, and an action of an office holder that would otherwise be deemed a breach of duty of loyalty requires approval by the board of
directors. Our Articles of Association do not provide otherwise. If the transaction or action considered is (i) an extraordinary transaction or (ii) an action of an office holder that
would otherwise be deemed a breach of duty of loyalty and may have a material impact on a company’s profitability, assets or liabilities, then audit committee approval is
required prior to approval by the board of directors.

Under the Companies Law, a transaction with an office holder in a public company regarding his or her terms of office and employment should be determined in
accordance with the company’s compensation policy. Nonetheless, provisions were established that allow a company, under special circumstances, to approve terms of office
and employment that are not in line with the approved compensation policy. The following are required for the approval of the terms of office or employment of the officers of a
public company:

e A transaction with an office holder in a public company that is neither a director nor the chief executive officer regarding his or her terms of office and
employment requires approval by the (i) compensation committee; and (ii) the board of directors. Approval of terms of office and employment for such officers
which do not comply with the compensation policy may nonetheless be approved subject to two cumulative conditions: (i) the compensation committee and
thereafter the board of directors, approved the terms after having taken into account the various considerations and mandatory requirements set forth in the
Companies Law with respect to office holder compensation, and (i) the shareholders of the company have approved the terms by means of the following special
majority requirements, (the “Special Majority Requirements”), as set forth in the Companies Law, pursuant to which the shareholder approval must either include
at least one-half of the shares held by non-controlling and disinterested shareholders who actively participate in the voting process (without taking abstaining
votes into account), or, alternatively, the total shareholdings of the non-controlling and disinterested shareholders who vote against the transaction must not
represent more than 2% of the voting rights in the company. However, the transaction may still be approved despite sharcholder rejection, provided that the
company’s compensation committee and thereafter the board of directors have determined to approve the proposal, based on detailed reasoning, after having re-
examined the terms of office and employment, and taken the shareholder rejection into consideration.

e A transaction with the chief executive officer in a public company regarding his or her terms of office and employment requires approval by (i) the compensation
committee; (i) the board of directors; and (iii) the shareholders of the company by the Special Majority Requirements. Approval of terms of office and
employment for the chief executive officer which do not comply with the compensation policy may nonetheless be approved subject to two cumulative
conditions: (i) the compensation committee and thereafter the board of directors, approved the terms after having taken into account the various considerations
and mandatory requirements set forth in the Companies Law with respect to office holder compensation and (ii) the shareholders of the company have approved
the terms by means of the Special Majority Requirements, as detailed above. However, a transaction with a chief executive officer that is not approved by
shareholders may still be approved despite shareholder rejection, provided that the company’s compensation committee and thereafter the board of directors
have determined to approve the proposal, based on detailed reasoning, after having re-examined the terms of office and employment, and taken the shareholder
rejection into consideration. In addition, the compensation committee may exempt the transaction regarding terms of office and employment with a candidate for
the office of chief executive officer where such officer has no relationship with the controlling shareholder or the company from shareholder approval if it has
found, based on detailed reasons, that bringing the transaction to the approval of the shareholders meeting shall prevent the employment of such candidate by
the company. Such approval may be given only in respect of terms of office and employment which are in accordance with the company’s compensation policy.
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e A transaction with a director who is not an executive officer in a public company regarding his or her terms of office and engagement requires approval by the (i)
compensation committee; (i) the board of directors; and (iii) the shareholders of the company. Approval of terms of office and employment for directors of a
company which do not comply with the compensation policy may nonetheless be approved subject to two conditions: (i) the compensation committee and
thereafter the board of directors, approved the terms after having taken into account the various considerations and mandatory requirements set forth in the
Companies Law with respect to office holder compensation and (ii) the shareholders of the company have approved the terms by means of the Special Majority
Requirements, as detailed above. In addition, pursuant to a relief provided under the Companies Regulations (Relief in Interested Party Transactions), 2000, the
compensation committee may exempt the transaction regarding terms of office and engagement with a non-executive director, if the compensation committee and
board of directors determined that such terms of office are only for the benefit of the company, or if the compensation terms of the director do not exceed the
maximum compensation paid to external directors pursuant to the applicable regulations.

A director who has a personal interest in a matter that is considered at a meeting of the board of directors or the audit committee may generally not be present at the
meeting or vote on the matter unless a majority of the directors or members of the audit committee have a personal interest in the matter, or, unless the chairman ofthe audit
committee or board of directors (as applicable) determines that he or she should be in attendance to present the transaction that is subject to approval. If a majority of the
directors have a personal interest in the matter, such matter also requires approval of the shareholders of the company by the Special Majority Requirements.

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary description of the material terms of those transactions with related parties to which we are party, and which were in effect within the 2019
fiscal year through March 30, 2020.

Agreement with HBL — Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd.

On May 22, 2017, Enlivex entered into an agreement (the “Hadasit Agreement”) with HBL — Hadasit Bio-Holdings Ltd. (“HBL”). Subject to the agreement, Enlivex
agreed to pay HBL cash compensation in an aggregate amount of 5% of the proceeds received by Enlivex frominvestors introduced (“Introduced Investors™) by HBL to
Enlivex, plus VAT, and grant to HBL a warrant to purchase securities of Enlivex of the same type issued to the Introduced Investors in a financing, in an amount equal to up to
5% of the total amount invested by the Introduced Investors in the financing, at an exercise price equal to the per share price paid to by the Introduced Investors to Enlivexin
such financing. On September 18, 2017, Enlivex paid HBL a total cash amount of $351,000, and granted HBL a warrant to purchase 48,204 shares of Enlivex The warrant was
exercised in full immediately prior to the closing of the Merger. The Hadasit Agreement expired on May 21, 2018.

Employment Agreements and Arrangements with Directors and Related Parties
Chairman Services Agreement with A.S. Novik and Shai Novik

On September 7, 2018, we entered into an agreement with A.S. Novik Ltd., a company organized under the laws of Israel and family-owned entity of Shai Novik (“A.S.
Novik™), pursuant to which we retained Shai Novik as our Executive Chairman of the Board for an initial term of two years, to be automatically extended for additional one-year
periods, unless either party provides at least 180 days written notice prior to the expiration of the term. A.S. Novik is entitled to a base retainer of $150,000, payable in equal
monthly installments, subject to review and adjustment upon certain specified events. Upon the closing of the Merger, A.S. Novik’s base retainer was increased to $250,000,
which will increase to $350,000 upon the Company having a cash and cash equivalents balance of $20 million. A.S. Novik is eligible to receive an annual cash bonus up to 100%
ofthe base retainer, as determined by the Board, which will be based upon performance criteria established by the Board. The minimum guaranteed annual bonus for the first
two fiscal years after the closing of the Merger shall be 50% of the annual base retainer. If we terminate Mr. Novik’s Board service other than for cause, A.S. Novik is entitled to
the base retainer for the twelve-month period following the effective date of termination. We have also agreed to reimburse A.S. Novik for up to $3,000 of monthly expenses in
connection with Mr. Novik’s Board service as our Executive Chairman. Mr. Novik is also entitled to certain other stock option payments upon termination.
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Employment Agreement with Oren Hershkovitz

On November 16, 2019, we entered into an employment agreement (the “Hershkovitz Employment Agreement”) with Oren Hershkovitz Ph.D., to serve as our Chief
Executive Officer, for an undefined term, unless and until terminated by either party. Dr. Hershkovitzis entitled to a monthly salary of NIS 65,000. The Hershkovitz Employment
Agreement provides for certain other benefits, including pension, expense reimbursement and use of a company car. The Hershkovitz Employment Agreement may be
terminated by either party, at any time and for any reason, pursuant to 90-days prior written notice by the terminating party.

Employment Agreement with Shachar Shlosberger

On May 3, 2016, we entered into an employment agreement (the “Shlosberger Employment A greement’) with Shachar Shlosberger, to serve as our Chief Financial
Officer, for an undefined term, unless and until terminated by either party. The Shlosberger Employment Agreement may be terminated by either party, at any time and for any
reason, pursuant to 30-days prior written notice by the terminating party. Ms. Shlosberger is entitled to a monthly salary of NIS 23,040 and an annual bonus of up to 15% of her
annual salary, at the Company’s discretion. The Shlosberger Employment Agreement provides for certain other benefits, including pension benefits and use of a cellphone.

Consulting Agreement with Prof. Dror Mevorach and Hadasit Medical Research Services

Prof. Dror Mevorach, M.D., our founder, has also served as our Chief Scientific Officer and as a member of our Board since 2005. On January 1, 2017, we entered into a
consulting agreement, as amended as of April 1, 2020 (the “Consulting A greement”) with Hadasit Medical Research Services and Development (“Hadasit”) and Prof. Mevorach
for the provision by Prof. Mevorach of services as our Chief Scientific Officer for an initial period of 12 months, which is automatically extended for additional twelve-month
periods thereafter, unless earlier terminated by either party. The Consulting Agreement, which may be terminated upon certain breaches or actions, is also terminable by either
party upon 30 days prior written notice. Prof. Mevorach is entitled, effective as of November 1, 2019, to an annual fee of $250,000, plus VAT, to be paid in equal monthly
installments in NIS. We paid Hadasit $63,333.33 pursuant to the Consulting Agreement. We also granted options to purchase pre-merger Enlivex ordinary shares to Prof.
Mevorach and Hadasit pursuant to the Consulting Agreement, which include an aggregate of 419,281 ordinary shares of the Company granted to Prof. Mevorach and 110,304
ordinary shares of the Company granted to Hadasit which are exercisable at a price of $2.68 per share and additional grants of 145,237 and 29,047 ordinary shares of the
Company to Prof. Mevorach and Hadasit, respectively, which are exercisable at a price of $6.22 per share.

Research Agreement with Prof. Dror Mevorach and Cell Generation (C-G) Ltd.

On May 12, 2019, we entered into a research agreement with Cell Generation (C-G) Ltd. (“C-G”), pursuant to which C-Gwill carry out cell collections from Apheresis
site at facilities operated by C-G, employing the services of Prof. Dror Mevorach as the principal investigator (the “C-GResearch Agreement”). The C-GResearch Agreement
will expire on the earlier of: (i) the completion of the subject study according to the protocols provided therein and submission of all reports, case report forms and other
documentation required thereunder, and (ii) the termination of the C-GResearch Agreement by us or C-Gpursuant to the terms of the C-GResearch Agreement, which either
party may do without cause. Upon entry into the C-GResearch Agreement, we paid C-Ga non-refundable advance in the amount of NIS 430,000, plus VAT, and we are
obligated to pay C-Gupon request certain collection, screening and recruitment remuneration. The C-GResearch Agreement provides us with the option to acquire all of the
outstanding shares of C-G, starting on the second anniversary of the C-GResearch Agreement, at an exercise price that shall be defined in good faith by an appraiser
acceptable to both parties.
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Agreement with Baruch Halpert, Director

On January 2, 2018, Enlivex entered into an agreement (the “Halpert A greement”) with Baruch Halpert, a member of its Board of Directors. Subject to the agreement,
Enlivexagreed to pay Mr. Halpert cash compensation in an aggregate amount of 5% of the proceeds received by Enlivex frominvestors introduced (“Introduced Investors™) by
Halpert to Enlivex, plus VAT, and grant to Mr. Halpert a warrant to purchase securities of Enlivex of the same type issued to the Introduced Investors in a financing, in an
amount equal to up to 5% of'the total amount invested by the Introduced Investors in the financing, at an exercise price equal to the per share price paid to by the Introduced
Investors to the Company in such financing. Subject to the Halpert Agreement, Enlivex paid Mr. Halpert in the aggregate, a total cash amount of $50,000 in relating to the
closing of a financing on September 12, 2018 (the “Financing”). Halpert executed a waiver nullifying his right to receive a warrant relating to the closing of the Financing
immediately prior to the closing of the Financing. The Halpert Agreement expired on January 1, 2019.

Indemnification Agreements

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Association permit us to exculpate, indemnify and insure each of our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by
the Companies Law. We have entered into agreements with each of our directors and Professor Mevorach, exculpating them, to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies
Law, from liability for monetary or other damages due to, or arising or resulting from, a breach of the duty of care to the Company and undertaking to indennify themto the
fullest extent permitted by Israeli law, including with respect to liabilities resulting from certain acts performed by such office holders in their capacity as an office holder of the
Company, our subsidiaries or affiliates. The indemnification is limited both in terms of amount and coverage.

Insurance

In addition to the indemnification agreements described above, we have previously obtained directors” and officers” liability insurance with maximum coverage of $3
million in the aggregate for the benefit of our office holders and directors, and purchased, post the closing of the Merger, a different policy with maximum coverage of $5 million
in the aggregate. Such directors’ and officers’ liability insurance contains certain standard exclusions.

We also maintain insurance for our offices in Nes Ziona and Jerusalem, Israel. Our insurance program covers approximately $925,000 of equipment and lease
improvements against risk of loss and damage frominventory. In addition, we maintain the following insurance: employer liability with coverage of approximately $5,610,885;
and third-party liability with coverage of approximately $1,318,558.

We also intend to purchase worldwide product and clinical trial liability insurance to cover each of our clinical trials studies with respect to our product candidates
used in clinical trials in accordance with applicable local regulations in the territories in which the studies will take place. We also procure additional insurance for each specific
clinical trial which covers a certain number of trial participants and which varies based on the particular clinical trial. Certain of such policies are based on the Declaration of
Helsinki, which is a set of ethical principles regarding human experimentation developed for the medical community by the World Medical Association, and certain protocols of
the Israeli Ministry of Health.

We believe that our insurance policies are adequate and customary for a business of our kind. However, because of the nature of our business, we cannot assure you
that we will be able to maintain insurance on a commercially reasonable basis or at all, or that any future claims will not exceed our insurance coverage.

92




7.C. Interests of experts and counsel

Not applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
8.A. Financial statements and other financial information

See Item 18 - Financial Statements.

Legal Proceedings

Fromtime to time, we are involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to the ordinary course of our business. We do not currently believe that the
outcome of these legal proceedings have had in the recent past, or will have (with respect to any pending proceedings), significant effects on our financial position or
profitability.

Dividends

We have never paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Payment of cash
dividends, if any, in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on then-existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating

results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our Board of Directors may deemrelevant.

The Companies Law imposes further restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends. See Item 10.B. -““Articles of Association” — “Rights, Preferences,
Restrictions of Shares and Shareholder Meetings” — “Dividend and Liquidation Rights” for additional information.

Payment of dividends may be subject to Israeli withholding taxes. See Item 10.E. - “Taxation” below for additional information.
8.B. Significant changes

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there have been no other significant changes since December 31, 2019, until the date of the filing of this annual

report.
ITEM9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
9.A. Offer and listing details

Not applicable.
9.B. Plan of distribution
Not applicable.
9.C. Market for Ordinary Shares
On the Closing Date, our ordinary shares were admitted for continued listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the new symbol “ENLV”. From April 27, 2017

through the Closing Date, our ordinary shares were listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market, and from July 31, 2014 until April 27, 2017, our ordinary shares were listed on the
Nasdaq Global Market, in each case under the symbol “ORPN”.
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9.D. Selling shareholders
Not applicable.
9.E. Dilution
Not applicable.
9.F. Expenses of the issue
Not applicable.
ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
10.A. Share capital
Not applicable.
10.B. Articles of Association
Securities Register

We are registered with the Israeli Registrar of Companies. Our registration number is 51-471648-9. Our Amended and Restated Articles of Association provide that we
may engage in any type of lawful business.

Board of Directors

The Companies Law requires that certain transactions, actions and arrangements be approved as provided for in a company’s articles of association and in certain
circumstances by the Audit Committee or the Compensation Committee, by the Board of Directors itself and by the shareholders. The vote required by the Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors for approval of such matters, in each case, is a majority of the disinterested directors participating in a duly convened
meeting. If, however, a majority of the members participating in such meeting have a personal interest in the approval of such matter, then all directors may participate in the

discussions and the voting on approval thereof and in such case the matter shall be subject to further shareholder approval.

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Association provide that, subject to the Companies Law, our Board of Directors may delegate its authority, in whole or in part,
to such committees of the Board of Directors as it deems appropriate, and it may fromtime to time revoke such delegation.

Borrowing Powers

Pursuant to the Companies Law, our Board of Directors may exercise all powers and take all actions that are not required under law or under our Amended and
Restated Articles of Association to be exercised or taken by our shareholders or other corporate bodies, including the power to borrow money for company purposes.

Rights, Preferences, Restrictions of Shares and Shareholders Meetings

e  General. Our share capital is NIS 18,000,000 divided into 45,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of NIS 0.40 each. Our ordinary shares may be certificated
or uncertificated, subject to the Companies Law.

e Voting. The ordinary shares do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. As a result, the holders of ordinary shares that represent more than
50% of the voting power have the power to elect all the Directors.
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Dividend and liquidation rights. Our Board of Directors may declare a dividend to be paid to the holders of our ordinary shares according to their rights and
interests in our profits and may fix the record date for eligibility and the time for payment, subject to the Companies Law. The directors may fromtime to time pay
to the shareholders on account of the next forthcoming dividend such interimdividends as, in their judgment, our position justifies. All dividends unclaimed for
one year after having been declared may be invested or otherwise used by the directors for our benefit until claimed. No unpaid dividend or interest shall bear
interest as against us. Our Board of Directors may determine that a dividend may be paid, wholly or partially, by the distribution of certain of our assets or by a
distribution of paid up shares, debentures or debenture stock or any of our securities or of any other companies or in any one or more of such ways in the manner
and to the extent permitted by the Companies Law. Our ordinary shares entitle each owner thereof'to an equal right to participate in the distribution of the surplus
assets of the company in the event of our liquidation in accordance with the proportionate nominal value of the shares held thereby.

Transfer of shares; record dates. Fully paid up ordinary shares may be freely transferred pursuant to our Amended and Restated Articles of Association unless
such transfer is restricted or prohibited by another instrument or securities laws. Each shareholder who would be entitled to attend and vote at a General Meeting
of shareholders is entitled to receive notice of any such meeting. For purposes of determining the shareholders entitled to notice and to vote at such meeting, the
Board of Directors will fixa record date.

Voting; annual general and extraordinary meetings. Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, each
shareholder shall have one vote for each share of which he or she is the holder, whether on a show of hands or on a poll. Our Amended and Restated Articles of
Association do not permit cumulative voting and it is not mandated by Israeli law. Votes may be given either personally or by proxy. A proxy need not be a
shareholder. If any shareholder is without legal capacity, he may vote by means of a trustee or a legal custodian, who may vote either personally or by proxy. If
two or more persons are jointly entitled to a share then, in voting upon any question, the vote of the person whose name is registered first in the registry of
shareholders as the owner of that share shall be accepted, whether in person or by proxy, and he, she or it is shall be entitled to vote such share.

Quorum for General Meeting. The quorumrequired for our General Meetings of shareholders consists of at least two shareholders present in person, by proxy or
written ballot who holds or represent between themat least one-third of the total outstanding voting rights. A meeting adjourned for lack of a quorumis generally
adjourned to the same day in the following week at the same time and place or to a later time/date if so specified in the summons or notice of the meeting. At the
reconvened meeting, any two or more shareholders present in person or by proxy shall constitute a lawful quorum.

Notice of General Meeting. Under the Companies Law, shareholder meetings generally require prior notice of not less than 21 days or, with respect to certain
matters, such as election of directors and affiliated party transactions, not less than 35 days. Only shareholders of record as reflected on our share register at the
close of business on the date fixed by the Board of Directors as the record date determining the then shareholders who will be entitled to vote, shall be entitled to
notice of, and to vote, in person or by proxy, at a General Meeting and any postponement or adjournment thereof.

Annual; agenda; calling a General Meeting. General Meetings are held at least once in every calendar year at such time (within a period of 15 months after the
holding of'the last preceding General Meeting), and at such time and place as may be determined by the Board of Directors. At a General Meeting, decisions shall
be adopted only on matters that were specified on the agenda. The Board of Directors is obligated to call extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders upon
a written request in accordance with the Companies Law. The Companies Law provides that an extraordinary general meeting of shareholder may be called by the
Board of Directors or by a request of two directors or 25% of the directors in office, or by shareholders holding at least 5% of the issued share capital of the
company and at least 1% of the voting rights, or of shareholders holding at least 5% of the voting rights of the company.
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o  Majority vote. Except as otherwise provided in the Amended and Restated Articles of Association, any resolution at a General Meeting shall be deemed adopted
if approved by the holders of a majority of our voting rights represented at the meeting in person or by proxy and voting thereon. In the case of an equality of
votes, the chairman of the meeting shall not be entitled to a further vote.

e Discrimination against shareholders. There are no discriminating provisions in our amended and restated articles of association, against any existing or
prospective holders of our ordinary shares as a result of a shareholder holding a substantial number of ordinary shares.

Modification of Class Rights

If, at any time, the share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issuance of the
shares of'that class) may be varied with the consent in writing of the holders of all the issued shares ofthat class, or with the sanction of a majority vote at a meeting of the
shareholders passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares ofthat class. The provisions of our Amended and Restated Articles of Association relating to General
Meetings shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to every such separate class meeting.

Unless otherwise provided by the conditions of issuance, the enlargement of an existing class of shares, or the issuance of additional shares thereof, shall not be
deemed to modify or abrogate the rights attached to the previously issued shares of such class or of any other class. These conditions provide for the minimum shareholder
approvals permitted by the Companies Law.

Restrictions on Shareholders Rights to Own Securities

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Association and the laws of the State of Israel do not restrict in any way the ownership or voting or our shares by non-
residents of Israel, except with respect to subjects of countries which are in a state of war with Israel.

Acquisitions under Israeli Law
Full tender offer

A person wishing to acquire shares of an Israeli public company and who would as a result hold over 90% of the target company’s issued and outstanding share
capital or of the issued and outstanding share capital of a certain class of shares is required by the Companies Law to make a tender offer to all of the company’s shareholders
for the purchase of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the company or of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the same class.

If the shareholders who do not respond to or accept the offer hold less than 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company or of the applicable class
ofthe shares, and more than half of the shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the offer accept the offer, all of the shares that the acquirer offered to purchase will
be transferred to the acquirer by operation of law. However, a tender offer will be accepted if the shareholders who do not accept it hold less than 2% of the issued and
outstanding share capital of the company or of the applicable class of the shares.

Upon a successful completion of such a full tender offer, any shareholder that was an offeree in such tender offer, whether such shareholder accepted the tender offer
or not, may, within sixmonths fromthe date of acceptance of the tender offer, petition the Israeli court to determine whether the tender offer was for less than fair value and
that the fair value should be paid as determined by the court. However, under certain conditions, the offeror may include in the terms of the tender offer that an offeree who
accepted the offer will not be entitled to petition the Israeli court as described above.
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If (a) the shareholders who did not respond or accept the tender offer #o/d at least 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company or of the
applicable class or the shareholders who accept the offer constitute less than a majority of the offerees that do not have a personal interest in the acceptance of the tender
offer, or (b) the shareholders who did not accept the tender offer hold 2% or more of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company (or of the applicable class), the
acquirer may not acquire shares of the company that will increase its holdings to more than 90% of the company’s issued and outstanding share capital or of the applicable
class fromshareholders who accepted the tender offer.

Special tender offer

The Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares of an Israeli public company must be made by means of a special tender offer if as a result of the
acquisition the purchaser would become a holder of at least 25% of the voting rights in the company. This rule does not apply if there is already another holder of at least 25%
ofthe voting rights in the company.

Similarly, the Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in a public company must be made by means of a special tender offer if as a result of the
acquisition the purchaser would become a holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company, if there is no other shareholder of the company who holds more than
45% of the voting rights in the company.

These requirements do not apply if the acquisition (i) occurs in the context of a private offering, on the condition that the shareholders meeting approved the
acquisition as a private offering whose purpose is to give the acquirer at least 25% of the voting rights in the company if there is no person who holds at least 25% of the
voting rights in the company, or as a private offering whose purpose is to give the acquirer 45% of the voting rights in the company, if there is no person who holds 45% of the
voting rights in the company; (ii) was froma shareholder holding at least 25% of the voting rights in the company and resulted in the acquirer becoming a holder of at least
25% of'the voting rights in the company; or (iii) was froma holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company and resulted in the acquirer becoming a holder of more
than 45% of the voting rights in the company.

The special tender offer may be consummated only if (i) at least 5% of the voting power attached to the company’s outstanding shares will be acquired by the offeror
and (ii) the special tender offer is accepted by a majority of the votes of those offerees who gave notice of their position in respect of the offer; in counting the votes of
offerees, the votes of a holder of control in the offeror, a person who has personal interest in acceptance of the special tender offer, a holder of at least 25% of the voting rights
in the company, or any person acting on their or on the offeror’s behalf, including their relatives or companies under their control, are not taken into account.

In the event that a special tender offer is made, a company’s board of directors is required to express its opinion on the advisability of the offer or shall abstain from
expressing any opinion if it is unable to do so, provided that it gives the reasons for its abstention.

An office holder in a target company who, in his or her capacity as an office holder, performs an action the purpose of which is to cause the failure of an existing or
foreseeable special tender offer or is to impair the chances of its acceptance, is liable to the potential purchaser and shareholders for damages resulting fromhis acts, unless
such office holder acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds to believe he or she was acting for the benefit of the company. However, office holders of the target
company may negotiate with the potential purchaser in order to improve the terms of the special tender offer, and may further negotiate with third parties in order to obtain a
competing offer.

Ifa special tender offer was accepted by a majority of the shareholders who announced their stand on such offer, then shareholders who did not respond to the
special offer or had objected to the special tender offer may accept the offer within four days ofthe last day set for the acceptance of the offer.
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In the event that a special tender offer is accepted, then the purchaser or any person or entity controlling it and any corporation controlled by themshall refrain from
making a subsequent tender offer for the purchase of shares of the target company and may not execute a merger with the target company for a period of one year fromthe date
of'the offer, unless the purchaser or such person or entity undertook to effect such an offer or merger in the initial special tender offer.

Merger

The Companies Law permits merger transactions if approved by each party’s Board of Directors and, unless certain requirements described under the Companies Law
are met, a majority of each party’s shareholders, by a majority of each party’s shares that are voted on the proposed merger at a shareholders’ meeting.

The Board of Directors of a merging company is required pursuant to the Companies Law to discuss and determine whether in its opinion there exists a reasonable
concem that as a result of a proposed merger, the surviving company will not be able to satisfy its obligations towards its creditors, taking into account the financial condition
of the merging companies. If the Board of Directors has determined that such a concem exists, it may not approve a proposed merger. Following the approval of the Board of
Directors of each of the merging companies, the Boards of Directors must jointly prepare a merger proposal for submission to the Israeli Registrar of Companies.

For purposes of the shareholder vote, unless a court rules otherwise, the merger will not be deemed approved if a majority of the shares represented at the
shareholders meeting that are held by parties other than the other party to the merger, or by any person who holds 25% or more of the outstanding shares or the right to
appoint 25% or more of the directors of the other party, vote against the merger.

If the transaction would have been approved but for the separate approval of each class of shares or the exclusion of the votes of certain shareholders as provided
above, a court may still rule that the company has approved the merger upon the request of holders of at least 25% of the voting rights of a company, if the court holds that the
merger is fair and reasonable, taking into account the appraisal of the merging companies’ value and the consideration offered to the shareholders.

Under the Companies Law, each merging company must send a copy of the proposed merger plan to its secured creditors. Unsecured creditors are entitled to receive
notice of the merger, as provided by the regulations promulgated under the Companies Law. Upon the request of a creditor of either party to the proposed merger, the court
may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there exists a reasonable concern that, as a result of the merger, the surviving company will be unable to satisfy the

obligations of the target company. The court may also give instructions in order to secure the rights of creditors.

In addition, a merger may not be completed unless at least 50 days have passed fromthe date that a proposal for approval of the merger was filed with the Israeli
Registrar of Companies and 30 days fromthe date that shareholder approval of both merging companies was obtained.

Potential Issues that Could Delay a Merger
Certain provisions of Israeli corporate and tax law may have the effect of delaying, preventing or making more difficult any merger or acquisition of us.
Requirement of Disclosure of Shareholder Ownership

There are no provisions of our Amended and Restated Articles of Association governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must be
disclosed. We are subject, however, to U.S. securities rules that require beneficial owners of more than 5% of our ordinary shares to make certain filings with the SEC.
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Changes in Capital

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Association do not impose any conditions governing changes in capital that are more stringent than required by the
Companies Law.

10.C. Material contracts

For a description of our license agreements, see Item4.B. “Business Overview -License Agreements” and for a description of the agreements related to our directors
and officers, see Item 7.B. “Related party transactions” — “Employment Agreements and Arrangements with Directors and Related Parties”.

10.D. Exchange controls

There are currently no Israeli currency control restrictions on payments of dividends or other distributions with respect to our ordinary shares or the proceeds from
the sale of our ordinary shares, except for the obligation of Israeli residents to file reports with the Bank of Israel regarding certain transactions. However, legislation remains in
effect pursuant to which currency controls can be imposed by administrative action at any time.

Non-residents of Israel who purchase our securities with non-Israeli currency will be able to repatriate dividends (if any), liquidation distributions and the proceeds of
any sale of such securities, into non-Israeli currencies at the rate of exchange prevailing at the time of repatriation, provided that any applicable Israeli taxes have been paid (or
withheld) on such amounts.

Neither our Amended and Restated Articles of Association nor the laws of the State of Israel restrict in any way the ownership or voting of our ordinary shares by
non-residents of Israel, except with respect to citizens of countries that are in a state of war with Israel.

10.E. Taxation

The following is a summary of the current tax structure, which is applicable to companies in Israel, with special reference to its effect on us. The following also
contains a discussion of material Israeli and U.S. tax consequences to persons purchasing our ordinary shares and government programs from which we and some of our group
companies benefit. To the extent that the discussion is based on new tax legislation, which has yet to be subject to judicial or administrative interpretation, there can be no
assurance that the views expressed in the discussion will accord with any such interpretation in the future. The discussion is not intended and should not be construed as
legal or professional tax advice and is not exhaustive of all possible tax considerations. An Israeli company that is subject to Israeli taxes on the income of its non-Israeli
subsidiaries will receive a credit for income taxes paid/withheld or that will be paid/withheld by the subsidiary in its country of residence, according to the terms and conditions
determined in the Israeli Tax Ordinance.

The following summary is included herein as general information only and is not intended as a substitute for careful tax planning. Accordingly, each investor should
consult his or her own taxadvisor as to the particular tax consequences to such investor of the purchase, ownership or sale of an ordinary share, including the effect of
applicable state, local, foreign or other tax laws and possible changes in tax laws.

Israeli Taxation Considerations

THE FOLLOWINGIS A SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL ISRAELI INCOME TAX LAWS APPLICABLE TO US. THIS SECTION ALSO CONTAINS A DISCUSSION
OF MATERIAL ISRAELI INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES CONCERNING THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR ORDINARY SHARES. THIS SUMMARY DOES
NOT DISCUSS ALL THE ASPECTS OF ISRAELI INCOME TAXLAW THAT MAY BE RELEVANT TO A PARTICULAR INVESTOR IN LIGHT OF HIS OR HER PERSONAL
INVESTMENT CIRCUMSTANCES OR TO SOME TYPES OF INVESTORS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL TREATMENT UNDER ISRAELI LTAW. EXAMPLES OF THIS KIND OF
INVESTOR INCLUDE RESIDENTS OF ISRAEL OR TRADERS IN SECURITIES WHO ARE SUBJECT TO SPECIAL TAX REGIMES NOT COVERED IN THIS DISCUSSION. TO
THE EXTENT THAT THE DISCUSSION IS BASED ON NEW TAX LEGISLATION THAT HAS NOT YET BEEN SUBJECT TO JUDICIAL OR ADMINISTRATIVE
INTERPRETATION, WE CANNOT ASSURE YOU THAT THE APPROPRIATE TAX AUTHORITIES OR THE COURTS WILL ACCEPT THE VIEW S EXPRESSED IN THIS
DISCUSSION. THIS SUMMARY IS BASED ON LAWS AND REGULATIONS IN EFFECT AS OF THE DATE OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT AND DOES NOT TAKE INTO
ACCOUNT POSSIBLE FUTURE AMENDMENTS WHICH MAY BE UNDER CONSIDERATION.
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General corporate tax structure in Israel
As of January 1, 2018, Israeli resident companies, such as us, were generally subject to corporate taxat the rate of 23%.

Capital gains derived by an Israeli resident company are generally subject to taxat the same rate as the corporate taxrate. Under Israeli tax legislation, a corporation
will be considered as an “Israeli Resident™ if it meets one of the following: (a) it was incorporated in Israel; or (b) its business is managed and controlled fromIsrael.

Taxation of our Israeli individual shareholders on receipt of dividends

Israeli residents who are individuals are generally subject to Israeli income tax for dividends paid on our ordinary shares (other than bonus shares or share dividends)
at a rate of 25%, or 30% if the recipient of such dividend is a “substantial shareholder” (as defined below) at the time of distribution or at any time during the preceding 12-
month period.

An additional income taxat a rate of 3% will be imposed on high eamers whose annual taxable income or gain exceeded NIS 649,560, in 2019.

A “substantial shareholder” is generally a person who alone, or together with his relative or another person who collaborates with himon a regular basis, holds,
directly or indirectly, at least 10% of any of the “means of control” of the corporation. “Means of control” generally include the right to vote in a General Meeting of
shareholders, the right to receive profits, the right to nominate a director or an officer, the right to receive assets upon liquidation (after settling the debts), or the right to
instruct someone who holds any of the aforesaid rights regarding the manner in which he or she is to exercise such right(s), and whether by virtue of shares, rights to shares or
other rights, or in any other manner, including by means of voting agreements or trusteeship agreements.

The term “Israeli Resident” for individuals is generally defined under Israeli Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 1961, or the Israeli Tax Ordinance, as an individual
whose center of life is in Israel. According to the Israeli Tax Ordinance, in order to determine the center of life of an individual, account will be taken of the individual’s family,
economic and social connections, including: (a) the place of the individual’s permanent home; (b) the place of residence of the individual and his family; (c) the place of the
individual’s regular or permanent place of business or the place of his permanent employment; (d) place of the individual’s active and substantial economic interests; (¢) place
of'the individual’s activities in organizations, associations and other institutions. The center of life of an individual will be presumed to be in Israel if: (a) the individual was
present in Israel for 183 days or more in the tax year; or (b) the individual was present in Israel for 30 days or more in the tax year, and the total period of the individual’s
presence in Israel in that tax year and the two previous taxyears is 425 days or more. The presumption in this paragraph may be rebutted either by the individual or by the
assessing officer.

Taxation of Israeli Resident Corporations on Receipt of Dividends

Israeli resident corporations are generally exempt from Israeli corporate income tax with respect to dividends paid on our ordinary shares.
Capital Gains Taxes Applicable to Israeli Resident Shareholders

The income taxrate applicable to Real Capital Gain derived by an Israeli individual fromthe sale of shares which had been purchased after January 1, 2012, whether
listed on a stock exchange or not, is 25%. However, if such shareholder is considered a “substantial sharcholder” (as defined above) at the time of sale or at any time during the

preceding 12-month period, such gain will be taxed at the rate of 30%. An additional tax at a rate of 3% will be imposed on high eamers whose annual income or gains exceeded
NIS 649,560, in 2019.
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Moreover, capital gains derived by a shareholder who is a dealer or trader in securities, or to whomsuch income is otherwise taxable as ordinary business income, are
taxed in Israel at ordinary income rates (currently, up to 50% for individuals and 23% for Israeli resident corporations).

Taxation of Non-Israeli Shareholders on Receipt of Dividends

Non-Israeli residents (corporations or individuals) are generally subject to Israeli income tax on the receipt of dividends paid on our Shares at the rate 0f25% (or 30%,
if such non-Israeli resident is a “substantial shareholder” at the time receiving the dividend or on any date in the 12 months preceding such date), which tax will be withheld at
source, unless a tax certificate is obtained fromthe Israeli Tax Authority authorizing withholding-exempt remittances or a reduced rate of tax pursuant to an applicable tax
treaty.

A non-Israeli resident who receives dividends from which tax was withheld is generally exempt fromthe duty to file tax returns in Israel in respect of such income.

For example, under the Convention Between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Israel with Respect to Taxes on Income, as
amended, Israeli withholding tax on dividends paid to a U.S. resident for treaty purposes may not, in general, exceed 25%, or 15% in the case of dividends paid out of the
profits of a Benefited Enterprise, subject to certain conditions. Where the recipient is a U.S. corporation owning 10% or more of the outstanding shares of the voting stock of
the paying corporation during the part of the paying corporation’s taxable year which precedes the date of payment of the dividend and during the whole of its prior taxable
year (if any) and not more than 25% of the gross income of the paying corporation for such prior taxable year (if any) consists certain interest or dividends, the Israeli tax
withheld may not exceed 12.5%, subject to certain conditions.

Capital gains income taxes applicable to non-Israeli shareholders.

Non-Israeli resident shareholders are generally exempt from Israeli capital gains taxon any gains derived fromthe sale, exchange or disposition of our ordinary shares,
provided that such gains were not derived froma permanent establishment or business activity of such shareholders in Israel and if additional conditions are met. However,
non-Israeli corporations’ shareholders will not be entitled to the foregoing exemptions if an Israeli resident (i) has a controlling interest of more than 25% in such non-Israeli

corporation or (ii) is the beneficiary of or is entitled to 25% or more of the revenues or profits of such non-Israeli corporation, whether directly or indirectly.

Regardless of whether shareholders may be liable for Israeli income tax on the sale of our ordinary shares, the payment of the consideration may be subject to
withholding of Israeli tax at the source. Accordingly, shareholders may be required to demonstrate that they are exempt fromtax on their capital gains in order to avoid
withholding at source at the time of sale.

Estate and gift tax

Currently, Israeli law does not impose estate or gift taxes.
United States Federal Income Tax Consequences

THE FOLLOWING SUMMARY IS INCLUDED HEREIN FOR GENERAL INFORMATION AND IS NOT INTENDED TO BE, AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED TO
BE, LEGAL OR TAX ADVICE. EACH U.S. HOLDER SHOULD CONSULT WITH HIS OR HER OWN TAX ADVISOR AS TO THE PARTICULAR U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX

CONSEQUENCES OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND SALE OF ORDINARY SHARES, INCLUDING THE EFFECTS OF APPLICABLE STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN OR
OTHER TAX LAWS AND POSSIBLE CHANGES IN THETAXTAWS.
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U.S. Federal Income Taxation

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act 0f 2017 (the “TCJA”), was signed into law making significant changes to U.S. income tax law, including a corporate
taxrate decrease from35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, modification of the U.S. international taxation system, and a one-time transition tax
on the mandatory deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017. We do not see a material direct impact on our financials as of December 31, 2019.

Subject to the limitations described in the next paragraph, the following discussion summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences to a “U.S. Holder”
arising fromthe purchase, ownership and sale of the ordinary shares. For this purpose, a “U.S. Holder” is a holder of ordinary shares that is: (1) an individual citizen or resident
of'the United States, including an alien individual who is a lawful permanent resident of the United States or meets the substantial presence residency test under U.S. federal
income tax laws; (2) a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) or a partnership (other than a partnership that is not treated as a
U.S. person under any applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations) created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or the District of Columbia or any political
subdivision thereof; (3) an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of source; (4) a trust if a court within the United States is able to exercise
primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust; (5) a trust that has a valid
election in effect to be treated as a U.S. person to the extent provided in U.S. Treasury regulations; or (6) any person otherwise subject to U.S. federal income taxon a net
income basis in respect of the ordinary shares, if such status as a U.S. Holder is not overridden pursuant to the provisions of an applicable tax treaty.

This summary is for general information purposes only and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all of the U.S. federal income tax considerations
that may be relevant to a decision to purchase or hold our ordinary shares. This summary generally considers only U.S. Holders that will own our ordinary shares as capital
assets. Except as explicitly discussed below, this summary does not consider the U.S. federal tax consequences to a person that is not a U.S. Holder, nor does it describe the
rules applicable to determine a taxpayer’s status as a U.S. Holder. This summary is based on the provisions of the Code, final, temporary and proposed U.S. Treasury
Regulations promulgated thereunder, administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, and the U.S./Israel Income Tax Treaty, all as in effect as of the date hereof and all of
which are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis, and all of which are open to differing interpretations. We will not seek a ruling fromthe U.S. Internal Revenue
Service, or the IRS, with regard to the U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in our ordinary shares by U.S. Holders and, therefore, can provide no assurances that
the IRS will agree with the conclusions set forth below.

This discussion does not address all of the aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to a particular shareholder based on such shareholder’s
particular circumstances and in particular does not discuss any estate, gift, generation-skipping, transfer, state, local or foreign tax considerations. In addition, this discussion
does not address the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a U.S. Holder who is subject to special taxrules, including any U.S. Holder who is: (1) a bank, life insurance company,
regulated investment company, or other financial institution or “financial services entity”; (2) a broker or dealer in securities or foreign currency; (3) a person who acquired our
ordinary shares in connection with employment or other performance of services; (4) a U.S. Holder that is subject to the U.S. alternative minimum tax; (5) a U.S. Holder that
holds our ordinary shares as a hedge or as part of a hedging, straddle, conversion or constructive sale transaction or other risk-reduction transaction for U.S. federal income tax
purposes; (6) a tax-exempt entity; (7) real estate investment trusts; (8) a U.S. Holder that expatriates out of the United States or a former long-termresident of the United States;
or (9) a person having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar. This discussion does not address the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a U.S. Holder that owns,
directly or constructively, at any time, ordinary shares representing 10% or more of our voting power. Additionally, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of persons who hold
ordinary shares through a partnership or other pass-through entity are not considered.

You are encouraged to consult your own tax advisor with respect to the specific U.S. federal and state income tax consequences to you of purchasing, holding or
disposing of our ordinary shares, including the effects of applicable state, local, foreign or other tax laws and possible changes in the tax laws.
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Distributions on Ordinary Shares

<

The entire discussion in this section is subject to the discussion under the heading “Passive Foreign Investment Companies” below.

A U.S. Holder, other than certain U.S. Holders that are U.S. corporations, will be required to include in gross income as ordinary income the amount of any distribution
paid on ordinary shares (including the amount of any Israeli tax withheld on the date of the distribution), to the extent that such distribution does not exceed our current and
accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The amount of a distribution that exceeds our eamings and profits will be treated first as
anon-taxable return of capital, reducing the U.S. Holder’s taxbasis for the ordinary shares to the extent thereof, and then capital gain. Corporate holders generally will not be
allowed a deduction for dividends received. For noncorporate U.S. Holders whose total adjusted income exceeds certain income thresholds, the maximum federal income tax
rate for “qualified dividend income” and long-term capital gains is generally 20%, and for noncorporate U.S. Holders, whose total adjusted income does not exceed such
thresholds, the maximum federal income tax rate for “qualified dividend income” and long-term capital gains is generally 15%. For this purpose, “qualified dividend income”
includes, among other things, dividends received froma “qualified foreign corporation.” A “qualified foreign corporation” is a corporation that is entitled to the benefits ofa
comprehensive tax treaty with the United States which includes an exchange of information program. The IRS has stated that the Israel/U.S. Tax Treaty satisfies this
requirement and we believe we are eligible for the benefits of that treaty.

For U.S. Holders that are corporations, the TCJA provides a 100% deduction for the foreign-source portion of dividends received from “specified 10-percent owned
foreign corporations” by U.S. corporate holders, subject to a one-year holding period. No foreign tax credit, including Israeli withholding tax (or deduction for foreign taxes
paid with respect to qualifying dividends) would be permitted for foreign taxes paid or accrued with respect to a qualifying dividend. This deduction would be unavailable for
“hybrid dividends.”

In addition, our dividends will be qualified dividend income if our ordinary shares are readily tradable on Nasdaq or another established securities market in the United
States. Dividends will not qualify for the preferential rate if we are treated, in the year the dividend is paid or in the prior year, as a PFIC. A U.S. Holder will not be entitled to the
preferential rate: (1) if the U.S. Holder has not held our ordinary shares or ADRs for at least 61 days of the 121 day period beginning on the date which is 60 days before the ex-
dividend date, or (2) to the extent the U.S. Holder is under an obligation to make related payments on substantially similar property. Any days during which the U.S. Holder has
diminished its risk of loss on our ordinary shares are not counted towards meeting the 61-day holding period. Finally, U.S. Holders who elect to treat the dividend income as
“investment income” pursuant to Code section 163(d)(4) will not be eligible for the preferential rate of taxation.

The amount of a distribution with respect to our ordinary shares will be measured by the amount of the fair market value of any property distributed, and for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, the amount of any Israeli taxes withheld therefrom. (See discussion above under Item 10.E - “Israeli Tax Considerations - Taxation of Our
Shareholders - Dividends.”) Cash distributions paid by us in NIS will be included in the income of U.S. Holders at a U.S. dollar amount based upon the spot rate of exchange in
effect on the date the dividend is includible in the income of the U.S. Holder, and U.S. Holders will have a taxbasis in such NIS for U.S. federal income tax purposes equal to
such U.S. dollar value. If the U.S. Holder subsequently converts the NIS, any subsequent gain or loss in respect of such NIS arising from exchange rate fluctuations will be U.S.
source ordinary exchange gain or loss.

Distributions paid by us will generally be foreign source income for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. Subject to the limitations set forth in the Code, U.S. Holders, other
than certain U.S. Holders that are corporations, may elect to claima foreign tax credit against their U.S. income tax liability for Israeli income tax withheld from distributions
received in respect of the ordinary shares. In general, these rules limit the amount allowable as a foreign tax credit in any year to the amount of regular U.S. tax for the year
attributable to foreign source taxable income. This limitation on the use of foreign tax credits generally will not apply to an electing individual U.S. Holder whose creditable
foreign taxes during the year do not exceed $300, or $600 for joint filers, if such individual’s gross income for the taxable year fromnon-U.S. sources consists solely of certain
passive income. A U.S. Holder will be denied a foreign tax credit with respect to Israeli income tax withheld from dividends received with respect to the ordinary shares if such
U.S. Holder has not held the ordinary shares for at least 16 days out of the 31-day period beginning on the date that is 15 days before the ex-dividend date or to the extent that
such U.S. Holder is under an obligation to make certain related payments with respect to substantially similar or related property. Any day during which a U.S. Holder has
substantially diminished his or her risk of loss with respect to the ordinary shares will not count toward meeting the 16-day holding period. A U.S. Holder will also be denied a
foreign tax credit if the U.S. Holder holds the ordinary shares in an arrangement in which the U.S. Holder’s reasonably expected economic profit is insubstantial compared to
the foreign taxes expected to be paid or accrued. The rules relating to the determination of'the U.S. foreign tax credit are complex, and U.S. Holders should consult with their
own taxadvisors to determine whether, and to what extent, they are entitled to such credit. U.S. Holders that do not elect to claima foreign tax credit may instead claima
deduction for Israeli income taxes withheld, provided such U.S. Holders itemize their deductions.
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Disposition of Shares

<

The entire discussion in this section is subject to the discussion under the heading “Passive Foreign Investment Companies” below.

Except as provided under the PFIC rules described below, upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of our ordinary shares, a U.S. Holder will recognize capital gain
or loss in an amount equal to the difference between such U.S. Holder’s taxbasis in the sold ordinary shares and the amount realized on the disposition of such ordinary
shares (or its U.S. dollar equivalent determined by reference to the spot rate of exchange on the date of disposition, if the amount realized is denominated in a foreign currency).
The gain or loss realized on the sale or exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares will be long-term capital gain or loss if the United States Holder has a holding period of
more than one year at the time of the disposition.

In general, gain realized by a U.S. Holder on a sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares will generally be treated as U.S. source income for U.S. foreign tax
credit purposes. A loss realized by a U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares is generally allocated to U.S. source income. However, U.S.
Treasury Regulations require such loss to be allocated to foreign source income to the extent specified dividends were received by the taxpayer within the 24-month period
preceding the date on which the taxpayer recognized the loss. The deductibility of a loss realized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares is subject to
limitations.

Tax on Net Inves tment Income

U.S. Holders who are individuals, estates or trusts will generally be required to pay a 3.8% tax on their net investment income (including dividends on and gains from
the sale or other disposition of our ordinary shares), or in the case of estates and trusts on their net investment income that is not distributed. In each case, the 3.8% Medicare
taxapplies only to the extent the U.S. Holder’s total adjusted income exceeds applicable thresholds.

Passive Foreign Investment Companies.

Special U.S. federal income tax laws apply to a U.S. Holder who owns shares of a corporation that was (at any time during the U.S. Holder’s holding period) a PFIC.
We would be treated as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes for any taxyear if, in such taxyear, either:

e  75% ormore of our gross income (including our pro rata share of gross income for any company, U.S. or foreign, in which we are considered to own 25% or more
ofthe shares by value), in a taxable year is passive; or

o Atleast 50% of our assets, averaged over the year and generally determined based upon value (including our pro rata share of the assets of any company in
which we are considered to own 25% or more of the shares by value), in a taxable year are held for the production of, or produce, passive income
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For this purpose, passive income generally consists of dividends, interest, rents, royalties, annuities and income from certain commodities transactions and from
notional principal contracts. Cash is treated as generating passive income. If we are or become classified as a PFIC while a U.S. Holder holds shares of our stock, we generally
will continue to be classified as a PFIC as to that U.S. Holder in later years even if we no longer satisfy the foregoing tests, unless the U.S. Holder makes a “deemed sale”
election under the PFIC rules. If the “deemed sale” election is made, a U.S. Holder will be deemed to have sold the ordinary shares the U.S. Holder holds at their fair market
value as of the date of such deemed sale and any gain fromsuch deemed sale would be subject to the PFIC rules described below.

If we are or become a PFIC, each U.S. Holder who has not elected to treat us as a qualified electing fund by making a “QEF election”, or who has not elected to mark
the shares to market (as discussed below), would, upon receipt of certain distributions by us and upon disposition of our ordinary shares at a gain, be liable to pay U.S. federal
income taxat the then prevailing highest taxrates on ordinary income plus interest on such tax, as if the distribution or gain had been recognized ratably over the taxpayer’s
holding period for the ordinary shares. In addition, when shares of a PFIC are acquired by reason of death froma decedent that was a U.S. Holder, the taxbasis of such shares
would not receive a step-up to fair market value as of the date of the decedent’s death, but instead would be equal to the decedent’s basis if lower, unless all gain were
recognized by the decedent. Indirect investments in a PFIC may also be subject to special U.S. federal income taxrules.

The PFIC taxation regime would not apply to a U.S. Holder who makes a QEF election for all taxable years that such U.S. Holder has held the ordinary shares while we
are a PFIC, provided that we comply with specified reporting requirements. Instead, each U.S. Holder who has made such a QEF election is required for each taxable year that
we are a PFIC to include in income such U.S. Holder’s pro rata share of our ordinary eamings as ordinary income and such U.S. Holder’s pro rata share of our net capital gains
as long-term capital gain, regardless of whether we make any distributions of such earnings or gain. The QEF election is made on a shareholder-by-shareholder basis and
generally may be revoked only with the consent of the IRS.In general, a QEF election is effective only if we make available certain required information, and we do not intend to
provide such information; accordingly, a QEF election would not be available to U.S. Holders.

A U.S. Holder of PFIC shares which are traded on qualifying public markets, including the Nasdagq, can elect to mark the shares to market annually, recognizing as
ordinary income or loss each year an amount equal to the difference as of the close of the taxable year between the fair market value of the PFIC shares and the U.S. Holder’s
adjusted taxbasis in the PFIC shares. The PFIC interest charges do not apply to taxes arising from mark-to-market gains pursuant to such election. Losses are allowed only to
the extent of net mark-to-market gain previously included income by the U.S. Holder under the election for prior taxable years. As with a QEF election, a mark-to-market election
is made on a shareholder-by-shareholder basis, applies to all ordinary shares held or subsequently acquired by an electing U.S. holder and can only be revoked with consent of
the IRS (except to the extent the ordinary shares no longer constitute “marketable stock”).

Based on the nature of our business, the projected composition of our income and the projected composition and estimated fair market values of our assets, we likely
will be classified as a PFIC. In addition, we may have been a PFIC in prior years and may be a PFIC in the future. U.S. Holders who hold ordinary shares during a period when
we are a PFIC will be subject to the foregoing rules, even if we cease to be a PFIC, subject to exceptions for U.S. Holders described above . U.S. Holders are strongly urged to
consult their taxadvisors about the PFIC rules, including taxreturn filing requirements and the eligibility, manner, and consequences to them of making applicable elections
under the PFIC rules.

Information Reporting and Withholding
A U.S. Holder may be subject to backup withholding (at a rate of 24% under current law) with respect to cash dividends and proceeds froma disposition of ordinary
shares. In general, back-up withholding will apply only if a U.S. Holder fails to comply with specified identification procedures. Backup withholding will not apply with respect

to payments made to designated exempt recipients, such as corporations and tax-exempt organizations. Backup withholding is not an additional taxand may be claimed as a
credit against the U.S. federal income tax liability of a U.S. Holder, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

105




Foreign Asset Reporting

Certain U.S. Holders who are individuals may be required to report information relating to an interest in the ordinary shares, subject to certain exceptions. U.S. Holders
are urged to consult their taxadvisors regarding the application of these and other reporting requirements that may apply to their ownership of ordinary shares.

Non-U.S. Holders of Ordinary Shares

Except as provided below, an individual, corporation, estate or trust that is not a U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax on
the payment of dividends on, and the proceeds fromthe disposition of, our ordinary shares.

A non-U.S. Holder may be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax on a dividend paid on our ordinary shares or the proceeds fromthe disposition of our
ordinary shares if: (1) such itemis effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business in the United States or, in the case ofa non-U.S. Holder
that is a resident of a country which has an income tax treaty with the United States, such itemis attributable to a permanent establishment or, in the case of gain realized by an
individual non-U.S. Holder, a fixed place of business in the United States; (2) in the case of a disposition of our ordinary shares, the individual non-U.S. Holder is present in the
United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the sale and other specified conditions are met; (3) the non-U.S. Holder is subject to U.S. federal income tax pursuant to
the provisions of the U.S. tax law applicable to U.S. expatriates.

In general, non-U.S. Holders will not be subject to backup withholding with respect to the payment of dividends on our ordinary shares if payment is made through a
paying agent, or office of a foreign broker outside the United States. However, if payment is made in the United States or by a U.S. related person, non-U.S. Holders may be
subject to backup withholding, unless the non-U.S. Holder provides on an applicable Form W-8 (or a substantially similar form) a taxpayer identification number, certifies to its
foreign status, or otherwise establishes an exemption. A U.S. related person for these purposes is a person with one or more current relationships with the United States.

The amount of any backup withholding froma payment to a non-U.S. Holder will be allowed as a credit against such holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability and may
entitle such holder to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

10.F. Dividends and paying agents
Not applicable.
10.G. Statement by experts

Not applicable.
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10.H. Documents on dis play

We are subject to certain of the information reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt fromthe rules and regulations
under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of proxy statements, and our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt fromthe reporting and
“short-swing” profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act, with respect to their purchase and sale of our ordinary shares. In addition, we are not
required to file reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as U.S. companies whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act. However,
we are required to file with the SEC, within four months after the end of each fiscal year, an annual report on Form 20-F containing financial statements audited by an
independent accounting firm. We publish unaudited interim financial information after the end of each quarter. We furnish this quarterly financial information to the SEC under
cover of a Form 6-K.

You may read and copy any document we file with the SEC at its public reference facilities at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copies of
the documents at prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of'the SEC at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The SEC also maintains a website that
contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC. The address of this website is
http://www.sec.gov. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference facilities.

10.L Subsidiary information
Not applicable.
ITEM11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOS URES ABOUT MARKET RISK
For a discussion related to our market risk, see Item 5 - “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects”.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

We do not have any outstanding American Depositary Shares or American Depositary Receipts.
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PART TWO

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None.
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Executive Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as such termis defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2019 (the “Evaluation Date”). Based on such evaluation,
those officers have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a
timely basis, information required to be included in periodic filings under the Exchange Act and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management,
including our principal executive and financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such termis defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based principally on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that
evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019 at providing reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by Yarel + Partners, our principal independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report that appears herein.

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As described in Amendment No. 2 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the “2018 20-F Amendment No. 2”"), management
concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at December 31, 2018 due to a material
weakness in internal control over financial reporting, resulting in the filing of Enlivex R&D’s historical audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 in our
Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed on April 30, 2019, rather than those of Bioblast.

As discussed in greater detail in Item 15 02018 20-F Amendment No. 2, management identified that a material weakness existed as of December 31, 2018 due to a
deficiency in the design of controls to appropriately perform effective and timely review of the accounting for, and disclosure of, non-routine business combinations. We
believe the identified material weakness has been fully remediated after the Company’s management took steps to strengthen the Company’s controls relating to non-routine
material business combination activity, including, enhancing policies and procedures and strengthening communication and information flows between legal and finance
personnel. Management is committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment and believes the above noted efforts will represent significant improvements to the
internal control environment.
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Other than as described in the preceding paragraph, during the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Board of Directors has determined that Shai Novik, our Executive Chairman and a member of our Audit Committee, is an audit committee financial expert, as
defined under the rules under the Exchange Act, and is independent in accordance with applicable Exchange Act rules and Nasdaq rules.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a written code of ethics that applies to our officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
controller and persons performing similar functions as well as our directors. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at https://www.enlivexcom.
Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute a part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F and is not incorporated by reference
herein. If we make any amendment to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waivers, including any implicit waiver, froma provision of the code, we will
disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website to the extent required by the rules and regulations of the SEC including the instructions to Item 16B of Form
20-F. We have not granted any waivers under our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

ITEM16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table provides information regarding fees paid by us to Yarel + Partners, our principal independent registered public accounting firm, for all services,
including audit services, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Year Ended
December 31,
2019 2018
Audit fees (1) $ 171,180 $ 77,500
Audit related fees @ 12,500
TaxFees @) 4,500 4,500
All other fees -
Total $ 175,680 $ 94,500

(1) Includes professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual financial statements and the review of our interim financial statements.

(2) Audit-related fees relate to assurance and associated services that traditionally are performed by the independence auditor including SEC filings, comfort letter, consents
and comment letters in connection with regulatory filings.

(3) Includes professional fees related to taxreturns and other taxrelated services.
Pre-Approval of Auditors’ Compensation

Our Audit Committee has adopted a pre-approval policy for the engagement of our independent registered public accounting firmto perform certain audit and non-
audit services. Pursuant to this policy, which is designed to assure that such engagements do not impair the independence of our auditors, the Audit Committee pre-approves
annually a catalog of specific audit and non-audit services in the categories of audit services, audit-related services and taxservices that may be performed by our independent
registered public accounting firm. If a type of service, that is to be provided by our auditors, has not received such general pre-approval, it will require specific pre-approval by
our Audit Committee. The policy prohibits retention of the independent registered public accounting firmto performthe prohibited non-audit functions defined in applicable
SEC rules. All of the fees in the table above were either pre-approved according to this policy, or otherwise pre-approved by our Audit Committee or Board of Directors. Prior
to the Merger during 2018 and in 2017, Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer (“Kost Forer”) served as the independent registered public accounting firm for Bioblast, and all audit-
related services, taxservices and all other services provided by Bioblast to Kost Forer, were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

On March 17, 2019, Enlivex appointed Yarel + Partners as the Company’s principal independent registered public accountant to audit the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. This action, taken at the General Meeting of shareholders, effectively dismissed Kost Forer as of March 17,
2019, as the Company’s principal independent registered public accountants.

Kost Forer served as the independent auditor for Bioblast prior to the Merger and previously provided an Independent Auditor’s Report dated April 23, 2018, for
Bioblast’s financial statements, which comprised the balance sheet as of December 31, 2017, and the related statements of operations, changes in sharcholders’ equity, and
cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

The audit report of Kost Forer on the financial statements of the Company, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, did not contain
any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles, except that the report for the year
ended December 31, 2017 dated April 23, 2018 contained an explanatory paragraph stating that: “The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared
assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses fromoperations,
and has stated that substantial doubt exists about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s evaluation of the events and conditions and
management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result fromthe
outcome of this uncertainty.”

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and through the date of this Annual Report on Form20-F, there were no disagreements with Kost Forer on any
matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which if not resolved to Kost Forer’s satisfaction would have
caused it to make reference thereto in connection with its reports on the financial statements for such years. During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and through
March 17, 2019, there were no reportable events of the type described in Item 16F(a)(1)(v) of Form 20-F.

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 and through March 17, 2019, the Company did not consult with Yarel + Partners with respect to any of (i) the

application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; (i) the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company’s financial
statements; or (iii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement or an event of the type described in Item 16F(a)(1)(v) of Form 20-F.
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The Company provided Kost Forer with a copy of the foregoing disclosure and requested Kost Forer to furnish the Company with a letter addressed to the Securities
and Exchange Commission stating whether it agrees with the statements made therein. A copy of such letter, dated April 30, 2019, furnished by Kost Forer is filed as Exhibit
16.1 to this Annual Report on Form20-F.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as related rules subsequently implemented by the SEC, requires foreign private issuers, such as us, to comply with various corporate
governance practices. In addition, we are required to comply with Nasdaq Stock Market rules. Under those rules, we may elect to follow certain corporate governance practices
permitted under the Companies Law in lieu of compliance with corresponding corporate governance requirements otherwise imposed by the Nasdaq Stock Market rules for U.S.
domestic issuers.

In accordance with Israeli law and practice and subject to the exemption set forth in Rule 5615 of the Nasdaq Listing Rules, we have elected to follow the provisions of
the Companies Law, rather than the Nasdaq Listing Rules, with respect to the following requirements:

e Distribution of periodic reports to shareholders; proxy solicitation. As opposed to the Nasdaq Listing Rules, which require listed issuers to make such reports
available to shareholders in one of a number of specific manners, Israeli law does not require us to distribute periodic reports directly to shareholders, and the
generally accepted business practice in Israel is not to distribute such reports to shareholders but to make such reports available through a public website. In
addition to making such reports available on a public website, we currently make our audited financial statements available to our shareholders at our offices and
will only mail such reports to shareholders upon request. As a foreign private issuer, we are generally exempt fromthe SEC’s proxy solicitation rules.

o  Quorum. While the Nasdaq Listing Rules require that the quorum for purposes of any meeting of the holders of a listed company’s common voting stock, as
specified in the company’s bylaws, be no less than one third of the company’s outstanding common voting stock, under Israeli law, a company is entitled to
determine in its articles of association the number of shareholders and percentage of holdings required for a quorumat a shareholders meeting. In line with the
Nasdaq Listing Rules, our Amended and Restated Articles of Association provide that the quorumrequired for our General Meeting of shareholders consists of
at least two shareholders present in person, by proxy or written ballot who holds or represent between themat least one-third of the total outstanding voting
rights. A meeting adjourned for lack of a quorumis generally adjourned to the same day in the following week at the same time and place or to a later time/date if
so specified in the summons or notice of the meeting. However, unlike the Nasdaq Listing Rules, at the reconvened meeting, any two or more shareholders
present in person or by proxy shall constitute a lawful quorum.

e Compensation of officers. Israeli law and our Amended and Restated Articles of Association do not require that the independent members of our Board of
Directors (or a Compensation Committee composed solely of independent members of our Board of Directors) determine an executive officer’s compensation, as
is generally required under the Nasdaq Stock Market rules with respect to the Chief Executive Officer and all other executive officers.

Shareholder approval is generally required in the event (i) approval by our Board of Directors and our Compensation Committee is not consistent with our office
holders compensation policy, or (ii) compensation required to be approved is that of our Chief Executive Officer or an executive officer who is also the controlling shareholder
of'us (including an affiliate thereof). Such shareholder approval shall require a majority vote of the shares present and voting at a shareholders meeting, provided either (i) such
majority includes a majority of the shares held by non-controlling shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the compensation arrangement that are voted at the
meeting, excluding for such purpose any abstentions disinterested majority, or (ii) the total shares held by non-controlling disinterested shareholders voted against the
arrangement does not exceed 2% of the voting rights in us.
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Additionally, approval of the compensation of a director, including a director who is also an executive officer, shall require a simple majority vote of the shares present
and voting at a shareholders meeting, if consistent with our office holders compensation policy or a special majority as set forth above if the proposed compensation for the
director is not consistent with our compensation policy. Our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors may, in special circumstances, approve the compensation of an
executive officer (other than a director or a controlling shareholder) despite shareholders’ objection, based on specified arguments and taking shareholders’ objection into
account. Our Compensation Committee may exempt an engagement with a nominee for the position of Chief Executive Officer, who meets the non-affiliation requirements for an
external director, as set forth in the Companies Law, fromrequiring shareholders’ approval, if such engagement is consistent with our office holders compensation policy and
our Compensation Committee determines based on specified arguments that presentation of such engagement to shareholders’ approval is likely to prevent such engagement.

A director or executive officer may not be present when the Compensation Committee or Board of Directors of a company discusses or votes upon the terms of his or
her compensation, unless the Chairman of the Compensation Committee or Board of Directors (as applicable) determines that he or she should be present to present the
transaction that is subject to approval.

e Shareholder approval. We will seek shareholder approval for all corporate actions requiring such approval under the requirements of the Companies Law, rather
than pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635. In particular, under this Nasdaq rule, shareholder approval would otherwise generally be required for: (i) an
acquisition of shares/assets of another company that involves the issuance 0f20% or more of the acquirer’s shares or voting rights or if a director, officer or 5%
shareholder has greater than a 5% interest in the target company or the consideration to be received; (i) the issuance of shares leading to a change of control; (iii)
adoption/amendment of equity compensation arrangements; and (iv) issuances of 20% or more of the shares or voting rights (including securities convertible
into, or exercisable for, equity) of a listed company via a private placement (and/or via sales by directors/officers/5% shareholders) if such equity is issued (or
sold) at below the greater of the book or market value of shares. By contrast, under the Companies Law, shareholder approval is required for, among other things:
(i) transactions with directors concerning the terms of their service or indemmnification, exemption and insurance for their service (or for any other position that
they may hold at a company), for which approvals of the Compensation Committee, Board of Directors and shareholders are all required, (ii) extraordinary
transactions with controlling shareholders of publicly held companies, which require the special approval described below under “Approval of Related Party
Transactions under Israeli Law - Disclosure of personal interests of controlling shareholders”, and (iii) terms of employment or other engagement of the
controlling shareholder of the company or such controlling shareholder’s relative, which require the special approval described below under “Approval of
Related Party Transactions under Israeli Law - Disclosure of personal interests of controlling shareholders”. In addition, under the Companies Law, a merger
requires approval of the shareholders of each of the merging companies.

Disclosure of personal interests of a controlling shareholder and approval of transactions

Under the Companies Law, the disclosure requirements that apply to an office holder also apply to a controlling shareholder of a public company. The definition of
“controlling shareholder” in connection with matters goveming: (i) extraordinary transactions with a controlling shareholder or in which a controlling shareholder has a
personal interest, (ii) certain private placements in which the controlling shareholder has a personal interest, (iii) certain transactions with a controlling shareholder or relative
with respect to services provided to or employment by the company, (iv) the terms of employment and compensation of the general manager, and (v) the terms of employment
and compensation of office holders of the company when such terms deviate fromthe compensation policy previously approved by the company’s shareholders, also includes
shareholders that hold 25% or more of the voting rights if no other shareholder owns more than 50% of the voting rights in the company (and the holdings of two or more
shareholders which each have a personal interest in such matter will be aggregated for the purposes of determining such threshold).
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Under the Companies Law, extraordinary transactions with a controlling shareholder or in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, including a private
placement in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, as well as transactions for the provision of services whether directly or indirectly by a controlling
shareholder or his or her relative, or a company such controlling shareholder controls, require the approval of the audit committee, the board of directors and the shareholders,
in that order. Transactions concerning the terms of engagement of a controlling shareholder or a controlling shareholder’s relative, whether as an office holder or an employee,
require the approval of the compensation committee, the board of directors and the shareholders, in that order. In addition, the approval of such extraordinary transactions by
the shareholders require at least a majority of the shares voted by the shareholders of the company participating and voting in a shareholders’ meeting, provided that one of
the following requirements is fulfilled:

e at least a majority of the shares held by shareholders who have no personal interest in the transaction and are voting at the meeting must be voted in favor of
approving the transaction, excluding abstentions; or

e the shares voted by sharcholders who have no personal interest in the transaction who vote against the transaction represent no more than 2% of the voting
rights in the company.

If such transaction concerns the terms of office and employment of such controlling shareholder, in his capacity as an office holder or an employee of the company,
such terms of office and employment approved by the compensation committee and board of directors shall be in accordance with the compensation policy of the company.
Nonetheless, the compensation committee and the board of directors may approve terms of office and compensation of a controlling shareholder which do not comply with the
company’s compensation policy, provided that the compensation committee and, thereafter, the board of directors approve such terms, based on, among other things, the
considerations listed under Section 267B(a) and Parts A and B of Annex 1A of the Companies Law, as those are described above. Following such approval by the
compensation committee and board of directors, shareholder approval would be required.

To the extent that any such transaction with a controlling shareholder is for a period extending beyond three years, approval, in the same manner described above, is
required once every three years, unless, with respect to extraordinary transactions with a controlling shareholder or in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest,
the audit committee determines that the duration of the transaction is reasonable given the circumstances related thereto.

ITEM16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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PART THREE

ITEM17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following financial statements, and the related notes thereto, and the Report of Independent Public Accountants are filed as a part of this annual report.

Audited Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-3
Balance Sheets F-5
Statements of Operations F-6
Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity F-7
Statements of Cash Flows F-8
Notes to Financial Statements F-9-F-24
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ITEM 19. EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT INDEX

EXHIBIT

NUMBER DESCRIPTION OF DOCUMENT

1.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Association of the Company, filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Form 6-K filed on March 27, 2019 (File No. 001-36578) and
incorporated herein by reference.

2.1* Description of Ordinary Shares

4.1 Bioblast Pharma Itd. 2013 Incentive Option Plan. as amended., filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 20-F filed on March 29, 2016 (File No. 001-36578). and incorporated
herein by reference.

42 Enlivex Therapeutics [td. 2014 Global Share Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 20-F filed on April 30, 2019 (File No. 001-36578). and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.3* Enlivex Therapeutics [td. 2019 Global Share Incentive Plan.

44 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 19, 2018 by and among Bioblast Pharma Ltd.. Treblast Ltd. and Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.. filed as Exhibit
99.1 to Form 6-K filed on November 19. 2018 (File No. 001-36578), and incorporated herein by reference.

45 Form of Ordinary Share Purchase Warrant issued to investors on March 22, 2016, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 6-K filed on March 18. 2016 (File No. 001-
36578). and incorporated herein by reference.

4.6 Form of Indemnification Agreement, filed as Exhibit 4.5 to Form 20-F filed on April 30, 2019 (File No. 001-36578). and incorporated herein by reference.

4.7 Agreement between the Company and A.S. Novik, dated as of September 7, 2018, filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Form 20-F filed on April 30, 2019 (File No. 001-36578
and incorporated herein by reference.

4.8* Employment Agreement between the Company and Oren Hershkovitz, dated as of November 16, 2019.

49 Employment Agreement between the Company and Shachar Shlosberger, dated as of May 3. 2016, filed as Exhibit 4.8 to Form 20-F filed on April 30, 2019
(File No. 001-36578). and incorporated herein by reference.

4.10 Consulting Agreement between the Company. Hadasit Medical Research Services and Development and Dror Mevorach, dated as of January 1, 2017, filed
as Exhibit 4.9 to Form 20-F filed on April 30, 2019 (File No. 001-36578). and incorporated herein by reference.

4.11 License Agreement between the Company and Tolaren [ td.. dated as of April 30, 2008, filed as Exhibit 4.10 to Form 20-F filed on April 30, 2019 (File No. 001-
36578), and incorporated herein by reference.

4.12 License Agreement between the Company, Hadasit Medical Research Services and Development [td. And Yissum Research and Development Company
Ltd.. dated as of March 12, 2006, filed as Exhibit 4.11 to Form 20-F filed on April 30, 2019 (File No. 001-36578). and incorporated herein by reference.

4.13 Securities Purchase A greement. dated March 11. 2019, filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Form 6-K filed on March 27, 2019 (File No. 001-36578) and incorporated herein
by reference.

4.14 Contingent Value Rights Agreement. dated November 19, 2018, filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Form 6-K filed on November 19, 2018 (File No. 001-36578), and

incorporated herein by reference.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000114420419016097/tv516517_ex99-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000114420416090954/v434244_20f.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex4-2_enlivextherap.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000114420418060786/tv507544_ex99-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000114420416088758/v434627_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex4-5_enlivextherap.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex4-6_enlivextherap.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex4-8_enlivextherap.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex4-9_enlivextherap.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex4-10_enlivextherap.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex4-11_enlivextherap.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000114420419016097/tv516517_ex99-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000114420418060786/tv507544_ex99-2.htm

4.15%+

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

8.1*

12.1*
12.2*
13.1*
13.2*
15.1*

16.1
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*  Filed herewith.

Research Agreement, between the Company and Cell Generation (C-G) Ltd.. dated May 12, 2019.

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement in the February 2020 offering (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to Form 6-K filed on February 26, 2020 (File No. 001-36578), and
incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Placement A gent Warrant in the February 2020 offering (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 6-K filed on February 26, 2020 (File No. 001-36578). and
incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement in the March 2020 offering (filed as Exhibit 1.1 to Form 6-K filed on March 5, 2020 (File No. 001-36578). and
incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Investor Warrant in the March 2020 offering (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Form 6-K filed on March 5, 2020 (File No. 001-36578). and incorporated herein by

reference.

Form of Placement A gent Warrant in the March 2020 offering (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Form 6-K filed on March 5, 2020 (File No. 001-36578). and incorporated
herein by reference.

List of Subsidiaries of Enlivex Therapeutics [td.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, furnished herewith.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, furnished herewith.

Consent of Consent of Yarel + Partners

Letter to the SEC from Kost, Forer, Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of EY Global. filed as Exhibit 16.1 to Form 20-F filed on April 30. 2019 (File No. 001-36578).
and incorporated herein by reference.

The following materials from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2019 formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) the Balance Sheets, (ii) the Statements of Operations, (iii) the Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, (iv) the Statements of Cash
Flows (v) the Notes to Financial Statements and (vi) Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Infomation, tagged as blocks of text and in detail.

+  Portions of the exhibit have been omitted because such information is both (i) not material and (ii) could be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390020004819/ea119024ex1-1_enlivex.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390020004819/ea119024ex4-1_enlivex.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390020005465/ea119269ex1-1_enlivex.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390020005465/ea119269ex4-1_enlivex.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390020005465/ea119269ex4-2_enlivex.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1596812/000121390019007437/f20f2018ex16-1_enlivextherap.htm

SIGNATURES

Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this
annual report on its behalf.

Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.

By: /s/ Oren Hershkovitz

Oren Hershkovitz
Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 30,2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related
statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the financial statements).

We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Intemal Control—Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of'its
operations and its cash flows for each ofthe years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We are a public accounting firmregistered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and performthe audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the companys;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of'its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

/s/ Yarel + Partners

Yarel + Partners

Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)

Tel-Aviv, Israel
April 2, 2020

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013.
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ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
US. dollars in thousands (except share data)

December 31,

2019 2018
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (notes 2d, 3) $ 3948 § 9,736
Short term deposits 8,060 40
Prepaid expenses 510 288
Other receivables 403 213
Cash held with respect to CVR Agreement (notes 1a,3) 1,500 -
Receivables for the sale of Trehalose (note 1a) 2,000 -
Total Current Assets 16,421 10,277
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash (notes 2e, 3) 76 56
Long-term prepaid expenses 5 16
Property and equipment, net (notes 2f, 4) 648 685
Other assets (notes 2h, 8) 410 -
Total Non-Current Assets 1,139 757
TOTAL ASSETS $ 17,560 $ 11,034
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable trade $ 316 $ 173
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (note 5) 1,897 944
Payables to related parties (note 13) 367 13
CWR holders (note la) 3,400 -
Total Current Liabilities 5,980 1,130
Non-Current Liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations (note 2j) - 6
Other long-term Liabilities (notes 2h, 8) 298 -
Warrants (note 6) - 192
Total Non-Current Liabilities 298 198

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (note 9) -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,278 1,328
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock of NIS 0.40 ($0.11) par value: (note 10)

Authorized: 45,000,000 and 11,861,073 shares as of December 31, 2019 and 2018; Issued and outstanding: 10,334,126 and 3,509,405

as of December 31, 2019 and 2018; 1,151 396
Series A Preferred Stock, NIS 0.4 ($0.11) par value: (note 10)

Authorized and outstanding 3,146,815 and 3,059,730 shares as of December 31, 2018 - 309
Series B Preferred Stock, NIS 0.4 ($0.11) par value: (note 10)

Authorized and outstanding 3,485,703 and 1,373,804 shares as of December 31, 2018 - 156
Series C Preferred Stock, NIS 0.4 ($0.11) par value: (note 10)

Authorized and outstanding 3,146,815 and 525,171 shares as of December 31, 2018 - 59
Additional paid in capital 37,104 27,326
Foreign currency translation adjustments (note 2c) (1,300) (2,251)
Accumulated deficit (25,673) (16,289)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 11,282 9,706
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 17,560  $ 11,034

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Revenues (note 2k) $ - $ -3 o
Operating expenses:
Research and development expenses, net (notes 21, 15a) 5,724 4,255 1,691
General and administrative expenses (note 15b) 2,895 1,044 480
8,619 5,299 2,171

Operating (loss) (8,619) (5,299) 2,171)
Financial income (note 15¢) 238 1,060 37
Financial expenses (note 15d) (1,003) 3) (370
Net (loss) $ (9,384) $ (4242) $ (2,504)
Other comprehensive gain (loss)
Interest on convertible notes -
Exchange differences arising fromtranslating financial statements from functional to presentation currency (note

2¢, 2r) 951 (743) 336
Total other comprehensive gain (loss) 951 (743) 336
Total comprehensive (loss) $ (8433 $ (4990 8 (2,168)
Basic & diluted (loss) per share (note 20) $ (11D § (140) $ 0.94)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 8,649,486 3,509,346 3,425,925

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

US. dollars in thousands (except share data)

JANUARY 1, 2017

Issuance of Common Stock in
connection with conversion of notes
in 2016

Issuance of Preferred Sock Series B for
cash consideration of $8,249 net of
$519 issuance costs

Stock based compensation

Other comprehensive gain

Net loss

DECEMBER 31, 2017

Exercise of Options

Issuance of Preferred Sock Series C for
cash consideration of $5,350 net of
$156 issuance costs

Stock based compensation

Other comprehensive loss

Net loss

DECEMBER 31, 2018

Conversion of Preferred Shares to
Ordinary Shares

Issuance of shares upon exercise of
warrants

Issuance of shares for cash consideration
of $8,362 net of $655 issuance costs

Shares issued in conjunction with share
option exercise

Issuance of shares in connection with
the merger

Stock based compensation

Other comprehensive gain

Net loss

DECEMBER 31, 2019

*  Less than $1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Common stock Preferred Stock Currency
Number of Number of Additional translation Accumulated
shares Share capital shares Share capital paid in capital adjustments deficit Total

3,390,733  $ 383 3,059,730  $ 309 $ 13,500 $ (1,839) $ 9,543) $ 2,810
118,611 13 - - (13) - - -
- - 1,373,804 156 7,574 - - 7,730
- - - - 121 - - 121
- - - - - 336 - 336

- - - - - - (2,504) (2,504)
3,509,344 396 4,433,534 465 21,182 (1,503) (12,047) 8,493
61 * o o * - - *
- - 525,171 59 5,135 - - 5,194
- - - - 1,009 - - 1,009

- - - - - (748) - (748)

- - - - - - (4,242) (4,242)
3,509,405 396 4,958,705 524 27,326 (2,251) (16,289) 9,706
5,479,547 605 (4,958,705) (524) (81) - - -
20,348 2 247 249
682,631 76 7,631 7,707
221,641 25 574 599
420,554 47 597 644
810 810
- 951 951

_ (9,384) (9,384)
10,334,126 $ 1,151 -3 -3 37,104 $ (1,300 $ (25673)  § 11,282
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ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
U.S. dollars in thousands

Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Net (loss) $ ©.384) $§ 4242) $ (2,504)
Adjustments required to reflect net cash used in operating activities:

Income and expenses not involving cash flows:

Depreciation 206 121 83

Non-cash operating lease expense 168 - -

Decrease in retirement benefit obligations (@) - -

Loss on sale of property and equipment 75 - -

Share-based compensation 810 1,009 121

Issuance expenses related to warrants exercisable into shares - - 19

Changes in fair value of warrants exercisable into shares 51 (132) -

Changes in operating asset and liability items:

(Increases) decrease in prepaid expenses 277 (293) 33

(Increase) decrease in other receivables 41 (130) (40)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable trade 114 145 1

Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities 433 372 (11)
Operating lease liabilities (167) - -

Increase (decrease) in related parties payable 342 (11) (6)
Net cash (used in) operating activities (7,041) (3,161) (2,304)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment (193) (461) (130)
Proceeds fromsale of property and equipment 4 - -
Investment in short-term bank deposits (7,714) (40) -
Net cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash received in the issuance of shares for the net assets of Bioblast

Pharma Ltd. 1,544
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (6,359) (501) (130)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds fromissuance of ordinary shares, preferred shares and warrants, net 7,707 5,194 8,055
Proceeds fromexercise of options 599 * -
Net cash provided by financing activities 8,306 5,194 8,055
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (5,094) 1,532 5,621
Cash, cash equivalents andrestricted cash - beginning of year 9,792 9,032 3,045
Exchange rate differences on cash, cash equivalents andrestricted cash 826 (772) 366
Cash, cash equivalents andrestricted cash - end of year $ 5524 $ 9792 $ 9,032
Non-cash transactions:
Conversion of preferred stock to ordinary shares $ 525 $ - $ -
Conversion of 6% preference on preferred stock to ordinary shares S 2071 $ $
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of warrants $ 249 § $
Issuance of common and preferred shares in connection with conversion

of convertible notes and accrued interest $ -3 - $ 7
Issuance of shares to the former shareholders of Bioblast Pharma Ltd. g 47 $ $

Net assets acquired in the issuance of shares for the net assets of Bioblast Pharma Ltd. excluding cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash:

Assets acquired (2,632)
Less - liabilities assumed 3,532
$ 900 $ $
Supplemental disclosures of cash flowinformation:
Cash paid for taxes $ -3 - $ -
Cash received for interest, net $ 112§ 138 $ 37

*  Less than $1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

NOTE1 — GENERAL INFORMATION

a. General
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (the “Parent” and, including its consolidated subsidiaries, “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”’) was originally incorporated on
January 22, 2012 under the laws of the State of Israel as Bioblast Pharma Ltd.

In January 2015, Bioblast Pharma Inc. was established in the State of Delaware as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent (the “Subsidiary™).

On March 26, 2019, upon consummation of a merger transaction between the Parent and Enlivex Therapeutics R&D Ltd., (“Enlivex R&D”, formerly known as
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.), whereby Enlivex R&D merged with Treblast Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Parent) with Enlivex R&D remaining as the surviving entity in
the merger (the “Merger”), the Parent changed its name to Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.

The Merger has been treated as a reverse recapitalization of the Parent for financial accounting and reporting purposes, as such, Enlivex R&D is treated as
the acquirer and the Parent is treated as the acquired entity.

Excess of consideration paid over net assets acquired and other merger-related costs were recorded as a charge to additional paid-in capital as discussed in
Note 7.

As aresult, the financial statements of the Company prior to the Merger are the historical financial statements of Enlivex R&D whereas the financial
statements of the Company after the Merger reflect the results of the consolidated operations. All historical information presented herein has been
retroactively restated to reflect the effect of the merger shares exchange ratio, reverse stock split and change to the authorized number of Ordinary Shares, in
each case effected in connection with the Merger and in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 260, “Eamings Per Share”.

The Company is a clinical-stage immunotherapy company. Enlivex R&D was incorporated in September 2005 under the laws of the State of Israel and has
been engaged since inception in the development of an allogeneic drug pipeline for immune systemrebalancing. Immune systemrebalancing is critical for the
treatment of life-threatening immune and inflammatory conditions, which involve the hyper-expression of cytokines (Cytokine Release Syndrome) and for
which there are no U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approved treatments, as well as treating solid tumors via modulating immune-checkpoint
rebalancing. The Company’s innovative immunotherapy candidate, Allocetra™, is a novel immunotherapy candidate based on a unique mechanismof action
that targets clinical indications that are defined as “unmet medical needs,” such as preventing or treating complications associated with bone marrow
transplants and/or hematopoietic stemcell transplants, sepsis and acute multiple organ failure. The Company also intends to develop its cell-based therapy
to be combined with currently effective treatments of solid tumors via immune checkpoint rebalancing to increase the efficacy of various anti-cancer
therapies, including Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy and therapies targeting T-Cell Receptor Therapy. The Company’s development is based on
the discoveries of Professor Dror Mevorach, an expert on clearance of dying (apoptotic) cells, in his laboratory in the Hadassah University Hospital located
in the State of Israel.

At the closing of the Merger, the Parent, Enlivex R&D, the Parent’s pre-Merger CEO, as representative of the pre-Merger Parent’s shareholders, and a rights
agent entered into a Contingent Value Rights Agreement (the “CVR Agreement”). Pursuant to the CVR Agreement, the Parent’s shareholders immediately
prior to the Merger received one CVR for each of the Parent’s’ ordinary shares held of record immediately prior to the closing of the Merger. Each CVR
represents the right to receive payments based on the Parent’s pre-Merger clinical development programs. CVR holders are entitled to receive 100% of any
payments up to $20,000 received by the Company and 50% of any subsequent consideration in excess of such amount, in each case, net of all related
transaction expenses.

On February 19, 2019, the Parent sold its pre-Merger clinical development programs for “Trehalose” to Seelos Therapeutics, Inc. (“Seelos™), a clinical-stage
biopharmaceutical company. Under the terms of the agreement between the Parent and Seelos, Seelos paid $1,500 upon closing and paid an additional $2,000
upon the first anniversary of the closing. Seelos has agreed to pay additional milestone payments of up to $17,000 upon completion of the related clinical
study for Trehalose and approval of a New Drug Application by the FDA, as well as royalties.

The Company’s ordinary shares, NIS 0.40 per share (“Ordinary Shares” or “ordinary shares”), are traded under the symbol “ENLV” on both the Nasdaq
Capital Market and on the on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange.




ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

b. Financial resources

The Company devotes substantially all of its efforts toward research and development activities and raising capital. The Company’s activities are subject to
significant risks and uncertainties, including failing to secure additional funding before the Company achieves sustainable revenues and profit from
operations.

Research and development activities have required significant capital investment since the Company’s inception. The Company expects its operations to
continue to require cash investment to pursue the Company’s research and development activities, including preclinical studies, formulation development,
clinical trials and related drug manufacturing. The Company has not generated any revenues or product sales and has not achieved profitable operations or
positive cash flow from operations. The Company’s has experienced net losses since its inception, and, as of December 31, 2019, had accumulated deficit of
$25,673.

The Company raised $7,751 in cash in conjunction with the Merger and the issuance of shares immediately after the Merger, as well as additional cash of
$22,629 subsequent to December 31, 2019 in conjunction with certain registered securities offerings. See note 16 to these audited consolidated financial
statements. However, the Company expects to continue to incur additional losses for at least the next several years and over that period the Company will
need to raise additional debt or equity financing or enter into partnerships to fund its development. If the Company is not able to achieve its funding
requirements, it may be required to reduce discretionary spending, may not be able to continue the development of'its product candidates or may be required
to delay part of'its development programs, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to achieve its intended business objectives.
There can be no assurances that additional financing will be secured or, if secured, will be on favorable terms. The ability of the Company to transition to
profitability in the longer termis dependent on developing products and product revenues to support its expenses.

The Company’s management and board of directors are of the opinion that its current financial resources will be sufficient to continue the development of
the Company’s products for at least twelve months fromthe filing of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2019, of
which these audited consolidated financial statements forma part.

NOTE?2 — SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Basis of presentation
The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2019, have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”). All intercompany

accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The significant accounting policies described below have been applied on a consistent
basis for all years presented.

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, subject to adjustment of financial assets and liabilities to their fair value through
profit or loss. The Company classifies its expenses on the statement of comprehensive loss based on the operating characteristics of such expenses.

b. Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions, it also
requires that management exercise its judgment in applying the Company’s accounting policies. The Company’s management believes that the estimates,
judgments and assumptions used were reasonable based upon information available at the time they were made. These estimates, judgments and
assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially fromthose estimates.

c. Functional currency and translation to the reporting currency
The functional currency of the Company is the New Israeli Shekel (“NIS”), which is the local currency in which the Company operates.
The financial statements of the Company were translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with ASC 830, “Foreign Currency Matters”. Accordingly, assets
and liabilities were translated fromlocal currencies to U.S. dollars using year end exchange rates, equity items were translated at the exchange rates of the
date of the equity transaction, and income and expense items were translated at average exchange rates during the year.
Gains or losses resulting fromtranslation adjustments (which result fromtranslating an entity’s financial statements into U.S. dollars if its functional currency

is different than the U.S. dollar) are reported in other comprehensive income (loss).
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ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

Computers

Balances denominated in, or linked to foreign currency are stated on the basis of the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. For foreign
currency transactions included in the statement of income, the exchange rates applicable on the relevant transaction dates are used. Transaction gains or
losses arising from changes in the exchange rates used in the translation of such balances are carried to financing income or expenses as applicable.

The exchange rate for 1 U.S. $ was 3.456, 3.748 and 3.467 NIS as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase (decrease) of the U.S. §
against the NIS for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was (7.8)%, 8.1% and (9.8)%, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with original maturities of three months or less at acquisition.
Restricted cash:

Amounts included in restricted cash are held in interest bearing saving accounts, represent cash amounts required to be set aside by a contractual agreement
for the rental of the Company’s premises and for credit cards.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
ofthe assets. The annual depreciation rates are as follows:

%
33

Office furniture and equipment 7
Leasehold improvements 6
Laboratory equipment 15-33

g.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The long-lived assets of the Company are reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, “Property, Plant, and Equipment”, whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by
a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset with the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of
the assets. During the years 2018, 2017, and 2016, no impairment losses were identified.

Leases

In accordance with ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent our right to use the underlying leased assets over the lease
term, and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising fromthe related leases. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the
lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease
when we believe it is reasonably certain that we will exercise such options. Operating lease ROU assets are reported in other assets, and operating lease
liabilities are reported in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (current), and other long-term liabilities (non-current) in our condensed consolidated
balance sheets.

Because most of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit interest rate, the Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate to determine the
present value of lease payments. Lease expenses for operating lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, and the related
ROU assets and liabilities are reduced to the present value of the remaining lease payments at the end of each period. Short-term leases (with a termof 12
months or less) are not recorded as ROU assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s lease agreements include rental payments
that adjust periodically for inflation and do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.
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ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

i. Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes equity-based compensation expenses for awards of equity instruments to employees and non-employees based on the grant date
fair value of those awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). ASC 718 requires all equity-based compensation
awards to employees and non-employee directors, including grants of restricted shares and stock options, to be recognized as expense in the consolidated
statements of operations based on their grant date fair values. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The option pricing model requires a number of assumptions. Until the closing of the Merger, was no market for the Ordinary Shares, consequently the
Company utilized third-party valuations to estimate the fair value of its Ordinary Shares. For the estimation of the expected volatility of the Company’s share
price, the Company used the historical volatility of comparable companies in the industry with characteristics similar to the Company, including stage of
product development and focus on the life science industry. The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options granted are
expected to be outstanding, the company uses management’s estimates for the expected termof options due to insufficient readily available historical
exercise data. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield rates of U.S. Government Treasury Bonds with an equivalent term. The Company has
historically not paid dividends and has no foreseeable plans to pay dividends.

The Company accounted for stock options issued to non-employees in accordance with ASC Topic 505-50 “Equity-Based Payment to Non-Employees”.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted changes issued by the FASB related to Stock Compensation. In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-
07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting. This ASU simplifies aspects of
share-based compensation issued to non-employees by making the guidance consistent with the accounting for employee share-based compensation.

j. Employees benefits

The Company is required by Israeli law to make severance payments to Israeli employees upon their dismissal or termination of employment in certain other
circumstances. The Company operates a number of post-employment defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a program that benefits an
employee after termination of employment, under which the Company regularly makes fixed payments to a fund administered by a separate and independent
entity so that the Company has no legal or constructive obligation to pay additional contributions if such fund does not contain sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits to which they may be entitled relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The fund assets are not included in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company operates pension and severance compensation plans subject to Section 14 of the Israeli Severance
Pay Law. The plans are funded through payments to insurance companies or pension funds administered by trustees. In accordance with its terms, the plans
meet the definition of a defined contribution plan.

Short term employee benefits - Labor laws in Israel entitle every employee to vacation days, paid sick leave and recreation pay, computed annually. The
Company recognizes a liability and an expense in respect of vacation and recreation pay based on the individual entitlement of each employee.

k. Revenue Recognition
The Company has not yet generated any revenue fromproduct sales or otherwise.

I. Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses are charged to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss as incurred and consist of salaries, stock-based
compensation, benefits and other personnel-related costs, fees paid to consultants, clinical trials, patent costs and facilities and overhead costs. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company had not yet capitalized development expenses.

m. Patents
The Company expenses all costs associated with patents for product candidates under development as incurred. As a result of the Company’s research and
development efforts, the Company is applying for a number of patents to protect proprietary technology and inventions. To date, the Company has not
capitalized patent costs. The Company recorded a charge to operations of approximately $120, $242 and $219 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively, related to patent costs.

n. Income taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740-10 “Accounting for Income Taxes”. This Statement requires the use of the liability
method of accounting for income taxes, whereby deferred tax asset and liability account balances are determined based on the differences between financial

reporting and taxbases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted taxrates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected
to reverse.
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ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

As the Company is currently engaged primarily in development activities and is not expected to generate taxable income in the foreseeable future, the
Company provides a valuation allowance, to reduce deferred taxassets to their estimated realizable value.

ASC 740 contains a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring a liability for uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position taken
or expected to be taken in a taxreturn by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that, on an evaluation ofthe
technical merits, the tax position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. The second step is to measure
the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company
recorded a liability of $635 and $222, respectively, for uncertain tax positions. The Company does not expect that the amounts of uncertain tax positions will
change significantly within the next year.

0. Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during each year. Diluted net loss per share is
calculated based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during each year, plus dilutive potential in accordance with ASC 260,
“Earmings per Share.”

All outstanding preferred stock, options and warrants for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 have been excluded fromthe calculation of the
diluted net loss per share because all such securities are anti-dilutive for all years presented. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the total
weighted average number of shares related to outstanding potential shares excluded fromthe calculations of diluted net loss per share was 3,247,127,
8,638,789 and 4,926,621, respectively. The following data show the amounts used in computing income (loss) per share and the effect on income (loss):

Year ended December 31,

Basic and diluted (loss) per share: 2019 2018 2017
(Loss) income from continuing operations $ (9384) $ 4242) $ (2,503)
Interest of 6% to Cunulative Preferred Stock (198) (659) (717)

$ (9,582) $ (4901) $ (3,220
Number of common shares at the beginning of the year 3,509,405 3,509,344 3,390,733
Issuance of shares for cash 518,295 - -
Issuance of shares in connection with the merger 322,617 - -
Stock options exercised 80,073 2 -
Warrants exercised 15,609 - -
Conversion of Preferred Shares 4,203,487 - -
Conversion of convertible notes - 35,192
Number of shares used in per share computation 8,649,486 3,509,346 3,425,925
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share $ (11D $ (140 $ (0.94)

p- Concentrations of credit risk:

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are invested in major banks in Israel. Such deposits in Israel are not insured. Management believes that the
financial institutions that hold the Company’s investments are financially sound and, accordingly, minimal credit risk exists with respect to these
investments.
The Company has no foreign exchange contracts or any other hedging arrangements.

g Fair value of financial instruments
The Company applies ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC 8207), pursuant to which fair value is defined as the price that would be

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
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ASC 820 establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable
inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability developed based on market data obtained fromsources independent of the Company.

The financial instruments presented on the balance sheet at fair value are grouped into classes with similar characteristics using the following fair value
hierarchy which is determined based on the source of input used in measuring fair value:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or labilities.
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data (valuation techniques which use inputs that are not based on observable market data). The
Company’s warrants exercisable for ordinary shares were classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and measured at fair value on a recurring basis. All
such warrants were exercised for ordinary shares in 2019.

r. Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive loss is the change in shareholders’ equity fromtransactions and other events and circumstances other than those resulting frominvestments
by shareholders and distributions to shareholders.

The Company accounts for comprehensive income (loss) in accordance with ASC 220, “Comprehensive Income”. This statement establishes standards for
the reporting and display of comprehensive income (loss) and its components in a full set of general purpose financial statements.

The Company’s other comprehensive income (loss) is currently comprised of gains or losses resulting from translation adjustments which result from
translating the Company’s financial statements into U.S. dollars when its functional currency is different than the U.S. dollar.

s. Reclassification

Certain amounts in the prior periods financial statements have been reclassified to conformto the presentation of the current period financial statements.
These reclassifications had no effect on the previously reported net loss.

t. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), - Disclosure Framework -
Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement,” which makes a number of changes meant to add, modify or remove certain disclosure
requirements associated with the movement amongst or hierarchy associated with Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements. This guidance is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted this ASU on January 1,
2020. The adoption ofthis ASU did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (“ASU 2019-12”), which is
intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740
and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those
fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, the adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

u. Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (ASU 2014-09) as modified by ASU No. 2015-14,
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date,” ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606):
Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net),” ASU No. 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606):
Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing,” and ASU No. 2016-12, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope
Improvements and Practical Expedients.” The revenue recognition principle in ASU 2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer
of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. In addition, new and enhanced disclosures will be required. Companies may adopt the new standard either using the full retrospective approach, a
modified retrospective approach with practical expedients, or a cunulative effect upon adoption approach. The Company adopted the new standard effective
January 1, 2018. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. ASU No. 2016-01 requires
equity investments to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income; simplifies the impairment assessment of equity
investments without readily determinable fair values by requiring a qualitative assessment to identify impairment; eliminates the requirement for public
business entities to disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments
measured at amortized cost on the balance sheet; requires public business entities to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial
instruments for disclosure purposes; requires an entity to present separately in other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the fair value
of a liability resulting froma change in the instrument-specific credit risk when the entity has elected to measure the liability at fair value in accordance with
the fair value option for financial instruments; requires separate presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and formof
financial assets on the balance sheet or the accompanying notes to the financial statements; and clarifies that an entity should evaluate the need fora
valuation allowance on a deferred tax asset related to available-for-sale securities in combination with the entity’s other deferred taxassets. ASU No. 2016-01
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company
adopted the provisions of ASU 2016-01 on January 1, 2018. The adoption of this update did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which supersedes FASB ASC Topic 840, Leases (Topic 840) and provides
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both lessees and lessors. The new standard requires lessees to apply a
dual approach, classifying leases as either finance or operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by
the lessee. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or on a straight-line basis over the
termof the lease, respectively. A lessee is also required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than twelve
months regardless of classification. Leases with a term of twelve months or less will be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases. The
standard is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted upon issuance. The Company adopted
this standard on January 1, 2019. See Note 8 to these audited consolidated financial statements.

In May 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the FASB) issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of
Modification Accounting, (ASU 2017-09). ASU 2017-09 provides clarity and reduces both (1) diversity in practice and (2) cost and complexity when applying
the guidance in Topic 718, to a change to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award. The amendments in ASU 2017-09 should be applied
prospectively to an award modified on or after the adoption date. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning
after December 15, 2017. The Company adopted ASU 2017-09 on January 1, 2018.

In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-11, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (Topic 480) and Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815): I. Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features; II. Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily
Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope Exception, (ASU
2017-11). Part I of this update addresses the complexity of accounting for certain financial instruments with down round features. Down round features are
features of certain equity-linked instruments (or embedded features) that result in the strike price being reduced on the basis of the pricing of future equity
offerings. Current accounting guidance creates cost and complexity for entities that issue financial instruments (such as warrants and convertible
instruments) with down round features that require fair value measurement of'the entire instrument or conversion option. Part Il of this update addresses the
difficulty of navigating Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, because of the existence of extensive pending content in the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification. This pending content is the result of the indefinite deferral of accounting requirements about mandatorily redeemable financial
instruments of certain nonpublic entities and certain mandatorily redeemable noncontrolling interests. The amendments in Part Il of this update do not have
an accounting effect. This ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company adopted
ASU 2017-11 on January 1, 2019, and the adoption did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment
Accounting (“ASU 2018-07""). ASU 2018-07 simplifies several aspects of the accounting for nonemployee share-based payment transactions resulting from
expanding the scope of Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from
nonemployees. ASU 2018-07 is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that
fiscal year. The Company adopted ASU 2018-07 on January 1, 2019.

NOTE3 — CASH, CASHEQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheet that sumto the total of
the same such amounts shown in the statement of cash flows.

December 31,
2019 2018
Cash held in banks $ 937 $ 1,029
Bank deposits in U.S.$ (annual average interest rates 1.80% and 1.81%) 3,011 8,707
Total cash and cash equivalents 3,948 9,736
Cash held with respect to CVR Agreement 1,500 -
Long-termrestricted bank deposits 76 56
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash flows $ 5524 $ 9,792
NOTE4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment, net consists of the following:
December 31,
2019 2018
Cost:
Laboratory equipment $ 782 $ 797
Computers 94 86
Office furniture & equipment 36 58
Leasehold improvements 152 228
Total cost 1,064 1,169
Accumulated depreciation:
Laboratory equipment 340 331
Computers 51 62
Office furniture & equipment 1 13
Leasehold improvements 24 78
Total accunulated depreciation 416 484
Depreciated cost $ 648 S 685
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, depreciation expenses were $210, $121 and $83, respectively.
NOTE5 — ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
December 31,
2019 2018
Vacation, convalescence and bonus accruals $ 318 $ 211
Employees and payroll related 261 158
Short term operating lease liabilities 123 -
Accrued expenses and other 1,195 575
$ 1,897 § 944
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NOTE 6 - WARRANTS

On September 15, 2017, the Company issued 48,232 warrants in settlement of a finder’s fee, which warrants were exercisable on a cashless basis for a period of
seven years. All 48,232 warrants were exercised for 20,348 ordinary shares upon consummation of the Merger.

In accordance with ASC 815: “Derivatives and Hedging”, one of the characteristics of a derivative is that its terms require or permit net settlement. Accordingly,
all warrants were classified as a non-current liability measured at fair value.

Year ended December 31,
2019 2018
Balance at January 1 $ 192§ 344
Exchange differences arising from translation to presentation currency 6 (20)
Changes in values of warrants exercisable into shares liability 51 (132)
Fair value of warrants at exercise date (249) -
Balance at December 31 g -8 192

The fair value of warrants prior to the Merger was valued by using the OPM pricing model. Fair value as of December 31, 2018 was estimated using the following
assumptions for the warrants’ call option:

Dividend yield -
Expected yearly volatility 75.8%
Annual risk-free interest 2.74%
Expected life

1 month

NOTE7 — REVERSE MERGER WITH BIOBLAST PHARMA LTD.

As described in Note 1, the Merger completed between Enlivex R&D and Bioblast Pharma Ltd. (the “Parent’) was accounted for as an issuance of shares by
Enlivex R&D for the net assets of the Parent, accompanied by a recapitalization. Enlivex R&D was considered the acquirer for accounting and financial reporting
purposes and acquired the assets and assumed the liabilities of the Parent, and Enlivex R&D gained control of the combined company after the merger. The
annual consolidated financial statements of the Company reflect the operations of the acquirer for accounting purposes together with a deemed issuance of
shares, equivalent to the shares held by the former shareholders of the legal acquirer and a recapitalization of the equity of the accounting acquirer. The annual

consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiary since the effective date of the Merger and the accounts of Enlivex R&D
since inception.

The estimated fair value of the total considerations was $5,152 based on the shares of the Parent outstanding on the Merger date as adjusted per the merger

agreement of 420,554 multiplied by the Company’s share price of $12.25 on the date of the Merger. The excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the
fair value of the net assets acquired as detailed below was $4,508.

The following summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired at the date of the merger:

Cash and cash equivalents

$ 44
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 632
Cash held with respect to CVR Agreement 1,500
Receivables for the sale of Trehalose 2,000
Trade payables (10)
Due to CVR Holders (3,500)
Other current liabilities (22)

$ 644
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NOTES8 — LEASES

The Company elected the transition provision provided by ASU no. 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842) that allows entities to continue to apply the legacy guidance in
Topic 840, Leases, including its disclosure requirements, for the comparative periods presented in the year of adoption. Accordingly, the Topic 842 disclosures

below are presented only as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and not for any prior period.

The Company is a party to operating leases for its corporate offices, laboratory space and vehicles. The Company’s operating leases have remaining lease terms of
up to 3.66 years, some of which include options to extend the leases for up to five years. On January 1, 2019, the Company recognized $399 of ROU assets and of

lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet for operating leases.

The components of lease expense were as follows:
Operating leases expenses

Supplemental consolidated cash flow information related to operating leases follows:

Cash used in operating activities

Non-cash activity:
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease labilities

December 31,
2019

s

141

Supplemental information related to operating leases, including location of amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, follows:

Other assets - Right-of-Use assets
Accunulated amortization

Operating lease Right-of-Use assets, net
Accounts payable and accrued labilities

Other long-term liabilities

Total operating lease liabilities

Weighted average remaining lease termin years

Weighted average annual discount rate

Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019, were as follows:

2020

2021

2022

2023

Total undiscounted lease liability
Less: Imputed interest

Present value of lease liabilities

NOTE9 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

a) Obligation to pay royalties to the State of Israel

$ 501
91

$ 410
$ 123
298
$ 01
T 333
10.7%

$ 172
157

126

70

525

(109
s

The Company is required to pay royalties to the State of Israel (represented by the Israel Innovation Authority), computed on the basis of proceeds fromthe

sale or license of products which development was supported by State grants.

In accordance with the terms of the financial participation, the State is entitled to royalties on the sale or license of any product which development was

supported with State participation.

These royalties are generally 3% - 5% of sales until repayment of 100% of the grants (linked to the dollar) received by the Company plus annual interest at

the LIBOR rate.

The aggregate contingent obligation payable by the Company as of December 31, 2019 was approximately $5,197 which represents the gross amount of
grants actually received by the Company fromthe Israel Innovation Authority, including accrued interest as of December 31, 2019.
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b)

In January 2019, the Company submitted a new grant application to the Israel Innovation Authority for funding of'its clinical development program of
prevention of cytokine storms and organ dysfunction associated with sepsis. On April 16, 2019, the Company’s application for grants at 50% participation of
a NIS 7,668 ($2,219) plan to be executed in Israel was approved by the Israel Innovation Authority. The plan was approved for a period commencing January
1, 2019 and ending December 31, 2019.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had not paid any royalties to the Isracl Innovation Authority.

On September 7, 2018 the Company entered into an agreement with its Executive Chairman. According to the agreement, the Company committed to grant the
Executive Chairman a minimum performance bonus of 50% of the Chairman’s base director’s fee retainer for the first two fiscal years after a Public Event.
Upon termination of the Chairman’s board service, under certain conditions defined in the agreement, the Executive Chairman will be entitled to receive an
amount of up to three times his then annual base retainer plus the value of accrued benefits. As of December 31, 2019, no termination liability was accrued or
paid.

NOTE10 - EQUITY

a)

b)

d)

e)

g)

Shares of Common Stock confer upon their holders the right to participate and vote in general shareholders’ meetings, to share in the distribution of
dividends if declared by the Company and the right to receive assets of the Company upon its liquidation.

Shares of Preferred Stock conferred on their holders all rights accruing to holders of Common Stock, and, in addition, contained certain conversion and
preference rights. Preferred A, Preferred B and Preferred C Stock also conferred upon their holders the right to receive an annual dividend amount equal to
the original issue price of each Preferred Stock plus a cumulative preference of 6% of the original issue price per annum compounded annually until the lapse
of'two years fromtheir issuance date.

Accunulated unpaid dividends to series A, series B and series C Convertible Preferred Stock holders as of the date of the Merger were $2,071.

As described in footnotes 1 and 7, on March 26, 2019, the Company completed the Merger with Bioblast Pharma Ltd. In connection with the Merger, all
outstanding shares of Enlivex R&D were exchanged for Ordinary Shares at a rate of 0.0484 Ordinary Shares for each share of Enlivex R&D common stock.

Also prior to and in connection with the Merger, the Company effected a 1-for-8 reverse stock split and changed the total number of shares of all classes
authorized to be issued to 45,000,000 with a par value of NIS 0.40 per share. All historical information presented herein has been retroactively restated to
reflect the effect of the Merger exchange ratio and reverse stock split in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 260, “Eamnings Per Share”.

Upon consummation of the Merger, all outstanding Preferred Stock (4,958,705 shares) with $2,070 accrued and unpaid dividends thereon were converted into
5,479,547 Ordinary Shares, and all outstanding warrants were converted into 20,348 Ordinary Shares.

The Company incurred direct Merger-related costs totaling $655, which were recorded as a reduction to additional paid in capital.

In connection with the Merger, the Company entered into substantially identical securities purchase agreements with certain private investors, pursuant to
which the investors purchased an aggregate of 682,631 Ordinary Shares for a purchase price of $12.25 per share, totaling $8,362.

On September 12, 2018 the Company issued 520,263 shares of Series C Preferred Stock for cash consideration of $5,300. During December 2018, the Company
issued additional 4,908 shares of Series C Preferred Stock for cash consideration of $50. Issuance costs in relation to the financing round in the amount of
$156 were allocated to additional paid in capital. All such shares of Preferred Stock were exchanged for Ordinary Shares upon consummation of the Merger.

On March 22, 2016, Bioblast Pharma Ltd. issued 27,016 warrants exercisable at any time following September 22, 2016 and through their expiration date on
September 22, 2021, for an exercise price of $180 per Ordinary Share.

The warrants are classified as a component of shareholders’ equity because they are free standing financial instruments that are legally detachable,

separately exercisable, do not embody an obligation for the Company to repurchase its own shares, and permit the holders to receive a fixed number of
Ordinary Shares upon exercise. In addition, the warrants require physical settlement and do not provide any guarantee of value or return.
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NOTE 11 — SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
a) Stock option plan — general

Prior to the merger, Bioblast Pharma Ltd. adopted the 2013 Incentive Option Plan (the “2013 Plan”), which provided for the grant of incentive Ordinary Share
options and nonqualified Ordinary Share options to employees, directors, and non-employees of the Company. As of December 31, 2019, there was a total of
15,500 options to purchase Ordinary Shares outstanding under the 2013 Plan. All outstanding options under the 2013 Plan were fully vested upon the closing
of'the Merger. The number of shares subject to and the exercise prices applicable to these outstanding options were adjusted in connection with the one-for-
eight reverse stock-split. In June 2019, the 2013 Plan was assumed by the Company’s Global Share Incentive Plan (2019) the <2019 Equity Incentive Plan”),
and the Company intends for the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan to be its primary stock compensation plan for future awards.

Prior to the Merger, Enlivex R&D granted Options under the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2007 Equity Incentive Plan”) and the Global Share
Incentive Plan (2014) (the “2014 Equity Incentive Plan”).

In June 2019, the Company adopted the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan, under which all Ordinary Shares that remained available for future grant under all existing
plans were reserved for issuance with respect to awards that may be granted under the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2019, 2,350,704 Ordinary Shares were authorized for issuance to employees, directors and consultants under the 2019 Equity Incentive
Plan, of which 490,749 shares were available for future grant.

Equity Incentive Plans and agreements generally expire after ten years fromthe date of grant. Upon termination of the optionee’s employment or other
relationship with the Company, options cease vesting, vested options forfeit. Ordinary shares underlying options that are canceled or not exercised within
the option termbecome available for future grant.

b) Employees’ and directors stock options

The estimated fair value of stock option awards was determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following
weighted-average assumptions during the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Weighted Average Risk-free interest rate 1.67% 2.88% 2.25%
Dividend yield - - -
Weighted Average Volatility factor 73.71% 74.91% 73.31%
Weighted Average Expected life of the options 5 6 6
The following table contains additional information concerning options granted to employees and directors under the existing stock-option plans:
For the year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
Number exercise Number exercise Number exercise
of options price of options price of options price
Outstanding at beginning of the year 1,083,022 $ 4.79 974271  $ 4.54 453972 $ 2.69
Granted 158,021 $ 872 271,355 § 5.78 590,839 $ 5.78
Forfeited and expired (128256) $ 5.24 (162,543) $ 4.96 (70,540) $ 2.69
Exercised (2,360) S 3.77 ©1) $ 2.69 - 3 -
Pre-merger Bioblast options 15500 § 90.17 - 3 - - 3 =
Outstanding at end of the year 1,125927 $ 647 1,083,022 $ 4.79 974271 $ 4.54
Exercisable at end of the year = 700032 $ 392 T 457661 S 32— 3313 $ 2.69
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b) KEmployees’ and directors stock options (cont.)

Following is a summary of changes in nonvested shares granted to employees and directors:

For the year ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Weighted ‘Weighted Weighted
average average average
Number exercise Number exercise Number exercise
of options price of options price of options price
Balance at beginning of the year 625361 $ 5.58 730,958 § 5.37 310,058 $ 2.69
Granted 158,021 $ 8.72 271,355 § 5.78 590,839 § 5.78
Vested during the year (229,231) $ 5.01 (217,733) $ 4.75 (102,724) § 2.69
Forfeited during the year (128256) $ 5.24 (159219) $ 5.16 (67215) $ 2.69
Balance at end of the year 45805 $ 7.21 625361 S 5.58 730958 $ 537

)

The weighted-average fair value at grant date of options granted 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $5.29, $5.78 and $0.207.

The total unrecognized estimated compensation cost related to non-vested employees’ and directors’ stock options granted until December 31, 2019 was
$934, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.95 years.

Consultants’ stock options

The estimated fair value of stock option awards was determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weighted-average

assumptions during the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Weighted Average Risk-free interest rate - 2.55% 2.25%
Dividend yield - - -
Weighted Average Volatility factor - 75.23% 73.31%
Weighted Average Expected life of the options - 6 6
The following table contains additional information concerning options granted to consultants under the existing stock-option plans:
For the year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
Number exercise Number exercise Number exercise
of options price of options price of options price
Outstanding at beginning of the year 71839 $ 3.63 684,507 $ 3.51 398938 $ 2.69
Granted - S - 33,889 $ 6.40 285569 $ 4.54
Forfeited and expired - 8 - - S - - 8 -
Exercised (219,281)  $ 2.69 - 8 - - $ -
Outstanding at end of the year 499115 $ 4.04 71839 $ 3.63 684,507 $ 3.51
Exercisable at end of the year 398659 335 563,921 $ 2.89 520586 $ 2.69
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c) Consultants’ stock options (cont.)

Following is a summary of changes in nonvested shares granted to consultants:

For the year ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
Number exercise Number exercise Number exercise
of options price of options price of options price
Balance at beginning of the year 149475  $ 6.19 154921 § 6.20 - 8 -
Granted - S - 33,889 $ 6.40 285569 $ 4.54
Vested during the year (49,019) $ 6.17 (39,335) $ 6.20 (130,648) $ 2.69
Forfeited during the year - 9 - - $ - -3 -
Balance at end of the year 100456 $ 6.27 149475 8 6.19 154921 $ 6.20
The total unrecognized estimated compensation cost related to non-vested consultants’ stock options granted until December 31, 2019 was $315, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.94 years.
d) Set forth below is data regarding the range of exercise prices and remaining contractual life (in years) for all options outstanding at December 31, 2019:
Average Remaining
Number of Options Contractual Intrinsic Value of Options
Exercise Price Outstanding Life (in years) Outstanding No. of options exercisable
$ 2.69 723,922 527 $ 4,130 719,695
$ 6.22 714,201 804 $ 1,547 359,135
$ 8.19 150,000 957 $ 30 -
$ 10.12 13,398 893 $ - 4,091
$ 12.21 2,421 925 $ - -
$ 21.4 5,600 957 $ - -
$ 90.16 15500 1.69 $ - 15,500
1,625,042 $ 5,707 1,098,691
The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2019 was $1,262.
e) The following table summarizes share-based compensation expenses related to grants under the Equity Incentive Plan included in the statements of
operations:
Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Research & development $ 607 $ 862 $ 123
General & administrative 203 147 )
Total $ 810 § 1,009 $ 121
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NOTE12 — TAXES ON INCOME

a. The Israeli corporate taxrate was 24% in 2017. As of January 1, 2018, and onwards, the corporate tax rate was reduced to 23%.
b. The Company has not been assessed for tax purposes since its incorporation. Taxassessments through the year ended December 31, 2013 are deemed to be
final.
c. The Parent and its subsidiaries are taxed separately. As of the date of the Merger, the Parent had loss carry-forwards amounting to approximately $42,426
deductible only against sale of assets and/or activities held by the Parent prior to the merger.
As of December 31, 2019, the Parent and Enlivex R&D had loss carry-forwards amounting to approximately $282 and $20,343, respectively, deductible from
future taxable income. These loss carry-forwards have no expiration date.
d.  The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Current tax $ -3 - $ B
Deferred tax - - -
Provision for income taxes, net $ - 3 -3 -
e. Reconciliation of the theoretical tax expenses:
Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Loss before taxes $ 9384 $ 4242 § 2,503
Statutory taxrate 23% 23% 24%
Taxbenefit 2,158 976 601
Permanent differences (322) (237) 30)
Valuation allowance (1,836) (739) (535)
Differences in taxrate - - 36)
Taxexpenses $ -3 -3 -
f. Deferred income taxes:

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had provided a full valuation allowance in respect of deferred tax assets. Management currently believes that because
the Company has a history of losses, it is more likely than not that the deferred taxregarding the loss carry-forward and other temporary differences will not
be realized for the foreseeable future.

Components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Taxassets in respect of: $ $ $
Accrued employees’ and directors’ compensation 136 31 18
Research and development expenses 738 609 379
Net loss carry forward 4,744 2,743 2,242
Total deferred tax assets 5,595 3,383 2,639
Less - valuation allowance (5,595) (3,383) (2,639)
Deferred taxassets $ - 3 - $ =
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

NOTE 13 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

a) Related parties’ balances:

December 31,
2019 2018

Key management personnel and directors $ 367 $ 13

b) Related parties’ transactions

On May 12, 2019, the Company entered into a research agreement with its Chief Scientific & Medical Officer under which the executive officer undertook to
performa patients’ study according to the terms defined in the agreement. The agreement will terminate upon the completion of the study according to the
study protocol and the submission of all reports and other documentation, or if earlier, upon termination by any of the parties pursuant to the terms of the
agreement. In the event of early termination for any reason, the Company shall pay the executive officer the following payments: (i) the agreed remuneration
for work performed in accordance with the agreement until the date of termination; and (ii) in the event that the termination is not due to a breach of the
agreement by the executive officer, the Company shall reimburse the executive officer for all documented expenses arising fromnon-cancellable commitments
incurred prior to such termination, and (iii), the balance between the aggregate amount of the remuneration and the advance (as defined below) actually paid
to the executive officer, and the amount of $816, in consideration for any expenses incurred by executive officer in preparation for the study. In consideration
for the executive officer’s fulfilment of his obligations, the Company has agreed to pay a fixed price for each of the activities performed as defined in the
agreement. Upon entering the agreement, the Company paid the executive officer a non-refundable advance in the amount of $125. Total Research and
development expenses related to this agreement and included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019
were $251.

NOTE 14 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis, consisted of the following types of instruments as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and

2017:
December 31,2019
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3948 § 3948 § - 3 -
Short term deposits 8,060 8,060 - -
Cash held with respect to CVR Agreement 1,500 1,500 - -
Restricted cash 76 76 - -
Total financial assets $ 13584 $ 13,584 $ -3 -

December 31,2018

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,736 $ 9,736 $ - 8 -
Short term deposits 40 40 - -
Restricted cash 56 56 - -
Total financial assets $ 9832 $ 9832 § -3 -
Warrants $ 192§ - $ - S 192
Total financial liabilities $ 192 $ - $ -3 192

December 31,2017

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,005 $ 9,005 $ - 3 =
Restricted cash 27 27 - -
Total financial assets $ 9032 $ 9032 $ - $ -
Warrants $ 344 8 - $ - S 344
Total financial liabilities $ 344§ -8 -8 344
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US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
NOTE15 — SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL STATEMENT INFORMATION

a. Research and development expenses — net

Payroll and related expenses
Research and development services
Materials

Patent-related expenses

Share Based Compensation
Depreciation

Other

Israel Innovation Authority participation in research and development costs and royalties payable

b. General and administrative expenses

Payroll expenses and management fees
Compensation to directors
Professional fees

Office maintenance and office expenses
Insurance

Share Based Compensation

Other

¢. Financial income

Interest income
Exchange differences, net
Net change in fair value warrants

d. Financial expenses

Issuance expenses related to warrants
Exchange differences, net

Net change in fair value warrants
Bank commissions
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Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
2259 $ 1,317 593
2,682 874 298
454 363 195
120 242 219
607 862 123
198 121 83
486 476 180
6,806 4,255 1,691
(1,082) - -
5724 $ 4,255 1,691
Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
569 $ 343 189
526 182 176
725 208 70
145 96 16
243 11 7
203 147 2)
484 57 24
2895 $ 1,044 480
Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
238 $ 138 37
- 790 -
- 132 -
238 $ 1,060 37
Year ended December 31,
2019 2018 2017
- 3 - 19
945 - 350
51 =
7 1
1,003 § 370




ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
US. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)

NOTE16 — EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Company evaluated all events and transactions that occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date and prior to the date on which these financial statements
were issued, and determined that the following events necessitated disclosure:

On February 24, 2020 the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors in connection with the issuance and sale in a
registered direct offering of 1,000,000 Ordinary Shares at a purchase price of $8.00 per share. In settlement of issuance costs to the placement agent, in addition to
a cash fee equal to 7% ofthe gross proceeds and management fee of 1% of the gross proceeds and $113 for fees and expenses, the Company issued on February
26, 2020 warrants to purchase up to 70,000 Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of $10 per Ordinary Share. These warrants became exercisable immediately upon
issuance and have a term of five years.

On March 1, 2020, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain institutional investors in connection with the issuance and sale in a
registered direct offering 0f2,093,750 Ordinary Shares, and warrants to purchase up to 2,093,750 Ordinary Shares, at a combined purchase price of $8 per share,
together with the related warrant to purchase one Ordinary Share. The warrants became exercisable immediately upon issuance at a price of $9 per share and have
atermoftwo years fromthe issuance date. In settlement of issuance costs to the placement agent, in addition to a cash fee equal to 7% and management fee of
1% of'the gross proceeds and $113 for fees and expenses, the Company registered and issued warrants to purchase up to 146,563 Ordinary Shares, which became
exercisable immediately upon issuance at a price of $10 per share and have a termof two years fromthe issuance date.
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Exhibit 2.1
DESCRIPTION OF ORDINARY SHARES

As of'the end of the period covered by the most recent Annual Report on Form 20-F of Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (the “company”) to which this Exhibit is filed, or incorporated
by reference, as an exhibit, the company’s ordinary shares, with a par value of NIS 0.40 per share (the “ordinary shares”), were registered under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Unless the context otherwise requires, all references herein to “we”, “our”, “ours”, and “us” refer to Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.

The following summarizes certain material terms and provisions of our ordinary shares. It does not purport to be complete, however, and is qualified in its entirety by reference
to amended and restated articles of association (the “amended and restated articles of association”) and applicable Israeli law, including the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999

(the “Companies Law™).
Overview— Authorized and Outs tanding Shares

As ofthe date we filed our most recent Annual Report on Form 20-F to which this Exhibit is filed, or incorporated by reference, as an exhibit, under our amended and restated
articles of association, we had the authority to issue 45,000,000 ordinary shares. Our ordinary shares may be certificated or uncertificated, subject to the Companies Law.

Rights of Our Ordinary Shares
Preemptive Rights. The holders of our ordinary shares do not have preemptive rights to purchase or subscribe for any stock or other securities of ours.

Restrictions on Shareholder Rights to Own or Transfer Shares. Our amended and restated articles of association and the laws of the State of Israel do not restrict in any way
the ownership or voting or our ordinary shares by non-residents of Israel, except with respect to subjects of countries which are in a state of war with Israel. Fully paid up
ordinary shares may be freely transferred pursuant to our amended and restated articles of association unless such transfer is restricted or prohibited by another instrument or
securities laws. Each holder of ordinary shares who would be entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting of shareholders is entitled to receive notice of any such meeting.
For purposes of determining the shareholders entitled to notice and to vote at such meetings, our board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) will fixa record date in
accordance with the Companies Law.

Voting Rights. The ordinary shares do not have cunulative voting rights in the election of directors. As a result, the holders of ordinary shares that represent more than 50% of
the voting power at a meeting of our shareholders voting on the election of directors have the power to elect all the members of the Board of Directors. Subject to any rights or
restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, each shareholder shall have one vote for each share of which he, she or it is the holder, whether on a
show of hands or on a poll. Votes may be given either personally or by proxy. A proxy need not be a shareholder. If any shareholder is without legal capacity, he or she may
vote by means of a trustee or a legal custodian, who may vote either personally or by proxy. If two or more persons are jointly entitled to a share then, in voting upon any
question, the vote of the person whose name is registered first in the registry of shareholders as the owner of that share shall be accepted, whether in person or by proxy, and
he, she orit is shall be entitled to vote such share.

Dividend and Liquidation Rights. Our Board of Directors may declare a dividend to be paid to the holders of our ordinary shares according to their rights and interests in our
profits and may fixthe record date for eligibility and the time for payment, subject to the Companies Law. Our Board of Directors may determine that a dividend may be paid,
wholly or partially, by the distribution of certain of our assets or by a distribution of paid up shares, debentures or debenture stock or any of our securities or of any other
companies or in any one or more of such ways in the manner and to the extent permitted by the Companies Law. Our ordinary shares entitle each owner thereofto an equal
right to participate in the distribution of the surplus assets of the company in the event of our liquidation in accordance with the proportionate nominal value of the shares held
thereby.




Discrimination against shareholders. There are no discriminating provisions in our amended and restated articles of association against any existing or prospective holders of
our ordinary shares as a result of a shareholder holding a substantial number of ordinary shares.

Modification of Class Rights. If, at any time, our share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the
terms ofissuance of the shares of that class) may be varied with the consent in writing of the holders of all the issued shares of that class, or with the sanction of a majority
vote at a meeting of the shareholders passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of'that class. The provisions of our amended and restated articles of association
relating to general meetings shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to every such separate class meeting. Unless otherwise provided by the conditions of issuance, the enlargement of
an existing class of shares, or the issuance of additional shares thereof, shall not be deemed to modify or abrogate the rights attached to the previously issued shares of such
class or of any other class. These conditions provide for the minimum shareholder approvals permitted by the Companies Law.

Disclosure of Shareholder Ownership. There are no provisions of our amended and restated articles of association governing the ownership threshold above which
shareholder ownership must be disclosed. We are subject, however, to U.S. securities rules that require beneficial owners of more than 5% of our ordinary shares to make
certain filings with the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission.

Changes in Capital. Our amended and restated articles of association do not impose any conditions governing changes in capital that are more stringent than required by the
Companies Law.

Listing. Our ordinary shares are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “ENLV.”

Potential Issues that Could Delay a Merger

Certain provisions of Israeli corporate and tax law may have the effect of delaying, preventing or making more difficult any merger or acquisition of us.
Full Tender Offer.

A person wishing to acquire shares of an Israeli public company and who would as a result hold over 90% of the target company’s issued and outstanding share capital or of
the issued and outstanding share capital of a certain class of shares is required by the Companies Law to make a tender offer to all of the company’s shareholders for the
purchase of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the company or of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the same class.

If the shareholders who do not respond to or accept the offer hold less than 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company or of the applicable class of the
shares, and more than half of the shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the offer accept the offer, all of the shares that the acquirer offered to purchase will be
transferred to the acquirer by operation of law. However, a tender offer will be accepted, even without the approval of a disinterested majority, if the shareholders who do not
accept it hold less than 2% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company or of the applicable class of the shares.

Upon a successful completion of such a full tender offer, any shareholder that was an offeree in such tender offer, whether such shareholder accepted the tender offer or not,
may, within sixmonths fromthe date of acceptance of the tender offer, petition the Israeli court to determine whether the tender offer was for less than fair value and that the

fair value should be paid as determined by the court. However, under certain conditions, the offeror may include in the terms of the tender offer that an offeree who accepted

the offer will not be entitled to petition the Israeli court as described above.

If (a) the sharcholders who did not respond or accept the tender offer old at least 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company or of the applicable class,
(b) the shareholders who accept the offer constitute less than a majority of the offerees that do not have a personal interest in the acceptance of the tender offer or (c) the
shareholders who did not accept the tender offer hold 2% or more of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company (or of the applicable class), the acquirer may not
acquire shares of the company that will increase its holdings to more than 90% of the company’s issued and outstanding share capital or of the applicable class from
shareholders who accepted the tender offer.




Special Tender Offer.

The Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares of an Israeli public company must be made by means of a special tender offer if as a result of the acquisition the
purchaser would become a holder of at least 25% of the voting rights in the company. This rule does not apply if there is already another holder of at least 25% of the voting
rights in the company.

Similarly, the Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in a public company must be made by means of a special tender offer if as a result of the acquisition the
purchaser would become a holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company, if there is no other shareholder of the company who holds more than 45% of the
voting rights in the company.

These requirements do not apply if the acquisition (i) occurs in the context of a private offering, on the condition that the shareholders meeting approved the acquisition as a
private offering whose purpose is to give the acquirer at least 25% of the voting rights in the company if there is no person who holds at least 25% of the voting rights in the
company, or as a private offering whose purpose is to give the acquirer 45% of the voting rights in the company, if there is no person who holds 45% of the voting rights in the
company; (i) was froma shareholder holding at least 25% of the voting rights in the company and resulted in the acquirer becoming a holder of at least 25% of the voting
rights in the company; or (iii) was froma holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company and resulted in the acquirer becoming a holder of more than 45% of the
voting rights in the company.

A special tender offer must be extended to all shareholders of a company, but the offeror is not required to purchase shares representing more than 5% of the voting power
attached to the company’s outstanding shares, regardless of how many shares are tendered by shareholders. The special tender offer may be consummated only if (i) at least
5% of the voting power attached to the company’s outstanding shares will be acquired by the offeror and (ii) the special tender offer is accepted by a majority of the votes of
those offerees who gave notice of their position in respect of the offer; in counting the votes of offerees, the votes of a holder of control in the offeror, a person who has
personal interest in acceptance of the special tender offer, a holder of at least 25% of the voting rights in the company, or any person acting on their or on the offeror’s behalf,
including their relatives or companies under their control, are not taken into account.

In the event that a special tender offer is made, a company’s board of directors is required to express its opinion on the advisability of the offer or shall abstain from expressing
any opinion if it is unable to do so, provided that it gives the reasons for its abstention.

An office holder in a target company who, in his or her capacity as an office holder, performs an action the purpose of which is to cause the failure of an existing or foreseeable
special tender offer or is to impair the chances of'its acceptance, is liable to the potential purchaser and shareholders for damages resulting fromhis acts, unless such office
holder acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds to believe he or she was acting for the benefit of the company. However, office holders of the target company may
negotiate with the potential purchaser in order to improve the terms of the special tender offer, and may further negotiate with third parties in order to obtain a competing offer.

Ifa special tender offer was accepted by a majority of the shareholders who announced their stand on such offer, then shareholders who did not respond to the special offer or
had objected to the special tender offer may accept the offer within four days of the last day set for the acceptance of the offer.

In the event that a special tender offer is accepted by the disinterested majority, then the purchaser or any person or entity controlling it and any corporation controlled by
themshall refrain frommaking a subsequent tender offer for the purchase of shares of the target company and may not execute a merger with the target company for a period of
one year fromthe date of the offer, unless the purchaser or such person or entity undertook to effect such an offer or merger in the initial special tender offer.

Transfer Agent

The transfer agent for our ordinary shares is Vstock Transfer, LLC.




Exhibit 4.3
ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

Global Share Incentive Plan (2019)
1. Name And Purpose.

1.1 This plan, which has been adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company, Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd., shall be known as the Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. Global
Share Incentive Plan (2019), as amended fromtime to time (the “Plan”).

(a) 1.2 The purposes of the Plan are to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide additional
incentive to Service Providers of the Company and its affiliates and subsidiaries, if any, and to promote the Company’s business by providing such individuals with
opportunities to receive Awards pursuant to the Plan and to strengthen the sense of common interest between such individuals and the Company’s shareholders.

1.3 Awards granted under the Plan to Service Providers in various jurisdictions may be subject to specific terms and conditions for such grants may be set forth in
one or more separate appendixto the Plan, as may be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company from time to time.

2. Definitions.
“Administrator” shall mean the Board of Directors or a Committee.

“Appendix” shall mean any appendix to the Plan adopted by the Board of Directors containing country-specific or other special terms relating to Awards including
additional terms with respect to grants of certain types of equity-based Awards.

“Award’ shall mean a grant of Options or Restricted Share Units under the Plan or allotment of Shares (including Restricted Shares) or other equity-based awards
hereunder. All Awards shall be confirmed by an Award Agreement, and subject to the terms and conditions of such Award Agreement.

“Award Agreement” shall mean a written instrument setting forth the terms applicable to a particular Award.
“Board of Directors” or “Board’ shall mean the board of directors of the Company.

“Cause” shall, with regard to each specific Participant, have the same meaning ascribed to such term or a similar term as set forth in any agreements and/the
Participant’s employment agreement or other documents to which the Company or any of'its parent, subsidiaries and/or affiliates and the Participant are a party concerning the
provision of services by the Participant to the Company or any of'its parent, subsidiaries and/or affiliates, or, in the absence of such a definition: (a) the commission of a crime
of moral turpitude, unless the Board determines that such commission will not adversely affect the Company or any of its parent, subsidiaries and/or affiliates, or their
reputation, or the ability of the Participant’s to serve the Company or any of'its parent, subsidiaries and/or affiliates; (b) any act of personal dishonesty by the Participant in
connection with the Participant’s responsibilities to the Company or any of its parent, subsidiaries and/or affiliates, including, but not limited to, theft, embezzlement, or self-
dealing; (c) any material breach (as determined by the Company in its sole discretion) by the Participant engagement in competing activities, any disclosure of confidential
information of the Company or any of its parent, subsidiaries and/or affiliates or breach of any obligation not to violate a restrictive covenant; or (d) a material breach of the
Participant’s employment agreement or the agreement govering the provision of services by a non-employee Service Provider which are not cured (if curable) within seven (7)
days after receipt of written notice thereof.




“Committee” shall mean a compensation committee or other committee as may be appointed and maintained by the Board of Directors, in its discretion, to administer
the Plan, to the extent permissible under applicable law, as amended from time to time.

“Company” shall mean Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd., a company organized under the laws of the State of Israel, and its successors and assigns.

“Consideration” shall mean with respect to outstanding Awards, the right to receive, for each Share subject to the Award immediately prior to the Transaction, the
consideration (whether shares, cash, or other securities or property) received in the Transaction by holders of Shares of the Company for each Share held on the effective date
ofthe Transaction, or any type of consideration determined by the Administrator, at its sole discretion.

“Companies Law” shall mean the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, as amended from time to time.

“Consultant” means any entity or individual who (either directly or, in the case of an individual, through his or her employer) is an advisor or consultant to the
Company or its subsidiary or affiliate.

“Corporate Charter” shall mean Articles of Association of the Company and any subsequent amendments or replacements thereto.

“Disability” shall have the meaning ascribed to such termor a similar term in the Participant’s employment agreement (where applicable), or in the absence of such a
definition, the inability of the Participant, in the opinion of a qualified physician acceptable to the Company, to perform the major duties of the Participant’s position with the
Company because of the sickness or injury of the Participant for a consecutive period of 180 days.

“Fair Market Value” shall mean, as of any date, the value of Shares, determined as follows:

(i) If the Shares are listed on any Securities Exchange, the Fair Market Value of an ordinary Share of the Company shall be (a) the closing sales price for such shares
(or the closing bid, if no sales were reported) as traded on such exchange or market (or the exchange or market with the greatest volume of trading in the Shares) on the last
market trading day prior to the day of determination, as reported in a recognized daily business newspaper or internet site or such other source as the Board deems reliable, or

(b) to the extent required under the rules of the Securities Exchange in which the Shares are traded, as determined in accordance with these rules.

(i) In the absence of such exchanges for the Shares, the Fair Market Value shall be determined in good faith by the Board of Directors.




“Liquidation” shall mean the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary.

“Options” shall mean options to purchase Shares awarded under the Plan.

“Participant” shall mean a recipient of an Award hereunder who executes an Award Agreement.

“Restricted Shares” means an Award of Shares under this Plan that is subject to the terms and conditions of Section 7.

“Restricted Share Units” means an Award entitling a Participant to receive Shares under this Plan that is subject to the terms and conditions of Section 8.

“Securities Exchange” means any established stock exchange or a national market system, The Company Shares are currently traded on NASDAQ.

“Service Provider” shall mean an employee, director, office holder or Consultant of the Company or its subsidiary or affiliate.

“Shares” shall mean ordinary shares of the Company, nominal value NIS 0.40 per share.

“Transaction” shall mean each of the following events: (i) a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another corporation resulting in such other
corporation being the surviving entity or the direct or indirect parent of the Company or resulting in the Company being the surviving entity and there is a change in the
ownership of shares of the Company, such that another person or entity owning fifty percent (50%) or more of the outstanding voting power of the Company’s securities by
virtue of the transaction; or (ii) an acquisition of all or a majority of the shares of the Company by any person (including an existing non-majority shareholder of the Company
or its affiliate of shares not held by any affiliate of such shareholder); or (iii) the sale and/or transfer (including by way of an exclusive license) of all or substantially all of the
assets of the Company; or (iv) such other transaction with a similar effect, as shall be determined by the Administrator; or (v) any other transaction that the Administrator
determines, at its sole discretion, should be deemed a Transaction for the purposes of this Plan.

3. Administration of the Plan.

3.1 The Plan will be administered by the Administrator. If the Administrator is a Committee, such Committee will be appointed in accordance with applicable law, and
to the extent applicable, shall consist of such number of members of the Board of Directors of the Company (not less than two in number), as may be determined from time to
time by the Board of Directors, each of whom is a “non-employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3, which has been adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange

Commission under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Subject to applicable law, the Board of Directors shall appoint such members of the Committee, may
fromtime to time remove members from, or add members to, the Committee, and shall fill vacancies in the Committee however caused.




3.2 The Committee, if appointed, shall select one of its members as its Chairman and shall hold its meetings at such times and places as it shall determine. Actions at a
meeting of the Committee at which a majority of its members are present or acts approved in writing by all members of the Committee shall be the valid acts of the Committee.
The Committee may appoint a secretary, who shall keep records of its meetings and shall make such rules and regulations for the conduct of its business and the
implementation of the Plan, as it shall deemadvisable, subject to the directives of the Board of Directors and in accordance with applicable law.

3.3 Subject to the general terms and conditions of the Plan, and in particular Section 3.4 below, the Administrator shall have full authority in its discretion, from time to
time and at any time, to determine (i) eligible Participants, (ii) the number of Options, Shares, Restricted Share Units or other equity based awards to be covered by each Award,
(iii) the time or times at which the Award shall be granted, (iv) the vesting schedule and other terms and conditions applying to Awards, including acceleration provisions, (v)
the form(s) of written agreements applying to Awards, and (vi) any other matter which is necessary or desirable for, or incidental to, the administration of the Plan and the
granting of Awards. The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, delegate some or all of the powers listed above to the Committee, to the extent permitted by the the
Company’s Law, its Corporate Charter or other applicable law, rules and regulations.

3.4 No member of the Board of Directors or of the Committee shall be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to the Plan or any Award
granted hereunder. Subject to the Company’s decision and to all approvals legally required, each member of the Board of Directors or the Committee shall be indemnified and
held harmless by the Company against any cost or expense (including counsel fees) reasonably incurred by him or her, or any liability (including any sumpaid in settlement of
a claim with the approval of the Company) arising out of any act or omission to act in connection with the Plan unless arising out of such member’s own willful misconduct or
bad faith, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. Such indemmnification shall be in addition to any rights of indemnification the member may have as a director or
otherwise under the Company’s Corporate Charter, any agreement, any vote of shareholders or disinterested directors, insurance policy or otherwise.

3.5 The interpretation and construction by the Administrator of any provision of the Plan or of any Award hereunder shall be final and conclusive. In the event that
the Board appoints a Committee, the interpretation and construction by the Committee of any provision of the Plan or of any Award hereunder shall be conclusive unless
otherwise determined by the Board of Directors. To avoid doubt, the Board of Directors may at any time exercise any powers of the Administrator, notwithstanding the fact
that a Committee has been appointed.

3.6 The Administrator shall have the authority to adopt, alter and repeal such administrative rules, guidelines and practices governing the Plan and performall acts,
including the delegation of its responsibilities (to the extent permitted by applicable law and applicable stock exchange rules), as it shall, from time to time, deem advisable; to
construe and interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan and any Award issued under the Plan (and any agreements relating thereto); and to otherwise supervise the
administration of the Plan. The Administrator may correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any agreement relating thereto in the
manner and to the extent it shall deemnecessary to effectuate the purpose and intent of the Plan, as further detailed in Section 13.2 below.




3.7 Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Administrator may adopt special appendices and/or guidelines and provisions for persons who are residing in
or employed in, or subject to, the taxes of, any domestic or foreign jurisdictions, to comply with applicable laws, regulations, or accounting, listing or other rules with respect to
such domestic or foreign jurisdictions.

4. Higible Participants.

4.1 No Award may be granted pursuant to the Plan to any person serving as a member of the Committee or to any other director or officer (Nose Misra) of the
Company at the time of the grant, unless such grant is approved in the manner prescribed for the approval of compensation of directors and office holders (Nose Misra) under
the Companies Law.

4.2 Subject to the limitation set forth in Section 4.1 above and any restriction imposed by applicable law, Awards may be granted to any Service Provider of the Company or its
affiliates. The grant of an Award to a Participant hereunder shall neither entitle such Participant to receive an additional Award or participate in other incentive plans of the
Company, nor disqualify such Participant fromreceiving an additional Award or participating in other incentive plans of the Company.

5. Reserved Shares.

The Company shall determine the number of Shares reserved hereunder from time to time, and such number may be increased or decreased by the Company from time to time.
Any Shares under the Plan, in respect of which the right hereunder of a Participant to purchase and/or receive the same shall for any reason terminate, expire or otherwise cease
to exist, shall again be available for grant as Awards under the Plan. Any Shares that remain unissued and are not subject to Awards at the termination of the Plan shall cease
to be reserved for purposes of the Plan. Until termination of the Plan the Company shall at all times reserve a sufficient number of Shares to meet the requirements of the Plan.

6. Award Agreement.

6.1 The Administrator in its discretion may award to Participants Awards available under the Plan. The terms of the Award will be set forth in the Award Agreement.
The date of grant of each Award shall be the date specified by the Administrator at the time such award is made, or in the absence of such specification, the date of approval of
the Award by the Administrator.

6.2 The Award Agreement shall state, inter alia, the number of Options or Shares, Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Units, or equity-based units covered thereby,
the type of Option or Share-based or other grant awarded, the vesting schedule, and any special terms applying to such Award (if any), including the terms of any country-
specific or other applicable Appendix, as determined by the Administrator.

6.3 A Participant shall not have any rights with respect to such Award, unless and until such Participant has delivered a fully executed copy of the Award Agreement
evidencing the Award to the Company and has otherwise complied with the applicable terms and conditions of such Award.




7. Restricted Shares.

7.1 Higibility. Restricted Shares may be issued to all Participants either alone or in addition to other Awards granted under the Plan. The Administrator shall
determine the eligible Participants to whom, and the time or times at which, grants of Restricted Shares will be made, the number of shares to be awarded, the purchase price (if
any) to be paid by the Participant (subject to Section 7.2), the time or times at which such Awards may be subject to forfeiture (if any), the vesting schedule (if any) and rights
to acceleration thereof, and all other terms and conditions of the Awards. The Administrator may condition the grant or vesting of Restricted Shares upon the attainment of
specified performance targets or such other factors as the Administrator may determine, in its sole discretion. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, the
Participant shall not be permitted to sell or transfer Restricted Shares awarded under this Plan during a period set by the Administrator (if any) (the “Restriction Period”)
commencing with the date of such Award, as set forth in the applicable Award Agreement.

7.2 Terms. The purchase price of Restricted Shares shall be determined by the Administrator, but shall not be less than as permitted under applicable law. Awards of
Restricted Shares must be accepted within a period of 21 days (or such other period as the Administrator may specify at grant) after the grant date, by executing an Award
Agreement and by paying whatever price (if any) the Administrator has designated thereunder.

7.3 Legend. Each Participant receiving Restricted Shares shall be issued a share certificate in respect of such Restricted Shares, unless the Administrator elects to use
another system, such as book entries by the transfer agent, as evidencing ownership of Restricted Shares. Such certificate shall be registered in the name of such Participant,
and shall bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to such Award, substantially in the following form (as well as other legend
required by the Administrator pursuant to Section 19.3 below):

“The anticipation, alienation, attachment, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or charge of the shares represented hereby are
subject to the terms and conditions (including forfeiture) of the Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. Global Incentive Plan (2019), and an Award
Agreement entered into between the registered owner and the Company dated . Copies of such Plan and Award Agreement are
on file at Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.”

7.4 Custody. The Administrator may require that any share certificates evidencing such shares be held in custody by the Company or any third party determined by
the Company, until the restrictions thereon shall have lapsed, and that, as a condition of any Restricted Shares Award, the Participant shall have delivered a duly signed share
transfer deed, endorsed in blank, relating to the Shares covered by such Award.

7.5 Rights as Shareholder. Except as provided in this Section 7.5 and Sections 7.3 and 7.4 above and as otherwise determined by the Administrator and set forth in
the Award Agreement, the Participant shall have, with respect to the Restricted Shares, all of the rights of a holder of Shares including, without limitation, the right to receive
any dividends, the right to vote such shares and, subject to and conditioned upon the full vesting of Restricted Shares, the right to tender such shares.




7.6 Lapse of Restrictions. If and when the Restriction Period expires without a prior forfeiture of the Restricted Shares subject to such Restriction Period, the
certificates for such shares shall be delivered to the Participant. All legends shall be removed fromsaid certificates at the time of delivery to the Participant except as otherwise
required by applicable law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, actual certificates shall not be issued to the extent that book entry recordkeeping is used.

8. Restricted Share Units and Other Equity-Based Awards .

8.1 Higibility. Restricted Share Units may be granted at any time and fromtime to time as determined by the Administrator, either alone or in addition to other Awards
granted under the Plan. The Administrator shall determine the eligible Participants to whom, and the time or times at which, grants of Restricted Share Units will be made, the
number of Restricted Share Units to be awarded, the number of Shares subject to the Restricted Share Units, the vesting schedule and rights to acceleration thereof, and all
other terms and conditions of the Awards. The Administrator may condition the grant or vesting of Restricted Share Units upon the attainment of specified performance
targets or such other factors as the Administrator may determine, in its sole discretion.

8.2 Vesting of Restricted Share Units. Shares shall be issued to or for the benefit of Participant promptly following each vesting date determined by the
Administrator, provided that Participant is still a Service Provider on the applicable vesting date. After each such vesting date the Company shall promptly cause to be issued
for the benefit of Participant Shares with respect to Restricted Share Units that became vested on such vesting date. It is clarified that no Shares shall be issued pursuant to the
Restricted Share Units to Participant until the vesting criteria determined by the Administrator is met.

8.3 Terms. Prior to the actual issuance of any Shares, each Restricted Share Unit will represent an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company, payable only
fromthe general assets of the Company.

8.4 Rights as Shareholder. A Participant holding Restricted Share Units shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a shareholder of the Company in
respect of any Shares issuable upon the vesting of any part of the Restricted Share Units unless and until such Shares shall have been issued by the Company to such
Participant (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). No adjustment will be made for a
dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, unless otherwise provided herein.

8.5 Other Equity-Based Awards. Other equity-based awards (including, without limitation, performance share awards) may be granted either alone or in addition to or
other Awards granted under the Plan to all eligible Participants pursuant to such terms and conditions as the Administrator may determine, including without limitation, in one
or more appendixadopted by the Administrator and appended to this Plan.

9. Exercise of Options.

9.1 Options shall be exercisable pursuant to the terms under which they were awarded and subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and any applicable
Appendix, as specified in the Award Agreement.




9.2 The exercise price for each Share to be issued upon exercise of an Option shall be such price as is determined by the Administrator in its discretion, provided that
the price per Share is not less than the par value of each Share, or to the extent required pursuant to applicable law to qualify for favorable tax treatment (as determined by the
Administrator), not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant.

9.3 An Option, or any part thereof, shall be exercisable by the Participant’s signing and returning to the Company at its principal office, a “Notice of Exercise” in such
form and substance as may be prescribed by the Administrator from time to time, together with full payment for the Shares underlying such Option, and the execution and
delivery of any other document required pursuant to the applicable Award Agreement.

9.4 Each payment for Shares under an Option shall be in respect of a whole number of Shares, shall be effected in cash or by check payable to the order of the
Company, or such other method of payment acceptable to the Company as determined by the Administrator, and shall be accompanied by a notice stating the number of
Shares being paid for thereby.

9.5 Until the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry in the share register of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company) a
Participant shall have no right to vote or right to receive dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall exist with respect to such Shares, notwithstanding the exercise of
the Option. The Company shall issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares promptly after the Option is exercised. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for
which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Section 11 of the Plan. No Shares shall be issued until payment has been made or
provided for, as provided herein.

9.6 To the extent permitted by law, if the Share is traded on a Securities Exchange or otherwise publicly traded or quoted, payment for the Shares underlying an
Option may be made all or in part by the delivery on a formprescribed or approved by the Company of an irrevocable direction to a securities broker approved by the Company
to sell Shares and to deliver all or part of the sales proceeds to the Company in payment of the exercise price (or the relevant portion thereof, as applicable) and any
withholding taxes, or on such other terms and conditions as may be acceptable to the Administrator. No Shares shall be issued until payment has been made or provided for, as
provided herein.

9.7 The Administrator may designate certain periods, at its reasonable discretion, with respect to all or certain groups of Participants and/or with respect to certain
types of Awards, during which the vesting and/or exercise of Awards and/or sale of Shares shall be restricted or prohibited, including without limitation, in order to comply
with applicable laws in any relevant jurisdiction and/or rules of any exchange on which the Company’s shares are traded. During such blackout periods, Participants will not be
able to exercise the Options (or other Awards) and/or receive and/or sell the Shares held by or on behalf of the Participants and the Company shall not bear any liability to
Participants for any claim, loss or liability that may result fromsuch restrictions.




9.8 Without derogating from the foregoing, for as long as the Company’s securities are traded a the Securities Exchange, and to the extent required by the Securities
Exchange rules, a Participant shall not be able to exercise any Options on the determining date with respect to the distribution of share dividends, offer by way of rights issue,
distribution of dividends, consolidation of share capital, and reduction or split in share capital or other event (each hereinafter referred to as a “Corporate Event”). In addition,
if the “X Date” (as such termis used in the Securities Exchange rules) with respect to a Corporate Event occurs before the determining date relating to such Corporate Event,
then the exercise of Options shall not occur on such X Date.

9.9 The Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificate or certificates for Shares purchased upon the exercise of options prior to fulfillment of all the
following conditions: (a) the admission of such Shares to listing on all Securities Exchanges, if any, on which is then listed; (b) the completion of any registration or other
qualification of such Shares under any U.S. federal or state law or under Israeli law or under the rulings or regulations, which the Administrator shall, in its absolute discretion,
deemnecessary or advisable; (c) the obtaining of any approval or other clearance fromany U.S. federal or state or Israeli governmental agency which the Administrator shall,
in its absolute discretion, determine to be necessary or advisable; and (d) the payment to the Company of all amounts which it is required to withhold under U.S. federal, state,
Israeli or local law upon exercise of the option;

10. Termination of Relationship as Service Provider.

10.1 Effect of Termination; Exercise after Termination. Any unvested Awards as of the Date of Termination shall terminate effective as of the Date of Termination,
and the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Award shall revert to the Plan. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, if a Participant ceases to be a Service
Provider, such Participant may exercise its outstanding Options within such period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement or the Plan to the extent that the Options are
vested on the Date of Termination (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of the Option as set forth in the Award Agreement). If, after termination, the Participant
does not exercise the vested Options within the time specified in the Award Agreement or the Plan, the Option shall terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option shall
revert to the Plan. In the absence of a provision specifying otherwise in the relevant Award Agreement or unless otherwise resolved by the Administrator, then:

(a) In the event that the Participant ceases to be a Service Provider for any reason other than termination for Cause, or as a result of Participant’s death or Disability,
then the vested Options shall remain exercisable until the earlier of: (a) a period of three (3) months fromthe Date of Termination; or (b) expiration of the term of the Option as
set forth in Section 14.

(b) In the event that the Participant ceases to be a Service Provider for Cause, then all Options will terminate immediately upon the Date of Termination, such that the
unvested portion of the Options will not vest, and the vested portion of the Options will no longer be exercisable.

(c) In the event that the Participant ceases to be a Service Provider as a result of Participant’s Disability, then the vested Options shall remain exercisable until the
earlier of: (a) a period of twelve (12) months fromthe Date of Termination; or (b) expiration of the term of the Option as set forth in Section 14.




(d) In the event that the Participant dies while a Service Provider, the vested portion of the Option shall remain exercisable by the Participant’s estate or by a person
who acquires the right to exercise the Option by bequest or inheritance until the earlier of: (a) a period of twelve (12) months following the Participant’s date of death; or (b)
expiration of the term of the Option as set forth in Section 14.

(e) All Restricted Shares still subject to restriction under the applicable Restriction Period as of the Date of Termination, as set forth in the Award Agreement, shall be
forfeited or otherwise subject to repurchase by the Company as of the Date of Termination, notwithstanding the circumstances of such termination of engagement.

(f) All Restricted Share Units shall cease vesting immediately upon the Date of Termination, and the unvested Restricted Share Units awarded to the Participant shall
be forfeited, notwithstanding the circumstances of such termination of engagement.

(g) For the purposes of this Section 10.1, a Participant shall be deemed to have been terminated for Cause, regardless of the actual reason for termination of
employment or services, if within 90 days of the Date of Termination, the Company determines that the Participant has engaged in activity, either prior to or following the Date
of Termination, that would have been grounds for termination for Cause as defined herein.

10.2 Date of Termination. For purposes of the Plan and any Award or Award Agreement, and unless otherwise set forth in the relevant Award Agreement, the “ Date
of Termination” (whether for Cause or otherwise) shall be the effective date of termination of the Participant’s employment or engagement as a Service Provider.

10.3 Leave of Absence. Unless the Administrator provides otherwise, vesting of Awards granted hereunder shall be suspended during any unpaid leave of absence
(except, for the avoidance of doubt, periods of legally protected leave of absence pursuant to applicable law).

10.4 Change of Status. A Participant shall not cease to be considered a Service Provider in the event of any (a) leave of absence approved by the Company or its
affiliates, provided that such leave of absence was approved by entity for which the Participant is engaged with, or pursuant to applicable law; or (b) transfers between
locations of the Company and/or its affiliates or between the Company, and its parent, subsidiary, affiliate, or any successor thereof; or (c) changes in status (employee to
director, employee to consultant, etc.), although such change may affect the specific terms applying to the Participant’s Award.

11. Adjustments.

Upon the occurrence of any of the following described events, and subject to any applicable rules or directives of the Securities Exchange upon which the Shares are
traded a Participant’s rights to purchase Shares under the Plan shall be adjusted as hereinafter provided:

10




11.1 Changes in Capitalization; Reorganization. Subject to any required action by the shareholders of the Company, the number of Shares covered by each
outstanding Award, and the number of Shares which have been authorized for issuance under the Plan but as to which no Award have yet been granted or which have been
returned to the Plan upon cancellation or expiration of an Award, as well as the price per Share covered by each outstanding Award, shall be proportionately adjusted for any
increase or decrease in the number of issued Shares resulting from a share split, reverse share split, combination or reclassification of the Shares, or any other increase or
decrease in the number of issued Shares effected without receipt of consideration by the Company. For such purpose, the conversion of any convertible securities of the
Company shall not be deemed to have been “effected without receipt of consideration.” In the event of a reorganization effected for purposes of changing the domicile of the
parent company affiliated with the Company, whereby the Company becomes a wholly owned subsidiary of an affiliated entity (the “New Parent”), outstanding Awards may
be assumed or substituted with awards subject to the New Parent’s shares with equivalent economic value to the outstanding Awards or as otherwise determined to be
appropriate by the Administrator in the circumstances. The adjustments, assumptions or substitutions provided above (as applicable) shall be made by the Administrator at its
sole discretion, whose determination in that respect shall be final, binding and conclusive. Except as expressly provided herein, no issuance by the Company of shares of any
class, or securities convertible into shares of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of Shares subject to
an Award.

11.2 Transactions. In the event of a Transaction, the outstanding (including the unexercised, vested, unvested or restricted) portion of each outstanding Award shall
be assumed or substituted with an equivalent Award or the right to receive Consideration by the acquiring or successor corporation or an affiliate thereof, as shall be
determined by such entity and/or the Administrator, subject to the terms hereof. In the event that the successor corporation or any affiliate thereof does not provide for such
an assumption, and/or substitution of outstanding Awards and/or the provision of Consideration for outstanding Awards, then unless determined otherwise with respect to a
specific outstanding Award, the Administrator shall have sole and absolute discretion to determine the effect of the Transaction on the portion of Awards outstanding
immediately prior to the effective time of the Transaction, which may include any one or more of the following, whether in a manner equitable or not among individual
Participants or groups of Participants: (i) all or a portion of the outstanding Awards shall become exercisable in full on a date no later than two (2) days prior to the date of
consummation of the Transaction, or on another date and/or dates or at an event and/or events as the Administrator shall determine at its sole and absolute discretion,
provided that unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, the exercise and/or vesting of all Awards that otherwise would not have been exercisable and/or vested in the
absence of a Transaction, shall be contingent upon the actual consummation of the Transaction; and/or (ii) that all or a portion or certain categories of the outstanding Awards
shall be cancelled upon the actual consummation of the Transaction, and instead the holders thereof will receive Consideration, or no consideration, in the amount and under
the terms determined by the Administrator at it sole and absolute discretion; and/or (iii) that an adjustment or interpretation of the terms of the Awards shall be made in order to
facilitate the Transaction and/or otherwise as required in context of the Transaction.

11.3 Liquidation. In the event of Liquidation, the Administrator shall have sole and absolute discretion to determine the effect of the Liquidation on the outstanding

unexercised, unvested or restricted portion of Awards, which may include the acceleration or cancelation of all or a portion of the unexercised, unvested or restricted portion of
the outstanding Awards.
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11.4 Cancelation of Awards. In the event that the Administrator determines in its discretion that, in the context of a Transaction or Liquidation, certain Awards have
no monetary value and thus do not entitle the holders of such Awards to any consideration under the terms of the Transaction or Liquidation, the Administrator may determine
that such Awards shall terminate effective as of the effective date of the Transaction, or upon determination of the Administrator in the event of Liquidation. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the Administrator may provide for the termination of any Award, effective as of the effective date of the Transaction or Liquidation, that has an
exercise price that is greater than the per share Fair Market Value at the time of such Transaction or Liquidation, without any consideration to the holder thereof.

11.5 Administrator’s Authority. The Administrator’s authority to make determinations, adjustments and clarifications in connection with the treatment of Awards
shall be interpreted as widely as possible, to allow the Administrator maximal power and flexibility to interpret and implement the provisions of the Plan in the event of a
recapitalization, Transaction or Liquidation, provided that the Administrator shall determine in its discretion that a Participant’s vested rights are not thereby adversely affected
without the Participant’s express written consent. Without derogating fromthe generality of the foregoing, the Administrator shall have the authority, at its sole discretion, to
change the vesting schedule of Awards, accelerate Awards, and determine that the treatment of Awards, whether vested or unvested, in a Transaction or Liquidation may
differ among individual Participants or groups of Participants, provided that the overall economic impact of the different approaches determined by the Administrator shall be
substantively equivalent as of the date of the closing of the Transaction or the effective date of Liquidation.

11.6 Distribution of Dividends . In the event of distribution of dividends, in cash of in kind, to all shareholders of the Company (including by way of court approved
distribution pursuant to Section 303 of the Companies Law, or other applicable law), the exercise price of outstanding Options not yet exercised on the date determining the
right to receive such dividend shall be adjusted and reduced by the gross dividend amount distributed by the Company per share (or its value in the event of dividend in kind).
Other than the adjustments in the exercise price detailed in this Section 10.4, the distribution of dividend by the Company, in cash of in kind, will not affect the number of
Shares covered by each outstanding Award and/or will not require the Company to make any other adjustments with respect to Awards and or the Shares covered by each
Award.

12. Non-Transferability of Awards and Shares.

12.1 No Option or Restricted Share Unit may be assigned, transferred, pledged or mortgaged, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution or unless
otherwise required under applicable law; and during the Participant’s lifetime, an Option may be exercised only by such Participant.

12.2 The transfer of Shares to be issued upon the exercise of the Options shall be limited as set forth in the Plan and as may be described in the Award Agreement.
12.3 Restricted Shares may not be assigned, transferred, pledged or mortgaged, other than by will or laws of descent and distribution, prior to the date on which the

date on which any applicable restriction, performance or deferred period lapses. Shares (including Restricted Shares) for which full payment has not been made, if applicable,
may not be assigned, transferred, pledged or mortgaged, other than by will or laws of descent and distribution.
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12.4 For avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not be deemed to restrict the transfer of a Participant’s rights in respect of Awards or Shares (including Shares
purchasable pursuant to the exercise of an Option or the vesting of a Restricted Share Unit), upon the death of such Participant to such Participant’s estate or other successors
by operation of law or will, whose rights therein shall be governed by Section 10.1(d) hereof, and as may otherwise be determined by the Administrator, or as otherwise
required under applicable law.

13. Term and Amendment of the Plan.

13.1 The Plan shall expire on the date which is ten (10) years fromthe date of its adoption by the Board of Directors. To avoid doubt, the expiration of the Plan will not
affect the validity of Awards granted prior to such expiration date.

13.2 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Administrator may at any time, and from time to time, amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions
of the Plan (including any amendment deemed necessary to ensure that the Company may comply with any regulatory requirement), or suspend or terminate it entirely,
retroactively or otherwise, or amend the terms of any Award theretofore granted, prospectively or retroactively; provided, however, that, except (a) to correct obvious drafting
errors or as otherwise required by law or (b) as specifically provided herein, no such amendment, suspension, or termination of the Plan, or amendment of any Award, or other
action by the Administrator, shall reduce the rights of any Participant with respect to vested Awards, without the Participant’s consent.

14. Term of Option.

Unless otherwise explicitly provided in an Award Agreement, if any Option, or any part thereof, has not been exercised and the Shares covered thereby not paid for
within ten (10) years after the date on which the Option was granted, as set forth in the Award Agreement (or any other period set forth in the instrument granting such Option
pursuant to Section 6), such Option, or such part thereof, and the right to acquire such Shares shall terminate, all interests and rights of the Participant in and to the same shall
expire, and, in the event that in connection therewith any Shares are held in trust as aforesaid, such trust shall expire.

15. Continuance of Engagement.

Neither the Plan nor any grant of Shares or Awards to a Participant shall impose any obligation on the Company or any related company thereof, to continue the
employment or engagement of any Participant as a Service Provider, and nothing in the Plan or in any Award granted pursuant thereto shall confer upon any Participant any
right to continue to serve as a Service Provider of the Company or a related company thereof or restrict the right of the Company or a related company thereof to terminate such
employment or engagement at any time.

16. Application of Funds.

The proceeds received by the Company from the sale of Shares pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan will be used for general corporate purposes of the
Company or any related company thereof.
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17. Taxes.

17.1 Any tax consequences arising fromthe grant, or vesting or exercise of any Award, from the payment for Shares covered thereby, or from any other event or act
(of the Company, and/or its affiliates, or the Participant), hereunder, shall be borne solely by the Participant. The Company and/or its affiliates shall withhold taxes according to
the requirements under the applicable laws, rules, and regulations, including withholding taxes at source. Furthermore, the Participant shall agree to indemnify the Company
and/or its affiliates and hold them harmless against and fromany and all liability for any such tax or interest or penalty thereon, including without limitation, liabilities relating to
the necessity to withhold, or to have withheld, any such tax fromany payment made to the Participant. The Company or any of its affiliates may make such provisions and take
such steps as it may deem necessary or appropriate for the withholding of all taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to Awards granted under the Plan and the
exercise thereof, including, but not limited, to (i) deducting the amount so required to be withheld from any other amount (or Shares issuable) then or thereafter to be provided
to the Participant, including by deducting any such amount from a Participant’s salary or other amounts payable to the Participant, to the maximum extent permitted under law
and/or (ii) requiring the Participant to pay to the Company or any of its affiliates the amount so required to be withheld as a condition of the issuance, delivery, distribution or
release of any Shares and/or (iii) by causing the exercise and sale of any Awards or Shares held by on behalf of the Participant to cover such liability, up to the amount required
to satisfy the statutory withholding requirements. In addition, the Participant will be required to pay any amount due in excess of the tax withheld and transferred to the tax
authorities, pursuant to applicable tax laws, regulations and rules.

17.2 The receipt of an Award and/or the acquisition of Shares issued upon the exercise of the Awards may result in tax consequences. The description of tax
consequences set forth in the Plan or any Appendix hereto does not purport to be complete, up to date or to take into account any special circumstances relating to a
Participant.

17.3 THE PARTICIPANT IS ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH A TAX ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF RECEIVING OR EXERCISING
ANY AWARD IN LIGHT OF HIS OR HER PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.

18. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares.

18.1 Legal Compliance. Shares shall not be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Option or with respect to any other Award unless the exercise of such Option or
grant of such Award and the issuance and delivery of such Shares shall comply with applicable laws and shall be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company
with respect to such compliance. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction, which authority is deemed by the Company’s
counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, shall relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares
as to which such requisite authority shall not have been obtained.
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18.2 Investment Representations. As a condition to the exercise of an Option or receipt of an Award, the Administrator may require the person exercising such
Option or receiving such Award to represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise or the time of receipt of the Award that the Shares are being purchased only for
investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute such Shares, and make other representations as may be required under applicable securities laws if; in the
opinion of counsel for the Company, such representations are required, all in formand content specified by the Administrator.

18.3 Legend. The Administrator may require each person receiving Shares pursuant to an Award granted under the Plan to represent to and agree with the Company
in writing that the Participant is acquiring the Shares without a view to distribution thereof and such other securities law related representations as the Administrator shall
request. In addition to any legend required by the Plan, the certificates for such Shares may include any legend which the Administrator deems appropriate to reflect any
applicable restrictions on transfer. All certificates for Shares delivered under the Plan shall be subject to such share transfer orders and other restrictions as the Administrator
may deemadvisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of any relevant securities authority, any stock exchange upon which the Shares are then listed or any
national securities association system upon whose system the Shares are then quoted, any applicable securities law, and any applicable corporate law, and the Administrator
may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

19. Miscellaneous.
Whenever applicable in the Plan, the singular and the plural, and the masculine, feminine and neuter shall be freely interchangeable, as the context requires. The Section
headings or titles shall not in any way control the construction of the language herein, such headings or titles having been inserted solely for the purpose of simplified

reference. Words such as “herein”, “hereof”, “hereto”, “hereinafter”, “hereby”, and “hereinabove” when used in the Plan refer to the Plan as a whole, including any applicable
Appendices, unless otherwise required by context.
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Employment Agreement

This personal Employment Agreement (the “Agreement™) is made and entered into as of
November 16, 2019 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.,
registration number » & company incorporated in the State of Israel,
having its offices at 14 Einstein St., Nes Ziona Israel (the “Company”), and Oren
Hershkovitz, 1.D. 033519968 residing in Kibbutz Revadim,  Israel (the
“Employee”).

WHEREAS The Company desires to employ the Employee in the position of Chief
Executive Officer (the “Position”) and the Employee desires to enter into such
employment, on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

WHEREAS the Employee represents that he has the requisite skill and knowledge to act as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and fulfill the duties and
responsibilities set forth herein.

WHEREAS the Company and the Employee acknowledge that this agreement may be
replaced, at the Employee’s discretion, with a consultant agreement between
the Company and the Employee, or an entity wholly owned by the Employee,
governing the provision of services by Employee to the Company as a
contractor, provided the aggregate cost to the Company remains the same.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the agreements and covenants contained herein,
the Company and the Employee hereby agree as follows:

i. Preamble

L.1. The preamble of this Agreement constitutes an integral part thereof,

1.2, The division of the terms of this Agreement into clauses and the headings of the
clauses are solely for the sake of convenience and they may not be used for
interpretive purposes. The Appendixes to this Agreement constitute an integral part
hereof.

1.3. References in this Agreement to a particular gender shall be applicable to all genders.

2. Exclusivity of the Agreement

2.1. This Agreement is personal and the terms and conditions of the employment of the
Employee shall be solely as set forth in this Agreement.

22, This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to
the subject matter hereof, excluding any agreement with respect to grant of options,
and supersedes all prior understandings, agreements, representations and discussions
between them, oral or written.

2.3.  Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to
any payments or other benefits in respect of his employment and the termination of his
employment with the Company.

Exhibit 4.8
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Absence of Impediment to the Emplovee’s Employment

The Employee warrants, confirms and undertakes that: (i) he is entitled to enter into
this Agreement and to assume all of the obligations pursuant hereto; (i) there is no
contractual or other impediment to his entering into this Agreement, fulfilling his
obligations hereunder or to his employment with the Company; (iii) his entering into
this Agreement and fulfilling his obligations hereunder do not require the consent of
any person or entity and that on the date hereof he is free to provide services to the
Company upon the terms specified in this Agreement; and (iv) in entering into this
Agreement he is not in breach of any other agreement or obligation to which he is or
was a party or by which he is bound.

Position and Duties

Position. The Employee will serve in a full-time position as Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The Employee
will report to the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”).

During the course of his employment with the Company, the Employee shall honestly,
diligently, skillfully and faithfully serve the Company. The Employee undertakes to
devote all his working time, efforts and the best of his qualifications and skills to
promoting the business and affairs of the Company, and further undertakes to comply
with the written policies and working arrangements of the Company, to loyally and
fully comply with the decisions of the Company, its management and his supervisors
in Israel and abroad, to follow the Company written procedures as established from
time to time, to carry out the duties imposed upon him, whatever and whenever they
shall be.

The Employee shall at all times act in a manner reasonably suitable for his position
and status in the Company. It is hereby agreed by the Company, that Employee shall
serve as a director and/or a consultant (on an hourly basis) of OPKO Biologics Ltd.

The Employee shall not, without the prior written authorization of the Company,
directly or indirectly undertake any other employment, whether as an employee of
another employer or independently as an agent or consultant or in any other manner
(whether for compensation or otherwise), and shall not assume any position or render
services in any of the above-stated manners to any other entity.

The Employee undertakes to notify the Company immediately and without delay
regarding any matter or subject in respect of which he has a personal interest and/or
which might create a conflict of interest with his position in the Company.

The Employee shall not directly or indirectly accept any commission, rebate, discount,
or gratuity in cash or in kind, from any person who has or is likely to have a business
relationship with the Company.

Salary

In consideration for the Employee's employment with the Company, and subject to the
fulfillment of all the Employee's duties and obligations under this Agreement,
commencing as of the Effective Date the Employee shall be entitled to a gross
monthly salary of NIS 65,000 (the “Salary™).
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As the Employee is employed hereunder in a managerial position involving a fiduciary
relationship between the Employee and the Company, the Work and Rest Law (5711-
1951), and any other law amending or replacing such law, shall not apply to the
Employee or to his employment with the Company, and the Employee shall not be
entitled to any compensation in respect of such law. The Employee acknowledges and
agrees that the Salary and the compensation set for him hereunder include a proper
and just reward for the requirements of his position and status and the obligation to
work at irregular hours of the day. Accordingly, the Employee shall not be entitled to
any additional bonus or other payment for extra hours of work.

The Salary shall be paid no later than the 9th day of each month, for the preceding
month.

All the amounts specified in this Agreement are gross sums. The Company shall
deduct and withhold all required taxes and other statutory payments, including health
insurance contributions and social security contributions from the Salary and from all
other rights and benefits received by the Employee.

The Employee shall regard and retain as confidential and shall not divulge to any of
the Company’s employees and/or any third party, either during or after the Employee's
employment period, directly or indirectly, the terms of the Employee's employment
and Salary.

All social benefits and/or other payments due and payable to the Employee (if any)
shall be calculated only on the basis of the Salary. It is hereby declared and agreed that
all participation in expenses and any other benefits ;including, but without derogating
from the generality of the foregoing, bonus payments (if payable) and benefits in kind
given to the Employee in the terms of this Agreement or deriving therefrom, do not
and shall not form part of the Salary.

Pension Insurance

The Company and the Employee shall obtain and maintain a pension insurance to the
Employee, in a Managers Insurance and/or a Pension Fund (the: “Pension
Insurance™), according to the Employee's choice.

6.2.  The contributions to the Pension Insurance shall be as follows:

(@) In the event that the Pension Insurance is a Managers Insurance - The
Company shall contribute on behalf of the Employee a monthly aggregated
amount equal to thirteen and a third percent ( 13.33%) of the Salary, in the
following portions: five percent (5%) of the Salary for life insurance and
pension compensation and eight and a third percent (8.33%) of the Salary
on the account of severance compensation. The Company shall deduct
from the Employee's Salary an aggregated amount equal to five percent
(5%) of the Salary for such fund. In addition, the Company shall pay an
amount of up to 2.5% of the Salary towards disability insurance.

(b)  In the event that the Pension Insurance is a Pension Fund - The Company
shall contribute on behalf of the Employee a monthly aggregated amount
equal to fourteen and a third percent (14.33%) of the Salary, in the
following portions: six percent (6%) of the Salary for pension
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compensation and eight and a third percent (8.33%) of the Salary on the
account of severance compensation. The Company shall deduct from the
Employee's Salary an aggregated amount equal to five and a half percent
(5.5%) of the Salary for such fund.

()  The Employee will be entitled to choose to be insured in both Manager
Insurance and the Pension Fund, namely the Employee will be entitled to
choose an amount of his Salary to be insured in a Manager Insurance and
an amount of his Salary (being the balance of his Salary) that will be
insured in a Pension Fund, all subject to the allocation percentages
mentioned in Sections (a) and (b) above.

The Company’s allocations to the Pension Insurance on the Employee's behalf are in
accordance with the general approval of the Minister of Labor and Social Welfare
regarding payments by employers to a pension fund and insurance fund in lieu of
severance pay (hereinafter: the “General Approval”), annexed hereto as Appendix
A, pursuant to Article 14 of the Severance Payments Law, 5723-1963 (the “Severance
Payment Law™), and the Employee hereby acknowledges that the amounts
contributed by the Company for severance compensation under the Pension Insurance,
shall be deemed to be made instead of the severance payments to which the Employee
may be entitled, under the provisions of the Severance Payment Law, and shall
constitute a full and complete payment thereof.

The Company hereby waives any entitlement and/or right for reimbursement with
respect to the severance compensation and acknowledges, that upon termination of the
Employee's employment in the Company, including inter alia, in the event of the
Employee's resignation, the Company shall release the severance compensation and
shall transfer the severance compensation to the Employee, except in the event that: (i)
the Company has terminated the Employee's employment due to circumstances under
which his entitlement for severance payment is denied pursuant to Articles 16 or 17 of
the Severance Law; or (ii) the Employee has already withdrawn funds from the
Managers Insurance and not because of “EIROA MEZAKE” according to Section
2(b) of the General Approval.

Advanced Study Fund

The Company shall make monthly contributions on the Employee's behalf to a
recognized advanced study fund (“Keren Hishtalmut”) (hereinafter the “Study
Fund”), in an amount equal to 7.5% of the Salary. In addition, the Company shall
deduct 2.5% from the Salary also to be paid to the Study Fund as recognized by the
Income Tax Authorities.

The sums contributed by the Employee shall be deducted by the Company directly
from the Salary. The Employee hereby instructs the Company to transfer to the Study
Fund from each monthly Salary due to him the amount of the Employee's and the
Company's contribution, as set forth above.

Should any tax or other compulsory payment be imposed and payable in respect of the
Company’s contributions to the Study Fund, such tax shall be paid by the Employee
and deductible according to law and it is hereby agreed and understood that the
Company shall not gross-up any tax, or other compulsory payment, payable by the
Employee.

Additional Benefits
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8.1.Vacation. During the Term, Employee shall be entitled to an aggregate of

22 days of paid vacation per calendar year. Such paid vacation shall accrue quarterly.
Employee may accumulate or carry over up to 21 days of unused, accrued vacation to the next
calendar year. For any partial year of employment, the number of vacation days shall be
prorated.

8.2.
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Recreation Pay. The Employee shall be entitled to annual recreation pay (“Dmey
Havra-ah™) reflecting ten (10) recreation days per annum.

Sick Leave. The Employee shall be entitled to sick leave (“Yemei Mahala™) as
provided by the Sickness Pay Law, 5736-1976. The Employee shall notify the
Company, immediately, of any absence due to sickness and furnish the Company with
an applicable medical certificate to approve it. Absence without an applicable medical
certificate shall be considered as absence due to vacation. Sick days are not
redeemable and may not be converted into cash.

Bonus. The Company under its sole discretion shall consider upon the end of each
calendar year to grant the Employee a bonus for special performance. It is hereby
made clear that the bonus shall not be deemed a part of the Employee’s Salary for any
purpose, including for purposes of calculation of severance pay, if any.

Cellular Phone. The Company shall provide a cellular phone for the Employee for the
purpose of performing his duties hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses of
the usage of such cellular phone by the Employee. The cellular phone will be returned
to the Company by the Employee upon the termination of the employment relations
between the parties, for any reason whatsoever.

Expenses. The Company shall reimburse the Employee for reasonable business
expenses actually incurred directly in performing the duties outlined under this
Agreement, subject to an itemized account of such expenses substantiated by
appropriate receipts, all in accordance with the Company’s policy from time to time.

Company Car/Travel Expenses

The Company shall pay the Employee travel expenses as required by law.

The Company shall make available for Employee’s use during the Term, a leased
automobile at a list price of up to 190,000 NIS. The Company shall bear all
operational (including gasoline), maintenance, toll roads and insurance expenses
related to such automobile, as well as any associated tax payments relating to said car.

Employment Term and Termination

This Agreement shall be in effect commencing as of the Effective Date and shall
continue in full force and effect for an undefined period, unless and until terminated as
hereinafter provided.

This Agreement may be terminated by either party, at any time and for any reason,
pursuant to the delivery of a 120 day prior written notice by the terminating party (the
“Notice Period”). In the case the terminating party is the Company, and not for
Cause, the Employee shall not, other than for standard and customary period of
transfer of responsibilities to a successor, be obligated to work for the Company
during those 120 days.
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During the Notice Period and unless otherwise determined by the Company the
Employee shall continue to perform his duties until the conclusion of the Notice
Period, and cooperate with the Company in assisting the integration of the person who
will assume the Employee's responsibilities. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the
Company shall have the right not to take advantage of the full Notice Period and may
terminate the Employee's employment at any time during the Notice Period. In the
event of such termination, the Company shall pay the Employee his Salary for the
remainder of the Notice Period.

It is hereby expressly stated that the Company reserves the right to terminate the
Employee’s employment at any time during the Notice Period, regardless of whether
notice of termination of employment was delivered by the Company or whether such
notice was delivered by the Employee. In the latter case such termination shall not
constitute a dismissal of the Employee by the Company.

Without derogating from the Company’s rights under this Agreement and according to
law, and notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may terminate the Employee's
employment immediately without the delivery of a prior written notice and/or
payment for Notice Period, in the event of “Cause” (as defined below and subject to
any applicable law) and the employment relationship shall be deemed effectively
terminated as of the time of delivery of such notice.

The term “Cause” shall mean (a) a breach of fiduciary obligations or duties of care,
including but not limited to, theft, embezzlement, self-dealing, prohibited willful
disclosure to unauthorized persons or entities of confidential or proprietary
information of or relating to the Company, its business, and its subsidiaries, affiliates
or associated entities; (b) conviction of the Employee in a crime or felony involving
moral turpitude or any crime involving fraud; (c) the Employee's serious intentional
misconduct which adversely affects the Company; (d) an intentional and willful action
taken by the Employee harming the Company or any of its subsidiaries, affiliates or
associated entities; (e) falsification of Company's or its subsidiaries', affiliates' or
associated entities' records or reports by the Employee; (f) any material breach of the
Statement of Undertaking - Confidentiality, Non-Compete and Intellectual Property
attached hereto as Appendix B by the Employee; and (g) any other act or omission
that constitutes “cause” under the laws of the State of Israel or that do not entitle the
Employee to severance payments under the applicable law.

The Employee undertakes that immediately upon the termination of his employment
with the Company, for any reason, he shall act as follows:

(a)  He shall deliver and/or return to the Company all the documents, CD's or
other magnetic media, letters, notes, reports and other papers in his
possession and relating to his employment with the Company and the
fulfillment of his duties, as well as any equipment and/or other property
belonging to the Company which was placed at his disposal, including any
computer equipment, telephone equipment, the Employee ID badge or
other equipment. The Employee shall not have any lien or other similar
right over any equipment and/or other property belonging to the Company
as aforesaid.

(b) He shall delete any information relating to the Company or its business
from his personal computer, if any.
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(¢) He shall coordinate the termination of his employment with his
supervisors, and he shall transfer in an orderly fashion and in accordance
with  Company procedures and in accordance with the timetable
determined by his supervisors, all documents and information and all
matters which with he dealt, to whomever the Company instructs, all in a
manner satisfactory to the Company.

Company’s Computers

The e-mail provided to the Employee by the Company upon the commencement of his
employment is a professional e-mail, designated to be used by the Employee only for
the purpose of performing his work in the Company and the Employee is required to
use it only for professional purposes.

In order to guard Company's confidential information and prevent impairments,
computer viruses and transfer of illegal information and/or software and/or copyright
infringement and/or destruction to computer web traffic and/or damages to Company's
communication and/or Company's reputation and/or any other damages to the
Company's business and/or its ongoing business and its customers' relations and in
order to verify that the use of the Company's computer systems is being done for work
purposes and conducted in accordance with the applicable Company's policies, and in
order to prevent the Company's exposure to any damage due to unauthorized use of
Company's computer network and communication system; It is hereby clarified, that
the Company monitors any and all non-private information stored in the Company
computers including professional e-mail and/or any information transferred through
the Company's computer and communication networks. Furthermore, the Company
performs various backups of all information transferred through the Company's
computer network systems.

Monitoring shall be performed at all times without prior notice and by various means.
Monitoring can be done either by technological means, with regard to traffic volume
and content traffic or by human resources, to the extent necessary where it is being
suspected that the Company's policies were breached and/or where there is a need to
locate information for ongoing work purposes, need to attend technical malfunctions
and/or any other need required for professional and business needs.

The Company reserves the right to take control of the computer means provided to the
Employee in order to perform his work at all times and without prior notice, and to
block any access to it, in order to protect the Company's rights, attending technical
malfunctions and for any other professional and/or business purposes.

The Employee understands and free willingly acknowledges that the Company, as a
organization which its work is conducted via computer means, is thus obligated, in
order to guard proper management of its business, to execute all the means outlined in
this Agreement. The Employee undertakes the restrictions derived from the means
outlined in this Agreement and in Company's policies.

Nothing herein, diminishes from the Employee's right to open personal e-mail for
himself without using Company's computer means. Such personal e-mail shall not be
subject to the Company's monitoring and controlling means compelling all traffic that
passes through the Company's computers
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The Employee is aware of and agrees that the Company is entitled to put the
information transferred in its computers and communication networks to any use, for
the purpose of protecting its rights, at any and all time, without prior notice.

12 Confidentiality, Non-Competition and Intellectual Property Assignment
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13.8:

As a pre-condition to the entering into force of this Agreement, the Employee shall
execute the Statement of Undertaking —Confidentiality, Non -Compete and Intellectual
Property attached hereto as Appendix B and constituting an integral part of this
Agreement.

Miscellaneous

This Agreement constitutes a “Notice” as defined in the Notice to Employee (Terms
of Employment) Law 5762-2002.

This Agreement is personal and shall not invoke the provisions of any collective
bargaining agreement (“Heskem Kibutsi”), collective arrangement (“Hesder Kibutsi”),
expansion orders (“Tzavei Har’hava™) or any other custom, except and only to the
extent so mandated by law.

All payments, benefits (including any benefits in kind) and participation in expenses
payable under this Agreement or deriving therefrom, or from the Employee's
employment, are subject to deduction of income tax and other compulsory deductions
under law as prevailing from time to time, and nothing in this Agreement shall be
interpreted as imposing upon the Company any liability whatsoever for tax or other
compulsory payment due by the Employee for payments or benefits or
reimbursements for expenses as aforesaid, or as an undertaking on the part of the
Company to gross-up any tax or compulsory payment due by the Employee. The
Company shall withhold taxes according to the requirements under the applicable
laws, rules and regulations, including the withholding of taxes at source.

No failure, delay of forbearance of either party in exercising any power or right
hereunder shall in any way restrict or diminish such party's rights and powers under
this Agreement, or operate as a waiver of any breach or nonperformance by either
party of any terms of conditions hereof.

In the event it shall be determined under any applicable law that a certain provision set
forth in this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect
the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

This Agreement, including its Appendixes, is the entire agreement between the parties
with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes the Previous Agreement and
any and all prior understandings, agreements and discussions between the parties, oral
or written.

Any modification or amendment to the provisions of this Agreement and the
appendixes hereto shall be valid only if effected in writing and signed by both parties
hereto.

The Employee acknowledges and confirms that all terms of his employment are
personal and confidential, and undertakes to keep such term in confidence and refrain
from disclosing such terms to any third party.
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Any notice sent by prepaid registered mail by one party to the other shall be deemed to
have been received by the addressee within three business days of its dispatch, and if
delivered by hand - at the time of its delivery. The addresses of the parties hereto are
as specified in the heading to this Agreement.

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Israel and the competent
courts in the district of Tel-Aviv shall have exclusive Jurisdiction over any dispute
arising between the parties with respect of this Agreement.

This Agreement may be assigned by the Company to any third party, at its sole
discretion. The Employee may not assign or delegate his rights and obligations under
this Agreement to any other party without the Company’s prior written approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement as of the
day and year first above written.

Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.

Signature by (/r \//

Title

Chairman " l

Date

Date

October 30, 2019
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Appendix A

GENERAL APPROVAL REGARDING PAYMENTS BY EMPLOYERS TO A PENSION
FUND AND INSURANCE FUND IN LIEU OF SEVERANCE PAY

By virtue of my power under Section 14 of the Severance Pay Law, 1963 (hereinafter: the
“Law”), I certify that payments made by an employer commencing from the date of the
publication of this approval publication for his employee to a comprehensive pension benefit
fund that is not an insurance fund within the meaning thereof in the Income Tax (Rules for the
Approval and Conduct of Benefit Funds) Regulations, 1964 (hereinafier: the “Pension
Fund”) or to managers insurance including the possibility of an insurance pension fund or a
combination of payments to an annuity fund and to a non-annuity fund (hereinafter: the
“Insurance Fund), including payments made by him by a combination of payments to a
Pension Fund and an Insurance Fund, whether or not the Insurance Fund has an annuity fund
(hereinafter: the “Employer's Payments), shall be made in lieu of the severance pay due to
the said employee in respect of the salary from which the said payments were made and for
the period they were paid (hereinafter: the “Exempt Salary"), provided that all the following
conditions are fulfilled:

(1)  The Employer's Payments -

(@) To the Pension Fund are not less than 14!3% of the Exempt Salary or 12% of the
Exempt Salary if the employer pays for his employee in addition thereto also
payments to supplement severance pay to a benefit fund for severance pay or to an
Insurance Fund in the employee's name in an amount of 2!/3% of the Exempt Salary.
In the event the employer has not paid an addition to the said 12%, his payments
shall be only in lieu of 72% of the employee's severance pay;

(b) To the Insurance Fund are not less than one of the following:

(2)  13'3% of the Exempt Salary, if the employer pays for his employee in addition thereto
also payments to secure monthly income in the event of disability, in a plan approved
by the Commissioner of the Capital Market, Insurance and Savings Department of the
Ministry of Finance, in an amount required to secure at least 75% of the Exempt Salary
or in an amount of 2'4,% of the Exempt Salary, the lower of the two (hereinafter:
“Disability Insurance™);

(3)  11% of the Exempt Salary, if the employer paid, in addition, a payment to the Disability
Insurance, and in such case the Employer's Payments shall only replace 72% of the
Employee's severance pay; In the event the employer has paid in addition to the
foregoing payments to supplement severance pay to a benefit fund for severance pay or
o an Insurance Fund in the employee's name in an amount of 2'/3% of the Exempt
Salary, the Employer's Payments shall replace 100% of the employee's severance pay.

(4)  No later than three months from the commencement of the Employer's Payments, a
written agreement is executed between the employer and the employee in which -

(a) The employee has agreed to the arrangement pursuant to this approval in a text
specifying the Employer's Payments, the Pension Fund and Insurance Fund, as the
case may be; the said agreement shall also include the text of this approval;

(b) The employer waives in advance any right, which it may have to a refund of monies
from his payments, unless the employee’s right to severance pay has been revoked
by a judgment by virtue of Section 16 and 17 of the Law, and to the extent so
revoked and/or the employee has withdrawn monies from the Pension Fund or
Insurance Fund other than by reason of an entitling event; in such regard "Entitling
Event" means death, disability or retirement at after the age of 60.

(5) This approval is not such as to derogate from the employee's right to severance pay
pursuant to any law, collective agreement, extension order or employment agreement, in
respect of salary o ¢ the Exempt Salary.

Employee Signature:
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Appendix B

Statement of Undertaking —Confidentiality, Non Compete and Intellectual Property

Eyal Fima (the “Employee”) warrants and undertakes that for as long as he is employed by
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (the: “Company”), and upon termination of employment
thereafter, for any reason, he shall maintain in complete confidence any matters that relate to
the Company and its subsidiaries (all of the aforementioned entities shall be referred to
collectively as the “Company Group”), their affairs and/or business, pursuant to this
Agreement, and since the Employee has and will have access to the Company Group’s
intellectual property he hereby declares and undertakes as follows:

1. Confidentiality

1.1. The Employee undertakes to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential
Information (as defined below), during the term of his employment with the Company
and after the termination of such employment, for any reason.

Without derogating from the generality of the foregoing, the Employee hereby agrees
that he shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose or transfer to any person or entity, at
any time, either during or subsequent to the employment period, any trade secrets or
other confidential information, whether patentable or not, of the Company Group,
including but not limited to, all the Company Group’s trade secrets, property,
business, any information directly or indirectly related to research and development
connected with present or future products, inventions, hardware, software, production
processes, discoveries, improvements, developments, innovations, designs, drawings,
sketches, design, calculations, diagrams, algorithms, formulas, computer files,
computer programs, data, planning processes, list of clients, list of suppliers, costing,
prices, terms of payment, plans, business secrets, business plans, plans for research,
development, new products, marketing and selling, business plans, budgets and
unpublished financial statements, licenses, prices and costs, suppliers and customers,
information regarding the skills and compensation of other employees of the Company
Group, names of clients, sales, and any other information related to the business of the
Company Group and/or their clients, including clients with whom the Company Group
is negotiating and including affiliates and/or subsidiaries, present and future, all the
foregoing whether or not such information is protectable as a patent or any other
proprietary right and any other information purchased or received directly or indirectly
in connection with Company Group, their affairs and/or business (collectively,
“Confidential Information™), of which the Employee is or becomes informed or
aware during the employment period, whether or not developed by the Employee.
Confidential Information may be in any form including oral, writing, stored in a
computer file and/or in any other digital or other existing and/or future media.

Notwithstanding the above, Confidential Information shall not include any
information which: (i) was publicly known and made generally available in the public
domain prior to the time of disclosure to the Employee; (ii) becomes publicly known
and made generally available after disclosure by the Company through no action or
inaction of the Employee; (iii) is required by law to be disclosed by the Employee,
provided that the Employee gives the Company a prompt written notice of such
requirement prior to such disclosure and assistance in obtaining an order protecting the
information from public disclosure.
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1.2. The Employee undertakes not to use the Confidential Information for any purpose
whatsoever other than the performance of his services on behalf of the Company.
Without limiting the scope of this duty, he shall only use the Confidential Information
for the benefit of the Company Group, and only to the extent required for the
performance of the services and may not disclose the Confidential Information to any
other third party who is not performing the service.

1.3.  The Employee undertakes not to directly or indirectly give and/or transfer, sale,
publish, distribution, for any purposes, to any third party, any information in any
media, and not to photocopy and/or print and/or duplicate object containing any or all
of the Confidential Information without the Company’s Group expressed prior written
authorization.

1.4, In the event the Employee is in breach of any of his above obligations, he shall be
liable to compensate the Company in respect of all damages and/or expenses incurred
by the Company as a result of such a breach, including trial costs and legal fees and
statutory VAT, and such being without derogating from any other relief and/or remedy
available to the Company by virtue of any law.

1.5.  Third Party Information. The Employee understands that the Company Group has
received and in the future will receive from third parties confidential or proprietary
information ("Third Party Information") subject to a duty on the Company Group's
part to maintain the confidentiality of such information and to use it only for certain
limited purposes. During the term of the Employee's employment and thereafter, the
Employee will hold Third Party Information in the strictest confidence and will not
disclose Third Party Information to anyone (other than Company personnel who need
to have such information in connection with their work for the Company) and will not
use Third Party Information, except in connection with the Employee's work for the
Company, unless expressly authorized by an officer of the Company in writing,

1.6.  No Improper Use of information of Prior employers and Others- the Employee
undertakes that during his employment with the Company he will not improperly use
or disclose any confidential information or trade secrets of any former employer or
any other person to whom the Employee has an obligation of confidentiality, and he
will not bring onto the premises of the Company any unpublished documents or any
property belonging to any former employer or any other person to whom the
Employee has an obligation of confidentiality unless consented to in writing by that
former employer or person.

2. Non-Competition/ Non-Solicitation

2.1.  The Employee undertakes that during the period of his employment with the Company
and for a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of his employment
therewith, for any reason, he shall not, anywhere in the world,

(a)  Directly or indirectly carry on or hold an interest in any company, venture,
entity or other business (other than a minority interest in a publicly traded
company) which directly harms or competes with the products or services
of the Company Group ("Competing Business"), including, without
limitation, as a shareholder.

(b)  Act as a consultant or employee or officer or in any managerial capacity in
a Competing Business or supply in direct competition with the Company
restricted services to any person who was provided with services by the
Company Group during the period of twelve (12) months immediately
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prior to the termination date of the Employee's employment with the
Company;

(¢)  Solicit, canvass or approach or endeavor to solicit, canvass or approach
any person who was provided with services by the Company at any time
during the period of twelve (12) months immediately prior to the
termination date of the Employee's employment with the Company, for the
purpose of offering services or products which directly compete with the
services or products supplied by the Company Group.

(d) Employ, solicit or entice away or endeavor to solicit or entice away from
the Company Group any person employed by the Company Group at any
time during the period of twelve (12) months immediately prior to the
termination date of the Employee's employment with the Company.

3. Intellectual Property, Copyright and Patents

3.1,

3.2,

3.3.

3.4.

The Employee hereby assigns to the Company, all of the Employee’s rights,
title and interest in and to all inventions, trade secrets, professional secrets,
innovations, copyrightable works, Confidential Information, discoveries,
processes, designs, works of authorship, and other intellectual property and all
improvements on existing inventions, discoveries, processes, designs, works
and other intellectual property made or discovered by the Employee or any
person subordinate to him during the term of employment or as a result of such
employment with the Company, for no additional consideration provided that
he shall not be required to bear any expenses as a result of such assignment.
The Company and its successors shall be entitled to protect any invention
and/or patent and/or trade secret and/or professional secret and/or innovation
as aforesaid by way of registration and/or in any other manner, in Israel or
anywhere else in the world.

The Employee declares that his salary shall constitute full consideration for
the above assignment in accordance with Section 134 of the Patents Law —
1967 (hereinafter: the “Patents Law”) and he shall not be entitled to royalties
and/or to any other payments or considerations beside his salary for or in
respect with the service invention and/or in respect to the above assignment
and/or to any intellectual property outcome of his employment and/or in
respect to the commercial use of the service invention and/or the products of
his services to the Company.

The Employee undertakes that upon the demand of the Company, including
after the termination of his employment for any reason, he shall sign, execute
and deliver to the Company such documents as the Company may request to
confirm the assignment of the Employee’s rights herein, and if requested by
the Company, shall assist the Company, and shall execute any necessary
documents, at the Company’s expense, in applying for and prosecuting any
patents, trademarks, trade secrets or copyright registration which may be
available in respect thereof in accordance with the laws of the State of Israel or
any other foreign country.

In the event the Company is unable for any reason, after reasonable effort, to
secure the Employee's signature on any document needed in connection with
the actions specified in the preceding paragraph, the Employee hereby
irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized
officers and agents as his agent and attorney in fact, which appointment is
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346

3.4.

General

4.1.

4.2.

43.

4.4.
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coupled with an interest, to act for and in the Employee's behalf to execute,
verify and file any such documents and to do all other lawfully permitted acts
to further the purposes of the preceding paragraph with the same legal force
and effect as if executed by the Employee.

The Employee undertakes to deliver to the Company, written notice of any
invention and/or patent and/or commercial secret and/or innovation invented
by him and/or Employees of the Company and/or its successors who are
subordinate to him, immediately upon the discovery thereof.

The Employee's obligations pursuant to this Section 3 shall survive the
termination of his employment with the Company and/or its successors and
assigns with respect to inventions conceived by him during the term of his
employment or as a result of his employment with the Company.

The Employee acknowledges that the restricted period of time and
geographical area specified hereunder are reasonable, in view of the nature of
the business in which the Company is engaged, the Employee’s knowledge of
the Company’s business and the compensation he receives. Notwithstanding
anything contained herein to the contrary, if the period of time or the
geographical area specified herein should be determined to be unreasonable in
any judicial proceeding, then the period of time and area of the restriction shall
be reduced so that this Agreement may be enforced in such area and during
such period of time as shall be determined to be reasonable by such judicial
proceeding. The Employee acknowledges that the compensation and benefits
granted to him by the Company under this Agreement were determined, inter
alia, in consideration for his obligations under this Appendix.

Successors and Assigns. This Agreement will be binding upon the Employee's
heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives and will be for
the benefit of the Company Group, its successors, and its assigns.

Waiver. No waiver by the Company of any breach of this Agreement shall be a
waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach. No waiver by the Company of
any right under this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any other
right. The Company shall not be required to give notice to enforce strict
adherence to all terms of this Agreement.

Assignment. This Agreement may be assigned by the Company. The
Employee may not assign or delegate his duties under this Agreement without
the Company's prior written approval.

Injunction. The Employee agrees that it would be difficult to measure damage
to the Company Group from any breach of his undertakings set forth in
Sections 1-3 above, and that injury to the Company from any such breach
would be impossible to calculate, and that money damages would therefore be
an inadequate remedy for any such breach. Accordingly, the Employee agrees
that if he breaches any provision of Sections 1-3 hereof, the Company Group
will be entitled, in addition to all other remedies it may have, to an injunction
or other appropriate orders to restrain any such breach by the Employee
without showing or proving any actual damage sustained by the Company
Group.
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Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Israel, without giving effect to the
rules respecting conflict-of-law.




Exhibit 4.15

CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED BECAUSE SUCH INFORMATION (i) IS NOT MATERIAL AND (ii)) WOULD BE COMPETITIVELY
HARMFUL IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED. EXCLUDED INFORMATION HAS BEEN MARKED AT THE APPROPRIATE PLACES AS FOLLOWS: [***%*%*]

RESEARCH AGREEMENT

This Research Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered in Jerusalemas of May 12, 2019 (the “Effectivev Date”), by and between Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd., a company
duly incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel having its registered office at 14 Einstein St. Ness-Ziona, Israel (the “Company”) AND:

Cell Generation (C-G) Ltd. (Registration No. 515999373), a company duly incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel [*****], Israel (the “C-G”),
Each of the parties above may be referred to as “Party” or “Parties”

‘Whereas: The Company wishes that C-G, employing the services of Prof. Dror Mevorach, who shall serve as the principal investigator (the “Investigator”) carry out
the Study, as defined below, in accordance with the Protocol, as defined below; AND

Whereas: C-Gagrees to carry out the Study, employing the services of the Investigator; AND

Whereas: The Parties agree to comply with the terms specified in the Ministry Guidelines, as defined below, including without limitation Appendix4 to the Guidelines
and other applicable Israeli laws, rules and regulations;

NOW, THERFFOR, the parties agree, declare and stipulate as follows:
1. THEPREAMBLE AND DEFINITIONS:

1.1. The Preamble to this Agreement and all its Schedules constitute an integral part thereof. The terms specified in the Preamble, which are defined hereinafter, shall be
interpreted according to the meaning ascribed to themhereinafter.

1.2. In addition to terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement or its Schedules, the following terms shall have the meaning ascribed to them hereinafter:

The “Study”: the clinical trial detailed in the Protocol.

The “Protocol”: the Study plan prepared by the Company numbered ENX- CL-00-001, titled [*****] attached to this
Agreement as Schedule A as may be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement.

The “Study Staff”: the personnel, designated by C-G for the performance of the Study.

The “Study Subjects”: patients participating in the Study.

“MOH”: the Israeli Ministry of Health.

“Ministry Guidelines”: the MOH Guidelines titled “Clinical Trials of Human Subjects” issued in February 2016 including all

exhibits thereto, as may be amended fromtime to time or superseded by successor laws, rules,
regulations or guidelines.

“Appendix 4”: Appendix4 to the Ministry Guidelines titled “Warrants ofthe Sponsor”, attached to this Agreement as
Schedule B.

“ICH-GCP”: ICH Harmonised Tripartite Guideline for Good Clinical Practice 135/95, dated 17 July 1996.

“Helsinki Declaration”: World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki entitled “Ethical Principles for Medical Research

Involving Human Subjects”, as amended and modified from time to time.
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In this Agreement, (including the Schedules hereto), “including”, “includes” means including, without limiting the generality of any description preceding such terms.

2.

3.

PRE-CONDITION:

It is a condition precedent to the validity of this Agreement that this Agreement shall come into effect only after approval is received fromthe relevant Helsinki Committee
(“EC”). The performance of the Study shall commence only after the Committee approved the Study. Each of the Parties and the Investigator shall comply with all the
requirements of the relevant EC and shall execute such assurances and other documents as such EC may request to be executed thereby.

THE STUDY:

3.1

3.2.

33.

34.

35.

Compliance. C-Gundertakes to performthe Study, employing the services of the Investigator, at the facilities of C-G, in compliance with the following: (1) the Study
Protocol; (2) the Ministry Guidelines; (3) the instructions and terms specified in the EC’s approval; (4) the ICH-GCP; (5) the Helsinki Declaration; (6) any other
applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards and guidelines regulating such studies which are applicable in Israel; and the (7) written instructions and prescriptions
issued by the Company. Should any contradiction arise between the Ministry Guidelines and the Protocol or this Agreement, the Ministry Guidelines shall prevail.

Conduct. The Study will be conducted in a manner required of a reasonable and prudent clinical investigator(s) or physician(s). The Study shall be managed by the
Investigator at C-G’s facilities. C-Gshall ensure that only qualified and trained staff in the scope of Study activities will be allowed to participate in the performance
ofthe Study. C-G, through the Investigator, may designate one or more members of the Study Staff as sub-investigator(s), subject to the prior written approval of the
Company, which will not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned (each, a “Sub-investigator(s)”). C-Gshall take reasonable steps to ensure that all
members of the Study Staff (including any Sub-investigator) are informed of their obligations pursuant to this Agreement and shall be responsible for their
performance hereunder and compliance with the terms of this Agreement.

Successor Investigator. In the event that the Investigator, shall be unable to conduct the Study, or shall cease to be available for the conduct of the Study and for
the performance of the undertakings set forth in this Agreement, C-Gshall use reasonable commercial efforts to appoint, within [*****] of the Investigator becoming
unavailable as aforesaid, a successor investigator who is suitably qualified and whose identity shall be approved in advance by the Company, such approval not to
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned (the “Successor Investigator”). Any Successor Investigator must agree to comply with the terms and conditions
of'this Agreement. Should C-Gnot be able to appoint such Successor Investigator within the said period, each of the Company and C-Gshall be entitled to terminate
this Agreement without further liability to either Party. In the event of such early termination, the Company shall pay C-Gthe agreed Remuneration, as defined below,
for work already performed (as specified in Section 9.5 below), and substantiated out-of-pocket costs arising fromnon-cancelable commitments and/or expenses
incurred by C-Gprior to such early termination with regard to the performance of this Agreement.

No warranty of results. For the removal of doubt, it is hereby clarified that nothing specified in this Agreement shall be construed as a warranty by C-Gthat the
Study’s results shall be useful in any manner or commercially exploitable.

Informed Consent. C-Gand the Investigator shall ensure that each and all of the Study Subjects (or their authorized legal representatives) shall have given their
written informed consent to participate in the Study, prior to their participation in the Study. The Company and/or its designee shall provide the form of the informed
consent to be used for the Study, which shall be subject to the approval of the relevant EC (“ICF”). In the case of modifications to the form of ICF, the Investigator
shall provide the Company with an opportunity to review and approve the revised ICF. Without derogating fromthe generality of the foregoing, it is agreed that
such informed consent shall be obtained: (i) in circumstances in which the prospective Study Subject (or his or her representative as aforesaid) is given reasonable
and sufficient opportunity to consider whether or not to participate in the Study; and (ii) in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, standards and
guidelines.
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3.6.

3.7.

38.

39.

3.10.

Duty to Inform. C-Gshall take all practicable steps to ensure that any person involved in the performance of the Study is informed of his or her obligations pursuant
to this Agreement and agrees to abide by the terms of this Agreement.

Debarment. C-Gand the Investigator represent and warrant that, neither they, nor, to the best of C-G’s knowledge any of the Study Staff, have ever been: (a)
debarred, disqualified or banned from conducting clinical studies; or (b) threatened to be debarred or indicted for a crime or otherwise engaged in conduct for which
a person can be debarred, disqualified or banned as aforesaid. C-Gagrees to promptly notify the Company in writing in the event of any such debarment, threat or
indictment occurring during the term of this Agreement. During the term of this Agreement, C-Gagrees not to employ or otherwise engage any individual who will be
performing any work under this Agreement who has been (i) debarred or (ii) convicted of a crime for which a person can be debarred.

Biological Samples. “Biological Samples” means blood, fluid, cells and/or tissue samples and tangible materials directly or indirectly derived fromsuch samples,
collected from Study Subjects. C-Gand Investigator will collect and provide to Company Biological Samples obtained from Study Subjects as set forth in the
Protocol, the ICF and as approved by the EC, for the purpose of performance of the Study. Company undertakes with respect to such Biological Samples provided to
it, as follows: (i) the Biological Samples shall be used solely for the purposes expressly detailed in the Protocol, ICF and Committee approval; (i) upon completion of
Company’s research and development activities as described in the Protocol with respect to the Biological Samples, Company at its own cost and expense shall
destruct and/or otherwise dispose of all unused Biological Samples; (iii) it shall not transfer and/or sell and/or lease to any third party and shall not otherwise
commercialize the Biological Samples and/or any part thereof, and/or shall not allow any third party, other than its subcontractors who are bound by similar
restrictions, to use or examine the Biological Samples, for whatever purpose. Company shall at all times retain the Biological Samples in a safe manner and shall take
reasonable actions to protect the Biological Samples fromunauthorized access or use, theft, and misuse. Company shall handle and use Biological Samples in
compliance with all applicable Israeli laws, rules and regulations (including all Isracli Ministry of Health regulations and/or guidelines) pertaining to Biological
Samples and the use thereof.

The Protocol. The Company reserves the right to amend the Protocol at any time, any such amendment submitted by the Company to be pre-approved in writing by
C-Gand the EC. C-Gand the Study Staff shall not deviate fromany aspect of the Protocol without the prior written consent of the Company, except where necessary
to protect the safety or welfare of Study Subjects. In such event, the Investigator shall promptly notify the Company and its designee of such deviation and any
requested changes to the ICF, which changes must be approved by the Company in advance.

No Conflict of Interest. Where the C-Gis subject to professional and/or employment rules (such as conflicts of interest or ethics policies) established by C-Gand/or
others, C-Gshall cause Investigator to represent that he shall comply fully with such rules, including, as applicable, obtaining any required approval(s) prior to
initiating the research and making any required reports. C-G further represents no collateral benefit has been offered to it for participating in the Study, such as
promises of gifts, future employment, or travel that is not related to the Study; and no gifts or other benefits have been offered to any of C-Gemployees’ family
members. C-Gagrees to promptly advise the Company in writing in the event any such conflicts of interest should arise during the termof this Agreement.
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3.11. Company will provide for each subject (including Study Subject and C-G Recruitments (as defined below)), at Company’s expense, procedure-insurance, volunteer-

personal payment and transportation.

ADVERSE EVENT:

4.1.

4.2.

In the event one or more of the Study Subjects sustain any adverse event related to the Study, the Investigator shall informthe EC and/or the authorized national
health authorities. In the event one or more ofthe Study Subjects sustains any adverse event related to the Study, other than the expected adverse events that occur
in leukaphersis, the Investigator shall informthe Company and/or the EC and/or the authorized national health authorities. The Investigator and C-Gare also entitled
to immediately cease the performance of the Study and report their decision to the Company.

In the case of any SAE or SUSAR, the Company will immediately take all measures at its disposal, to evaluate the risk to the other Study Subject and will instruct the
Investigator which measures to take with regard to that risk and the Investigator and C-Gshall provide the Company with all reasonable assistance and shall
promptly take all measures as may reasonably be required by the Company with respect thereto.

CONFIDENTIALITY:

5.1

52.

All information marked in writing by the Company as “confidential” and obtained by C-G, the Investigator and/or the Study Staff fromor on behalf of the Company
in connection with the Study (collectively “Confidential Information”) shall be treated as confidential both during the Study and for a period of [*****] following
its expiration or termination for any reason. It is agreed that the Protocol and the Results and the Company IP (as such terms are defined below) shall be deemed to
be Confidential Information (whether or not marked confidential). The Confidential Information shall not be disclosed to any third party without the prior written
approval of the Company or be used other than for the activities and/or purposes of this Agreement. Each of C-Gand the Investigator shall safeguard Confidential
Information with the same degree of care that C-Gmaintains or protects its own confidential information, but in any event, no less than a reasonable degree of care.
The foregoing obligations of non-disclosure and non-use shall not apply to the extent that such information (i) is, or becomes part of the public domain through no
act or omission of the Investigator and or C-Gand/or (ii) was lawfully obtained by C-Gor by the Investigator from another source that is not bound by
confidentiality obligations to the Company; (iii) was already known to C-G froma source that is not bound by any obligation of confidentiality, prior to the time of
disclosure by the Company, as evidenced in written records at the time of disclosure; or (iv) was independently discovered or developed by C-G, outside the scope
of'this Agreement, without use of and/or reference to Confidential Information of the Company, as evidenced by written records.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, C-Gand the Investigator may disclose Confidential Information: (i) to those of the Study Staff and C-G’s employees, agents or
subcontractors who have a “need to know” such information for the performance of the Study and/or for the fulfillment of C-G’s obligations hereunder, provided
that the aforementioned are legally bound by similar confidentiality and non-use obligations and further provided that C-Gshall remain responsible for unauthorized
disclosure and/or use of the Confidential Information by any such person and/or entity; or (ii) if such Confidential Information is required to be disclosed by any
law, rule, regulation, court order, or by the MOH and any other competent authority, provided that C-Gor the Investigator, as the case may be, promptly, in
accordance with applicable law, notifies the Company thereof in order to enable the Company to seek an appropriate protective order or other reliable assurance that
confidential treatment will be accorded to such information. In any event such disclosure shall be made to the minimum extent required.
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53.

54.

5.5.

At the request of the Company, C-Gshall return to the Company, or destroy (at the Company’s election) all Confidential Information and all copies or other
manifestations of Confidential Information in the possession or control of the Investigator, C-Gand/or the Study Staff, except for documents and/or materials that C-
Gis required to retain pursuant to this Agreement and any applicable law or regulation.

Each of the Parties undertakes to comply with its respective obligations under all applicable laws, regulations and guidelines goveming the confidentiality and
privacy of all individually identifiable personal and health information, including the Patient’s Rights Law 1996, the Israeli Protection of Privacy Law, 1981 and any
regulations and rules promulgated under the foregoing, to the extent applicable to such Party. It is hereby agreed that neither C- Gnor the Investigator shall release
any details of the identity of Study Subjects and the Company undertakes that if, for any reason whatsoever, it should become privy to individually identifiable
health information of any Study Subjects, it shall maintain such information confidential and may only use such information as permitted in the Study Subjects’
authorization or ICF and in accordance with applicable laws, regulations and guidelines as aforesaid.

In the event of violations or unauthorized disclosures by C-G, the Investigator or other Study Staff, notification must be given to the Company and the Committee
promptly upon becoming aware thereof.

This provision shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever.

REPORTS AND RECORD KFFEPING:

6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

During the course of the Study, the Investigator shall meet with the representatives of the Company during normal working hours, and as reasonably required in
order to report to the Company and to update the Company on an ongoing and continuous basis with respect to the performance of the Study. The Investigator
shall provide the Company and/or its designee with properly completed electronic case report forms within 7 (seven) business days after each visit by a Study
Subject.

Subject to Section 5.2 above, C-Gagrees to permit representatives of the Company and/or its designee to examine its facilities and to examine all data, documents,
records and work product relating to the Study procedures, in order to determine their adequacy, validate case reports against original data in its files and to monitor
work performed to the extent relevant or necessary to ascertain compliance with the Protocol applicable laws and regulations and the terms of this Agreement. Such
inspection shall be coordinated in advance with C-G, shall take place in times and dates mutually agreed upon and shall be conducted in a reasonable manner that
shall, not unreasonably interfere with or disturb the work and activities being conducted by C-G.

C-Gshall permit any regulatory authority access to its facilities and any Study related documents, records and data and to make copies of such documents, records
and data. C-Gand the Investigator shall cooperate with any such inspection. If permitted, the Investigator and/or C-G shall promptly notify the Company in writing if
any regulatory authority schedules an inspection or, without scheduling, commences an inspection as aforesaid. To the extent permissible by the relevant regulatory
authority, the Company and/or its designee shall be permitted to be present in such inspection to the extent relating to the Study. In addition Company shall be
entitled to review and provide comments to any correspondence with or to a regulatory authority relating to the Study.

C-Gand the Investigator shall take any reasonable action requested by the Company to cure deficiencies noted during an audit or inspection. C-Gshall (and shall
procure that the Investigator shall, where applicable): (i) prepare and maintain complete and accurate written records, accounts, notes, reports and data of the Study,
including source data and case report forms (on case report forms supplied by the Company, and any correspondence with the EC, the MOH and any other
regulatory authorities (collectively, “Study Records”) in accordance with the Protocol and applicable laws, regulations and guidelines; and (ii) retain all such Study
Records after completion of the Study for such period as determined by any applicable law or regulation, which is 15 (fifteen) years according to the Ministry
Guidelines. Upon termination of the said retention period, C-Gshall transfer all such Study Records to the Company, or if so requested by the Company, destroy
such Study Records. In no event shall any Study Records be discarded or destroyed without first notifying the Company and receiving its instructions.
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6.5.

Without derogating fromthe foregoing in Section 6.3 above, C-Gshall notify and provide the Company with copies of any inquiries, correspondence or
communications to or fromany governmental or regulatory authority related to the Study within [*****] from dispatch and/or receipt thereof (as the case may be).

PUBLICATIONS

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

74.

7.5.

7.6.

Notwithstanding Section 5 above (Confidentiality), publication of the Results (as defined below) in scientific literature is encouraged and the Investigator shall be
entitled, consistent with accepted academic and/or scientific standards, to publish the Results in scientific journals, manuscripts or at scientific meetings, subject to
the stipulations set forth herein (each, a “Publication”).

The Company reserves the right to review any paper written utilizing data generated fromthe Study prior to such paper’s presentation or submission for publication
purposes.

C-Gand/or Investigator, will ensure that, as required by accepted academic and/or scientific standards, each Publication will adequately acknowledge and
appropriately reflect the contribution of the investigators, researchers and/or employees of each of the Company, C-Gand/or the source of the information included
therein, in accordance with customary scientific practice.

At least [*****] prior to submitting or presenting a manuscript or other materials relating to the Study to a publisher, reviewer, or at a scientific meeting, C-Gshall
provide the Company a copy of all such manuscripts and materials. The Company shall have the right, within [*****] to: (i) review and comment on any proposed
Publication, and C-Gand/or the Investigator (as the case may be) will give due consideration to the Company’s comments and make its/his/her best efforts to take
theminto account, but C-Gand/or Investigator shall maintain the final editorial discretion with regard to the content of any such Publication; and/or (i) object to the
proposed Publication because it contains Confidential Information for which patent protection should be sought (prior to publication), or which should be held
confidential. Upon the Company’s written request any Confidential Information shall be deleted fromsuch Publication and/or the Publication will be withheld for an
additional [*****] at the request of the Company, where the Company considers such delay necessary for the protection of its intellectual property rights.

Without derogating fromthe foregoing, C-Gand the Investigator acknowledge that the Study is a part of a multi-center study and the Company wishes to publicize a
joint publication which includes results of all sites, hence none of the Investigator, C-G, nor any member of the Study Staff shall publicize the Results before the first
joint publication, unless such publication is not published within [*****] fromthe completion of the Study at all Study sites, unless permitted by the Company.

The Company undertakes, that should it publicize the Results, it shall publish themin full as required by applicable law, regulations and guidelines and avoid
quoting matters out of context.

STUDY RESULTS, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS AND INVENTIONS:

8.1.

Each of the Parties declares and covenants that it has all powers, rights and title required to enter into this Agreement and that to the best of its knowledge, there is
no legal or contractual impediment preventing such Party fromentering into this Agreement.
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8.2.

83.

8.4.

8.5.

With the exception of the Study Subject’s personal and confidential medical records, all rights, title and interest in and to the Confidential Information, as well as in
and to all Study Records, and documents (including completed case report forms) and Study results generated fromthe Study (collectively, the “Results”) is and
shall remain the sole and exclusive property of the Company and shall not be disclosed by C-G, Investigator and/or anyone on their behalf, to any third party
without the prior written approval of the Company.

Any inventions, discoveries, improvements, developments, and know how (whether patentable or not) made, developed or conceived by C-Gand/or Study Staff
and/or representatives and/or agents alone or together with others, as a result of the work and/or activities performed during the course of the Study in accordance
with the Protocol and/or relating to the Study and/or relating to Confidential Information of the Company, as well as all patent applications, patents, copyright and
other intellectual property relating to any of the foregoing (“Company IP”’) shall be promptly disclosed to the Company and shall become the Company’s sole and
exclusive property. As between the Parties, all other inventions which do not constitute Company IP, developed by C-Gand/or the Investigator and/or the Study
Staff shall remain and/or become the property of C-G.

It is expressly agreed that neither Party, transfers by operation of this Agreement to the other Party hereto any patent right, copyright or other proprietary right
which either Party hereto owns, except as specifically set forth herein. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to grant the Investigator, C-Ga license to use the
Results and any Company IP (if any) for any purposes whatsoever except for the performance of the Study pursuant hereto, and/or pursuant to Section 8.5 below.

For the removal of doubt, nothing contained in this Agreement shall prevent C-Gand/or the Investigator and/or the Study Staff fromusing the Results for internal
non-commercial academic research or any other scholarly purposes only, both during the term of this Agreement and following its termination subject to the
provisions of Section 5 above (Confidentiality) and Section 7 above (Publications) above.

TERM AND TERMINATION:

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

The termof this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date until the Study is either completed according to the Study Protocol and submission of all reports,
case report forms and other documentation required hereunder, or if earlier, until terminated by any of the Parties pursuant to this Section 9.

Either Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement for any reason or without reason at any time upon [*****] prior written notice to the other Party, and in
accordance with the terms of Sections 9.5 - 9.6 below.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of any suspicion of or the occurrence of an SAE, SUSAR and/or to protect the safety of the patients participating in the
Study, and depending on EC written evaluation indicating such an action, the Company may terminate the Study and/or this Agreement immediately by written
notice to C-G; or pursuant to Section 3.3 (Successor Investigator) above.

Without derogating from C-G’s rights according to any law, C-Greserves the right to terminate this Agreement, without further liability, in the case of the
cancellation or expiration of the approvals specified in Section 2 above.

In the event such early termination of this Agreement for any reason, the Company shall pay C-Gall the following payments: (i) the agreed Remuneration according
to Schedule C, for work actually performed in accordance with this Agreement until the effective date of termination; and (i) in the event of such early termination
which is not due to a breach of this Agreement by C-G, the Company shall reimburse C-G for [*****], and (iii), the balance between the aggregate amount of
Remuneration and the Advance (as defined below) (plus VAT) actually paid to C-G, and the amount of [*****]_in consideration for any expenses incurred by C-Gin
preparation for the Study.
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9.6. Subject to Section 9.5 above, upon termination of this Agreement for any reason, any unexpended funds previously paid by the Company shall be refunded to the
Company.

9.7. Termination of the Study and/or this Agreement for any reason shall not affect any of the rights and obligations of the Company which shall have accrued prior to
the effective date of the termination.

9.8. Upon termination of the Study and/or this Agreement for any reason (and in the case of termination prior to the completion of the Study, subject to any
arrangements reached between the Parties with respect to the appropriate phase-out for Study Subjects):

9.8.1.  C-Gand the Investigator shall cease enrolling patients in the Study and shall cease conducting procedures on Study Subjects; and

9.82.  C-Gshall deliver to the Company all Confidential Information and all copies or other manifestations of Confidential Information in the possession or
control of the Investigator and/or C-G, except for documents and/or materials that C-G, is required to retain pursuant to Section 6.4 above.

10. REMUNERATION:
10.1. In consideration for C-G’s fulfilment of'its obligations hereunder and the performance of the Study, the Company shall pay C-G:
10.1.1.  the total amount, [*****], for each complete individual collection (the “Collection Remuneration”);
10.1.2.  [*****]for each individual with a screening failure (the “Screening Remuneration”); and .
10.1.3. Itis specifically agreed that Company is able to handle at least [*****] Study Subject per week. In the event that C-Gis required to recruit suitable Study
Subjects (“C-G Recruitments”), so long as they comply with the requirements of this Agreement the Company will pay C-Gan additional payment in

the amount of [*****] for each Study Subject recruited by C-G (the “Recruitment Remuneration”).

All as specified in the budget and payment schedule attached to this Agreement as Schedule C and constituting an integral part hereof. The Collection
Remuneration, the Screening Remuneration and the Recruitment Remuneration shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Remuneration”.

10.2. Payment of the Remuneration shall be made within [*****] of receipt by the Company of a payment request issued by C-G, providing a breakdown of the number of
Study Subjects, visits and activities performed and corresponding fees and costs, in accordance with the payment schedule in Schedule C. Within [*****] of the
Effective Date, the Company shall pay C-Ga non-refundable advance in the amount of ILS 430,000, plus VAT (the “Advance”).

10.3. C-Gshall provide the Company with a receipt for each payment made by the Company.

10.4. For the removal of doubt, it is hereby clarified that the Remuneration set out in Schedule C hereto constitutes the sole consideration payable by the Company under
this Agreement for the performance of the Study and is inclusive of all applicable taxes and overhead, excluding Value Added Tax. C-Gshall be responsible for the
allocation and distribution of the payments hereunder and the Company shall have no obligation in connection therewith, nor shall the Company be liable in any
respect for such allocation or distribution to the Investigator, Sub-investigators or other Study Staff, or subcontractor of C-G. It is understood and agreed that no
payment and/or reimbursement will be made by the Company for patients enrolled into the Study in violation of the Protocol, or for whomserious deviations fromthe
Protocol are made.
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10.5. The Company shall deduct and withhold any withholding taxes or similar taxes required to be so deducted and withheld fromany payment to C-Gpursuant to this
Agreement at the taxrate prescribed by applicable law, or at the reduced rate specified in any certificate (if any) furnished to the Company by C-G. The Company
shall pay such taxes to the proper taxation authority and furnish C-Gwith a certificate or other evidence of the deduction and payment thereof.

10.6. The Company shall reimburse Study Subjects for all necessary costs of medical treatment required by any Study Subject for any illness or condition caused by the
proper performance of any procedures required to be performed under the Protocol, provided that such procedure is performed in accordance with the Protocol and
the terms of this Agreement and without gross negligence or willful misconduct, or failure to act on the part of C-G, the Study Staff or the Investigator
(“Hos pitalization Expenses”), provided, however, that such expenses are not covered and/or undertaken by any healthcare programor other insurance of the
relevant Study Subjects. The Hospitalization expenses shall be paid by Company to the Study Subjects directly.

CLAIMS, LIABILITY AND INSURANCE

11.1. The Company shall bear sole responsibility and bear any payment and/or compensation and/or liability for any damage whatsoever caused to any person, as a result
ofthe performance of the Study in accordance with the Protocol, except and to the extent that such damage is attributable to any of the causes set out in Sections
11.2.1 and 11.2.2 below.

11.2. The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless, C-G, the Study Staff, the Investigator and their employees and/or agents and/or officers and/or representatives of
C-Ginvolved in the performance ofthe Study (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) fromand against any and all claims, demands, causes ofaction and suits of
whatsoever kind or nature based on damages claimed to have been caused as a result of the following: (i) the performance of the Study; (ii) the performance of any
procedures prescribed in the Protocol and/or pertaining to the Study; and/or (iii) the use by the Company of the Results of the Study (the “Loss”). The above
indemnity shall not apply where:

11.2.1.  The Loss was caused as a result of the gross negligent or wrongful act or omission, malfeasance or willful misconduct of C-G, the Investigator and/or
any member of the Study Staff and/or any other Indemmified Party involved in the performance of the Study.

1122.  The Loss was caused as a result of a failure, by C-G, the Investigator, any member of the Study Staff and/or any other Indemmnified Party or anyone in
their behalf, to comply with the terms of this Agreement and/or the Protocol and/or with any applicable laws, regulations, guidelines or other
governmental requirement.

11.3. The Company shall pay all reasonable expenses associated with any proceedings taking place as a result of a complaint and/or legal claim submitted by any person
in respect of any Loss in respect of which the Company is obligated to indemmnify the Indemnified Parties pursuant to Section 11.2 above.

11.4. In the event of any complaint and/or legal claim for which indemmification is sought under Section 11.2:

11.4.1.  C-Gundertakes to notify the Company in writing [*****] business days fromthe day C-G, and/or the Investigator acquired such knowledge, of any
claim, or injury relating to the Study in respect of which indemnification may be sought pursuant to Section 11.2 above;

11.4.2.  the Indemnified Parties shall cooperate with Company in the investigation and defense of any such claimor suit relating to the Loss and shall not settle
any such claimor suit without the prior written consent of the Company;

11.43. the Company shall have the exclusive right to control the defense and/or settlement of any such claim or suit, including without limitation the right to
select defense counsel, provided that the Company shall not agree to any settlement or consent judgment which requires an admission of liability or
wrongdoing by an Indemnified Party or that imposes any restrictions or obligations on the part of any Indemnified Party, without the consent of such
Indemnified Party (such consent and approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). The Indemmnified Parties shall be entitled, at
their sole discretion, to select and obtain representation by separate legal counsel, at their sole cost.
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13.

11.5. Without derogating fromits liabilities stated above, the Company shall at its own expense purchase and maintain a Clinical Trial Insurance policy to insure its legal
liability pursuant to this Agreement, including this Section 11 acquiring an on claims made basis — for the period of this Agreement plus an additional extended
reporting period until the statute of limitations termof any Loss have elapsed according to the Israeli Statute of Limitations Law and up to 7 years. Such insurance
shall be in reasonable amounts which shall not be less than [¥****] and on reasonable terms in the circumstances, having regard, in particular, to the nature of the
Study and the requirements set forth in the MOH Guidelines. The named insured under such insurance shall be the Company, C-Gand shall include the Investigator
and the other Indemnified Parties, in accordance with and subject to the MOH Guidelines. The policy or policies so issued shall include a “cross-liability” provision
pursuant to which the insurance is deemed to be separate insurance for each named insured (without right of subrogation as against any of the insured under the
policy, or any of their representatives, employees, officers, directors or anyone in their name) and shall further provide that the insurer will be obliged to notify C-Gin
writing at least [*****] in advance of the expiry or cancellation of the policy or policies.

This Section 11 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and remain in full force and effect.

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY:

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING ELSE TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS AGREEMENT, HOWEVER WITHOUT DEROGATING IN ANY WAY FROM COMPANY’S
INDEMNITY OBLIGATIONS OR FOR LIBAILITY RESULTING FORM BERACH OF SECTION 5 (CONFIDENTIALITY) ABOVE, NITHER OF THE PARTIES SHALL BE
LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR LOSS OF PROFITS, FOR LOSS OF CONTRACTS, LOSS OF GOODWILL OR OTHER SPECIAL, INDIRECT OR CONSEQUENTIAL
LOSS WHETHER ARISING FROM NEGLIGENCE, BREACH OF CONTRACT OR HOW SOEVER ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT.

LAW AND VENUE:

Any dispute between the Parties, including its breach and/or its implementation and/or its termination, shall be decided exclusively by the competent court of law in Tel-
Aviv-Jaffa, Israel which shall have exclusive jurisdiction and the law that shall apply shall be the statutes and laws of the State of Israel.

SHARE HOLDINGS, PURCHASE OPTION:

14.1. C-Ghereby represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date, the issued and outstanding share capital of the Company is owned by the Investigator .

14.2. C-Gshall not issue any ofits equity, directly or indeirectly (including stock, options, warrants, convertible securities ) without prior consent of the Company, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned.

14.3. C-Gshall take all necessary steps so as to ensrue that the Investigator shall, without prior consent of the Company, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or conditioned transfer any of its C-Gshares, other than to family members,.

14.4. The Company shall have the option to acquire all of the outstansding shares of C-G. The exercise price of the option shall be defined in good faith by an appraiser
acceptable to both parties. The option could be exercised starting on the [*****] of this Agreement, and any extension thereof.
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15.

15.1.

15.2.

153.

154.

15.5.

15.6.

MISCELLANEOUS:

Superiority. Should any contradiction arise between the provisions of this Agreement and any of'its Schedules, including the Protocol, the payment schedule
and/or any other document executed in connection with this Agreement, save for Appendix4 and for the Study Protocol which shall govern with respect to the
medical and clinical aspects of the conduct of the Study, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail.

Non employment; Relations hip of the Parties. For the purpose of this Agreement, C-Gand/or the Study Staff and/or the Investigator shall be deemed an
independent contractor and shall not be considered a partner, agent, employee or representative of the Company. Neither C-Gand/or any Study Staff member shall
have the power to act for, bind the other or incur obligations on the Company’s behalf without the Company’s prior written consent.

Good Faith. Both Parties shall be under a duty to act in good faith in the performance and enforcement of this Agreement.

Publicity. C-G, the Investigator and any Sub-investigator(s), Study Staff, support staff, employees and/or agents of C-G, shall not issue, publish or disseminate or
cause to be issued, published or disseminated any press release or public communication relating to this Agreement, the Study or any of the transactions
contemplated herein or use the name or any trademark, logo or otherwise refer to the Company or any affiliate of the Company without the prior written consent of
the Company. C-Gand the Investigator shall refer all inquiries fromreporters, financial analysts or others, regarding this Agreement, the Study or any of the
transactions contemplated herein, to the Company without comment except in such manner as may be approved in advance by the Company in writing.

Continuing Obligations. The rights and obligations of each of the Parties hereto under any provision of this Agreement, which is expressly or by implication
intended to survive beyond the term of this Agreement, including but not limited to the provisions of Section 7 (Publication), Section 5 (Confidentiality), Section 11
(Claims, Liability and Insurance), Section 8 (Study Results, Proprietary Rights and Inventions and the provisions of Sections 3.8, 4, 6,9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14, shall
survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason.

Notices. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices permitted or required by this Agreement shall be made in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly served (i) upon personal delivery (ii) upon transmission by facsimile or electronic mail (receipt of which has been orally confirmed by the recipient) except
that any notice of termination sent by electronic mail shall also be sent in any other manner set out herein, or (iii) Seven (7) business days after deposit, postage
prepaid, return receipt requested, if sent by registered mail and addressed to the address of the Parties set out below or in accordance with such other address
information as the Party to receive notice may provide in writing to the other Parties in accordance with the above notice provisions. Any notice given by any other
method will be deemed to have been duly served upon receipt thereof.

Ifto the Company:

Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.

14 Einstein st, POB 4002 Ness-Ziona, 7414001, Israel Attention :Clinical Operations
Email : info@enlivexpharm.com

Attention : Shmulik Hess

Ifto C-G: Cell-Generation, Ltd.

[** ks *]
[**** *]
Attention: Dror Mevorach, MD
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15.7. Assignment. This Agreement is personal to the Parties and may not be assigned without the prior written consent of the other Party. Notwithstanding the above, (i)
C-Gshall be entitled to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to any legal entity established in connection with or for the benefit of C-Gprovided that such
entity undertakes in writing to be bound by all the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and (ii) the Company shall be entitled to assign its rights and obligations
hereunder to any of'its affiliates or to any third party in connection with the sale of all or substantially all of its securities or assets, with written notice to C-G, and
provided that such assignee undertakes in writing to be bound by all of the obligations of the Company hereunder.

This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns

15.8. Subcontracting. C-Gshall not subcontract any service described in this Agreement or any of its obligations hereunder to another entity without the Company’s
prior written approval and, in the event of such subcontracting, C-G shall remain responsible for the performance of all of its obligations under this Agreement and
for any non-performance of any such obligations by it and/or any such subcontractor. The Company shall be entitled to performany of'its responsibilities hereunder
through subcontractors, it being agreed however that the Company shall remain responsible for the performance of such subcontractors vis-a-vis C-G.

15.9. Captions. Any paragraph or other captions are inserted for convenience only and shall not be considered a part of or affect the interpretation or construction of any
ofthe provisions of this Agreement.

15.10. Waivers. No course of dealing in respect of, nor any omission or delay in the exercise of, any right, power, or privilege by either Party shall operate as a waiver
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any further or other exercise thereof or of any other, as each such right, power, or privilege may be
exercised either independently or concurrently with others and as often and in such order as each Party may deem expedient.

15.11. Entire Agreement; Amendments. This Agreement, including, without limitation, its Schedules, contains the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to its
subject matter. No oral or prior written statements or representations not incorporated herein shall have any force or effect, nor shall any part of this Agreement be
amended, supplemented, waived or otherwise modified except in a writing signed by both Parties.

15.12. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable the Parties shall negotiate
in good faith the terms of an alternative legal provision which achieves, to the greatest extent possible, the same effect as the original provision and the balance of
this Agreement shall be interpreted as if such provision were so modified.

15.13. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including counterparts transmitted by facsimile), each of which shall be deemed to

be an original, but all of which taken together shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same
instrument.

[Signature page follows]
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[Signature page of Research Agreement)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and each of the undersigned hereby warrants and represents that he or she has
been and is, on the Effective Date , duly authorized by all necessary and appropriate action to execute this Agreement.

Cell Generation (C-G) Ltd.: Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.:
By: /s/ Dror Mevorach By: /s/ Shmulik Hess
Name: Dror Mevorach, CSO Name: Shnulik Hess, CEO

I the undersigned, Professor Dror Mevorach, hereby declare and confirm that I have read and understood the Agreement, I agree to be appointed as the Investigator for the
Study on behalf of C-G, and I undertake to comply with all the conditions, provisions, instructions and stipulations of the Agreement and shall refrain fromany act or omission
that may constitute or give rise to a breach of the Agreement..

The Investigator

Schedules:

Schedule A - The Protocol

Schedule B - Appendix 4 to the Ministry Guidelines entitled “Warrants of the Sponsor”

Schedule C - Remuneration
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Schedule C:
Remuneration

[*****]
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Exhibit 8.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF ENLIVEX THERAPEUTICS LTD.

Percentage of

voting
share capital
At December 31,2019 Country/State held
Wholly owned subsidiaries
Enlivex Therapeutics R&D Ltd. Israel 100

Bio Blast Pharma, Inc. Delaware 100



Exhibit 12.1

CERTIFICATION PURS UANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 132-14(a) or 15d-14(a)

L, Dr. Oren Hershkovitz, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the company as of; and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company’s auditors and
the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2020 /s/ Dr. Oren Hershkovitz
Dr. Oren Hershkovitz
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 12.1

CERTIFICATION PURS UANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 132-14(a) or 15d-14(a)

I, Shachar Shlosberger, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the company as of; and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company’s auditors and
the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2020 /s/ Shachar Shlosberger
Shachar Shlosberger
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 13.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 US.C. Section 1350

In connection with the filing of the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the period ended December 31, 2019 (the “Report”) by Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (the “Company”), the
undersigned, as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
0f2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Dr. Oren Hershkovitz
Dr. Oren Hershkovitz
Chief Executive Officer

April 30,2020



Exhibit 13.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 US.C. Section 1350

In connection with the filing of the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the period ended December 31, 2019 (the “Report”) by Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. (the “Company”), the
undersigned, as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
0f2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Shachar Shlosberger

Shachar Shlosberger
Chief Financial Officer

April 30,2020
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGIS TERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form F-3 (Registration No . 333-232009 and 333-232413) and the Registration Statements on
Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-203114 and 333-210459) of Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. of our report dated April 2, 2020 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of
Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F of Enlivex Therapeutics Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
Yarel + Partners

/s/ Yarel + Partners

Tel- Aviv, Israel
April 30,2020






